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PREFACE 

Dear Mr. President, 

I think it is very important that I should have a talk with you as soon 

as possible on a highly secret matter. I mentioned it to you shortly 

after you took office, but have not urged it since on account of the 

pressure you have been under. It, however, has such a bearing on our 

present foreign relations and has such an important effect upon all my 

thinking in this field that I think you ought to know about it without 

much further delay. 

—Secretary of War Henry L. Stimson 

to President Harry S. Truman, 

April 24, 1945 

THIS NOTE WAS WRITTEN twelve days after Franklin Delano Roose- 

velt’s death and two weeks before World War H ended in Europe. 

The following day Secretary Stimson advised President Truman that 

the “highly secret matter” would have a “decisive” effect upon Amer- 

ica’s postwar foreign policy. Stimson then outlined the role the atomic 

bomb would play in America’s relations with other countries.” In 

diplomacy, he confided to his diary, the weapon would be a “master 

card.”* 

This book begins in the spring of 1945, a time when postwar prob- 

lems unfolded as rapidly as the Allied armies converged in Central 

Europe. During the fighting which preceded Nazi surrender the Red 

Army conquered a great belt of territory bordering the Soviet Union. 

Debating the consequences of this fact, American policy makers de- 

fined a series of interrelated problems: What political and economic 

pattern was likely to emerge in Eastern and Central Europe? Would 

Soviet influence predominate? Most important, what power—if any— 

did the United States have to effect the ultimate settlement on the very 

borders of Russia? 
Roosevelt, Churchill, and Stalin had attempted to resolve these is- 

sues of East-West influence at the February 1945 Yalta Conference. 
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With the Red Army clearly in control, the West was in a weak bar- 

gaining position. It was important to reach an understanding with 

Stalin before American troops began their planned withdrawal from 

the Continent. Poland, the first major country intensely discussed by 

the Big Three, took on unusual significance; the balance of influence 

struck between Soviet-oriented and Western-oriented politicians in the 

government of this one country could set a pattern for big-power 

relationships in the rest of Eastern Europe. 

Although the Yalta Conference ended with a signed accord cover- 

‘ing Poland, within a few weeks it was clear that Allied understanding 

was more apparent than real. None of the heads of government inter- 

preted the somewhat vague agreement in the same way. Churchill 

began to press for more Western influence; Stalin urged less. True to 

his well-known policy of cooperation and conciliation, Roosevelt at- 

tempted to achieve a more definite understanding for Poland and a 

pattern for East-West relations in Europe. Caught for much of the last 

of his life between the determination of Churchill and the stubborn- 

ness of Stalin, Roosevelt at times fired off angry cables to Moscow, 

and at others warned London against an “attempt to evade the fact 

that we placed, as clearly shown in the agreement, somewhat more 

emphasis . . . [on Soviet-oriented Polish politicians in the govern- 

ment].”* 

Roosevelt died on April 12, 1945, only two months after Yalta. 

When Truman met with Secretary Stimson to discuss the “bearing” of 

the atomic bomb upon foreign relations, the powers were deeply en- 

snarled in a tense public struggle over the meaning of the Yalta agree- 

ment. Poland had come to symbolize all East-West relations. Truman 

was forced to pick up the tangled threads of policy with little knowl- 

edge of the broader, more complex issues involved. How the new 

President faced this challenge, and how he approached the funda- 

mental problem of postwar American-Soviet relations, are primarily 

themes of this book. 

Herbert Feis, a noted expert on the period, has written that “Tru- 

man made up his mind that he would not depart from Roosevelt’s 

course or renounce his ways.”* Others have argued that “we tried to 

SS SSS 

* See Appendix I for a detailed review of 
the Polish problem. 
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PREFACE 

work out the problems of the peace in close cooperation with the 

Russians.”? It is often believed that American policy followed a con- 

ciliatory course, changing—in reaction to Soviet intransigence—only 

in 1947 with the Truman Doctrine and the Marshall Plan. My own 

belief is somewhat different. It derives from the comment of Truman’s 

Secretary of State that by early autumn of 1945 it was “understand- 

able” that Soviet leaders should feel American policy had shifted rad- 

ically after Roosevelt’s death:® It is now evident that, far from follow- 

ing his predecessor’s policy of cooperation, shortly after taking office 

Truman launched a powerful foreign policy initiative aimed at reduc- 

ing or eliminating Soviet influence from Europe. Much of the material 

in the following pages attempts to illuminate this conclusion. 

The ultimate point of this study is not, however, that America’s 

approach to Russia changed after Roosevelt. Rather it is that the ~ 

atomic bomb played a role in the formulation of policy, particularly in 

connection with Truman’s only meeting with Stalin, the Potsdam Con- 

ference of late July and early August 1945. Again, my judgment 

differs from Feis’s conclusion that “the light of the explosion ‘brighter 

than a thousand suns’ filtered into the conference rooms at Potsdam 

only as a distant gleam.”” I believe new evidence proves not only that 

the atomic bomb influenced diplomacy, but that it determined much 

of Truman’s shift to a tough policy aimed at forcing Soviet acquies- 

cence to American plans for Eastern and Central Europe. The 

weapon “gave him an entirely new feeling of confidence,” the Presi- 

dent told his Secretary of War.® By the time of Potsdam Truman had 

been advised on the role of the atomic bomb by both Secretary Stim- 

son and Secretary of State Byrnes. Though the two men differed as to 

tactics, each urged a tough line. Part of the book attempts to define 

how closely Truman followed a subtle policy outlined by Stimson, and 

to what extent he followed the straightforward advice of Byrnes that 

the bomb (in Truman’s words) “put us in a position to dictate our 

own terms at the end of the war.”® 

A study of American policy in the very early days of the Cold War 

must inevitably deal with Soviet actions and reactions. I wish to stress 

that this book is basically an analysis of American policy; it is not an 

attempt to offer a detailed review of Soviet policy. Stalin’s approach 

seems to have been cautiously moderate during the brief few months 

here described. It is perhaps symbolized by the Soviet-sponsored free 

13 



tion, nor to caplet how or aie Soviet policy changed to the Hal 

totalitarian controls characteristic of the period after 1946. 

_ The judgment that Truman radically altered Roosevelt’s policy in 

mid-1945 nevertheless obviously suggests a new point of departure for 

interpretations of the Cold War. In late 1945 General Eisenhower 

observed in Moscow that “before the atom bomb was used, I would 

__ have said, yes, I was sure we could keep the peace with Russia. Now I 

don’t know . . . People are frightened and disturbed all over. Every- 

ue one feels insecure again.”!° To what extent did postwar Soviet poli- 

cies derive from insecurity based upon a fear of America’s atom bomb 

and changed policy? The book stops short of this fundamental ques- 

tion, concluding that further research is needed to test Secretary Stim- 

 son’s judgment that “the problem of our satisfactory relations with 

_ Russia [was] not merely connected with but [was] ee domi- 

nated by the problem of the atomic bomb.” 

_ Similarly, I believe more research and more information are needed 

_ to reach a conclusive understanding of why the atomic bomb was 

ee used. The common belief is that the question is closed, and that Presi- 

dent Truman’s explanation is correct: “The dropping of the bombs 

_ stopped the war, saved millions of lives.”’* My own view is that 

_ presently available evidence shows the atomic bomb was not needed 

_ to end the war or to save lives—and that this was understood by 

- American leaders at the time. General Eisenhower has recently re- 

_ called that in mid-1945 he expressed a similar opinion to the Secretary 

of War: “I told him I was against it on two counts. First, the Japanese 

___ Were ready to surrender and it wasn’t necessary to hit them with that 

awful thing. Second, I hated to see our country be the first to use such 

_ aweapon. . .”"® To go beyond the limited conclusion that the bomb 

was unnecessary is not possible at present. However, I have attempted 

___ to define the remaining questions with some precision. The issue is not 

why it was decided to use the bomb, but rather, how policy makers 

_ came to assume the bomb would be used, and why they never ques- 

"tioned this assumption as Eisenhower did. 

__. The information and views here presented challenge many common 

es opinions, I have made no attempt, however, to take up the various 

arguments offered by the great number of writers, both serious and 

Dl 
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contention, and reduced abate and controversy toaminimum. 

Looking back to the views I held when I began this tee six ye 

| "ago, I am deeply aware of how much my own understanding of tl 

es has pate and how my original ideas have been challeng dao 

: brought up as most of us have been, into every corner of our minds.’ 

; G. A. 
Washington, D.C., 19 
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The Strategy 
of an 

Immediate 

Showdown 

It was now or never... . 

—PRESIDENT Harry S. TRUMAN 

April 23, 1945 

_ IT WAs A SHORT TWO WEEKS before the combined strength of 
Britain, the United States, and the Soviet Union forced the collapse of — 

Nazi power and the end of the Second World War. Only eleven days 

had passed since the death of Franklin Delano Roosevelt. The new 

President of the United States prepared for his first meeting with a 

representative of the Soviet Union. Rehearsing his views on the sub- 

- ject of the negotiation—a reorganization of the Polish government— 

Truman declared that if the Russians did not care to cooperate, “they 

could go to hell.”* A few hours later the President expressed the same 

view to Soviet Foreign Minister V. M. Molotov in language which, 

according to the President’s Chief of Staff, was “not at all diplo- 

matic.”* 

THE FIRM APPROACH 

ALTHOUGH THIS ENCOUNTER is often overlooked by those who 

stress Truman’s desire to continue his predecessor’s policy of “co- 

operation with the Russians,” the fiery and blunt language was not the 

result of a moment’s flash of temper.” The new President had care- 

* This is taken from Bohlen’s notes. (For- 
restal, Diaries, p. 50; see also Truman, Year 
of Decisions, p. 77.) 
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fully considered his approach to Molotov. By the third ee of ‘Apel 

1945 he and most of his senior advisers had agreed that Roosevelt’s 

policy of “cooperation” had to be reconsidered and that it would now 

be wise strategy to face the Russians with a firm negotiating position 

and strong language. 

The immediate problem concerned a reorganization of the Polish 

government established under Soviet auspices as the Red Army drove 

the Germans to the banks of the Oder. Both Roosevelt and Churchill 

had promised support for a government “friendly” to the Soviet 

“Union, one which would not open the way to a future German at- 

tack.? At Yalta it had been agreed that the Soviet-backed Warsaw 

government “now functioning in Poland” would be “reorganized” to 

form a “new” government by the addition of Western-oriented Polish 

political leaders.* After a considerable debate over a number of lesser 

points, following Yalta the “Polish question” had reduced to a three- 

way struggle over the allocation of power in the new government.* 

Each of the Big Three promoted his favored Poles. As Admiral Leahy 

put it, the power struggle was now “the nub of the issue.””* 

Just before Truman took office, Stalin attempted to define the prob- 

lem more precisely by suggesting that the Yugoslav precedent be 

“more or less” followed in Poland—that is, that the Warsaw govern- 

ment be expanded by adding approximately one new minister for each 

four already in the Cabinet, to achieve a power ratio of one in five.t 

This would give the more Soviet-oriented Poles predominant influ- 

ence. Almost immediately upon taking office, Truman rejected Stal- 

in’s proposal. Churchill thought it “remarkable” that the new Presi- 

dent “felt able so promptly to commit himself” to a position totally 

opposed to the Russian view and very close to the Prime Minister’s 

own stand.® Neither Truman nor Churchill wished to commit himself 

* See Appendix I, for a detailed discussion 
of the post-Yalta negotiations. 

+ The actual precedent depends upon how 
one evaluates the political coloration of vari- 
ous Yugoslav Cabinet members. No attempt 
at such an independent assessment is made. 

The ratio 1 of 5 (20%) is taken from 
Churchill and Truman. It ‘is possible to find 
various estimates of the ratio: Lane gives 1 
of 5 (20%) (I Saw Freedom Betrayed, p. 
65); Churchill gives 1 of 5 (20%) in one 
place, but 6 of 31 (19%), elsewhere (Stalin’s 

20 

Correspondence, 1, pp. 340, 343); Truman 
endorsed both of these figures contained in 
Churchill’s messages (Stalin’s Correspond- 
ence, II, p. 224), Truman. gives 6 of 31 
(19%) elsewhere (Year of Decisions, p. 
109); Stalin gives 4 of 18 or 20 (22% or 
20%) (Sherwood, Roosevelt and Hopkins, 
p. 901); Feis gives 6 of 27 (22%) (Chur- 
chill, Roosevelt, Stalin, p. 576); Woodward 
gives 5 of 28, or 3 of 28 (18% or 11%) 
(British Foreign Policy, p. 507fn.); Mikolaj- 
czyk even gives 50% (The Pattern of Soviet 
Domination, p. 132). 
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THE STRATEGY OF AN IMMEDIATE SHOWDOWN 
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to terms for the reorganization of the government and, in a joint 

message to Stalin on April 18, they urged that the Warsaw govern- 

ment meet on an equal basis with the group of Western-oriented 

Polish political leaders.’ Such a meeting would give the same status to 

the Warsaw government and to the group of nongovernmental polit- 

ical figures. It would implicitly reject the Russian demand that the 

Warsaw government be recognized as the “core” of the reorganized 

government. 

The struggle over power in the new Polish government stemmed in 

great part from the vagueness of the Yalta agreement itself. The So- 

viet interpretation could be sustained by certain sections of the pro- 

tocol, the Anglo-American by others. The language was imprecise. 

The President’s Chief of Staff, Admiral Leahy (who had opposed the 

Soviet view at Yalta), believed the agreed formula gave the Russians © 

what they asked; it could be stretched “all the way from Yalta to 

Washington without ever technically breaking it.” Roosevelt had 

agreed with this view.® In fact, the language was sufficiently favorable 

to Stalin’s view so that, just before his death, Roosevelt felt it neces- 

sary to caution Churchill against attempting to “evade” the fact that 

“we placed, as clearly shown in the agreement, somewhat more em- 

phasis” on the Warsaw government than on the Western-oriented po- 

litical leaders.® : 

Despite the general thrust of this message, Roosevelt did not accept 

Stalin’s view that the Warsaw government should hold four out of five 

posts in the new government. Unfortunately he did not have time to 

give more precision to American policy before his death. In mid-April 

between Stalin and Churchill there was a great and seemingly un- 

bridgeable difference of views; between Stalin and Roosevelt, a lesser, 

but ill-defined difference. 

When Truman took office he was fully aware of the limitations of 

the Yalta language. He complained to his Secretary of State that the 

vague wording did not give him firm footing in his stand against the 

Russians.® Thus, it was in spite of his understanding and in spite of 

Roosevelt’s attempt to restrain Churchill, that Truman accepted the 

advice of the State Department and sided with Churchill in the dispute 

over the Polish government. 

The importance of the Polish issue lies not so much in the details of 

21 
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- its final phase, and “in its larger aspects,” as Truman ated’ at a i 

time, the Polish question had become “a symbol of the future devel- 

‘opment of our international relations.” The matter had an im- 

- portance which transcended the specific points at issue. It must be 

- understood as a basic question involving primary matters of American 

policy and—as the President and his advisers believed—the funda- 

mental structure of American-Soviet relations. Behind the firm ap- 
_ proach Truman took to the Polish question was a new estimate of the 

‘requirements of diplomacy toward the Soviet Union: all of the Presi- 

dent’s important advisers, save two, felt it necessary to have a sym- 

bolic showdown with Russia which would clarify relationships and 

_ force the Russians to cooperate with American principles throughout 

- Eastern and Central Europe. Thus, the Polish issue was seen as sym- 

; __ bolic, not merely as another in a series of seemingly infinite negotiations. 

The reasoning which underlay this view can best be understood by 

reviewing the arguments presented to the President by his ambassador 

to the Soviet Union; W. Averell Harriman.** On April 20, eight days 

after Roosevelt’s death, Harriman explained his belief that the leaders 

of the Soviet Union were following two policies at the same time. One 

- was a policy of cooperation with the United States and Great Britain, 

_, the second a policy of extension of Soviet control over neighboring 

_ states by independent action. In Harriman’s view, certain elements 

around Stalin had misinterpreted American generosity—especially in 

____ the matter of Lend-Lease aid—-and America’s desire for cooperation, 

: hen as indications of “softness.” They believed the Soviet government 

could “do as it pleased” in Eastern Europe without risking challenge 

< 

i _ from the United States." a 

___ _ Harriman argued that Soviet domination in Eastern Europe was 

ee intolerable. He believed that the United States was faced with “a bar- } 

iat  barian invasion of Europe.” He was convinced that Soviet control 

“Over any country meant not only that its influence would be para- ‘ 

mount in the country’s foreign relations, but also that the Soviet sys- | 

tem with its secret police and its extinction of freedom of speech 
would prevail. Faced with these “unpleasant facts,” Harriman be- 

_ lieved it was necessary to decide what America’s attitude should be. 
He argued that a reconsideration of Roosevelt’s policy was necessary. 
It was essential to abandon the illusion that the Soviet government 

ct 
if 
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_ was likely 1 to act in Daccoidarce with the Danepie which the rest of 

the world held in international affairs.14 Seo 

Earlier, Harriman had urged that the United States select “one or 

two cases” where Soviet actions were intolerable and “make them 

realize that they cannot continue their present attitude except at great 

cost to themselves.”!° Now he took up the Polish case with the Presi- 

dent. He argued that a firm American line had to be taken in this 

instance in order to establish all relations with Russia on a new basis. 

A firm approach was the only way to achieve practical cooperation. 

Harriman told the President he believed Stalin had discovered that an 

honest execution of the Yalta decision would mean the end of the 

Warsaw government, and that he had therefore abandoned the Yalta 

agreement. Harriman did not feel that two interpretations of the Yalta 

decision were possible and urged support for his view in the Polish 

dispute. He admitted that a firm approach might possibly jeopardize 

the Charter meeting of the United Nations, set for April 25 at San 

Francisco.1¢ 

“Iam. . . a most earnest advocate of the closest possible under- 

standing with the Soviet Union,” Harriman had commented a few 

days earlier, “so that what I am saying relates only to how best to 

attain such understanding.”!” Harriman was extremely confident that rm 

a strong stand would not precipitate a break with the Soviet Union. It. 

is this confidence which is the most striking feature of the American 

attitude, for not only Harriman but almost every senior government 

official shared the same sense of the power relationships. Harriman 

and others judged that the United States had sufficient power to de- 

mand acceptance of its terms for Eastern Europe. 

This estimate of the relative strengths derived primarily from a 

judgment regarding the economic positions of the two countries. Har- 

riman, who had spent much of his time in Moscow dealing with the 

Lend-Lease program, had often advised of the “enormous” require- 

ments of the invasion-devastated Russian economy. The Russians had 

already requested a large postwar credit, which Harriman estimated 

would amount to six billion dollars.'"* He now argued forcefully that 

the Soviet government would yield to the American position “because 

they needed our help in their reconstruction program.” For this rea- $ 

son, the United States could “stand firm” on important issues “without — 3 

running serious risks.”’® 
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Harriman reported that some quarters in Moscow believed it was ‘e 

matter of life and death to American business to increase exports to 

Russia. He said that, of course, this was untrue, but that a number of 

Russian officials nevertheless believed it. A firm approach would dis- 

pel this illusion. Once more Harriman repeated that he was not pessi- 

mistic about the outcome of a confrontation based upon a firm stand. 

In fact, not only was there little to fear, but such an approach was the 

one way to arrive at a new “workable basis with the Russians.” 

The strategy Harriman offered can be summarized in a few sen- 

-tences: Soviet actions in Eastern Europe had to be opposed by the 

United States. Since America had overwhelming economic power, and 

the Soviet Union enormous reconstruction requirements, the United 

States was in an extremely favorable bargaining position. A recon- 

sideration of Roosevelt’s policy was necessary. A firm stand and an 

immediate symbolic showdown would make the Russians realize that 

they could continue their domination of Eastern Europe only at 

“great cost to themselves.” Since American economic aid was so im- 

portant to the Russians, the showdown was likely to bring favorable 

results and cooperation with American principles. There was only the 

slightest chance of failure and a break in relations. 

STRONG WORDS ON A STRONG POSITION 

THIS FIRST LONG MEETING between the President and Harri- 

man—one of many similar high-level discussions of diplomatic strat- 

egy in mid-April 1945—exhibits four basic assumptions of policy. 

The first was opposition in principle to Soviet desires in Eastern Eu- 

‘rope and disgust at Soviet actions in the area. Most key American 

policy makers feared Soviet domination, the imposition of totalitarian 

governments, and the breakdown of economic interchange between 

Eastern and Western Europe.* Disturbed by their judgment of Soviet 

intentions, most American advisers agreed that the United States 
would have to take a more active role in demanding that the Soviet 
Union accept democratic-capitalistic governments in Eastern Europe. 
A favorable organization of the Polish government was the immediate 
2 SSE i Ma a Oe Me Meare oR ee RA See 

* See below, pp. 52-54, 77-80. 
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THE STRATEGY OF AN IMMEDIATE SHOWDOWN 

point at issue, but this was regarded only as a prerequisite to early 

elections which would establish democratically based authority in the 

country.** In fact, the single most important requirement of policy 

for each country in Eastern Europe, in the American view, was an 

early free election.* 

A second point to remember is that in early 1945 American policy 

makers were thinking primarily about Eastern Europe. The fear of 

subversion in Western Europe was not great—Communist parties 

were not only cooperating with, but actively supporting, conservative 

regimes in Italy, France, and Belgium.+ Nor were policy makers 

much worried about the possibility of military aggression in Western 

Europe; the immediate issue was the organization of Europe behind 

Red Army lines. Anxiety about this question reveals other assump- 

tions common in policy-making circles in April 1945. One was a 

belief that America’s own interest required active influence in Eastern 

Europe. What went on in the liberated areas had already been defined 

as “of urgent importance to the U.S.” by the time Truman took 

office.” Though often overlooked, such interest in Eastern Europe 

was an abandonment in principle of the ideal of isolation. 

Finally, another assumption was that the United States had suffi- 

cient economic and military power to persuade or force the Soviet 

Union out of the area, or at the very least, to achieve cooperation with 

American policies and a substantial reduction in Soviet influence. 

Since this goal was accepted by almost all major advisers, the most 

important questions were those of strategy; the focal point of policy 

was the judgment of the relative bargaining power available to each 

side in any confrontation over Eastern Europe. It is to this question 

that Harriman had addressed himself, urging that American economic 

power was so great that a symbolic diplomatic showdown would force 

the Russians to yield to the American position. “Russia is really afraid 

of our power or at least respects it,” he told Secretary of War Stimson, 

* See below, pp. 131-132, 148, 211-216. 

+ See below, pp. 131-132, for a discussion 
of this point. It is true, of course, that there 
was some fear of Communist subversion in 
Western Europe. Harriman warned of this at 
times. (Forrestal Diaries, pp. 39-40.) There 
was also a brief flurry of concern in the 

State Department associated with the “Du- 
clos letter.’”’ (See Conference of Berlin, I, 
pp. 267-80.) However the immediate points 
at issue were all in Eastern Europe and by 
and large policy makers assumed they could 
control the situation in Western Europe. 
(See, for example, Truman, Year of De- 
cisions, pp. 236-37.) 
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and he confidently dee tliat although Russia might “try a 
roughshod” over her neighbors, “she really fis} afraid of usi778 2 ee 

The Ambassador was not alone in this judgment. His position has ts 

been delineated in some detail not only because of the obvious im- 

portance of arguments presented by an experienced ambassador to the 

Soviet Union, but precisely because Harriman’s well-articulated view 

was supported in essentials by almost every important adviser con- 

sulted by the President.* In addition to Harriman the chief figures 

involved were Acting Secretary of State Joseph C. Grew, Secretary of 

State Edward Stettinius, Chief of Staff to the President Admiral Wil- 

liam D. Leahy, Secretary of War Henry L. Stimson, and Secretary of 

; the Navy James V. Forrestal. 

\ ci i In a round of talks during April, Harriman discussed basic strategy 

with each of the above men. His consultations with the State Depart- 

ment were, of course, a matter of normal procedure. He found that 

the chief officials in the Department were in agreement that economic 

aid could and should be used to bring the Russians into line in Eastern 

Europe.”* Admiral Leahy was also “canvassed” (to use his term) by 

Harriman on April 21. The Ambassador found Leahy sympathetic to 

ie his basic views and in agreement that economic aid to Russia now 

te should be “limited exclusively to material that would assist in the 

is common war effort.”’5 Secretary of War Stimson also agreed with the 

concept of the strategy; his only objections—important ones—con- 

cerned the timing and method to be employed. Finally the day before 

eK he saw Truman, Harriman spoke at length with Secretary of the Navy 

Forrestal. He urged “much greater firmness” toward the Russians. 

Forrestal was enthusiastically in favor of the firm approach and, in 

fact, had long maintained contact with Harriman in Moscow; his pri- 

vate diaries were filled with Harriman’s cables and his own favorable 

comments.”° | 

Of course, Harriman’s most important allies were in the State De- . 

partment. Roosevelt often ignored the advice of the Department dur- : 

ing his lifetime.” (He had not even bothered to read the briefs pre- p 

pared for his use before the Yalta Conference. )2® However, in the 

last weeks of Roosevelt’s life, with his chief aide, Harry L. Hopkins, 

eh ny hain ail 

* See below, pp. 51, 60-61, for disagree- 
mient by Stimson and Marshall over timing. 
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oe hospitalized and out of government, and the President’s own health — 

failing, the Department was increasingly called upon to take respon- 

sibility for policy decisions of ever greater importance.*?® When 

Roosevelt was replaced by Truman—who admittedly knew very little _ 

about foreign affairs—officials in the Department of State were asked _ 

to join in making decisions of the highest importance. Joseph C. Grew — 

was a key figure, for the Acting Secretary of State saw Truman regu- 

larly to brief him on diplomatic questions.®° Secretary Stettinius was 

out of Washington for most of the remainder of his term of office, and 

Grew was the chief official of the Department. 

The Acting Secretary was an extremely conservative State Depart- 

ment representative. Grew not only doubted the possibility of co- ' 

operation with the Russians (and was personally opposed to men like = 

Hopkins), but was already convinced that “a future war with Soviet 

Russia is as certain as anything in this world can be certain.”*' It is a 

sign of the policy-making atmosphere in Washington after Roosevelt’s th, 

death that Grew, who had formerly rarely reached the ear of the 

President with his firm advice, was able to write to a friend three 

weeks after Truman took office: “If I could talk to you about the new 

President you would hear nothing but the most favorable reaction. a 

. . . He certainly won’t stand for any pussyfooting in our foreign | 

relations and policy. . . . You can imagine what a joy it is to deal 

with a man like that.”°*? 

When Harriman returned to Washington for consultations after 

Roosevelt’s death, he found that Grew and others near to Truman 

were far more sympathetic to his strategy for dealing with Russia than 

Roosevelt and his chief aides had been. Harriman seems to have 

sensed the opportunity this gave him, for he undertook his round of 

policy discussions with great energy. Convinced that only a firm line 

could establish relations on a sound basis, the Ambassador pressed his 

case with vigor and intelligence. It is not accurate, however, to say 

that Harriman’s efforts changed policy. As early as April 3, Secretary 

Stimson noted in his diary that “there has been growing quite a strain 

of irritating feeling between our government and the Russians”; and 

almost all the men Harriman spoke with in mid-April had come in- 

Pian 

* See Appendix I. 
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dependently to the conclusion that a firm line with Russia was neces- 

sary.** It is, therefore, more to the point to note that Harriman’s 

presence and activities in Washington during the first weeks of the 

new Truman administration served to focus attention on the Soviet 

problem, and to stimulate a new consensus on a precise strategy for 

treating with Russia. 

Thus, Harriman’s fast-moving series of Washington discussions set 

the stage for a new policy based upon already well-developed views. 

The actual decision was taken just before Molotov’s meeting with the 

- President on April 23. A few hours before receiving the Soviet For- 

eign Minister, Truman called in his senior advisers for a final review 

of strategy. There was a short dispute over the meaning of the Yalta 

agreement on Poland. Admiral Leahy held that the language “was 

susceptible of two interpretations.”** Although he opposed the Soviet 

position on Poland, he believed the Russians were within the terms of 

the Yalta agreement.* However, Secretary Stettinius argued that only 

the view urged by the State Department was possible. More important 

than the details of the discussion, however, was the general view ac- 

cepted by the meeting. All of the senior advisers, with two important 

exceptions, agreed with the President and Ambassador Harriman on 

strategy. As Secretary Forrestal put it, “This difficulty over Poland 

could not be treated as an isolated incident.”* The matter had to be 

seen in terms of the larger perspective. It was a symbolic issue. “For 

some time the Russians had considered that we would not object if 

they took over all of Eastern Europe.”** Forrestal argued: “We had 

better have a showdown with them now rather than later.”*7 As Ad- 

miral Leahy summarized, “The consensus. . . was that the time had 

arrived to take a strong American attitude toward the Soviet 

ON. oa 

The agreement that a symbolic showdown would be wise and ex- 

_ pedient was almost unanimous. Only Stimson, who agreed with the 

_ principle of such a showdown, but opposed immediate action, noted 

that when Harriman and others “moved for strong words by the Pres- 

ident on a strong position,” there was only one person besides himself 

* Leahy’s position is curious. It appears ignore his own belief that the Russians were 
that he judged a showdown to be so impor- advocating a legitimate interpretation of 
tant—it “would have a beneficial effect upon Yalta. (I Was There, p. 352; Diary, April 
the Soviet outlook”—that he was prepared to 23, 1945, p. 63.) 
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THE STRATEGY OF AN IMMEDIATE SHOWDOWN — 

prepared to offer a different view.®® The solid consensus derived not 

only from the preparatory work done by Harriman and the attitudes. 

already accepted by the senior advisers; equally important, the new 

President had made it abundantly clear from almost the first days of 

his administration that he personally believed a “firm” line neces- 

sary. Even before his April 20 interview with Harriman, when Tru- 

man had heard of a new Soviet-Polish treaty he had decided to “lay it 

on the line” with Molotov.*° At the long discussion of strategy with 

Harriman, the President had interrupted his ambassador before he got 

to the heart of his proposal to say that he “was not afraid of the 

Russians” and that he “intended to be firm.” He reiterated this view at 

three separate points during the discussion.*! Like Harriman and the 

others, Truman believed a showdown would risk very little. It was his 

opinion that “the Russians needed us more than we needed them.”42 

Truman would make “no concessions” from American principles. He 

was quite aware of the strength economic aid gave to America’s bar- 

gaining position, and he believed there was not much danger of a 

break. He planned to let Molotov know his feelings “in words of one 

syllable.’’** 

Thus, Truman was in accord with his advisers, and, indeed, was 

enthusiastically in favor of a firm line. In fact, at the April 23 meeting, 

he did not wait to hear the consensus before offering his own view. 

Instead, he initiated the discussion by declaring that “our agreements 

with the Soviet Union so far had been a one-way street and that he 

could not continue.” He believed it was necessary to set relations on a 

new basis; “it was now or never. . . .”** 

REMOVING THE LAST OBSTACLE TO THE 

SHOWDOWN STRATEGY 

AT FIRST READING, the showdown strategy appears as an inex- 

plicable reversal of the policy that was being followed by Roosevelt 

only a few weeks earlier. American economic power was as great 

when Roosevelt lived as it was in the first weeks of the Truman admin- 

istration; the leverage this fact gave to diplomacy was no less power- 

ful. To understand fully the changes in American policy in mid-April, 

it is necessary to go beyond the discussion thus far presented. During 
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His Feiss was spablewalea with the President. ‘Trowiak was one 

ane ~ sonally far less sympathetic to the Russians and, indeed, at a time 

when Roosevelt was begging for support for Lend-Lease aid to the 

_ Russians in 1941, then Senator Truman was suggesting: “If we see 

Russia is winning we ought to help Germany and that way let them 

kill as many as possible. . . .”* 
-~ ~The second obstacle to a firm line was a fear that American-Soviet 

~ cooperation might be destroyed and that a separate peace between 

o Germany and the Soviet Union might be signed.*® This objection was 

_ obviated by the collapse of German power. But there had been a third 

a obstacle to the firm line: the fear that a showdown and tough ap- 

proach might lose Soviet help in the war against Japan.*” At the time 

~ of Roosevelt’s death, this argument had lost none of its force in policy- 

_ making circles. 

The need for Soviet help in the Japanese war had disturbed no 

oh _ individual more than General John R. Deane, Chief of the United 

oe - States Military Mission in Moscow. Like Harriman, Deane had long 

up _been urging a tougher policy with the Russians;** and, like Harriman, 

he believed that American economic aid could be used to force the 

_ Russians to accept American policies, in both the military and the 

. “political fieids.° Both Deane and Harriman. had suffered innumer- 

_ able personal frustrations in dealing with the suspicious Russians.*° 

_ Deane reported to General Marshall at the end of 1944 that he had 

“become gradually nauseated by Russian food, vodka, and protesta- 
_ tions of friendship.” Deane emphasized the great value of Amer- 

ican aid to the war-torn Soviet Union, and he complained of the lack 

" of cooperation on numerous minor requests. “We are in the position 
_ of being at the same time the givers and the supplicants,” he wrote. 

; ; _ “This is neither dignified nor healthy for U.S. prestige.”*? Deane 

_ joined his friend and colleague Harriman in the effort to convince 

_ Washington to adopt a much greater degree of firmness. “I feel certain 
we must be tougher,” he wrote to Marshall.®* 

Despite his repeated urging, however, during Rooseveit’s lifetirne, 

__ Deane had met with as little success as Harriman.®* The Joint Chiefs 
_ of Staff to whom he reported were even more concerned than the 
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winter months of early 1945 trying to find a way to reduce American 

dependence on Soviet help in the Far East.°° In cooperation with 

General Frank N. Roberts, Deane produced a series of studies which 

showed that air bases in Siberia, sought by the United States for B-29 

bombing operations against Japan, would actually be of little value; — 

_they would increase the total bomb tonnage delivered on Japan by 

only 1.39 per cent over what might be achieved by using available 

Pacific bases; the Siberian bases would certainly not be worth the 

logistical effort needed to establish and supply them.°’ Deane was 

also able to show that sufficient supplies could be delivered to meet all 

the requirements of Soviet participation in the Japanese war without 

having to clear a Pacific supply route.*® 

After the death of Roosevelt, Deane returned with Harriman to 

Washington for consultations. He took along his studies “to help sell 

my ideas to the Chiefs of Staff.”°® He urged that the United States 

“withdraw from all cooperative ventures that were not essential to 

winning the war and. . . stop pushing our proposals on the Russians 

and force them to come to us.”® Thus, while Harriman urged Wash- 

ington political advisers to adopt a tougher approach, Deane worked 

hard to convince the military authorities that Soviet help was less 

essential than had previously been thought. The advice from the two — 

Moscow colleagues was completely complementary, and, at the same 

time that Harriman won approval for his showdown strategy, Deane 

was able to prove his case. On April 24 the Joint Chiefs canceled 

plans for B-29 bases in Siberia and put aside plans for clearing a 

Pacific supply route to the Soviet Union. 

It had also been thought that Soviet troops would be needed to hold 

down the Japanese Kwantung army so as to prevent reinforcement of 

the main islands during the actual invasion.*® However, by mid-April 

the Joint Chiefs found they could accomplish this objective by other 

means. American control of the Japanese seas was now so well estab- 

lished that the movement of Japanese forces from the China mainland 

to the home islands could be prevented.® To be sure, Soviet par- 

ticipation in the war against Japan would be useful—especially the 

shock value of a declaration of war by the third major power—but, by 
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April 24, the Joint Staff planners advised the Joint Chiefs of Staff: 

“Early Russian entry into the war against Japan is no longer necessary 

to make the invasion feasible.”** There was no objection to this re- 

port, and it was officially adopted by the Joint Chiefs on May 10. 

Deane was “elated” by these decisions: “As far as military collabo- 

ration was concerned, they cleared the decks of any dependence we 

were placing on Russian generosity.” At the April 23 meeting with 

the President, Deane was thus able to second Harriman’s firm strategy 

with few qualms that the formerly unanswerable objection would be 

raised. Deane felt “we were in a position to be tough and indifferent,” 

and he told Truman that in Moscow he had learned that “if we were 

afraid of the Russians we would get nowhere.”®’ He concluded: “We 

should be firm.’®* Consequently, the summary consensus of the meet- 

ing, written by Admiral Leahy, which began, “The time had come to 

take a strong American attitude toward the Soviet Union,” ended with 

the judgment, “No particular harm could be done to our war prospects 

if Russia should slow down or even stop its war effort in Europe and 

Asia.” *®& 

Thus the President and most of his chief advisers were convinced 

that an immediate symbolic showdown would risk very little. It would 

make the Russians understand that they could not continue their pol- 

icies in Eastern Europe “except at great cost to themselves” and would 

establish cooperation on a “realistic basis.” When Truman met with 

Molotov, a few hours after the discussion with his advisers, he “went 

straight to the point.””° The President indicated that the Soviet Union 

could not expect American economic assistance unless the Polish dis- 

cussions continued on the basis of the American proposals. Truman 

pointedly remarked that the issue had become a matter of public con- 

cern and that it would not be possible to get congressional approval 

* At the April 23, 1945, meeting two fur- 
ther arguments supplemented Deane’s major 
point. Harriman noted that a year had passed 
since the Russians had agreed to start col- 
laboration in the Far East, but none of the 
agreements had been carried out. Hence, the 
United States could not count on a Soviet 
commitment to enter the war. Deane also 
argued that “regardless of what happened” - 
the Russians would enter the Pacific war as 
soon as they could because they had interests 
in the Far East and could not risk a letdown 
by their war-weary population. (Truman, 
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Year of Decisions, p. 79.) Though these ar- 
guments conflicted in their estimate of Soviet 
intentions, they pointed to the same conciu- 
sion: a firm stand would not have major im- 
plications for the war against Japan. Despite 
the argument Harriman made at the April 23 
meeting, his own views seem to have been 
more consistently in line with those of 
Deane. On other occasions he “was satisfied 
[the Russians] were determined to come in” 
the Japanese war because of their require- 
ments in the Far East. (Forrestal, Diaries, p. 
55; Leahy Diary, April 19, 1945, p. 82.) 
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_ for economic-assistance measures without public support. The Soviet 

government would do well to “keep these factors in mind” when con- 

sidering the American proposals on Poland.” 

Although he understood that the Yalta agreement was vague, Tru- 

man told Molotov that the American interpretation was the only one 

possible.” “All we were asking was that the Soviet Government carry 

out the Crimea decision,” he declared. Molotov said that the Soviet 

government believed the remaining difficulties could easily be over- 

come, and he began to discuss the general problem of Allied coopera- 

tion. Truman responded “sharply” that an agreement had been 

reached on Poland and that “there was only one thing to do, and that 

was for Marshal Stalin to carry out that agreement.”** 

Molotov said that Stalin had offered his view of the agreement in 

previous messages, and he added that he personally could not under- 

stand why, if the three governments could reach an agreement on the 

composition of the Yugoslav government, the same formula could not 

be applied in the case of Poland.” 

Once more Truman replied “sharply” that “an agreement had been 

reached. . . . It was only required to be carried out by the Soviet 

Government.” Molotov again began to explain that he could not ac- 

cept the view that the Yalta agreement had been broken. Again Tru- 

man declared that the United States asked only that the Soviet Union 

carry out its agreements. Molotov should clearly understand that 

American cooperation could be had only on this basis, not “on the 

basis of a one-way street.” 

“T have never been talked to like that in my life,” Molotov declared. 

“Carry out your agreements and you won’t get talked to like that,” 

Truman responded.” 

AMERICA’S ECONOMIC LEVERAGE 

TRUMAN’S DECISION to force the Polish issue to a showdown 

“was more than pleasing” to nis Chief of Staff. Admiral Leahy be- 

lieved that the blunt language “would have a beneficial effect on the 

Soviet outlook.””® Along with the President and his other senior ad- 

visers, Leahy judged that “the Russians had always known that we 

had the power,” and they should “know after this conversation that 

we had the determination. . . .””7 The matter was one of basic prin- 
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“this meeting . ree to the Soviet only two courses of action: 

either to roprench more closely to our expressed policy to Poland, or 

to drop out of the Association of Nations.””* 

Despite Leahy’s confident estimate of the force of the showdown, 

the Soviet Union did not choose either alternative. Within twenty-four 

hours parallel messages reached Truman and Churchill from Moscow. 

Stalin commented that “one cannot but recognize as unusual a situa- 

tion in which two governments—those of the United States and Great 

_Britain—reach agreement beforehand on Poland, a country in which — 

the U.S.S.R. is interested first of all and most of all, and place its 

representatives in an intolerable position, trying to dictate to it.” The 

Soviet Premier emphasized the importance of Poland to Soviet secu- 

rity: “You evidently do not agree that the Soviet Union is entitled to 

_ seek in Poland a government that would be friendly to iti). .<Thises 

rendered imperative . . . by the Soviet people’s blood freely shed on 

the fields of Poland. . . .” Stalin remarked that by “turning down the ~ 

Yugoslav example as a model for Poland, you confirm that the 

[Warsaw] Provisional Government cannot be regarded as a basis for, 

and the core of, a future Government. . .” This meant there could be 

no progress. Stalin concluded that there was “only one way out of the 

_ present situation and that is to accept the Yugoslav precedent.”” 

Thus, the first response to the showdown strategy did not justify the 

hopes of the President and his advisers. Nevertheless, on the same day 

that Stalin’s reply came in, Secretary of State Stettinius made another 

effort to make Molotov understand the stakes involved. In a discus- 

sion held at San Francisco, Stettinius once more affirmed the Amer- 

ican position and emphasized that future economic aid would depend 

entirely upon the mood and conscience of the American people. He 

advised Molotov that he would have his last opportunity to prove that 

Russia deserved economic assistance.®° Stettinius’ efforts met with no 

success and on April 29 he reported to Truman that the Polish i issue 

had reached an impasse.*4 

The crisis over Poland deepened when in the first week of May infor- 

mation reached Washington that the Warsaw government had already 

begun to administer territory taken from Germany on the Polish western 

_ border. Though this had been accepted in principle at Yalta, no final 

settlement had been made; and the action indicated Russian determina- 
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port the Warsaw government’s claim to legitimacy and its 
right to a predominant role in a reorganized government.** Molotov — 

_ also renewed an earlier request that the Warsaw government be repre- 

sented at San Francisco,** and he confirmed reports that sixteen 

Polish underground leaders—some of them political figures—had been a) 

arrested on charges of obstructing the Red Army.®* Although the 7 tae 

American and British governments believed the extremely anti-Rus- Ay, 

sian Poles could well have given cause for the Soviet charges, there B: 

was little information available, and the arrests seemed aimed at pre- ay 

determining Polish political issues.°* Much disturbed by the Soviet cas 

attitude, on May 5 the American and British governments jointly : 

announced they would not continue discussions of the Polish issue soe ; 

until a full explanation of the arrests had been given.*” 

Thus the firm line of policy was maintained, as was the parallel . ae 

position of the United States and Britain. The real issue, of course, harap 

still centered on the “Yugoslav precedent,” and Truman cabled Stalin G 

on May 4 to say that he supported a long message of Churchill’s which 

had simultaneously rejected the Yugoslav precedent and urged a 

number of points of procedure.** The President said there could be 

no question of the Warsaw government coming to San Francisco and 

told Stalin that the American viewpoint had not changed.** However, Bets 

again the President was unsuccessful. On May 7, the State Depart- ea 

ment reported the latest Russian response on the Polish question. “It i 

was a turndown in every respect,” Acting Secretary Grew told Ad- 

miral Leahy, “both as to setting up the government and also with 

regard to the sixteen Polish leaders . . .”?° 

It now was obvious that the showdown strategy had failed. Faced 

with a setback, Truman’s advisers decided it was necessary to further 

emphasize and dramatize American determination. As early as April 

11, Ambassador Harriman and the Department of State were in 

agreement that the United States “should retain current controlof .. . 

credits [to the Russians] in order to be in a position to protect Amer- 

ican vital interests in the formulative period immediately following the 

war.”®' Lend-Lease aid during the war had been provided according 

to Soviet requests and American resources, with very little question 

raised about supporting evidence for Soviet requirements. Harri- 

man believed that Lend-Lease shipments should now be limited ex- 

clusively to materials that could be directly related to the common war 
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effort.°* General Deane had urged the same policy upon the Joint 

Chiefs of Staff.°* Any Soviet request which might extend beyond the 

war period could then be processed in connection with arrangements 

for a large-scale Soviet credit which had been discussed at Yalta and 

which still figured in the administration’s strategy.®° Indeed, a limita- 

tion on Lend-Lease followed logically from the view that American 

diplomacy could gain if the Soviet Union were more dependent upon 

economic assistance. This would increase America’s economic lever- 

age and would “make the Soviet authorities come to us,” as Deane 

had phrased it.®° 

Harriman had also pressed this view during his April round of 

consultations. By early May, Secretaries Stimson and Forrestal, Act- 

ing Secretary Grew, Admiral Leahy, and the Joint Chiefs of Staff had 

endorsed the strategy.®” On May 8, the day of the German surrender 

and a day after the report of Stalin’s rejection of the President’s stand 

on the Polish issue, Acting Secretary Grew decided to move from 

consensus to action. Together with Assistant Secretary of State Wil- 

liam L. Clayton and Lend-Lease Administrator Leo T. Crowley, he 

brought the President a draft order authorizing an immediate cutback 

of Lend-Lease shipments now that the war in Europe was over.*® 

Truman agreed with the strategy and signed the order. Almost im- 

mediately ships on the high seas bound for the Soviet Union were 

ordered to turn back, instructions were given to discontinue the load- 

ing of ships in port, and goods already aboard ships in American 

harbors were unloaded.*® The harshness of this action stirred consid- 

erable public protest, and on May 11 the President substituted a 

slightly modified instruction which allowed ships already at sea to 

continue and permitted the completion of loading operations already 

under way.’°° Despite this modification, however, Truman did not 

change the substance of the order.* . 

* Truman later disclaimed responsibility 
for the abrupt “ymanner in which the [cut- 
back] order was executed,” saying that he 
had not read the paper he signed. This 
seems dubious, since there was a great effort 
by at least four advisers to make sure the 
President understood what he was doing. But 
even if one accepts the President’s report, 
the fact remains that Truman immediately 
substituted a slightly modified order which 
accomplished substantially the same purpose. 
The President, of course, has never dis- 
claimed responsibility for this action. As to 
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the harsh execution of the first order, even 
Harriman was taken aback by the thorough- 
ness with which lower officials acted upon 
orders from above. (Year of Decisions, p. 
228; Daniels, The Man of Independence, p. 
271; Feis, Between War and Peace, p. 27fn.) 
On another occasion, Truman offered what, 
as will be shown, is probably the most ac- 
curate recollection; namely that the timing, 
but not the substance of the action, was a 
“mistake.” (New York Times, Feb. 15, 
1950.) See below, pp. 223-224. 
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The abrupt Lend-Lease cutback put great pressure on the Russians, 
especially as no warning had been given for an action which was 
bound to disrupt the careful plans of a scarcity wartime economy.’ 
As is evident, the timing of the cutback—in the midst of the deadlock 
after the initial Polish showdown—was certain to be interpreted as 
economic pressure aimed at forcing the Russians to yield in the dip- 

lomatic confrontation. The full story of the Lend-Lease cutback has 

not been made public. Hitherto it has not been possible to demon- 

strate conclusively that the Lend-Lease cutback was designed pri- 

marily to put pressure on the Russians. However, fresh evidence on — 

this matter indicates that the advisers who urged the action did so 

precisely for this reason. Moreover they understood their actions 

would be interpreted as pressure. That the President was fully in- 

formed of the strategy and party to it is also shown by reports of 

discussions among his top advisers. 

Truman received complementary advice on the matter from two 

distinct sources. The State Department, in consultation with Harri- 

man, had long been agreed upon the strategic value of close controls 

over aid to the Soviet Union.” Immediately before the final order 

was given, however, Lend-Lease Administrator Crowley telephoned 

Acting Secretary Grew to confirm his understanding of, and agree- 

ment with, the action. He particularly wanted the President to under- 

stand the implications of the cutback, and asked to accompany Grew 

when the order was explained to Truman; he wanted “to be sure the 

President thoroughly understands the situation and that he will back 

us up and will keep everyone else out of it.” Crowley foresaw that “we 

would be having difficulty with the Russians, and he did not want 

them to be running all over town looking for help.’? 

At the same time that Crowley and Grew were preparing to explain 

the Lend-Lease order to the President, Secretary Stimson was at the 

White House. Stimson too wanted to be certain that the President fully 

understood the Lend-Lease problem; he had asked for an interview 

for the single purpose of advising “the necessity of a more realistic 

policy in regard to the Russians and the use of Lend-Lease towards 

them.” Stimson thought the best approach would be to eliminate the 

Lend-Lease protocol. He found that the President agreed and, indeed, 

was “vigorously enthusiastic” in support of his viewpoint. Truman 

said it was “right down his alley.” After his interview Stimson tele- 

phoned Grew to report on his conversation. The Acting Secretary was 
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“very: muck leased” at the Presi 
_ Stimson discussed strategy with Assistant Sclonay of War John. J. 

a McCloy, explaining that the Russians had “rather taken [the lead] 

away from us because we have talked too much and been too lavish 

with our beneficencies.” However, the Secretary of War was confi- 

_ dent that America’s power would bring the Russians into line: “They 

can’t get along without our help and industries. . . .”7* 

After Truman endorsed the memorandum, Ambassador Harriman 

telephoned Grew to report that “the Lend-Lease thing was settled.” 

_ Like Crowley, Harriman had few doubts about the effect of the order. 

_ He predicted that “we would be getting a good ‘tough slash-back’ from 

the Russians but that we have to face it.”?°° For this reason, Crowley 

was asked to work out a statement to give to the press. On May 12, 

Crowley telephoned Grew to ask his opinion of a draft which read: 

In view of the end of hostilities in Europe a careful re-examination is 
being made of Lend-Lease programs with a view to allocating ma- 
terials to theaters where they are most needed. 

Grew approved the draft. He noted that “the statement did not 

seem to bring the Russians in directly,” and commented approvingly: 

“That was good. . . .” Grew wanted to be sure the Russians were not 

named, “since this whole thing is full of dynamite. . . .” Crowley 

- suggested that “it would be a good idea when the Russians came to us 

just to say to them that we were going to reconsider their request 

because we have to use some of these materials in other theaters.” He 

remarked that “what had disturbed the White House apparently was 

that War Shipping felt that when the men quit loading ships for Rus- 

sia, they would immediately start to talk and they felt that a statement 

should be made.” Crowley uaa that his draft “was as little as we 

could say. . . .”207 

As these nonveceattons show, there can be no doubt that the abrupt 

Lend-Lease cutoff was designed primarily with the Russians in mind. 

To be sure, the action was in accord with the terms of the law requir- 

ing an end to the program in Europe after Germany’s defeat.1°* But 

this was not an overriding consideration, for the law allowed Lend- 

Lease aid for those assisting in the war against Japan and admitted of a 

wide range of interpretations for use in Europe even after the German 

surrender. The cutoff did not, in fact, eliminate the flow of goods 
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_ specifically related to Soviet participation in the war against Japan, 
although there was now a more careful screening of requests.* The 

_ law also allowed a generous interpretation which provided supplies to 

British forces in Europe after the German surrender on the grounds 

that these forces freed other resources for Japan. A parallel interpre- 

tation, though equally justifiable under the law, was not applied to 

Soviet forces in Europe or elsewhere.’ Thus, contrary to a com- 

monly held opinion, the law did not require an immediate halt of 

Lend-Lease shipments to the Soviet Union after the defeat of Ger- 

many. As has been indicated, the primary motivation for the timing of 

the Lend-Lease cutback is to be found in the prevailing concepts 

which guided the showdown strategy.t 

Despite the increased economic pressure which the Lend-Lease 

cutback created, and despite Stettinius’ warning to Molotov, the Rus- 

sians did not yield in the diplomatic confrontation. A brief message 

from Stalin on May 10 responded to Truman’s last communication 

and noted that the American note still refused to accept the Warsaw 

government as the “basis” for the reorganized Polish government. The 

Soviet Premier concluded: “I am obliged to say that this attitude rules 

out an agreed decision on the Polish question.”?”° 

Once again the showdown strategy had failed to bring the promised 

results. Again there was a direct challenge to the theory that economic 

pressure would bring the Russians into line with American views. 

Most American policy makers responded to the challenge, not by 

reconsidering the assumptions of the strategy, but by following the 

pattern they had established after the initial setback: They decided 

that the showdown had to be continued and that the pressure on the 

Russians had to be increased. Truman’s advisers converged upon 

him with the suggestion that the American position be reaffirmed and 

emphasized at the highest level, in a face-to-face confrontation with 

Stalin. On May 14 Admiral Leahy advised the President that an early 

meeting with Churchill and Stalin was an absolute necessity—“The 

* After the order, Soviet requests were re- 
duced by 50 per cent in many categories, the 
first time such screening had been applied 
since the initiation of the Lend-Lease pro- 
gram. (Feis, Between War and Peace, pp. 
329-33; U.S. Defense Dept., “Entry of the 
Soviet Union into the War Against Japan,” 
p. 75.) 

+ Feis attempts to argue that the provisions 
of the law were the main reason for this 
action (Churchill, Roosevelt, Stalin, p. 647). 
For further information on how little Truman 
felt himself restricted by the law, however, 
see Conference of Berlin, I, pp. 805-20 (es- 
pecially p. 819), and II, pp. 341, 1184-85. 
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Polish issue had become a symbol of the deterioration of our relations 

with the Russians.”!1! The next day Acting Secretary of State Grew 

and Ambassador Harriman emphasized the same point. Grew told 

Truman that “we all felt in the Department of State that it was of the 

utmost importance that the Big Three meeting should take place as 

soon as possible.” Harriman then explained that Russia was “the 

number one problem affecting the future of the world and the fact was 

that at the present moment we were getting farther and farther apart. 

. . .” Harriman said that he felt the “establishment of a basis for 

_ future relations with Russia and the settlement of those immediate 

issues could only be done at a tripartite meeting, that the longer the 

meeting was delayed the worse the situation would get, and that while 

he assumed . . . that we were not prepared to use our troops in 

Europe for political bargaining, nevertheless, if the meeting could take 

place before we were in a large measure out of Europe he felt the 

atmosphere of the meeting would be more favorable and the chances 

of success increased. . . .”1!? 

Similar views prevailed in London. Eden reported the breakdown 

of the Polish negotiations to Churchili and urged that the Soviet 

Union now had to be “brought up sharply against realities.”1* 

Churchill agreed, responding that the relationship with the Russians 

_ could now “only be founded upon their recognition of Anglo-Amer- 

ican strength.”"* The Prime Minister believed that “the decisive, 

practical points of strategy” involved “above ail that a settlement 

must be reached on all major issues . . . before the armies of democ- 

racy melted. . .”"* On May 6 he proposed an immediate heads-of- 

government meeting to the President. On May 11 and May 12 he sent 

further pleas to Truman: “Surely it is vital now to come to an under- 

standing with Russia . . . before we weaken our armies mor- 

tally .. .”"° To Eden, he confidentially advised: “It is to this early 

and speedy show-down and settlement with Russia that we must now 

turn our hopes.”**7 On May 14 Eden told Truman that “no solution 

of the [Polish] problem could be expected until there could be a 

meeting between the President, the Prime Minister and Stalin.”""8 



CHAPTER Il 

The Strategy 

ofa 

Delayed 

Showdown 

We shall probably hold more cards in 

our hands later than now. 

—SECRETARY OF WAR 

Henry L. STIMSON 

May 16, 1945 

ALTHOUGH HIS DECISION to force a showdown with Russia had 

been taken with regard to the specific issue of Poland, Truman’s re- 

solve was not limited solely to this dispute. In fact, Poland had been 

chosen as a symbolic issue; the implications of the showdown were 

expected to affect the whole structure of Soviet-American relations. * 

It is not surprising, therefore, that in the last week of April Truman 

also decided to take a strong line on diplomatic problems in Central 

Europe. Here, however, it was not American economic aid which was 

central to the tough strategy, but the advantageous position of Amer- 

ican troops in Germany. 

Soviet-American disputes in Central Europe arose out of the spe- 

cial circumstances of German collapse. The Allies had hoped to avoid 

the bitter territorial struggle that had occurred in the last days of the 

First World War and by the late autumn of 1944 had prudently nego- 

tiated an agreement delineating zones of occupation to be established 

in Germany after the fighting." However, the military situation had 

changed considerably after the agreements were signed. Apparently 

realizing the inevitable outcome of the war, Hitler reduced resistance 

* See above, pp. 21-22. 
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ie potces mpuiriee the Russians in the east. He sonied to hope at least 

to give over more of Germany to troops whose homes had not been 

devastated by the Nazi invasion, and at most to sow suspicion and 

encourage a struggle for the control of German territory.” 

As a consequence, the western armies found themselves deep within 

the Soviet zone of Germany, much farther to the east than had orig- 

_ inally been expected. As a matter of course, early in April Eisenhower 

proposed a simple arrangement which would have allowed military 

_ ~~. commanders in Germany to arrange withdrawals to the agreed zones.* 

Eisenhower’s suggestion was immediately opposed by Churchill. On 

April 5, the Prime Minister cabled Roosevelt urging a “stand fast” 

order. He noted that final agreement on occupation zones for Austria 

had not yet been negotiated and, since Russia would very likely oc- 

cupy almost the whole of the country, he thought it might “be prudent 

for us to hold as much as possible in the north.”* At the same time, 

Churchill directed General Ismay to oppose any major troop move-— 

ments and to refer oy suggested withdrawal to the President and 

himself.® 

Churchill’s strategy was not very complicated. Despite the existing 

protocol, which specifically required troop withdrawals after German 

capitulation, he believed it might be possible to obtain additional con- 

cessions from the Russians if he could maintain the extended troop 

positions. Realizing the relative weakness of the British bargaining 

position, he counted heavily on the value of the troop withdrawals in 

the next round of negotiations. Although in communication with 

Roosevelt he linked the withdrawal only to the relatively minor un- 

settled Austrian zonal questions,* privately he informed Ismay that 

his purpose was far more general—before the armies were withdrawn, 

“political issues operative at that time should be discussed between the 

heads of Governments, and in particular . . . the situation should be © 

viewed as a whole and in regard to the relations between the Soviet, 

American and British Governments.” 

Churchill’s approach to Roosevelt was made well in advance of the 

* For more information on this dispute, see 
Feis, Between War and Peace, pp. 65-69, 
149-51. 
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-war’s end, before the time when large-scale troop movements would — te 
have to be made. In a parallel action, the British Chiefs of Staff pro- 

posed a temporary “stand fast” order. This was accepted by the Joint 

Chiefs of Staff, so that while the matter was being discussed between 

London and Washington, Eisenhower was directed to maintain the 

troop positions.* The temporary directive was issued on the day 

Roosevelt died (April 12), and Churchill moved immediately to ex- 

ploit his advantage. On April 14 he reaffirmed the substance of his 

earlier instruction to Ismay,® and on April 18 he took the matter up 

with Roosevelt’s successor. To achieve his end, the Prime Minister 

was now prepared to utilize whatever argument he thought most per- 

suasive. Undoubtedly aware of American concern over the developing 

problems of scarcity in Central Europe, he abandoned the attempt to 

link the withdrawal to the Austrian zonal dispute and switched the 

basis of his attack.* “The Russian occupational zone has the smallest 

proportion of people and grows by far the largest proportion of food 

. . .” he cabled Truman. “Before we move from the tactical positions 

we have at present achieved,” the Russians should be forced to agree 

that “the feeding of the German population must be treated as a whole 

and that the available supplies must be divided pro rata between the 

occupational zones.”?° 

When this suggestion reached Washington, Truman referred the 

matter to the Joint Chiefs of Staff for advice.** He found them unwill- 

ing to use the troop positions for political purposes.’? From London, 

Ambassador John G. Winant advised that an attempt to bargain the 

troop positions for better food distribution might jeopardize coopera- 

tive-control arrangements for Germany.? Unwilling to alter the di- 

rection of Roosevelt’s policy less than a week after his death, the new 

President deferred to his advisers (as he tended to do on decisions 

involving military matters) and on April 21 responded to Churchill: 

“The fact that the Russian zone contained the greater portion of Ger- 

man food-producing areas . . . was well known” before agreement 

was reached on the zones. Acceptance of the agreement “was in no 

way made contingent upon the conclusion of satisfactory arrange- 

ments for an equitable distribution of German food resources.” Tru- 

man suggested that Eisenhower be given discretion to make troop 

* See below, pp. 52-54, 77-80. 



~ 

- ATOMIC DIPLOMACY: HIROSHIMA AND POTSDAM 

adjustments, but that where time permitted, he should refer major — 

movements to the Combined Chiefs of Staff.* 

While Truman and Churchill debated a course of action, a further 

temporary directive was issued which continued to withhold discretion 

to make troop withdrawals. With the movements still held up, 

Churchill returned to the struggle. Ignoring Truman’s argument that 

food could not be bargained for, the Prime Minister once more 

switched his ground, reverted to the issue raised earlier with Roose- 

velt, and continued to urge his main point upon the President. On 

April 24 he noted that “all questions of our spheres in Vienna or 

- arrangements for triple occupation of Berlin remain unsettled.” He 

begged that the troops be held in place until the issues had been 

satisfactorily resolved.*® 

At about the time this message went out, Eisenhower wrote Mar- 

shall: “I do not quite understand why the Prime Minister has been so 

determined to intermingle political and military considerations in at- 

tempting to establish a procedure for the conduct of our own and 

Russian troops when a meeting takes place. My original recommenda- 

tion . . . was a simple one. . . . One of my concerns was the pos- 

sibility that the Russians might arrive in the Danish peninsula before 

we could fight our way across the Elbe and I wanted a formula that 

would take them out of that region at my request. . . . I really donot — 

anticipate that the Russians will be arbitrary in demanding an instant 

withdrawal. . . .”7¢ 

THE FIRM APPROACH IN CENTRAL EUROPE 

THE MESSAGES FROM Churchill and Eisenhower reached Wash- 

ington shortly after Truman’s April 23 confrontation with Molotov. 

Although Poland was the question the President discussed with the 

Soviet Foreign Minister on that date, the decision to force a show- 

down with Russia involved a fundamental change of course. Despite 

his earlier willingness to follow the advice of the Joint Chiefs, Truman 

* This quotation is Leahy’s paraphrase of | Churchill, Roosevelt, Stalin, p. 609; Vhe 
Truman’s message. (I Was There, p. 350.) Struggle for Europe, p. 795.) Churchill indi- 
There is disagreement on the date of this cates it was between April 21 and April 24, 
message. Leahy, Mosely, Feis, and Wilmot 1945. (Triumph and Tragedy, p. 516.) Tru- 
say April 21, 1945. (I Was There, p. 349; man says April 23. (Year of Decisions, p. 
“The Occupation of Germany,” p. 602; 214.) 
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now committed himself to the tough approach; he decided to maintain 

the American troop positions in the Soviet zone of Germany. Revers- 

ing himself completely, Truman rejected Eisenhower’s view and ac- 

cepted Churchill’s. In a cable to the Prime Minister on April 26, he 

pointed out that even under the existing directives the Russians could 

not require a troop withdrawal without the approval of the heads of 

government.’ The President suggested a joint message to Stalin 

which linked the troop withdrawals to a satisfactory solution of the 

remaining Austrian issues. Delighted at Truman’s agreement with his 

firm strategy, Churchill approved the draft and parallel messages went 

American stand against Russia.} 

Thus, despite the fact that he recognized “the Russians were in a 

strong position,” Truman followed the showdown on Poland with a 

firm approach to the problem of cooperation in Central Europe.'® He 

wanted acceptance of his proposals for the administration of Austria 

and believed that by refusing to fulfill the previous understanding on 

Germany he could force Stalin’s acquiescence. His joint action with 

Churchill once more stressed his willingness to present a united Anglo- 

American stand against Russia.* 

Again, various military authorities believed this handling of the 

troop issue would bring negative results. The Joint Chiefs of Staff had 

already raised their objections. In Britain, General Ismay, the chief of 

the Imperial General Staff, felt that “considering that we have already 

agreed with the Russians as to the Zones of Occupation in Germany, I 

consider Winston is fundamentally wrong in using this as a bargaining 

* Truman obscures this point in his mem- 
Oirs so as to make it appear that he refused 
to follow Churchill’s approach. He does not 
quote the April 27, 1945, message, which 
quite clearly shows his change of position. 
Thus three extraneous issues were injected 
into the dispute: Truman made it clear that 
the troops would not be withdrawn from the 
Soviet zone of Germany until the Russians 
yielded on the delineation of the Austrian 
zones of occupation, the apportionment of 
zones and facilities in Vienna, and the estab- 
lishment of a satisfactory Allied Control 
Council for Austria. In fact, the Churchill- 
Truman tactic utilized a heavy hammer to 
attempt to drive a small nail, for on none of 
these questions were there major differences. 
For this reason one wonders whether Tru- 
man, like Churchill, might not have been try- 
ing to use the Austrian issues as an excuse to 

keep the troops in place until all political 
issues had been resolved with the Russians. 
(For Truman’s recollection of what hap- 
pened, see Year of Decisions, pp. 62, 214-16, 
303-4; but also see Churchill, Triumph and 
Tragedy, p. 517; Stalin’s Correspondence, I, 
pp. 337-38; II, p. 224; Ehrman, Grand Strat- 
egy, pp. 154-55. For more information on 
the disputed points, see Feis, Churchill, 
Roosevelt, Stalin, p. 622; Between War and 
Peace, p. 66.) 

+ This is another place where those who 
stress Truman’s willingness to follow Roose- 
velt’s policies miss the change in strategy af- 
ter April 23, 1945. It is simply an error to 
say, as Feis does, that “Truman carefully car- 
ried out all the agreements which Roosevelt 
had entered.” (Churchill, Roosevelt, Stalin, 
p. 600; see also p. 636, and Woodward, 
British Foreign Policy, p. 518jn.) 
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counter.”!? In Germany, Eisenhower Selieved it “indefe: ; 
the troops to gain advantage on the Austrian issues. He was certain 

that “to start off our first direct association with Russia on the basis of 

refusing to carry out an arrangement in which the good faith of our 

government was involved would wreck the whole cooperative attempt 
at its very beginning.”?° 

It appears that these judgments were correct, for immediately diffi- 

culties arose in Austria, where Soviet troops held a position almost as 

advantageous as the Anglo-American position in Germany. The Rus- 

sians had already shown awareness of their own bargaining strength; 

on the day after Truman’s showdown with Molotov, Andrey Y. Vy- 

shinsky had informed American and British representatives that Karl 

Renner, a former Socialist chancellor of the Austrian Republic, had 

presented a plan for creating a provisional government. Vyshinsky 

___ had indicated that the Soviet government would favor such a devel- 

_ opment.”* Shortly after linking the troop question to the Austrian 

issues, the British and American governments had responded that they 

__ wished to be consulted on the establishment of a new government. 

__ They had urged the Soviet Union to defer recognition of Renner. But 

\ 

the Russians showed little interest in this proposal, Renner proclaimed 

__ the establishment of a provisional government, and on April 29 Radio 

_ Moscow announced that the Soviet commander in Austria had recog- 

nized the new government. *?2 
The Russian armies were clearly in a position to determine the 

- course of events in Austria, and this initial response to Truman’s firm 

line was hardly encouraging. Although Renner’s government ap- 

_ peared to represent all Austrian political elements, its establishment 

without Western consultation sidestepped the question of Allied ad- 

‘ministration and cooperative control of the country. Truman had 

¢ the American embassy file a protest emphasizing the need for joint 

__ responsibility: “We assume that it remains the intention of the Soviet 

_ Government that supreme authority in Austria will be exercised by 

the four powers acting jointly on a basis of equality . . . until the 

establishment of an Austrian government recognized by the four pow- 

ers. “4 

* This indicated a practical working ar- grant diplomatic recognition at this time. 
rangement with the military. Moscow did not (Conference of Berlin, I, p. 334.) 
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os! Truman did not accompany this message enh a suggestion that the’ es 

Western troops might withdraw to the agreed zones so that the unre- 

solved Austrian issues could be considered independently. Instead, he — 

continued to hold to the American demand on the points at issue. 

Stalin’s response was equally firm. Now he refused to allow Western : 

representatives to enter Vienna until a satisfactory solution of the 

zonal questions had been achieved. He also indicated that Allied con- 

trol of Austria would not be established until the Anglo-American 

tactic was abandoned.**> 

Thus, by the first week of May there were grave doubts that the — 

American plan for cooperative control of Austria would be fulfilled. 

Despite renewed protests from London and Washington, a stalemate 

had been reached and it appeared that Stalin would not yield to a firm 

approach in Central Europe any more than he was yielding to a simi- 

lar approach regarding Poland.”® Churchill’s reaction was typical; he OG 

urged that the Anglo-American troops be held in position even if the 

Western position were accepted on the Austrian problems. Moreover, 

he was certain that an immediate confrontation with Stalin was essen- 

tial. On May 4 the Prime Minister wrote to Eden: “The Allies ought 

not to retreat from their present positions to the occupational line 

until we are satisfied about Poland, and also about the temporary 

character of Russian occupation of Germany, and the conditions to be 

established in the Russianized or Russian-controlled countries in the — 

- Danube valley, particularly Austria and Czechoslovakia, and the 

Balkans.”?* Churchill followed this statement of intent with a series 

of messages to Truman. The Polish and Central European stalemates 

were now bound up together in an over-all crisis of confidence be- 

tween the powers. Thus, in the same May 6 message in which he 

demanded an immediate meeting with Stalin, Churchill urged: “We 

should hold firmly to the existing position obtained or being obtained 

by our armies.”?® 

Truman responded that he would “stand firmly on our present an- 

nounced attitude toward all the questions at issue.”*® Although this 

reaffirmed the President’s earlier message linking the troop withdrawal 

* Apparently Stalin was more disturbed by _As will be seen, after the troops were with- 
the tactic of linking the troop withdrawal to drawn, he quite readily agreed to a satisfac- 
the political issues than he was with the tory solution of all of the political problems. 
American position on the points in dispute. See below, pp. 83-84. 
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to the Austrian question, Churchill tried to get a commitment to his 

more general view that the troops be held in position until all issues 

were settled in a meeting with Stalin. On May 11, he cabled: “I 

earnestly hope that the American front will not recede.”*° On May 

12 he appealed to the President again, reiterating the argument that it 

was essential to come to an understanding with Russia “before we 

. . retire to the zones of occupation.”*! Truman’s reply on May 14 

neither refused nor accepted the general “stand still” order and the 

President continued to maintain troops in position on the previous 

basis.* 

This situation immediately had repercussions throughout the heart 

of Europe. In fact, Truman had tied his own hands. By making with- 

drawal from the Soviet zone in Germany dependent upon the resolu- 

tion of the Austrian issues, he lost all initiative; the Russians rejected 

his stand on the points in dispute, and the troops held their positions. 

With the West refusing to fulfill the previous agreements for with- 

drawal, Stalin refused to establish joint control arrangements. It 

seemed that Truman’s own strategy also prevented cooperative con- 

trol of Germany. 

Additional complications now arose. At Churchill’s insistence, at 

the last minute a brief military-surrender document had been substi- 

tuted for the longer surrender instrument which had previously been 

drawn up by the powers.} Consequently, no formal basis for establish- 

ing the Allied Control Council existed, nor were the principles of 

Allied administration embodied in the surrender agreement as had 

originally been planned.*? On May 16 Eisenhower reported that 

Churchill refused to establish joint control procedures for Germany 

because this would offer an occasion for the Russians to demand that 

the troops be withdrawn to the agreed zones.** Eisenhower said he 

* This has been emphasized because vari- 
ous accounts make it appear that because he 
refused a general “stand still” order Truman 
wished to withdraw American troops to their 
zones. In fact, there was no _ substantive 
change in the situation. (See Churchill, Tri- 
umph and Tragedy, p. 557; Feis, Churchill, 
‘Roosevelt, Stalin, p. 637; Truman, Year of 
Decisions, p. 248; Conference of Berlin, I, p. 
FA's) 

+ The reason for this substitution has never 
been adequately explained. Churchill’s over- 
riding interest at this time was to forestall 
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troop withdrawals from the Soviet zone. It is 
probable that Churchill objected to the long 
surrender document because—as he explained 
to Eisenhower when the terms of the docu- 
ment had been written in declaration form— 
he feared the provisions establishing joint 
control would give Stalin a basis for demand- 
ing that the Anglo-American troops be re- 
moved to the agreed zones. (See Feis, 
Between War and Peace, pp. 76-77; Mosely, 
“Dismemberment of Germany,’ p. 497; 
Smith, My Three Years in Moscow, p. 20.) 
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was nding it difficult to carry out his orders without agreement on 

joint control. A week later he told Washington his mission could not 

be carried out unless the terms of surrender were made public and the 

Allied Control Council was proclaimed.** 

_ Thus, by mid-May, Truman was faced with a direct challenge to the 

plan for cooperative control of Central Europe. There were no signs 

that Allied Control Councils would be established in either Austria or 

Germany. The President was forced to consider his future course of 

action. 

SECRETARY STIMSON AND THE IMMEDIATE 

SHOWDOWN 

TO THOSE ADVISERS who had urged a firm line on all issues in 

dispute between Russia and the United States, there seemed no way 

out of the mid-May stalemate except an immediate face-to-face meet- 

ing with Stalin. Truman had now been urged to hold such a con- 

frontation by Churchill and almost every important American adviser 

concerned with policy making. However, official opinion was not 

unanimous on the point. One influential member of the Cabinet not 

only opposed an early meeting but also objected on more fundamental 

grounds to the line of action being taken regarding Poland and Cen- 

tral Europe. 

Almost alone among the presidential advisers at the April 23 dis- 

cussion (at which a decision had been made to take a firm stand with 

Molotov), Secretary of War Stimson had argued against an immediate 

showdown over the Polish issue. Although Stimson believed in a 

“more realistic policy” utilizing Lend-Lease aid “toward” the Rus- 

sians, he had not agreed with the group decision. He objected to the 

timing, the method, and the issue chosen for the symbolic confronta- 

tion. One reason for this was Stimson’s belief that the Russians were 

‘not likely to yield on the specific point at issue. More important, 

however, was his conviction that much could be gained by delaying all 

diplomatic disputes. 

At the April 23 meeting Stimson had presented a series of argu- 

ments to convince the President that a showdown over Poland had to 

be avoided. He thought it important “to find out what the Russians 

were driving at” in their interpretation of the Yalta agreement. He 
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had kept its word, and the military authorities of the United States had 

come to count on it. “In fact, they had often done better than they had 

painted’ out that ‘ “in the dig ‘military 

promised.” On that account, he believed it was important to find out 

what motive they had in connection with these border countries and 

what their ideas of independence and democracy were in the areas 

they regarded as vital to the Soviet Union.” 

Stimson was a leading American conservative. He had established a 

brilliant record as a Wall Street lawyer, had served as Secretary of 

_ War under President William Howard Taft, had acted as Secretary of 

State under President Herbert Hoover, and though an eminent Re- 

publican, had agreed to join President Franklin Roosevelt’s war Cabi- 

net.°° His caution derived from no sympathy for the Soviet system. 

_ Rather, he prided himself on a realistic approach to world affairs, and 

he had long ago acknowledged the Soviet “claim that, in the light of 

her bitter experience with Germany, her own self-defense . . . will 

depend on relations with buffer countries like Poland, Bulgaria, and 

- Rumania.” Stimson understood that these relations would be “quite 

_ different from complete independence on the part of those coun- 

tries,” but he had come to the conclusion that facts had to be faced. 

“The Russians perhaps were being more realistic than we were in 

regard to their own security,” he told Truman at the April 23 meet- 

_ ing.*® “We had to remember that the Russian conception of freedom, 

democracy, and independent voting was quite different from ours or 

the British.”?® When he returned from the discussion, Stimson dic- 

ee tated a caustic diary entry attacking an overly legalistic interpretation 

of the Yalta agreement: “Although at Yalta [Russia] apparently 

agreed to a free and independent ballot for the ultimate choice of the 

representatives of Poland, yet I know very well. . . that there are no 

nations in the world except the U.S. and U.K. which have a real idea 

of what an independent free ballot is.”*° 

The essence of Stimson’s view was a conservative belief that the 

postwar power structure in Europe had to be acknowledged so that a 

modus vivendi could be established with Russia. Although he wished 

to preserve American economic interests in Eastern Europe, he took 

for granted Soviet special interests in the border countries just as he 

accepted American special interests in Latin America—the two areas 

were “our respective orbits.”*! If the parallel Soviet interest in East- 
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adjusted without too much friction.”*? He believed this would require 

a fair acceptance of Soviet claims. He was critical of some policy 

makers who were “anxious to hang on to exaggerated views of the 

Monroe Doctrine and at the same time butt into every question that 

comes up in Central Europe.”*8 

Stimson did not dwell on this point with Truman. He admitted that 

the Russians had made a good deal of trouble on minor military mat- 

ters and that it had sometimes been necessary to “teach them man- 

ners.” However, on the greater matter of the Polish question, he be- 

lieved that without fully understanding how seriously the Russians 

felt we might be “heading into very dangerous waters.” He noted that 

the Russian viewpoint was undoubtedly influenced by the fact that 

before World War I most of Poland had been controlled by Russia. 

Stimson said he would like to know how far the Russian reaction to a 

strong position on Poland would go. It was his opinion that the Rus- is 

sians would not yield. He urged that the President “go slowly and os 

avoid an open break.”** 

Stimson knew that Truman had rejected his advice at the April 23 

meeting. He confided to his diary that “nobody backed me up until it sf 

came round to Marshall.”*° The General still thought Soviet help 

might be of some use in the Japanese war, but this was not the only — 

reason he had come to Stimson’s defense on the Polish issue.*® Two 

weeks before Roosevelt’s death Stimson had sensed the increasingly 

tough view a number of advisers were taking toward Russia. As early 

as April 2 he thought this “a very serious matter, for we simply cannot 

allow a rift to come between the two nations without endangering the 

entire peace of the world.”*” Expecting trouble, Stimson had sum- 

moned Marshall so as to keep “close with him in order to have my 

power in my elbow for the conference that may come up.”** With 

Marshall as an ally, Stimson had been prepared to enter the policy 

conflict over Poland. It was time, he noted in his diary, “for me to use 

all the restraint I can on these other people who have been apparently 

getting a little more irritated.”*” 

Although he had prepared for the fight, after the meeting with the 

President, Stimson was aware that Harriman and Deane had out- 

maneuvered him. He attributed their energetic activities to the fact 

ee y 
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have ever had since I have been here. . . . We are at loggerheads with 

Russia on an issue which in my opinion is very dangerous and one 

which she is not likely to yield on in substance. . . . In my opinion we 

ought to be very careful and see whether we couldn’t get ironed out 

on the situation without getting into a head-on collision.”** 

EUROPEAN STABILITY AND AMERICAN 

SECURITY 

THE REASON STIMSON felt so strongly about this point was not, as 

is often supposed, that he feared the tough line would lose Soviet help 

in the Japanese war. Though this had indeed been an important point 

at an earlier stage, strategic plans no longer required Soviet assistance. 

To be sure, some military leaders still felt that an early Russian entry 

into the war would be of general value, but Stimson himself does not 

seem to have been particularly concerned about the point at this time, 

and, in fact, he had reasons for wishing to end the war before the 

Russians entered it.* The main reason Stimson believed a rift between 

the two nations would endanger the “entire peace of the world” was 

his conviction that cooperation with Russia was absolutely essential to 

the postwar stability of Europe; if the European economy collapsed, 

Stimson believed, chaos, revolution, and war would result. “All of this 

is a tough problem requiring coordination between the Anglo-Amer- 

ican allies and Russia,” he confided to his diary; “Russia will occupy 

most of the good food lands of Central Europe. . . . We must find 

some way of persuading Russia to play ball.”®? 

Thus, Stimson’s awareness of Soviet security interests was bolstered 

by his strong desire for Soviet cooperation in postwar Europe. He 

believed American interests were already involved, for Stimson had 

come to define American security as dependent upon European stabil- 

* Stimson was worried that Soviet entry For the relationship between his fears and his 
would mean Soviet domination of Manchuria. strategy for ending the war, see Chapter 1V. 
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that they had “been suffering personally from the Russians’ behavior _ 

on minor matters for a long time.” He was disturbed that “they were 

evidently influenced by their past bad treatment,” for he believed that — 

the victory of the tough line set the stage for a severe test of Soviet- 

American relations.©° “It was one of the most difficult situations I 
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ity.° The Secretary’s reasoning was natural for a man who had been 

deeply involved in public affairs at the Cabinet level since 1911. Hav- 

ing lived through two European wars which had involved the United 

States, he concluded that world peace was “indivisible.”®* To avoid a 

future war it was necessary to lay the basis for a lasting European 

peace.* Stimson feared the disease and starvation in Central Europe 

which might be “followed by political revolution and communistic 

infiltration.” He felt it “vital” to keep Western Europe “from being 

driven to revolution or communism by famine,”*> and he concluded 

that “an economically stable Europe . . . is one of the greatest assur- 

ances of security and continued peace we [the United States] can 

hope to obtain.”°° 

Stimson also wanted the “restoration of stable conditions in Eu- 

rope” because he believed that “only thus can concepts of individual 

liberty, free thought and free speech be nurtured.”®” Despite his con- 

cern with the possibility of revolution, the Secretary was not pessi- 

mistic about the future. He believed wise policy could persuade the 

Russians to establish arrangements in Europe which would also re- 

dound to their benefit. Consequently, Stimson focused his attention on 

ways to promote cooperation in the heart of the Continent—Germany 

and Austria. 

Throughout the war, Stimson had stressed the need for sound eco- 

nomic conditions in Central Europe.°® He had led the fight against 

Secretary of the Treasury Henry Morgenthau’s plan for destroying 

great sectors of German industry. He feared the consequences of 

eliminating such an important factor in the European economy. To 

accept Morgenthau’s advice, he reasoned, would involve “poisoning 

the springs out of which we hope that the future peace of the world 

can be maintained.” He urged that methods of “economic oppression 

. . . do not prevent war; they tend to breed war.”* Instead of fol- 

lowing such a plan it would be wise to restore German industry under 

careful controls.” “We should not remove [German] capacity for 

* See also Byrnes’s 1945 argument, “Two icy, p. 55.) Again, Stimson’s 1945 declara- 
wars in one generation have convinced the tion that “the worst thing we did to break 
American people that they have a very vital the chance of peace after the last war, and 
interest in the maintenance of peace in Eu- to tempt willful nations toward aggression, 
rope.” (Senate Committee on Foreign Rela- was to keep out.” (On Active Service, p. 
tions, A Decade of American Foreign Pol- 599.) 
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: Stimson viewed the Sehede of Germany and Arai in exactly 

the same way as he saw the broader issues of the Continent. Since 

_ Soviet troops would be in control of the good food lands, cooperation 

- would be essential to economic stability. As early as October 1943, 

Stimson stressed the need for open trading arrangements: “Central 

2 Europe after the war has got to eat. She has got to be free from tariffs 

in order to eat.” Policy makers who did not understand this did not 

“have ‘ ‘any grasp apparently of the underlying need of proper eco- 

nomic arrangements to make the peace stick.” 
The problem was as important to the Secretary in 1945 as it was in 

1943, but now the issue was more urgent. In mid-April, Assistant 

_ Secretary of War John J. McCloy returned from an inspection of 
_ Europe reporting “complete economic, social and political collapse” 

in both Germany and Austria. Stimson summarized the situation to 

the Cabinet on April 20 as “chaos” and “near anarchy.”** On May 

16 he pressed Truman on the matter, strongly urging American efforts 

to create stability. “The eighty million Germans and Austrians in Cen- 

tral Europe necessarily swing the balance of that continent,” he ar- 

— gued. “A solution must be found.”® 

Leaving aside all other considerations, it is fair to say that by mid- 

April, when tension between America and Russia began to mount, 

Secretary Stimson believed it wise to yield to considerable Soviet polit- 

ical influence in Poland in the interest of a solution to European 

economic problems. To attempt to press the Polish issue to a show- 

_ down he believed both futile and dangerous; the Russians would not 

_ yield, and a break would destroy the possibility of cooperation. On the 

other hand, Stimson felt that the record of military cooperation 

offered reason for hope of a successful postwar relationship. While 

other advisers urged a showdown with Russia, Stimson tried to “hang 

_ onto” the fact that Russia and the United States had “always gotten 

along for a hundred and fifty years’ history, with Russia friendly and 

helpful.” “Our respective orbits do not clash geographically and I 

_ think that on the whole we can probably keep out of clashes in the 

future,” he noted.** But he reminded himself that this would “require 

_ the greatest care and the greatest patience and the greatest thought- 

_ fulness.”*? 
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In this spirit the Secretary of War also opposed the tough approach _ 
to German problems. He advised against pressing the attempt to use 
the German troop positions to achieve political objectives in Aus- — ; 

tria. Instead, he urged a policy of cooperation with Russia which | 

would treat Germany “as an economic unit.”*® More generally, 

he urged that the United States dissociate its policy from British 

diplomacy. He believed that “Churchill, now that Mr. Roosevelt was 

dead, was seeking to take a more active part in the direction of mat- 

ters of grand policy in Central Europe.” At the end of April he sug- 

gested to Marshall that they “ought to be alert now that a new man 

was at the helm in the Presidency to see that he was advised as to the 

background of the past differences between Britain and America on ~ | 

these matters.””° 3 

Thus, on the specific diplomatic issues in question, and on the gen-- 

eral issue of American collaboration with Britain, Stimson was op- 

posed to the advisers who urged an immediate showdown with Russia. 

His policy, however, was not so simple and straightforward as the 

above analysis at first suggests. On May 14, Stimson told Assistant 

Secretary McCloy that “the time now and the method now to deal 

with Russia was to keep our mouths shut.”"* The word “now” must 

be carefully noted, for it is essential to remember that Stimson’s 

recommendations were forged in the heat of an intense policy-making 

debate and were designed to counter the pressure for an immediate 

showdown with Russia. To understand his longer-term policy, it is 

necessary to consider the Secretary’s thinking on matters of great 

strategic importance. * 

THE STRATEGY OF A DELAYED SHOWDOWN 

On ApRIL 24, the day after Truman’s showdown with Molotov, 

Stimson wrote to the President: “I think it is very important that I 

should have a talk with you as soon as possible. . . . [The atomic 

bomb]}{ has such a bearing on our present foreign relations and such 

*For a detailed exposition of Stimson’s indirectly or by the code terms “Tube Al- 
views on the need to treat the German and loys” and “S-1.’’ Hereafter the words “the 
Continental economies as a unit, see Confer- atomic bomb” will be used within brackets 
ence of Berlin, Il, pp. 754-57, 808-9. in place of all indirect references in quoted 

+ Because of wartime security require- text. 
ments, the weapon was usually referred to 
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an important effect upon all my thinking in this field that I think you. 

should know about it without much further delay.”” 

The President agreed to see Stimson immediately, and on April 25 

Truman was briefed at length on the nuclear development program. 

The Secretary presented a memorandum which began: “Within four 

months we shall in all probability have completed the most terrible 

weapon ever known in human history. . . .” Stimson was ex- 

tremely confident of success.*™ He said that a “gun-type” bomb 

_ would be ready about August 1. For this weapon no test would be 

necessary. A second would be available before the end of the year. 

Early in July a test of an implosion weapon would be held in New 

Mexico. Another trial could be held before the first of August if 

_ necessary. Less than a month after the successful test a “Fat Man” 

weapon would be ready for combat.” 

For three quarters of an hour Stimson discussed the atomic bomb 

with the President. It was assumed—not decided—that the bomb 

would be used.} Stimson told Truman that for some time Japan had 

been the target of the weapon development program. A special 

Twentieth Air Force group was about to leave for its overseas base. 

Stimson expressed confidence that the bomb would shorten the war.*® 

However, the use of the bomb against Japan was not the main subject 

the Secretary wanted to discuss. : 

Although shortly after Roosevelt’s death Stimson had casually men- 

tioned to Truman that an “immense project . . . was under way—a 

project looking to the development of a new explosive of almost un- 

believable destructive power,” he had felt no compelling reason to 

discuss the matter fully with the new President at that time.’” It was 

only after the showdown with Molotov that he asked for a special 

interview with the President. He was prompted to do so not because of 

the weapon’s potential effect on the Japanese war, but primarily be- 

* A diary entry notes “success is 99% as- 
sured.” (Stimson Diary, April 11, 1945.) On 
April 23, British representatives reported to 
London that it was “as certain as such 
things can be” that the first bomb would be 
teady in late summer. (Ehrman, Grand Strat- 
egy, p. 275.) 

+ Stimson later noted, “At no time from 
1941 to 1945 did I ever hear it suggested by 
the President or any other responsible mem- 
ber of the government that atomic energy 
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should not be used in the war.” (On Active 
Service, p. 613.) A few days after Stimson’s 
talk with the President, Field Marshal Wil- 
son, the British representative on the Com- 
bined Policy Committee (which discussed 
nuclear developments) informed Sir John 
Anderson that the Americans had already 
proposed “to drop a bomb sometime in Au- 
gust.” (Ehrman, Grand Strategy, p. 276.) 
See also Gowing, Britain and Atomic En- 
ergy, p. 372. 
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THE STRATEGY OF A DELAYED SHOWDOWN 

cause it had “such a bearing on our present foreign relations and such 

an important effect upon all my thinking in this field.””® 

Although we do not have full information on Stimson’s discussion 

with the President, it is important to understand the Secretary’s con- 

ception of the atomic bomb’s role in diplomacy. On April 25 he told 

Truman the bomb was “certain” to have a “decisive” influence on 

relations with other countries. Truman reports that the discussion cen- 

tered “specifically” on “the effect the atomic bomb might likely have 

on our future foreign relations,” but summarizes the forty-five-minute 

conversation in only three short paragraphs. Consequently, one must 

go beyond this information to understand the general line of strategy 

Stimson advocated.” 

The key to the Secretary’s view was a consistent judgment—held 

from at least mid-March 1945—that the atomic bomb would add 

great power to American diplomacy once it was developed.®® He 

considered that no major issue could be realistically discussed without 

an estimate of the bomb’s role.*' He believed it “premature” for the 

United States to raise diplomatic issues in the Far East until the bomb 

had been tested.*? Similarly, he believed it essential that the discus- 

sion of European issues be postponed; he told the President on May 

16,“We shall probably hold more cards in our hands later than 

now.”® 

As Secretary of War, Stimson was the most important man in gov- — 

ernment with full information on the highly secret nuclear program. 

Urging his strategy of delay among the very small circle of advisers 

ptivy to the secret, he had to impress his colleagues with the incredible 

powers likely to be released by the still-untested weapon. The Secre- 

taries of State and the Navy, and Ambassador Harriman, wanted not 

only an immediate showdown in Europe but also an immediate con- 

frontation on certain Far Eastern diplomatic issues. Stimson records 

that he had “a pretty red-hot session” urging postponement of a meet- 

ing on the latter questions—“Over any such tangled weave of prob- 

lems, [the atomic-bomb] secret would be dominant, and yet we will 

not know until after that time probably, until after that meeting, 

whether this is a weapon in our hands or not. We think it will be 

shortly afterward, but it seems a terrible thing to gamble with such big 

stakes in diplomacy without having your master card in your 

hand.”* 



eos ened that! we. es time to think c 

Pott harder.”** He also took Harriman into his confidence and “talked” 

over very confidentially our problem connected with [the atomic 

- bomb]” and its relation to European matters.*® At the same time, he 

discussed the role of the bomb and European diplomacy with British 

_ Foreign Secretary Anthony Eden, outlining “to him the progress 

sae - which we have made and the timetable as it stood now, and. . . its 

bearing upon our present problems of an international shacacien™t 

x In general, the point the Secretary of War repeatedly emphasized was 

: the need to postpone any confrontation with the Russians until the 

atomic bomb had been proved and demonstrated. 

Despite his emphasis on the weapon’s value for diplomacy, Stimson 

did not believe the new power could be used to force the Russians to 

ne accept American terms on diplomatic issues. He thought such a course 

would inevitably lead to an arms race.®* Stimson knew, as he told 

‘Truman, that it was “sractically certain” that the United States could 

not maintain a monopoly of the bomb for very long.*® He explained 

that “the future may see a time when such a weapon may be con- 

structed in secret and used suddenly and effectively with devastating 

power by a willful nation or group against an unsuspecting nation or 

f-sroup.’?° For these reasons, Stimson believed that some form of in- 

ternational control of the new development was absolutely essential. If 

- control were not achieved, the results could be disastrous. “In other 

words,” he told Truman, “modern civilization might be completely 

destroyed.’ 

Thus, Stimson’s view that the atomic bomb would be “decisive” in 

a diplomacy did not depend upon its use as a threat. Caught between 

the desire to use the bomb as an instrument of diplomacy and the 

‘ knowledge that its use as a threat would lead to a “disaster to civiliza- 

tion,” Stimson resolved his dilemma by urging that the secret of the 

__ weapon be offered as a bargaining counter in negotiations to establish 
a peace settlement.*? As early as December 1944, the Secretary 

searched for diplomatic “quid pro quos’” which might be asked of Rus- 

sia in exchange for information on nuclear energy and participation in 

a system of international control.°* Two months before Roosevelt’s 

death, he raised the same question with subordinates.** Discussing the 

problem with Truman at the April 25 interview, he declared: “The 
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Committee” to advise him on the method to use the bomb against 

Japan and the political implications of the new force.®* Following the 

April 25 interview, the Secretary and Truman discussed problems 

connected with the bomb on several occasions, at least on May 1, 2, 3, 

and 4.* Stimson suggested that the President have a close confidant 

and personal representative on the Interim Committee.*’ It was clear 

that the most important problems would relate to the role of the bomb 

in diplomacy, and the obvious choice in Stimson’s view was James 

F. Byrnes, the man Truman had privately designated to become his 

new Secretary of State.®® 

Although the diplomatic implications of the atomic bomb domi- 

nated private discussions between Stimson and Truman during the last 

week of April and the first week of May, we do not have precise 

information on the exact date on which Stimson advised the President 

to postpone diplomatic confrontations with the Russians. From avail- 

able information, there can be no doubt that the Secretary urged this 

general view during the last week of April, probably at the April 25 

meeting.+ But in the tense atmosphere of the showdown over Poland 

and the developing stalemate in Central Europe, Stimson’s general _ 

point soon reduced to a more specific recommendation—the Secre- 

tary advised that a heads-of-government meeting be delayed until the 

atomic bomb had been tested early in July. He felt that “the greatest 

complication was what might happen at the meeting of the Big Three” 

if the tests had not been completed. 

In urging this line of advice, Stimson came into direct conflict with 

those policy makers who wanted to maintain the firm line. They 

feared that unless there was an immediate showdown—before Amer- 

ican troops were substantially withdrawn from Europe—the Soviet 

Premier would not yield. Forced to acknowledge the crucial role of 

the troops—and, indeed, as aware of their importance as the other 

advisers and Churchill—Stimson offered specialized military infor- 

mation to support his strategy of delay. In company with General 

* There probably were other discussions }~ See Appendix II for a detailed examina- 
not recorded in the documents. tion of the probable date. 
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Marshall, on May 14 he explained the role of the atomic ‘Gent! to 

Anthony Eden. He assured the Foreign Secretary that there was no 

reason to fear delay, since the actual figures for troop withdrawals for 

the rest of the summer would not reach 50,000 per month out of a 

total of three million. Stimson explained to the President two days 

later: “The work of redeploying our forces from Europe to the Pacific 

will necessarily take so long that there will be more time for your 

necessary diplomacy with the other large allies than some of our hasty 

friends realize.”?°* 
- With this reassurance, Stimson’s strategy of a delayed showdown 

was fully developed. Though at first glance it appeared that Stimson 

was prepared to concede Soviet political domination in Poland, in fact, 

the Secretary had a far more subtle strategy in mind. He was opposed 

to an immediate showdown on the Polish issue, for he believed the 

Russians would not yield on a matter so vital to their security. This 

would be especially true if the atomic test failed and, as expected, 

American troops were eventually withdrawn from the Continent. But 

while he opposed a strong immediate stand on the Polish issue, he did 

not give up hope of influencing affairs in Poland and elsewhere in 

Eastern Europe. At the very least, the atomic bomb would seal what- 

ever cooperative arrangements cautious diplomacy could negotiate, 

and it was likely to be much more effective; two months before the 

bomb was to be used, he looked to the future, confiding to his diary 

a brief sketch of the “quid pro quos which should be established in 

consideration for our taking [the Russians] into partnership” for 

control of the new force. Among the Soviet concessions he sought 

were a Satisfactory “settlement of the Polish, Rumanian, Yugoslavian, 

and Manchurian problems.” Thus, though he was more restrained 

in approach, Stimson’s ultimate aims were not substantially different 

from those of Truman’s other advisers. 

Nor, indeed, did he differ on the need for a showdown, for Stimson 

did not think the Russians would be brought into line without a show 

of American determination. “It is a case where we have got to regain 

the lead,” he told McCloy, “and perhaps do it in a pretty rough and 

realistic way.” There would probably have to be a forceful confronta- 

tion of some kind, and Stimson had few doubts about the ultimate 

outcome—it “was a place where we really held ail of the cards.” 

Success depended only upon prudence, subtlety, and delay. He told 
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a ‘The Decision 

to Postpone 

a a Confrontation 

If we ever compromise with principle, 

such compromise is only a temporary 

ae i measure in order the better to attain our 

{ uy main objective in the end. : : 

phy 3s, ' —ACTING SECRETARY OF STATE 

é ; JosEPpH C. GREW 
S | ; June 4, 1945 

_- JMMEDIATELY AFTER his April 25 talk with Stimson, President 

_ Truman began to respond to the broad line of advice offered by his 

_ Secretary of War. Within a few days even British representatives knew 

: 5 a committee would be set up “to consider the whole range of political 

issues which will arise in connection” with the atomic bomb. On May 

_ 2, Truman authorized arrangements for the Interim Committee and 
accepted Stimson’s suggested list of members. On May 4, formal in- 

____vitations for the first meeting of the Committee were issued.” . 

a _ At the same time he approved this proposal, Truman also named a 

oh 4 personal representative to the Committee. Evidently agreeing that 

the atomic bomb would have decisive implications for diplomacy, 

- Truman followed the suggestion that the man designated to be Secre- 

_ tary of State represent the President. On May 3, James F. Byrnes’s 

agreement to serve on the Interim Committee was secured.* Shortly 

thereafter the President also asked Byrnes to make an independent 

study of the bomb’s potentialities.* 

There is very little direct evidence available regarding Truman’s 
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put his confidence in a man who took an extremely tough-minded _ 

view of the weapon’s role in diplomacy. From the very first, Byrnes 

seems to have exaggerated the power of the development. It was 

Byrnes, not Stimson, who first told the President the key facts about 

the atomic project. When he did, on the day after Roosevelt’s death, 

he declared “with great solemnity” that the United States was “per- 

fecting an explosive great enough to destroy the whole world.” 

Byrnes believed that a nuclear monopoly could be maintained for ‘ 

seven to ten years.° Hence he did not fear an arms race as did Stim- 

son. Nor did he search for diplomatic quid pro quos the Russians 

might offer for admittance to an international control scheme. In- 

stead, Byrnes felt that during the monopoly period the Russians would 

be forced to agree to an American plan for lasting world peace. Once 

established, the new regime of peace would obviate possible conflicts 

in the postmonopoly period.} In mid-April, Byrnes told the President 

that in his belief the atomic bomb would “put us in a position to 

dictate our own terms at the end of the war.”” 

Truman’s choice of Byrnes to become his Secretary of State and 

personal representative for atomic matters is only indirect evidence of 

the President’s sympathy with Byrnes’s general approach.t As we 

shall see, in the following months, as each crucial decision regarding 

the atomic bomb and diplomatic strategy arose, when there was a 

choice between the views offered by Stimson and by Byrnes, the Pres- 

ident almost invariably followed the advice of his Secretary of State. 

However, in April and May, when the atomic bomb was still only an 

expectation, the President did not often have to choose between the 

two men. In fact, from his point of view the only important question 

* There is a great deal known about the 
President’s view for each of the following 
months of 1945. This will be discussed in 
due course. 

+See Hewlett and Anderson, The New 
World, pp. 354-57. Also below, pp. 196-198. 

+ Byrnes, who had taken his own short- 
hand notes at Yalta, also briefed Truman on 
the meaning of the agreements. Byrnes was 
deeply concerned about Eastern Europe and, 
in fact, was personally responsible for bring- 
ing a reluctant Roosevelt to propose those 

sections of the Yalta protocol which later 
committed the United States to a direct in- 
terest in the area. It may, therefore, be ex- 
tremely significant that at the time Truman 
decided upon a firm showdown approach 
over Poland, the only person to have ad- 
vised him on the role of the atomic bomb 
in diplomacy, problems of Eastern Europe, 
and the relationship between the two ques- 
tions, was the tough-minded man he had 
chosen to become his Secretary of State. 
(Truman, Year of Decisions, pp. 11, 22, 87; 
Byrnes, Speaking Frankly, pp. 32-33.) 
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Truman had to decide at this time was whether or not to postpone 
diplomatic issues until the bomb was tested. Decisions as to methods 

of utilizing the new power could be made after it had been proved. 

As we have seen, by the last week of April the President was com- 

mitted to the immediate showdown strategy on the Polish issue, and 

he had adopted a correspondingly tough attitude toward American 

troop positions in the Soviet zone of Germany. Early in May he had 

cut Lend-Lease shipments to emphasize American determination. 

However, the President’s general line of policy had achieved very little 

success. In fact, the immediate showdown strategy had reached an im- 

passe; the Russians had not yielded on the problem of Poland and 

there was no sign that an Allied Control Council would be established 

in Germany. With Stalin failing to respond to increased pressure, 

American policy makers had to consider their course of action. 

The deadlock over the symbolic Polish issue was a direct personal 

challenge to those who had urged a firm line. To retreat not only 

would involve a loss of face, but would defeat the fundamental pur- 

pose of a showdown designed to structure Soviet-American relations 

on a new basis. Hence, only three months after Yalta, there seemed no 

suitable course but another heads-of-government meeting and an im- 

mediate confrontation with the Soviet Premier. At such a meeting ali 

matters in dispute could be discussed and the full range of American 

bargaining counters could be brought into play. Churchill argued the 

same point to Eden: “The Polish problem may be easier to settle when 

set in relation to the now numerous outstanding questions of the ut- 

most gravity which require urgent settlement with the Russians. . . .”° 

At precisely the same time these views were being pressed, Secre- 

tary Stimson began intensive policy discussions in preparation for the 

coming atomic test. In fact, the Polish issue and the atomic bomb now 

became inextricably bound together as Stimson discussed the implica- 

tions of the weapon with the President almost every day of the tense 

first week of May. Stimson had already urged Truman to avoid a 

break over the Polish problem.® After the showdown with Molotov, 

he had urgently sought an interview because of the atomic bomb’s 

bearing on the current crisis.1° He told Truman that, once tested, the 

weapon would be decisive in all matters of foreign relations.’! And it 

is undoubtedly at this time that he first introduced the idea that a basic 
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confrontation should be delayed until the new power had been dem- 
onstrated. 

Thus, Truman found himself at the focal point of two contradictory 

streams of policy advice. It was now impossible to continue the exist- 

ing course without a new show of determination or a radical change; 

by the end of the first week of May Stalin had shown he would not 

yield unless something more was done. Indeed, the Soviet Premier had 

already taken unilateral action by recognizing the Warsaw govern- 

ment, by concluding with them a bilateral treaty, by transferring 

German territories to Polish administration, and by announcing the 

arrest of Western-oriented Polish underground leaders. If Truman 

failed to act, it was obvious that new faits accomplis would eliminate 

all hope of Western influence and democracy in Poland. The Presi- 

dent’s policy had to go forward; it could not stand still. 

Truman sympathized with the arguments of his “firm” advisers, and 

he shared Churchill’s general conception of the Polish dispute.’ 

Temperamentally suited to straightforward actions, he had initially 

adopted the showdown strategy not only with little hesitation but with 

much enthusiasm. His convictions and the commitment of his prestige 

argued powerfully for a continuation of the strategy to its logical 

conclusion and an early meeting with Stalin. Standing firmly in the 

path of these considerations, however, was new information of what 

Truman termed “the almost incredible developments that were under 

way and the awful power that might soon be placed in our hands.’’* 

Could a delay be endured? The President now had to choose be- 

tween the strategy of an immediate showdown and the only other 

alternative offered—the strategy of a delayed showdown. 

Truman’s crucial decision came in an early-May response to a 

cable from Churchill. The President stated that he agreed a tripartite 

meeting was necessary, but that he could not leave Washington for 

another two months!?* Truman’s enthusiasm for an immediate show- 

down had disappeared. He would not be able to come to a meeting 

until early July, the time when the first atomic test would be held.* A 

* The atomic test was later delayed for | Unfortunately, however, they do not disclose 
technical reasons and, accordingly, Truman the precise date of discussions leading to 
later delayed the meeting again. (See below, this decision. See Appendix II for a review 
pp. 100-101.) Available records establish that of available information bearing on the mat- 
Truman postponed the Potsdam meeting be- __ ter. 
cause he wished to wait for the atomic test. 



few dave inlet fe discussed the matter in beer secre 

Stimson. The full records of this conversation are not available, but 

there is no question about the main point at issue. Truman told Stim- 

son his strategy concerning the timing of the tripartite meeting. Stim- 

son left the meeting completely satisfied, and in a “skeleton outline” 

circumspectly summarizing the discussion, he commented that he 

agreed with the President that there was much to gain and little to lose 

by delay. Then, writing the same phrases he habitually used to refer to 

the secret project, Stimson added: “Therefore I believe that good and 

not harm would be done by the policy toward your coming meeting 

which you mentioned to me. We shall probably hold more cards in 

our hands later than now.””” 

Thus, by the second week of May, Truman had accepted the 

fundamental point of Stimson’s strategy—a confrontation with Stalin 

would be delayed. Truman’s decision came as a shock to most of the 

advisers who felt that a meeting with Stalin had to be held at the 

earliest possible time. If the meeting was delayed, the showdown 

might take place after large numbers of troops had been redeployed to 

the Pacific. Doubts would be cast upon America’s determination. Be- 

sides, what could be gained by waiting?* Grew, Harriman, and Leahy 

found Truman’s decision all but incomprehensible; until this time the — 

President had not only accepted each logical step in the firm line of 

policy, but had taken the lead in establishing the American position. 

His advisers begged him to reconsider his decision. Ambassador Har- 

riman warned the President he “would be confronted with a much 

more difficult situation two months from now than he would if the 

meeting could be arranged within the next few weeks.’’?® 

Similarly, Churchill expressed great disappointment at the ine 

date—“every minute counts.” He proposed that the two heads of gov- 

ernment take the initiative by inviting Stalin to a meeting, and pleaded 

that American troop positions be held.’” At the same time, the Prime 

Minister urgently instructed Ismay: “All reduction of Bomber Com- 

mand is to be stopped.”’® And he asked Eisenhower not to destroy 

* Outside the inner circles of the atomic 
development project very few had Stimson’s 
faith in the power of the new weapon. As 
Stimson has written, that the atomic bomb 
might “be a lemon” was an “opinion com- 
mon among those not fully informed.” Ad- 
miral Leahy was certain the atomic bomb 

would not work. Although Harriman knew 
of the project, he conceived of it only as a 
possibility pending actual test. (Stimson, On 
Active Service, p. 615; Leahy, I Was There, 
pp. 265, 440; Truman, Year of Decisions, p. 
11; Feis, Between War and Peace, p. 97fn.) 
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day.” On May 12 he cabled Truman again: “I am profoundly con- 

cerned about the European situation. . . . Anyone can see that in a 

very short space of time our armed power on the Continent will have 

vanished. . . . This issue of a settlement with Russia before our 

strength has gone seems to me to dwarf all others.””?° 

But Truman would yield neither to the pleas of his advisers nor to 

the logic of Churchill.* Responding to Harriman, Grew, and Bohlen, 

he was firm: he could not leave Washington because he had to prepare 

a “budget message.”?? On May 14 he told Churchill that while he 

agreed that an early tripartite meeting was essential, he could not yet 

suggest a date for the meeting.” 

In reality, of course, Truman’s mention of a “budget message” was 

an impossibly weak excuse and was evidently given only to those (like 

Bohlen) who were not privy to the atomic secret. Everyone agreed 

upon the overriding importance of the issues in dispute, and there was 

overwhelming logic in maintaining the diplomatic pressure by an im- 

mediate meeting. Once troop withdrawals began Stalin would under- 

stand, as Churchill pointed out, “time is on his side if he digs in while 

we melt away.””? A “budget message” could not explain Truman’s 

rejection of such considerations and it appears that on May 10 and 

May 14 Stimson confidentially delineated the more sophisticated strat- 

egy to Harriman and Eden. 

In delaying a confrontation with Stalin, Truman relaxed pressure 

on the Russians and thereby cast doubt upon America’s determination 

to force matters to a showdown. However, he did not give up all 

diplomatic leverage; the main objection to delay was fear that Amer- 

ican troops would actually be withdrawn. Churchill consistently 

stressed the inevitable weakening effect upon the Western negotiating 

position, Eden raised the matter with Stimson on May 14, and Har- 

riman urged it upon the President on May 15.”° Truman fully agreed 

on the importance of the troops”* and, in fact, spent the first week of 

May studying the redeployment timing.” As we have seen, when he 

early meeting despite his awareness of the 
strategy. It is probable that he was simply 

*Eden was informed of the atomic 
bomb’s role in diplomatic strategy on May 

captured German aircraft—“We may have great need of these some 

14, 1945. It is probable that Churchill re- 
ceived a briefing on the matter from Harri- 
man when they dined together privately on 
May 22. Thus, it appears that Churchill, 
like the American advisers, pressed for an 

unwilling to gamble such important Euro- 
pean diplomatic stakes on the outcome of 
the atomic test. (Stimson Diary, May 14, 
1945; Conference of Berlin, I, p. 20.) 
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decided to delay a meeting with Stalin, he did so on Stimson’ S : specific 

assurance that “the work of redeploying our forces from Europe to 

the Pacific will necessarily take so long that there will be more time 

for your necessary diplomacy with the other large allies than some of 

our hasty friends realize.”** 

TRUMAN’S SYMBOLIC REVERSAL 

: TRUMAN’S POSTPONEMENT Of a confrontation with Stalin was the 

crucial decision of the spring of 1945. Once he made up his mind, 

Truman was forced to consider his course on all major issues in dis- 

pute with Russia. He knew it was futile to continue his firm line 

without an immediate face-to-face meeting. On the other hand, the 

President did not want to yield the points at issue. In this situation, 

necessity was the mother of invention; the President had to devise a 

method which would reduce tensions, forestall a unilateral Soviet 

solution to the Polish problem, and keep the door open to Western 

influence.* In short, he needed to gain time. These points, of course, 

followed the general logic of Stimson’s delayed showdown strategy, 

but Truman’s method—an ingenious one—was apparently his own 

creation; he decided upon symbolic missions to Moscow and London 

which would dramatize America’s desire to break with the firm 

Churchillian policy and would explore ways to re-establish—at least 

temporarily—the Rooseveltian policy of cooperation. 

Information on the decisions of early May is extremely sketchy. 

Although Truman made no change in his public stand until late in 

May, it appears that he began to prepare a conciliatory course even 

before his cable telling Churchill that a meeting had to be delayed. 

On May 4 Truman asked Roosevelt’s old aide Harry Hopkins, 

who was at that time terribly ill, if he would be able to serve as his 

personal representative to Stalin.2? When Truman finally committed 

himself to the Hopkins mission two weeks later—at the height of the 

tense atmosphere emanating from the deadlock over Poland and Cen- 

tral Europe—his decision had powerful overtones. As Halifax pointed 

out, Hopkins was “the most eminent living repository of Mr. Roose- 

_* Compare also Admiral Leahy’s early close the door to subsequent accommoda- 
view that the Polish matter should “be put tion.” (Forrestal, Diaries, p. 50.) 
to the Russians in such a way as not to 
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velt’s policy.”8° The mission, according to Secretary Stettinius, was 

designed to “assure Stalin that the death of Mr. Roosevelt would not 

alter the United States’ policy of co-operating with the Soviet Un- 

ion.”** But this is an understatement, for the mission signaled a 

fundamental break with the firm line—the decision to send a negotia- 

tor to Moscow blatantly reversed the British-American declaration 

that the Polish question could not even be discussed until satisfactory 

information had been given about the arrests of the Polish under- 

ground leaders. * 

Although the Secretary of the Navy was told that Hopkins was 

going to Moscow only to get “an evaluation” of the Russian attitude 

on questions “on which at the present time there seems a danger of a 

sharp and substantial division,” it was clear that a special representa- 

tive would not be going to Moscow unless Truman had decided to 

make some concessions.** For this reason, when the State Depart- 

ment was consulted—at the last minute—it strongly opposed the 

trip.** So did Byrnes, who had personally briefed Truman on the 

Yalta argeements.** Arthur Bliss Lane, the man who would go to 

Warsaw as American ambassador, was “filled with misgivings” and 

threatened to resign.*° 

Truman’s decision to break with the firm line of policy was under- 

scored by a second aspect of the Hopkins mission: the President did 

not tell Churchill of his plans until after the mission was publicly 

disclosed.*® He also refused to agree to Churchill’s urgent request 

that Hopkins visit London as well as Moscow.*’ Instead, Truman 

asked Joseph E. Davies to visit Churchill.** This move was dramatic 

and ironic notice of Truman’s new line of action, for Davies, a former 

ambassador to the Soviet Union, was personally opposed to the tough 

Churchillian approach and was a well-known advocate of Soviet- 

American cooperation.*® The purpose of the Davies mission was 

equally symbolic: the Ambassador was to tell Churchill that Truman 

wished to meet with Stalin alone before the Big Three Conference.{* 

There could be no better way to emphasize America’s desire to 

dissociate policy from Churchill’s influence. The mission was a com- 

* See above, p. 35. cisions, p. 260; Churchill, Triumph and 
Tragedy, p. 577; Feis, Churchill, Roosevelt, 

+Truman later tried to minimize this Stalin, p. 650; Between War and Peace, pp. 
point, but there is no doubt about his inten- 124-25; Conference of Berlin, I, pp. 67-85; 
tions at the time. See Truman, Year of De- Woodward, British Foreign Policy, p. 521fn. 
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tion kien had’ indicated a one desire to work closel aan 

Churchill and to meet with him at the earliest possible time.*t The 
President had suggested a Washington meeting at the time of Roose- 

- velt’s funeral‘? and, on April 22, had urged Churchill to come to the 

United States during the San Francisco United Nations Conference.” 

Plans had been set for a visit by Churchill at the end of May.** A visit 

by Truman to Churchill had also been discussed and the President had 

been more than willing to go to London.** But with the Davies mis- 

sion all these plans were abruptly abandoned. Truman now told his 

advisers that a meeting with Churchill might “give the Russians the 

impression we were ganging up on them,” he cabled the same point to 

‘the Prime Minister, and he asked Davies to convey the message di- 

rectly.** Thus, instead of a symbolic meeting with Churchill, there 

was to be a somewhat ostentatious change of plans: a private presi- 

dential meeting with Stalin! 

Although the Davies and Hopkins missions were not announced 5 

until the end of May, as we have seen, Truman had begun to consider 

this course of action even before he announced the decision to delay 

a confrontation with Stalin. Stimson spoke with Truman about the 

atomic bomb on April 25, two days after the showdown with Molo- | 

tov. Almost immediately Truman contacted Davies and Hopkins. He © 

held his first meetings with them on April 30 and May 4 respec- 

tively.*” Thus, he had begun to prepare his alternative policy even as 

he continued to adhere publicly to the firm line. Evidently sustaining 

the hope, as late as May 12, that Stalin might yield, Truman took his 

first irrevocable steps away from the immediate-showdown strategy 

almost a month after summoning the two men.*® Only on May 19 and © 

May 22—after it was unquestionably clear that Stalin would not back 

down—did Truman dispatch short messages to Moscow and London 
suggesting the trips.**° 

Truman was extremely secretive about preparations for the two 

missions. He did not consult the Secretary of State, the Acting Secre- 

tary of State, the Polish experts in the Department of State, or Ad- 

miral Leahy, until the very eve of the trips, a month after he had 

* The origin of the Hopkins mission is ther information. A report on additional de- 
one of the most closely guarded government _ tails must await the opening of the presently 
secrets. Despite repeated attempts, the State closed archives. 
Department has refused my requests for fur- 
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did not Team of the trips vntil May 20.” As Arthur Bliss fand: the a 

designated ambassador to Poland, has written, all that was known in 

the Department of State was that “suddenly and secretly, in the last 

days of May, Harry Hopkins” left for Moscow.” Thus, almost all of 

the advisers who wanted an “immediate showdown” were unaware of _ 

the alternative approach the President was preparing.* Moreover, the 

President ordered that Hopkins’s cables be shown only to a limited 

few of the senior advisers who customarily had access to such infor- 

mation.®* This unusual secrecy is further indirect evidence of the 

relationship of the trips to the secret atomic project; it would have 

been inconceivable, except in extraordinary circumstances, for Tru- 

man to send Hopkins to discuss the most important outstanding 

diplomatic questions without consulting, or at least noutyine> the Sec- 

retary of State.{ 

FORESTALLING A SOVIET SOLUTION 

IN POLAND 

THUS, HAVING DECIDED to postpone a confrontation with Stalin, 

Truman dispatched his special envoys to repair damage done during 

the showdown crisis.°** The general problem was to reduce tensions, 

but Hopkins had more specific tasks; he sought to forestall a unilateral 

Soviet solution of the Polish problem, to get consultations for reor- 

ganization of the Warsaw government started, and to keep the way 

open to as much Western influence in the country as possible. 

Hopkins’s first meeting with Stalin took place on May 26. Immedi- 

ately he declared his purpose: “He wished to tell the Marshal of the 

real reason why the President had asked him to come, and that was 

the question of the fundamental relationship between the United 

States and the Soviet Union.”®> He said he “wished to state as frankly 

and forcibly as he knew how to Marshal Stalin the importance that he, 

*Tt is true that in mid-April, Harriman 
suggested Hopkins might be a good man for 
a mission to Moscow. However, it is not 
clear from the available evidence whether 
Harriman made this suggestion in a general 
sense or in connection with Stimson’s strat- 
egy. It appears that the former was the 
case, for Harriman disagreed with the strat- 

egy even after he learned of it on May 10. 
(Truman, Year of Decisions, pp. 257-58; 
Stimson Diary, May 10.) As is obvious, 
Sherwood’s report that Harriman suggested 
the trip in mid-May is simply in error. 
(Roosevelt and Hopkins, pp. 885-87.) 

+ See Appendix II for a critique of other 
interpretations of the Hopkins mission. 
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personally, attached to the present trend of events ad that he felt that ae 

the situation would get rapidly worse unless we could clear up the 

Polish matter.”°° 

It had been clear from the beginning—and had been a chief policy 

consideration—that the Polish question would have implications for 

basic Soviet-American relations. On a number of occasions in his 

discussions with Stalin, Hopkins underscored this point, emphasizing 

that the problem “had become a symbol.”*” He said that although 

there were a number of other matters he wished to discuss, the Polish 

_ impasse was the primary problem.*°* He told Stalin the President had 

decided upon a special mission because he felt great anxiety over the 

situation and because he wished to find some way out of the difficulty 

so as to continue Roosevelt’s policy of cooperation.” 

Harriman, who accompanied Hopkins, also stressed the importance 

of the point. He observed that in selecting Mr. Hopkins the President 

“had chosen a man who, as the Marshal knew, not only had been very 

close to President Roosevelt, but personally was one of the leading 

proponents of the policy of cooperation with the Soviet Union.” He 

noted that the United States had “very intimate relations with Great 

Britain,” but nevertheless felt it “desirable that the United States and 

the Soviet Union should talk alone on matters of special interest to © 

them and that that was also one of the reasons for Mr. Hopkins’s 

visit.”°° 

At first these gestures of conciliation must have seemed a suspicious 

change from the firm line American policy had taken until this time. 

Stalin commented only that “the reason for the failure on the Polish 

question was that the Soviet Union desired to have a friendly Poland, 

but that Great Britain wanted to revive the system of cordon sanitaire 

on the Soviet borders.”®' When Hopkins replied that the United 

States did not have such intentions, Stalin said “if that be so we can 

easily come to terms in regard to Poland.” 

The next day, May 27, Hopkins asked Stalin for comments on 

questions worrying him. The Soviet Premier immediately listed a 

number of issues where “recent moves on the part of the United States 

Government” had caused “a certain alarm.” He said Soviet govern- 

ment circles had the “impression that the American attitude toward 

* See below, pp. 89, 101-102. 
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the Soviet Union had perceptibly cooled once it became obvious that 

Germany was defeated, and that it was as though the Americans were 

saying that the Russians were no longer needed.”® Of the issues 

Stalin raised, the two most important touched directly on the strategy 

of an immediate showdown. He was bitter over the American position 

on the Polish question, and he disliked the methods used by American 

diplomacy. 

“At Yalta it had been agreed that the existing government was to be 

reconstructed and. . . anyone with common sense could see that this 

meant that the present government was to form the basis of the new,” 

Stalin declared. “No other understanding of the Yalta Agreement was 

possible. Despite the fact that they were simple people, the Russians 

should not be regarded as fools . . . nor were they blind and they 

could quite well see what was going on before their eyes.”* 

Stalin then criticized the manner in which Lend-Lease had been 

curtailed: “If the refusal to continue Lend-Lease was designed as pres- 

sure on the Russians in order to soften them up, then it was a funda- 

mental mistake. He said he must tell Mr. Hopkins frankly that if the 

Russians were approached frankly on a friendly basis much could be 

done but that reprisals in any form would bring about the exact op- 

posite effect.” 

This brought the main problems out into the open and a good deal 

of the second meeting was devoted to Hopkins’s attempt to explain the 

American position on all of the points at issue.®* After considerable 

discussion, Hopkins reverted to the fundamental problem—the United 

States wished to find a way to end the Polish stalemate and begin 

consultations for the government reorganization. While he hoped a 

way to begin could be found, “he had no thought or indeed any right 

to attempt to settle the Polish problem during his visit.”°’ Later, 

focusing on specifics, Hopkins stressed the substantive requirements of 

American policy for Poland; there would have to be assurances that 

early elections would be held and that they would take place in a free 

atmosphere. There must be freedom of speech, right of assembly, right 

of movement. All political parties except the fascist should be per- 

mitted free use of press, radio, meetings, and other facilities of polit- 

ical expression. All citizens should have the right of public trial, de- 

fense by their own counsel, and the right of habeas corpus. “If we 

could find a meeting of minds in regard to these general principles 
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Stalin replied that “these principles of democracy are well known 

and would find no objection on the part of the Soviet Government.” 

He assured Hopkins the Polish government would welcome the prin- 

ciples. He had reservations on only two points: in time of war the 

freedoms could not be enjoyed to the full extent; and they could not 

be applied fully to fascist parties trying to overthrow the govern- 

_ ment. 
_ _Having reached agreement on the requirements for free elections, 

the two men took up the points at issue in the deadlock. Early in the 

talks Stalin had emphasized the need to recognize the Warsaw gov- 

ernment as the “basis” of the new government. He had again urged 

the Yugoslav precedent be followed: one Polish leader should be ad- 

mitted to the government for each four existing Cabinet members. 

This would provide four new posts out of a total of eighteen or 

‘twenty, and was precisely the same view Stalin had urged throughout 

the spring.” 

Until this time the United States had rejected the Soviet position, 

and the stalemate had begun with Stalin’s subsequent refusal to sum- 

mon the Polish leaders for consultations to reorganize the govern- 

ment."t However, at the time he decided to send Hopkins, it appears 

that Truman also decided to concede the major point at issue; now, on 

May 30, Hopkins declared the President “anticipated that the mem- 

bers of the present Warsaw regime would constitute a majority of the 

new Polish Provisional Government.””? This broke the log jam, for it 

committed American policy to the existing government as the “basis” 

of the new government. Hopkins cabled the President: “The confer- 

ence tonight was encouraging. It looks as though Stalin is prepared to 

. permit a representative group of Poles to come to Moscow to 

- consult with the Commission.”7* 

The precise discussion of how great a majority the Warsaw gov- 

ernment would have in the reorganized government is not available, 

but the American commitment went beyond Hopkins’s general state- 

ment. Stalin proposed a list of candidates for inclusion in the govern- 

ment and after discussion Hopkins cabled that the United States 

would have to accept the Soviet view if any progress was to be made. 

Truman approved this recommendation.” It appears that after con- 
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iderable haggling, Stalin and H 
original American view that Warsaw should have about half the seats 

in the new Cabinet and the Russian view that they should have about 

four fifths: when the Polish political leaders finally reached Moscow | 

for discussions, they met a united stand of the three powers and were 

told that the Warsaw government would have the main part of the 

government.’* Thereafter two thirds of the Cabinet was assumed to 

be Warsaw’s share.*”¢ 

Once Warsaw’s role as the “basis” of the new government had been 

recognized, Stalin was quite willing to invite the Poles to Moscow for 

consultations. In fact, as Hopkins noted in another context, Stalin 

seemed inclined “to make it easy for Churchill to get out of a bad 

situation.””’ Originally, Truman and Churchill had suggested that 

eight Poles be invited to Moscow for the reorganization talks. They 

had suggested four from the Warsaw government, one independent 

from Poland, and. three from the London Polish groups.’* (This 

would give Warsaw half of the delegation and accorded with the idea 

that the Warsaw government might have half the seats in the new 

Cabinet.) However, after Stalin and Hopkins had completed their 

discussions, it was agreed that a total of twelve Poles would be invited 

to Moscow: only four from the Warsaw government, five indepen- 

opkins split the difference between the 

* The available documents on the Hopkins- 
Stalin talks omit the key paragraphs on this 
point, and my requests for further informa- 
tion have been refused. However, there is 
enough other evidence to leave little doubt 
about the commitment: Feis reports Hopkins 
agreed to a “dominant” role for the Warsaw 
government. (Between War and Peace, p. 
107.) That this probably meant the two- 
thirds figure seems clear since (1) Stettinius 
and Harriman broached this figure to Eden 
early in May; (2) on his way to Moscow, 
Harriman raised the power ratio with Miko- 
lajczyk; (3) the Polish talks began on the 
two-thirds basis with no American objection; 
(4) after the completion of the talks Har- 
riman again reported his opinion that two 
thirds was the best figure possible. (Wood- 
ward, British Foreign Policy, p. 510; Rozek, 
Allied Wartime Diplomacy, pp. 379-80, 
395-98; Mikolajczyk, The Pattern of Soviet 
Domination, p. 143; Conference of Berlin, I, 
p. 727.) The American Ambassador to Po- 
land, Arthur Bliss Lane, reports that Hop- 
kins agreed to a ratio which would deprive 
the independent Poles of majority control. 
For this reason he believed the reorganiza- 
tion talks would fail, asked to see the Presi- 

dent to protest the “Yugoslav precedent,” 
and considered resignation. (J Saw Freedom 
Betrayed, pp. 70-71, 73, 75.) Supplementary 
evidence comes from the British side. 
Churchill vaguely indicated to Mikolajczyk 
that the British and American ambassadors 
were instructed to agree both to the Yugo- 
slav precedent and a 50-50 ratio! (Rozek, 
Allied Wartime Diplomacy, p. 390.) Chur- 
chill actually instructed Clark Kerr, in part, 
that ‘the settlement will inevitably be ‘based 
upon’ the present Warsaw Government.” He 
warned that “so far as public appearances 
are concerned” it had to look like the Poles 
reached this conclusion themselves. (Feis, 
Between War and Peace, p. 204.) The 
American position is also indirectly indicated 
by Harriman’s complaint that Clark Kerr’s 
instructions did not allow him to make the 
British commitment sufficiently clear. Also 
note Molotov’s unchallenged remark at the 
first Commission meeting that there was no 
need to direct the Poles since the powers 
were already agreed that the Warsaw gov- 
ernment would be the “basis” or “nucleus” 
of the new government. (Feis, Between War 
and Peace, p. 207.) 
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Senis from Poland, and three from Rondon 7 Thus, from the point of | 
view of public appearances, Stalin accorded the Warsaw government 

a far smaller role in the consultations than had originally been pro- 

posed by Truman and Churchill.* 

With this successful compromise, the chief purpose of Hopkins’s 

mission to Moscow had been accomplished. A unilateral Soviet solu- 

tion to the Polish problem had been avoided, the negotiations to re- 

organize the government would soon be resumed, and the door had 

been kept open to Western influence in the country. With the dead- 

lock broken, there remained only two tasks. First, the actual reorgani- 

zation of the government would have to take place. Second, the 

pledge of free elections would have to be fulfilled. Both of these prob- 

lems would be taken up later, but before leaving Moscow, Hopkins 

attempted to clear up one final aspect of the Polish dispute. He asked 

that the sixteen arrested Polish underground leaders be released “ 

that we could clear the atmosphere.”® Stalin refused this request, but 

promised lenient treatment.}* 

On June 15, a week after Hopkins completed his work, the various 

Polish leaders arrived in Moscow for consultations to reorganize the 

provisional government.®*” There were no divisions within the three- 

power Commission, and by June 22 agreement had been reached 

granting fourteen of twenty-one seats in the new Cabinet to the War- 

saw government.t® Harriman gave his government’s approval to the 

understanding, and on July 5 Truman accorded the government 

diplomatic recognition.** The President also reported: “The new 

Polish Provisional Government of National Unity has informed me in 

a written communication that it has recognized in their entirety the 

*It is interesting to note that Admiral 
_ Leahy, who believed the Yalta language sus- 

tained Stalin’s interpretation, had predicted 
this result from the very first: “I did not 

_ believe that the dominating Soviet influence 
could be excluded from Poland, but I did 
think it was possible to give to the reorgan- 
ized Polish Government an external appear- 
ance of independence.” (I Was There, p. 
352.) Much later Mikolajczyk claimed that 
“three or four” of the five Poles chosen 
from within Poland were biased in favor of 
the Warsaw government. However, at the 
time he was highly pleased with the list. He 
noted that Stalin had agreed to name three 
honorable but nonparty people from within 
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Poland. The remaining two had been named 
not by Stalin but by Truman. (The Pattern 
of Soviet Domination, p. 128; Rozek, Allied 
Wartime Diplomacy, pp. 384-86; Stalin’s 
Correspondence, Il, p. 216.) 

+ He made good on this promise. Four of 
the sixteen were not tried, the remainder re- 
ceived light prison sentences, and all were 
released in 1946. (Lane, I Saw Freedom Be- 
trayed, p. 75jn.) 

t After the agreement the figure was 
changed to sixteen of twenty-one. (Confer- 
ence of Berlin, pp. 716-17, 727.) Unaccount- 
ably Woodward gives fourteen of twenty. 
(British Foreign Policy, p. 514.) 



THE DECISION TO POSTPONE A CONFRONTATION WITH STALIN 

decisions of the Crimea Conference. . . . The new Government has 
thereby confirmed its intention to carry out the provisions of the 
Crimea decision with respect to the holding of elections. . . .”8 

RE-ESTABLISHING COOPERATION IN 

CENTRAL EUROPE 

WITH THIS DECLARATION, Stimson’s original point—that a ten- 

sion-reducing compromise would have to be found in Poland—was 

implemented as policy. As will be shown, the President had reason to 

believe that early free elections would establish a democratic Poland 

organized along Western lines.* Truman’s mid-May objectives were 

not restricted to the negative goal of preventing a Polish fait accompli, 

however. Once the heads-of-government meeting had been de- 

layed, the President was confronted with the immediate need to 

establish at least temporary working arrangements to prevent a break- 

down of the European economy. 

Each day in the spring of 1945 dramatized the importance of a 

cooperative relationship with the Russians. From all sides came re- 

ports of danger. As early as April 13—the first full day of his Presi- 

dency—Truman received an urgent State Department memorandum 

declaring: “Political stability and the maintenance of democratic gov- 

ernments which can withstand the pressures of extremist groups de- 

pend on the restoration of a minimum of economic stability.”** Two 

days later the same point was made personally by the Secretary of 

State—the success of the United Nations would “be seriously jeopar- 

dized, if not defeated, by internal chaos in the liberated countries.”®” 

On April 20 Secretary Stimson told the Cabinet that Assistant Sec- 

retary of War McCloy had “found conditions of chaos and in some 

cases of near anarchy in Germany.”** On April 26, McCloy reported 

directly to the President: “There is complete economic, social and 

political collapse in Central Europe . . .” The Assistant Secretary 

emphasized the imperative need for food, fuel, and transportation in 

Germany. He advised: “We are going to have to work out a practical 

relationship with the Russians. It will require the highest talents, toler- 

ance and wisdom to accomplish our aims.”*? 

* See below, pp. 87-90. 
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; finned the President that not onihy the berated countries but Baiaity 

faced a serious shortage of food and other materials.°° Truman’s 

assistant, Judge Samuel I. Rosenman, returned from an extensive in- 

spection of economic and food problems in Western Europe reporting 

a “critical” food situation and “desperate” conditions requiring Amer- 

ican help.®*t A week after the collapse of German resistance, Secre- 

tary Stimson warned of the “strong probability of pestilence and 

_ famine in Central Europe.” 

Although the President had initially differed with Stimson on the 

Polish question, he had always shared the Secretary’s fundamental 

concern about general European problems; both men believed Euro- 

pean stability absolutely essential to world peace. Truman regarded 

the chaotic economic situation in liberated Europe as “one of the most 

urgent” crises he had to resolve.°? He saw a “grave danger of such 

political and economic chaos as to . . . jeopardize . . . economic 

stability which is the necessary basis for a firm and just peace.”* 

Like Stimson, the President viewed European problems with an eye 

to American national interest. Truman also saw that two European 

wars had inevitably drawn the United States into conflict. From this 

experience Stimson had generalized that peace was “indivisible.” Simi- 

larly, Truman held that “a breach of peace anywhere in the world 

threatens the peace of the entire world.”®’ He later wrote that “the 

one purpose that dominated me in everything I thought and did was to 

prevent a third world war.” Because he wanted “a peace settlement 

that would be lasting,” the President believed it necessary to organize 

European economic conditions so as to prevent “another Hitler[’s] 

rise to power.”®? To Truman it was the “literal truth” that “if we let 

Europe go cold and hungry,” the United States would lose “the 

foundations of order on which the hope for world-wide peace must 

-rest,’’*28 

Having defined world peace as dependent upon European stability, 

and American security as dependent upon world peace, Truman con- 

cluded: “The reconstruction of Europe was a matter that directly 

*The British ambassador, sensing this ropean countries than to the balder pleas 
deep concern, cabled Churchill: “I should about the risks of extreme Left Govern- 
also expect the Americans in dealing with us ments or of the spread of Communism.” 
to be more responsive to arguments based (Churchill, Triumph and Tragedy, p. 641.) 
upon the danger of economic chaos in Eu- 
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“We were committed to the rehabilitation of Europe, and there was to 

be no abandonment this time.” 

In general, Truman also agreed with Stimson that it was vital to 

bring together the Eastern and Western halves of the European eco- 

nomic unit. Food was the critical problem, and supplies from Eastern 

Europe were essential. Even before taking over the Presidency, Tru- 

man had given the problem considerable thought. In a May 16 discus- 

sion with the Secretary of War, he recalled at great length talks he 

used to have with his friend Senator Elbert Thomas of Utah—“I 

would point to a map of Europe and trace its breadbasket, with 

Hungary a cattle country and Rumania and the Ukraine as the wheat 

area. Up to the northwest lay Western Germany, Northern France, 

Belgium and Britain with their coal, iron, and big industries. The 

problem. . . was to help unify Europe by linking up the breadbasket 

with the industrial centers.”*? 

Truman also shared Stimson’s conviction that a strong German 

economy was essential to European stability. Unlike Roosevelt, “at no 

time” did Truman believe Germany should be dismembered.’” As a 

Senator, he had opposed the Morgenthau plan, and as President he 

felt even more strongly about the issue.*°? On May 10, Truman ap- 

proved a new directive for the administration of Germany—JCS 

1067/8—which considerably modified the tough economic terms 

Roosevelt’s earlier directive had imposed.1%* Moreover, although he 

endorsed almost all of Roosevelt’s other appointments, Truman re- 

placed Roosevelt’s reparations representative with his own man.*” 

Roosevelt had named a Jew, Dr. Isador Lubin, who could be expected 

to show little sympathy to the Germans. Truman chose Edwin W. 

Pauley precisely because he did not wish to weaken the German econ- 

omy and he knew Pauley would be “tough” in the reparations talks 

with Molotov.!° Indeed, Truman was completely in accord with 

Stimson’s basic recommendations on Germany. The Secretary of War 

* Truman seems to have taken an espe- that a way had to be found to link the 
cially deep interest in this problem. Other trade of Eastern and Western Europe. (See 
visitors also found he would pull out a map Smith, My Three Years in Moscow, p. 27.) 
of Europe to explain his profound conviction 

79 

concerned us, and we could not turn our back on it without jeopardiz- 
ing our own national interests.”®® In the first week of June 1945—_ 

two full years before the Marshall Plan—Truman told his advisers: — 
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confided to his diary: “The President . . . has been very receptive to 

all my efforts in these directions.”*" . 

Thus, in all essential respects Truman understood the problems of 

European stability in much the same way as his Secretary of War. It 

was necessary both to strengthen the European economy and to work 

out a way to link the food-producing areas with the industrial zones. 

From such premises, it was immediately evident that the crucial prob- 

lem was administration in the heart of Central Europe, primarily in 

Germany. But Red Army occupation of the eastern part of that coun- 

try presented the same problem, on a smaller scale, which persisted in 

the larger unit of the Continent: there could be no economic stability 

without Soviet cooperation. “There was danger of complete economic 

and social collapse,” Truman reasoned. “Therefore, it was imperative 

that there be established at the earliest possible moment a council to 

make policy for Germany as a whole.”?8 

It is important to recognize that, despite appearances, Truman’s 

April 23 showdown with Molotov was in complete accord with the 

fundamental objective of achieving Soviet cooperation. Indeed, it was 

a means to that end. Truman had initially judged that a symbolic 

showdown and strong language would force the Russians to cooperate 

not only in Eastern Europe but in their general relations with the 

United States. He had not envisioned a tense stalemate, but a blunt 

clarification of attitudes which would clear the way for cooperation on 

a self-consciously realistic basis. In initially rejecting Stimson’s con- 

ciliatory advice, he had differed primarily on tactics, not on objec- 

tives. Similarly, in maintaining American troops in the Soviet zone of 

Germany he had expected not Soviet intransigence, but a realistic 

trading of advantage which would secure American political objec- 

tives in Austria. 

But by mid-May, in Germany, as in Poland, there was no sign that 

Stalin would yield to the firm approach. As we have seen, one group 

of advisers felt that an immediate meeting with Stalin was the only 

possible ccurse of action; Churchill continued to urge that American 

armies hold their positions in the Soviet zone. However, the implica- 

tions of Truman’s decision to postpone a meeting with Stalin were as 

clear for his German policy as for his Polish policy. The moment the 

President decided to delay a Big Three meeting until the atomic bomb 

was tested, he was forced to devise a new course of action. The Sec- 
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Tetaries of State, War, and the Navy all advised that a declaration of 

principles for Allied administration of Germany be issued and that the 

Allied Control Council be promptly activated.1® As in the Polish 

case, Truman had to find a formula which would elicit Soviet cooper- 

ation and yield as little advantage as possible. 

_ Establishing an administrative council was the heart of the matter, 

and although the Polish impasse was the primary cause of the Hopkins 

mission, Truman set his representative an important secondary task: 

he was to try to secure Stalin’s agreement to the German Control 

Council.° Following the President’s instructions, Hopkins raised 

the issue early in his talks with the Soviet Premier. He noted that 

Eisenhower had already been named American representative for the 

Council and asked that Marshal Zhukov be designated Soviet repre- 

sentative,'? 

Initially, Stalin replied that he had not heard of Eisenhower’s ap- 

pointment, but would designate Zhukov in the near future.1”” A day 

passed, and Hopkins pressed the point again: “It would be most de- 

sirable if Marshal Stalin could announce publicly as soon as possible 

the appointment of Marshal Zhukov . . . so that that body could start 

its work as soon as possible.”’* At the same time Hopkins raised the 

matter in Moscow, instructions were sent to the American representa- 

tive at the European Advisory Commission in London; he was to 

propose that an Allied declaration of principles for the administration 

of Germany be signed and issued by June 1.** 

Hopkins reported that Stalin seemed quite willing to designate 

Zhukov and that he agreed “on the necessity of having a unified policy 

towards Germany . . . ; otherwise he said the Germans would at- 

tempt to play one off against the other.”"* This confirmed reports 

from London and Frankfurt of a strong Soviet desire for joint ad- 

ministration of the country.1%* From the Soviet point of view, co- 

operative administration would provide badly needed industrial mate- 

rials from the western zones in exchange for food from the eastern 

zones.1"" It also appeared that cooperative control of Germany was a 

key point in Soviet plans for postwar security. Stalin told Hopkins: 

“Not only this war but the previous war had shown that without 

United States intervention Germany could not have been defeated and 

that all the events and developments of the last thirty years had con- 

firmed this.”?"® 
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ful aoe the Conteol Cond could be established: so long as Tr 

maintained American troops in the Soviet zone of occupation. Eise: 

hower sensed this clearly, and at the same time Hopkins was discuss- _ 

ing the appointment of Zhukov, the American Commander asked the 

Combined Chiefs of Staff for instructions on the troop positions. He — 

said he anticipated one question the Russians would raise when the © 

declaration of principles was signed would be the date on which 

American forces would withdraw from the Russian zone. “It is pos- | 

sible that Russians may establish such withdrawal as a corollary to the — 

establishment of Control Council on a functioning basis,” he noted. 

“Any cause for delay in. . . withdrawal would be attributed to us — 

and might well develop strong public reaction.”’”® 

A week before Hopkins left for Moscow Truman had told Chur- 

chill he preferred to wait to see what happened before deciding either 

to withdraw the troops or hold them in place until a Big Three meet- 

ing.’° For the next three weeks—throughout the period of the Hop- 

kins mission—-Truman maintained this position. On the President’s — 

instructions, the Joint Chiefs of Staff refused Eisenhower permission 

to withdraw the troops as a condition of the establishment of the © 

Control Council.’?* 

But this decision was very soon sale tet Hopkins secured Stal- 

in’s agreement to designate Zhukov as Eisenhower’s counterpart.’ 

When the two military leaders met in Berlin on June 5 to sign the — 

_ Four Power Declaration for Germany, American troops were still 

deep in the Soviet zone of occupation. It was now a month after the 

German surrender, and Zhukov immediately made it clear that the' 

agreement to establish the Control Council would not be implemented 

until American troops were withdrawn to the agreed occupation 

zones. 124 

Initially, Truman had linked the troop withdrawals with the unre- 

solved Austrian zonal problems. By the first week of June, however, 

these issues (which, in any case, had never been of great importance) 

were all but resolved. The only question in dispute concerned the 

disposition of airports in Vienna.’** Thus, Truman had to decide 

whether to maintain the American troop positions despite the all but 

completed accord in Austria. | 

Churchill cabled that he viewed “with profound misgivings the re- 
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‘Sector, thus bringing Soviet power into the heart of Western Eu- 

rope.””° He said he hoped “that this retreat, if it has to be made, 

would be accompanied by the settlement of many great things.”??¢ 

Privately he told the Foreign Office: “I am still hoping that the retreat — 

of the American centre to the occupation line can be staved off till ‘the 

Phree meet): 4-7 2% 

However, from Germany three separate and dissenting apprecia- 

tions were sent to Washington. Eisenhower again advised that the - 

troops should be withdrawn.’* Robert Murphy, Eisenhower’s polit- 

ical adviser, cabled a similar view, adding that he saw no grounds for 

discouragement about the prospects of Soviet cooperation—“On the 

contrary I find that definite progress has been made. I am convinced 

that the Russians believe the Control Council necessary. . . .”??° 

Finally, Harry Hopkins, returning from Moscow via Germany, cabled 

that the “present indeterminate status of the date for withdrawal of. 

Allied Troops from area assigned to the Russians is certain to be 

misunderstood by Russians as well as at home.”’1*° 

_ Truman’s decision came in the second week of June. Hopkins’s 

successful resolution of the Polish issue undoubtedly helped convince 

the President he could deal with Stalin. With the Potsdam Conference 

more than a month away, he decided that the price of Soviet coopera- 

tion in Germany was withdrawal of American troops.’** On June 

12, he cabled Churchill: “In consideration of the tripartite agreement 

. I am unable to delay the withdrawal of American troops from 

the Soviet zone in order to use pressure in the settlement of other 

problems. . . I am advised that it would be highly disadvantageous to 

our relations with the Soviet to postpone action in this matter. . . .”*? 

After incorporating a modification suggested by Churchill, on June 

14 Truman proposed to Stalin that orders be given for simultaneous 

troop withdrawals in Germany and Austria.'** 

This settled the matter in all essential respects. The firm line taken 

at the end of April was repealed. Although there was a slight delay 

connected with the final determination of zones in Vienna and Berlin, 

the American troop withdrawal took place in the first days of July.’** 

At about the same time, final agreement on the Austrian zonal prob- 

lem was reached.'** Soviet troops were withdrawn from the western 

zones in Austria on July 22,*° and by the end of the month the 
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Allied Control Council was functioning in Germany."*? As in Po- 

land, Truman’s new diplomacy achieved its basic aims. The crisis in 

Allied relations had been resolved and the way was clear for coopera- 

tive administration in the heart of Germany. A second major point of 

Stimson’s recommendation had been implemented. 

THE HOPE OF THE STRATEGY OF DELAY 

ON JUNE 6, 1945, Acting Secretary of State Grew sent a short 

but emphatic cable to Hopkins, who was preparing to leave Moscow: 

“The President, the Secretary and I send you heartiest congratulations 

and appreciation.”** At about the same time, Assistant Secretary of 

War McCloy commented to the Secretary of the Navy that “Harry’s 

visit had largely dispelled the growing suspicion of Stalin and Molo- 

tov.”!*° To a Cabinet meeting, Acting Secretary Grew proudly re- 

ported: “I don’t believe as a rule in crowing before the sun is really 

up, but I may say that the international scene is a great deal brighter. 

... “140 And Admiral Leahy noted in his diary that both he and 

the President “felt that Hopkins had been very successful in allaying 

some of the suspicions that the Russians had about our motives.’’** 

To the many who have interpreted the Hopkins mission as a victory 

for Stalin’s policy in Poland and Germany, it is very difficult to ex- 

plain why official Washington considered the mission a great success.* 

After all, the President had yielded basic points of a policy he had 

adamantly pressed only a few weeks earlier. The key to understand- 

ing, of course, is not difficult to find when one looks beyond the views 

of the Polish exiles and Churchill—who regarded any compromise as 

a defeat—to the views of the President after he had agreed to Secre- 

tary Stimson’s strategy. Once the President had decided to wait for the 

atomic bomb, his main objectives were to avoid a Soviet fait accompli 

in Poland, and to establish a practical cooperative relationship in Ger- 

many. Both objectives required, as Leahy neatly summed it up, that 

the suspicions of Stalin be allayed. 

In fact, Hopkins’s mission perfectly implemented the strategy of a 

delayed showdown offered by Secretary Stimson. As we have seen, the 

* See, for example, Churchill’s comment 
that the Russians “had gained their object 
by delay.” (Triumph and Tragedy, p. 583.) 
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Secretary had defined a number of actions necessary to establish 

proper relationships in Europe. First, he recommended that a con- 

frontation on major issues be postponed until the atomic test. Second, 

he counseled that much of the Russian position on Poland would have 

to be accepted—at least temporarily. Third, he argued that United 

States policy had to be dissociated from the principles and person of 

Churchill. Finally, he urged that some way be devised to “persuade 

Russia to play ball” in Central Europe. 

In every respect, Truman’s use of the Hopkins mission fulfilled 

these objectives. In fact, Hopkins did even better than hoped, for on 

the spur of the moment he was able to resolve a major conflict over 

voting procedure for the Security Council of the United Nations.’ 

Joseph Davies’s mission to Churchill simultaneously underscored 

America’s intention to break symbolically with Churchill. In this, its 

major objective was accomplished, and despite the fact that Churchill 

refused to agree to a preliminary private meeting of Truman and 

Stalin, the Prime Minister could do little about the President’s refusal 

to meet privately with him in Britain. As Truman had promised, 

there was to be no “ganging up.” 

In the spirit of this broad strategy, Truman also reversed himself on 

other points. His original blunt cutoff of Lend-Lease was now modi- 

fied in two respects: on the day Hopkins left for Moscow, Truman 

told a press conference all materials provided for in existing Lend- 

Lease agreements would be delivered. He explained that the original 

cutoff order was not so much a cancellation of shipments as a gradual 

readjustment to conditions following the collapse of Germany.'* 

Four days later, in Moscow, Ambassador Harriman amiably offered 

to review the whole Lend-Lease situation with Molotov.** In suc- 

ceeding discussions, American aid was once more provided on the 

basis of usefulness to the prosecution of the war, rather than as a 

diplomatic weapon of pressure in the Polish conflict.*° 

Similarly, the firm line yielded on a second economic point. At 

Yalta it had been agreed that a commission made up of the three 

powers would meet to determine German reparations. However, after 

the Yalta Conference, the United States and Britain had urged that 

France be added to the commission. The Soviet Union refused to go 

beyond the Yalta agreement, and the Western powers, quite aware of 

the intense Soviet desire for industrial reparations, refused to allow 
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- the commission to meet unless the French were 
_ Western effort followed the same logic of economic pressure which 
a figured in the initial Polish showdown. As late as the first week of May 

the United States had refused Soviet requests to begin the commission 

talks,4° but when Hopkins arrived in Moscow he informed Stalin 

that the American reparations representative would come to Mos- 

- cow—without the French.**® 

A similar change occurred in regard to the captured German fleet. 

refused to surrender to the Soviet Union.%° In this message, and 

three days later in a talk with Hopkins, Stalin recalled the agreement 

that the Allies would require German forces to surrender to the forces 

i>) they had fought. He pointed out that when German troops who fought 

Russia tried to surrender to the West, Eisenhower had promptly 

turned them over to the Soviet commander. He asked that, as in Italy, 

a fair share (one third) of the German fleet be turned over to the 

Soviet Union.** Again Truman’s reply was conciliatory. Hopkins 

was allowed to say that the United States had no objections to such 

sharing.** Eisenhower proposed that a naval commission be estab- 

lished to arrange for the dispositions.** And the President cabled he 

was sure a solution could be reached which wouid be “fully acceptable — 

ie) tovall of us.”24 
ag Despite Truman’s relaxation of pressure in connection with these 

1G three issues, in reality, the President yielded very little. The Lend- 

_ Lease talks were restricted to deliveries for a six-month period, and 

___ subsequently less than half of the new Soviet requests were granted.” 

_ The Moscow Reparations Commission met for the first time on June 

21 (four months after it had been authorized at Yalta), failed to 

resolve basic reparations issues, and merely delayed the problem until 

the Big Three met in mid-July.%° Similarly, although Truman’s re- 

sponse on the German fleet question was sympathetic, there was no 

action on the Soviet request after May 30 and the matter was also held 

over for the Big Three.*®” 

_ Itis not surprising that Truman chose to maintain control over final 

_ disposition of these economically important matters. From the begin- 

ning, the President had recognized the huge requirements of the war- 

ravaged Soviet economy and had sought to capitalize on this weakness 

by using American economic resources to achieve diplomatic objec- 



2S, e is no. ayia that Truman’ ever abandoned ae basic 

approach: * Indeed, as he prepared for his coming meeting with a 

Stalin, he asked Congress for authority to increase the Export-Import 

Bank’s lending capacity to $3,500,000,000. This would make an addi- 

tional $2,800,000,000 available for loans during the coming year.1®* 

Of this amount, approximately one billion dollars was to be ear- 

marked for a Soviet loan.%® Accordingly, the first item on the sug- 

gested agenda for the talks with Stalin was: “Credits to the U.S.- 

S.Rye ; 

Thus, Truman looked to the future expecting American economic 

power would still be of great value in dealing with Russia. His satis- 

faction with Hopkins’s mission reflected this confidence, for he felt 

the door had been kept open to the future exercise of that power. He 

was not thinking only of the Soviet Union, however. The President 

believed American economic assistance would be effective in persuad- 

ing the newly organized Polish provisional government to hold early 

elections. Such elections, he believed, would produce a democratic 

Poland governed along Western lines and amenable to American in- 

fluence. 

It will be recalled that Truman had directed Hopkins to obtain 

guarantees for a number of specific democratic principles for the new 

Poland. On recognizing the new provisional government, the Presi- 

dent had underscored its pledge of support for all aspects of the 

Yalta agreement, including the provisions for early free elections. To 

the President, the pledge for free elections was not merely a slogan of 

idealistic intent; shortly after Hopkins finished his talks with Stalin, 

Harriman began to discuss the conditions of American economic aid 

to the ravaged country. He made it clear that free elections, and non- 

discriminatory treatment of American investments and trade, would 

insure a friendly American attitude.‘ 

Within policy-making circles there was no attempt to disguise this 

strategy. As final negotiations on the composition of the Polish gov- 

ernment neared completion, Harriman cabled that it was “of in- 

estimable importance from a political standpoint to begin negotiations 

* As late as a December 1946 Cabinet become clear to them by now that they, as 
discussion, “the President mentioned the re- _ well as others, would have to look to the 
ports in the morning’s newspapers of the de- United States as the sole source of relief on 
ficiencies in the grain crop in Russia. ... the question of food.” (Forrestal, Diaries, p. 
He said he believed . . . that it must have 234.) 
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at once with a view of granting promptly a small credit,” and that this 

“will have a far-reaching and permanent effect on the influence of the 

U.S. in the political scene in Poland and particularly on our influence 

in connection with the carrying out of the final step in the Crimea 

decision, namely, the holding of truly free elections.”’* Harriman 

also reported the new government had agreed to allow American rep- 

resentatives to travel freely in the country and to admit American 

news correspondents.’ He had great hopes that the elections, when 

held, would be fully observed. 

Harriman’s recommendation for an immediate small loan was 

well received in Washington. Although legal restrictions prohibited a 

credit, the American ambassador was authorized to promise economic 

assistance from a number of other available sources.’ As the State 

Department looked to the future, it delineated its plans in explicit 

terms: “In order to implement our policy of establishing a truly in- 

dependent democratic Polish state, we should be prepared . . . to 

assist through credits or otherwise in the reconstruction of Polish agri- 

culture and industry.”’® Furthermore, in assisting “through credits 

and otherwise . . . we should insist on the acceptance by Poland of a 

policy of equal opportunity for us in trade, investments, and access to 

sources of information.”'® 

In reality, a strategy based on the vigorous use of American eco- 

nomic aid to obtain political objectives in Eastern Europe was nothing 

more than a continuation of the broad line of policy laid down in the 

April showdown with Molotov. However, by late May, Truman and 

his advisers had come to believe that economic aid was only one 

weapon—and perhaps the least effective—in the American diplo- 

matic arsenal. The belief that the atomic bomb would add great power 

to American diplomacy now dominated the thinking of the most 

important American policy makers. On May 28—the day Hopkins 

held his third talk with Stalin—designated Secretary of State Byrnes 

told one of the nuclear scientists that America, by possessing and 

demonstrating the atomic bomb, would make Russia more manage- 

able in Eastern Europe.” On June 4, Byrnes expressed great confi- 

dence in the atomic bomb to Admiral Leahy.'*® On June 6—the last 

day of the Hopkins-Stalin talks—Secretary Stimson confided to his di- 

ary his belief that a satisfactory solution for the Polish problem would 

be arranged in exchange for allowing the Russians to participate in a 
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system of international control of atomic energy.‘ On the same 

day—before Stimson could express these thoughts—President Tru- 

man told the Secretary of War that the bomb would be the crucial 

factor in achieving a favorable resolution of not only the Polish issue, 

but of problems in Rumania, Yugoslavia, and Manchuria.‘ Thus, 

while Hopkins negotiated an agreement which kept the door open to 

future American influence, Byrnes, Stimson, and Truman all waited 

expectantly for the atomic bomb. They were confident that once it was 

available it would strengthen the American hand; it would provide 

sanctions for the pledge of free elections and would be useful in se- 

curing other objectives in Poland and elsewhere in Eastern Europe. 

For all these reasons Truman looked to the future with immense 

confidence. He did not regard Hopkins’s negotiation as a defeat, but 

as a subtle success which kept the way clear for further diplomacy; he 

viewed the Polish agreement as “only a beginning.”’"! The new 

American ambassador to Poland, Arthur Bliss Lane, not knowing of 

the atomic bomb, could not understand why Truman had postponed a 

meeting and had apparently yielded so much to Stalin. At the time 

Hopkins was completing his talks with Stalin, Lane complained to the 

President that “our attitude toward Soviet Russia in connection with 

the Polish issue should be integrated with the many other issues in 

Central Europe, particularly the Soviet blackouts in the Balkan states 

and the states of Central Europe.” Truman told Lane there was noth- 

ing to fear. He said “that he had precisely the same opinion and that 

this would be the fundamental subject which he intended to discuss at 

the Big Three meeting.” However, he would not force the issue to a 

showdown now. The President explained that while Hopkins was ne- 

gotiating “it would be desirable not to exert too much pressure.” 

Nonetheless, as Acting Secretary of State Grew minuted, the President 

left “no doubt as to his intention to insist on the eventual removal of 

the Soviet blackout in the countries mentioned. . . .”* 

In sum, the President and his advisers regarded Hopkins’s diplo- 

macy as a delaying action, not a defeat. It matters little that the strat- 

egy eventually failed. What is important is that in the thinking of 

American policy makers final determination of the Polish issue and of 

other problems in Eastern and Central Europe depended upon the 

results of the atomic test. An early showdown had failed, but a later 

one—if necessary—would probably succeed. In this spirit, Ambassa- 
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The Far East 

and Two Faces 
of the 

Strategy of Delay 

It may be necessary to have it out with 

Russia on her relations to Manchuria 

and Port Arthur and various other — 

parts of North China, and also the rela- 

tions of China to us. Over any such 

tangled weave of problems [the atomic- 

bomb] secret would be dominant. . . 

—SECRETARY OF WAR 

Henry L. STIMSON 

May 15, 1945 

ALTHOUGH THE POLISH PROBLEM and the rumblings of dis- 

pute in Central Europe dominated official Soviet-American relations 

during the spring of 1945, within policy-making circles the urge to 

alter America’s approach to Russia had not been limited to European 

matters. At the same time the President’s advisers recommended a 

showdown on Poland, they also advocated that Truman reconsider 

American policy toward the Far East. : 

At Yalta, when Soviet help had been thought essential to the in- 

vasion of Japan, Roosevelt had pledged American support for certain 

Soviet Asian objectives, primarily in Manchuria and North China. In 

exchange he had received Stalin’s promise to enter the war two to 

three months after Germany’s collapse and his pledge to support 

Chiang Kai-shek’s Nationalist Government in China. The Red Army 

would enter the war on condition that “the former rights of Russia 

violated by the treacherous attack of Japan in 1904” were restored. 

Specifically, the southern half of Sakhalin Island would be returned to 
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the Soviet Union; the Manchurian port of Dairen would be interna- 

tionalized (“the pre-eminent interests of the Soviet Union in this port 

being safeguarded”) ; Port Arthur would be leased to the Soviet Union 

as a naval base; and the Chinese Eastern and the South Manchurian 

railroads, “which provide an outlet to Dairen,” would be operated by 

a Soviet-Chinese company (“it being understood that the pre-eminent 

interests of the Soviet Union shall be safeguarded . . .”). Addition- 

ally, Roosevelt promised American support to preserve the status quo 

__ in Outer Mongolia. Finally, the Kurile Islands would be handed over 

to the Soviet Union.* 

The Manchurian railroads and ports were of considerable impor- 

tance to the Russians because they provided a warm-water outlet for 

the Trans-Siberian Railroad.” Since it was understood that the agree- 

ment concerning these matters (and Outer Mongolia) would require 

the concurrence of Chiang Kai-shek, Roosevelt agreed to “take mea- 

sures” on “advice from Marshal Stalin” to obtain Chiang’s approval 

so that the claims of the Soviet Union would be “unquestionably ful- 

filled” after the defeat of Japan.* 

Roosevelt’s endorsement of this accord was given with little hesita- 

tion. He regarded the concessions as extremely reasonable—they 

constituted little more than the restoration of Russia’s pre-1905 rights 

in the area.* Ambassador Harriman felt that the Yalta agreement 

usefully defined and limited Soviet claims: “It would have been a 

simple matter for the Scviets to give expression to popular demand by 

establishing People’s Republics of Manchuria and Inner Mongolia.”® 

Since the area had not been controlled by Chiang Kai-shek for many 

years Admiral Leahy believed that in exchange for Soviet support in 

the war, Stalin had received only “misnamed” concessions.® 

Indeed, the agreement seemed quite advantageous to the United 

States. Besides the then vital promise of an early Soviet declaration of 

war, Stalin’s support for Chiang Kai-shek was regarded as extremely 

important. China was in many ways a mirror image of Poland; in both 

countries if the great powers chose to support their own dissident polit- 

ical groups, the result was likely to be civil strife and international 

tension. Stalin needed Western support for the Soviet-oriented War- 

saw government and Roosevelt needed Stalin’s support for Chiang’s 

Nationalist regime. After Yalta, American policy makers felt there 

was a good chance that—as in 1927—the Soviet Union would sup- 
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port Chiang Kai-shek in his struggle against the Communists.? The 

American ambassador to China, convinced that the Soviet Union con- 

trolled the Chinese Communists,* was delighted when they agreed to 

take a subordinate role in Chiang’s official delegation to the San Fran- 

cisco United Nations Conference.® Stalin made no effort to raise the 

status of the Communists, although at precisely the same time he was 

trying (unsuccessfully) to get Western recognition of the Warsaw 

government’s right to represent Poland at San Francisco.’° 

Stalin also showed every sign of following through on the pledge to 

enter the Japanese war. On April 5 the Soviet Union publicly declared 

its intention to denounce the Soviet-Japanese nonaggression pact." 

Even the most casual observers recognized, as the New York Herald 

Tribune commented, “Russia is preparing to enter the war in the Far 

East.”’? Ten days later Stalin reaffirmed the Soviet commitment to 

become a belligerent in a conversation with General Patrick J. Hurley, 

the American Special Representative and Ambassador to China. The 

Soviet Premier underscored both his intention to support Chiang and 

his plan to enter the war two to three months after the defeat of 

Germany. (This was the length of time it would take to transport 

sufficient supplies and troops from Europe across the Trans-Siberian 

Railroad.)** Although it was necessary to maintain secrecy to pre- 

vent Japanese intelligence from learning of the Soviet plan, Stalin and 

Hurley delineated a specific understanding to implement the accord. It 

was agreed that the President would arrange to have the Chinese 

Foreign Minister, T. V. Soong, come to Moscow by June 15. At that 

time treaties embodying Stalin’s pledge of support for Chiang, and 

Chiang’s approval of the Yalta arrangements for Outer Mongolia and 

Manchuria would be negotiated. Then Stalin would declare war.** 

In the first days of his Presidency, Truman did nothing to alter 

Roosevelt’s commitments. On April 19, a week after taking office, he 

told T. V. Soong that he should go to Moscow “as soon as he could, so 

that relations between China and Russia could be established on a 

firmer basis.”!> Three days later the President reaffirmed Roosevelt’s 

Far Eastern pledges in a discussion with Molotov. He “intended to 

carry out all the agreements made by President Roosevelt.”?® 

Even as Truman was making these pledges, however, American 

specialists on Soviet affairs began to argue the need for a “reconsider- 

ation” of Roosevelt’s agreement. Cn April 19, Harriman told the State 
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he ® Depumene he believed Hurley's judgment of Stalin “too op- 
 timistic.” Harriman believed Stalin would Creaitely support the 

~ Communists against Chiang.'? Similarly, General Deane persuaded 

the Joint Chiefs of Staff that Russian aid for an invasion of Japan was 

no longer needed and that it would involve political problems.* By 

April 24 the Joint Staff Planners had gone so far as to advise: “If 

‘Russia enters the war her forces will probably be the first into Man- 

churia. This will raise the question of introducing at least token U.S. 

forces into Asia.”!® Finally, George F. Kennan, the chargé d’affaires 

in Moscow, and a good friend of Harriman and Deane, cabled a 

powerful argument in support of a new firm approach. His position 

was delineated in a State Department summary presented to the Presi- 

dent on April 24: | 

Kennan . . . calls attention to the fact that words have a different 

meaning to the Russians. Stalin is prepared to accept the principle of 

unification of Chinese armed forces and the principle of a united 
China, since he knows that these conditions are feasible only on terms 
acceptable to the Chinese Communists. Stalin is also prepared to 

accept the idea of a free and democratic China, since a free China 
means to him a China in which there is a minimum of foreign influ- 

ence other than Russian. Kennan is convinced that Soviet policy will 
_remain a policy aimed at the achievement of maximum power with 
minimum responsibility and will involve the exertion of pressure in 
various areas. He recommends that we study with clinical objectivity 
the real character and implications of Russian Far Eastern aims. . . . 

The chargé’s final argument dovetailed with the advice of Harriman 

and Deane: “It would be tragic if our anxiety for Russian support in 

the Far East were to lead us into an undue reliance on Russian 

aid.”1° 

These views reached the President at precisely the same time he chose 

__ to force a showdown on the Polish issue. He was warned of the polit- 

. ically disadvantageous consequences of Soviet military operations on 

the China mainland at the same time that he was told that Soviet entry 

into the war was no longer essential for an invasion. Immediately the 

President was faced with a twofold question: Should the United States 

encourage Russia to declare war, or would it be better to procrasti- 

* See above, p. 31. 
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discourage Soviet entry indefinitely—or at least until Stalin had given 

specific assurances that he would respect Nationalist sovereignty in 

Manchuria and North China. 

A May 10 cable from General Hurley precipitated a major discus- 

sion of the issue. Hurley reported that he had discussed the general 

Far Eastern situation with Chiang Kai-shek. He believed Chiang knew 

most of the terms of the Yalta accord and was certain that the Chinese 

leader would agree in substance to all of its provisions. There might 

only be problems about the use of words such as “pre-eminent” and 

“lease,” which had especially unfavorable connotations in China. Hur- 

ley said that Chiang had already received reports of large-scale Soviet 

troop movements across the Trans-Siberian Railroad. With specula- 

tion rife in Chungking, he advised that it was time for Truman to 

allow him to reveal the Yalta agreement.”° 

Hurley’s cable required a decision as to whether the Soviet Union 

should be encouraged to enter the war. Harriman, about to return to 

Moscow, argued that the United States should not fulfill the Yalta 

agreement—or at least not until new Russian pledges had been ob- 

tained. On May 11 he told a meeting in the Secretary of the Navy’s 

office that “it was time to come to a conclusion about the necessity for 

the early entrance of Russia into the Japanese war.” Deeply pessimis- 

tic in his view of Soviet intentions, he told Forrestal that once the Red 

Army entered the war “Russian influence would move in quickly and 

toward ultimate domination . . . There could be no illusion about 

anything such as a ‘free China’ once the Russians got in. . . The two 

or three hundred millions in that country would march when the 

Kremlin ordered.”*1 Later the same day, Harriman told Admiral 

Leahy that Russia would enter the war “and will in the end exercise 

control over whatever government may be established in Manchuria 

and Outer Mongolia.””? 

The next day Harriman argued his case at the State Department. 

Before going back to Moscow he wished to have a precise definition of 

the American view of Soviet entry into the war. He posed these ques- 

tions: “(1) The Yalta Agreement: Should it be re-examined? .. . 

(2) How urgent is the necessity for quick Russian participation in the 

war?. . .” Harriman also wanted to know whether Soviet occupation 

of Japan would be accepted, what arrangements would be made for a 
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trusteeship in Korea, and how the United States ished to handle ae 

number of other minor Far Eastern questions.”* 

The meeting agreed that Harriman’s points should be formulated 

precisely “for discussion with the President.”** Working in great 

haste to prepare for Harriman’s return to Moscow, on the same day 

Acting Secretary of State Grew produced a formal exposition of the 

problem. In parallel letters to the Secretaries of War and the Navy, 

Grew stated that before fulfilling the Yalta agreement, the State De- 

__ partment thought it “desirable” to obtain additional commitments and 

clarifications from Stalin; the Soviet government should agree not 

only to support Chiang Kai-shek, but also to influence the Chinese 

Communists to yield to the Nationalist government; the Soviet gov- 

ernment should reaffirm support for Chinese sovereignty in Manchuria 

and for a four-power trusteeship for Korea; the Soviet government 

should also agree to grant emergency landing rights for commercial 

planes in the Kurile Islands. 

Grew declared that the State Department wished to withhold ful- 

fillment of the existing Yalta accord as a bargaining tactic to obtain 

the new commitments. Aware that this would be breaking Roosevelt’s 

agreement, Grew wanted to know whether there were military objec- 

_ tions to such an approach: “Is the entry of the Soviet Union. . . of 

such vital interest to the United States as to preclude any attempt . 

to obtain Soviet agreement to certain desirable political objectives? 

. . Should the Yalta decision in regard to Soviet political desires in 

the Far East be reconsidered, or carried into effect in whole, or in 

part?” Finally, should a Soviet demand for participation in the Japa- 

nese occupation be granted?**> 

Truman did not wait for a judgment as to the military value of 

Soviet entry into the war. Sympathetic to Harriman and others who 

predicted the consequences of Soviet military operations on the China 

mainland, Truman did not wish to encourage Soviet entry if he could 

help it. On May 12 he cabled Hurley that it was not “appropriate at 

the present time” to fulfill the agreement.”” On May 14, in a talk with 

*On May 19, 1945, Acting Secretary Russia’s orbit, to be followed in due course 
Grew passed a sleepless night and, mulling by China and eventually Japan. .. .” (Grew, 
over the international situation, confided his Turbulent Era, Il, pp. 144546.) 
private fears to paper: “Once Russia is in 
the war against Japan, then Mongolia, Man- { Later his view changed slightly. See be- 
churia, and Korea will gradually slip into low, p. 120. 
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T. V. Soong, the President held back information on the Yalta accord 

and refused to respond to questions regarding the role of the Soviet 

Union in the Far East. Soong, anxious for Stalin’s help against the 

Communists, told the President he thought it very important that he 

should “proceed to Moscow to discuss this situation with the Soviet 

authorities . . .” But now Truman’s earlier advice that Soong should 

leave “as soon as he could” had been revised. At the suggestion of 

Grew, it was decided to postpone consideration of his trip. As the 

Acting Secretary summarized the discussion, “this matter was left 

open.”?8 

Thus, Harriman had achieved his primary objective: he had 

blocked immediate fulfillment of the Yalta agreement. While senior 

Officials debated a further course, the United States would not give up 

the bargaining counters it held by virtue of its influential position 

with the Chinese government. Moreover, the President’s decision, 

like his decision in favor of a showdown over Poland, certainly 

showed that he was not anxious to encourage Soviet participation in 

the war. There was a good chance that he might be persuaded to 

continue to refuse instructions to complete America’s half of the Yalta 

bargain. ~ 

Inevitably, Truman’s May 14 decision to postpone fulfillment of the 

Far Eastern agreement also opened the way for the Secretary of War’s 

strategy of delay. When Stimson received the State Department in- 

quiry, his response was instantaneous: “The questions cut very deep. 

. . . In my opinion [they] are powerfully connected with our success 

with [the atomic bomb].”*? His reasoning followed his earlier advice 

on the Polish question: It would be wise to delay all negotiations until 

the atomic bomb added its power to the American bargaining posi- 

tion. Now it was time, as he told McCloy on May 14, “to keep our 

mouths shut.”®° The next day, discussing the “questions which Grew 

had propounded to us in relation to the Yalta Conference and our 

relations with Russia,” Stimson tried desperately to convince Harri- 

man, McCloy, Forrestal, and Grew of the need for delay. He sum- 

marized his argument in a long diary entry: 

I tried to point out the difficulties which existed and I thought it was 

premature to ask those questions; at least we were not yet in a position 

to answer them. The trouble is that the President has now promised 

apparently to meet Stalin and Churchill on the first of July and at that 
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thur and various other parts of North China, and also the relations of 
China to us. Over any such tangled weave of problems [the atomic- 
bomb] secret would be dominant and yet we will not know until after 
that time probably, until after that meeting, whether this is a weapon 
in our hands or not. We think it will be, shortly afterwards, but it 
seems a terrible thing to gamble with such big stakes in diplomacy 
without having your master card in your hand. The best we could 

do today was to persuade Harriman not to go back until we had had 
time to think over these things a little bit harder.** 

POSTPONING A RECONSIDERATION OF. 

FAR EASTERN ISSUES 

ONCE MORE the same question had been posed: Should the 

United States raise delicate political problems for negotiation now, or 

later? Although the still-untested weapon might add great power to 

the American bargaining position, the State Department felt the only 

absolutely certain bargaining counters derived from American in- 

fluence with Chiang Kai-shek. Negotiations should take place before 

Russia entered the war. The War Department, on the other hand, 

argued the wisdom of waiting until the “master card” was available 

before attempting to “have it out with Russia.” 

Contrary to a commonly held opinion,* the War Department did 

not object to raising the political questions because it feared this 

- might jeopardize Soviet assistance in the war against Japan. Although 

some military leaders still wished for an early Russian declaration of 

war, at the end of April Truman’s handling of the Polish issue had 

established a new principle: American political objectives were worth 

more than Soviet help for the invasion strategy. This judgment was 

_ reaffirmed when the Secretary of War answered Grew’s questions with 

the declaration: “Military considerations . . . do not preclude an at- 

tempt by the United States Government to obtain Soviet agreement to 

desirable political objectives in the Far East.”*? Stimson’s official War 

Department assessment was supported by General Marshall, Secretary 

Forrestal, and Assistant Secretary of War McCloy.*? 

* See Feis, Churchill, Roosevelt, Stalin, p. 
37. 
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For this reason, bolstered his argument for delay not with — 
dire warnings about the consequences of losing Soviet help in the war, 

but with the argument that America was in a relatively weak diplo- 

matic bargaining position at the present juncture. He made it clear 

that without the strength of the new weapon, the power relationships 

in the Far East were much more favorable to Russia than to the 

United States: “The concessions . . . are generally matters which are 

within the military power of Russia to obtain regardless of U.S. mili- © 

tary action short of war.” His official conclusion was a study in under- 

statement: “It is not believed that much good will come of a rediscus- 

sion at this time.”°* 

Although a “rediscussion” raising the threat of a refusal to fulfill 

the Yalta agreement seemed futile, Stimson had no objection to be- 

ginning an exploration of the Soviet position. He concurred in the 

desirability of obtaining the commitments and clarifications, but ar- 

gued against pressing the American position too far. Finally, of 

course, Stimson pointed out that it was much too early to raise the 

question of Soviet occupation of Japan.*° 

With the State Department urging an immediate reconsideration 

and the War Deparment counseling delay, the decision was now 

brought directly to the President. Each side pressed its case once 

again; Harriman, about to leave for Moscow, told Truman on May 15 

that he felt it important to have an understanding of the American 

position before he met with the Russians. Truman agreed in general 

terms, but took no stand on the matters in dispute.*® The next day 

Stimson met with the President to discuss diplomatic timing.*” There is 

little doubt that it was also at this meeting that he expressed the deep 

concern of his previous night’s diary entry—his awareness that a 

heads-of-government meeting in the first week of July would occur a 

few weeks too early to know the atomic-test results.** 

Presently available records do not show to what extent the Secretary 

of War voiced his view that it would be “‘a terrible thing to gamble with 

such big stakes in diplomacy without having your master card in your 

hand”*®that is, to what extent he urged not only the general principle 

of delay, but specifically that the meeting be postponed beyond the 

end of June. They do show, however, that by the end of his conver- 

sation with the President, all of the Secretary of War’s fears had 
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been dispelled.*° When he left Truman, he was satisfied that the 

President fully agreed with him as to strategy, and in a memoran- » 

dum written later the same day he expressed his approval of Truman’s 

approach.*! Truman’s subsequent actions show both that, as in the 

Polish case, the President chose Stimson’s advice over Harriman’s, and 

that Truman agreed to an additional postponement.* 

There was very little Truman had to do to implement the strategy 

of delay in the Far East; the essence of Stimson’s view was to do 

nothing until after the atomic test. Earlier, when Truman had agreed 

to reverse his initial decision on Poland, it had been necessary to 

send a mission of conciliation to allay the suspicions caused by the 

premature showdown. Now, however, Stimson asked only that “we 

keep our mouths shut”—that is, that the President stall. Thus, on the 

one hand, Truman had only to continue to withhold instructions to 

fulfill the Yalta conditions of Soviet entry into the war, and on the 

other, he had only to continue to refuse the State Department’s sug- 

gestion that the threat of a “rediscussion” be used to obtain new Soviet 

concessions. . 
Following Stimson’s advice with great precision, the President did 

absolutely nothing. Hurley received no instructions to inform Chiang 

Kai-shek of the Yalta agreement, and the State Department was not 

allowed to initiate a new démarche. Two and a half weeks after Tru- 

man began to procrastinate, he once more reviewed strategy with the 

Secretary of War. Meeting with Stimson on June 6, the President 

reaffirmed his agreement that the issues would not be settled until 

after the atomic bomb had been demonstrated, saying he hoped that. 

at that time the Russians would offer cooperation in Manchuria as one 

of a number of diplomatic quid pro quos for taking them into partner- 

ship to control the new atomic force.** 

During the weeks Truman was holding off Ambassador Hurley and 

the State Department, Stimson tried to speed up the tempo of work on 

the atomic bomb at the Los Alamos Laboratories.** “We were under 

* From Stimson’s May 15, 1945, diary en-‘ 
try (quoted on p. 97) it is clear that he was 
under the impression that Truman had 
definitely committed himself to a meeting on 
July 1, As has been shown, the President had 
only suggested an indefinite date after June 
30. In the previous chapter I have described 
some of the conversation between Stimson 
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show how the President pleased the Secre- 
tary of War by accepting his general strategy 
toward the meeting. Here, I wish to stress 
that in the same conversation Stimson’s 
specific worry about whether the meeting was 
definitely fixed for July 1 was also dispelled. 
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incredible pressure to get it done before the Potsdam meeting,” J. 

Robert Oppenheimer, director of the Laboratory, has testified.*# For 

his part, the President tried to postpone his meeting with Stalin once 

again. Altering his earlier suggestion that the heads of government 

might meet any time after June 30, he cabled Churchill in the third 

week of May to state that he could not yet name a date for the 

meeting but that “I may, within the next two weeks, have more infor- 

mation bearing on a date.”*° The contractors supplying firing circuits 

and molds for casting the nuclear explosive had fallen two weeks 

behind in deliveries; thus, the test would take place two weeks later 

than originally expected.*® With the latest information available, on 

May 28 Truman instructed Hopkins to suggest that the Big Three 

meet on July 15.47 Thus, when a week later Stimson warned of the 

“greatest complication” if the bomb had not been “laid on” Japan by 

the time of the meeting, Truman reassured him that he “had post- 

poned that until the 15th of July on purpose to give us more time.”*® 

This new delay of the Potsdam meeting enraged Churchill. The 

Prime Minister had never understood why the President wished to 

hold off so long and now—still wishing to maintain pressure on the 

Russians—he was furious. Churchill cabled both Truman and Stalin, 

urging that the meeting be held “in the very near future . . . about 

the middle of June.”*® On May 30, Stalin replied that it was Truman, 

not he, who had suggested the July 15 date. Churchill’s reply was 

filled with urgency: “I consider that July 15th, repeat July, the month 

after June, is much too late. . . . I have proposed June 15th, repeat 

June, the month before July, but if that is not possible, why not July 

1st, July 2nd, or July 3rd?” Stalin’s response was brief: “I should like 

to tell you again that July 15 was suggested by President Truman 

. . .” It was only when faced with the united stand of Truman and 

Stalin that Churchill yielded to the frustrating and seemingly inex- 

plicable dictates of the strategy of delay.” 

A WAY TO PREVENT RED ARMY CONTROL 

OF MANCHURIA 

ALTHOUGH STIMSON had opposed a “rediscussion” based on a 

threat to withhold completion of the Yalta understanding, he had raised 

no objection to an exploration of the Soviet position vis-a-vis the Far 
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beens on this narrow point, einen instructed Hopkins ‘to 

undertake a third task while in Moscow—on May 28 he and Harri- 

man sought a clarification of the Soviet attitude on the future treat- 

ment of China, Manchuria, and Korea.*! Hopkins’s report to the 

President summarized the favorable results of the discussion: 

Stalin made categorical statement that he would do everything he 

i could to promote unification of China under the leadership of Chiang 
Kai-shek. . . . He specifically stated no Communist leader was strong 
enough to unify China. . He repeated ali his statements made 
at Yalta, that he wanted a unified and stable China . . . to control 

all of Manchuria. . . . He stated categorically that he had no terri- 
torial claims against China and mentioned specifically Manchuria and 
Sinkiang and that he would respect Chinese sovereignty in all the 

areas his troops. entered. . . . Stalin stated that he would welcome 

representatives of the Generalissimo to be with his troops entering 

Manchuria in order to facilitate the organization of Chinese adminis- 
tration in Manchuria. . . . Stalin agreed with America’s “open 
door” policy and went out of his way to indicate that the United 
States was the only power with the resources to aid China economi- 
cally after the war. He observed that Russia would have all it could 
do to provide for the internal economy of the Soviet Union. .. . 
Stalin agreed that there should be a trusteeship for Korea. . . .* © 

These assurances were all that could be asked. The exploratory 

talks had obtained the objectives sought and even from the State De- 

partment’s point of view had rendered an immediate “rediscussion” of 

the Yalta agreement unnecessary. On purely diplomatic grounds there 

was now far less reason to consider withholding fulfillment of the 

Yalta accord.+ Although it was impossible to know whether Stalin 

would honor his pledges, both Hopkins and Harriman were optimistic. 

“We were very encouraged by conference on the Far East,” Hopkins 

cabled; and Harriman added, “The talks . . . were of real value, 

particularly Stalin’s agreement to take up . . . the political matters 

* The emphasized sentence was thought to 
be the most important point, for it would 
mean a dominant role for the Nationalist 
Government rather than the Communist 
Chinese. (Conference of Berlin, I, p. 62.) 

+ For this reason it is not possible to 
know for certain whether Truman might 
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have changed his position and permitted the 
State Department to threaten a breach of 
the Yalta agreement. Even while Hopkins 
and Harriman were in Moscow, the State 
and War Departments struggled over the is- 
sue. (Feis, China Tangle, p. 308fn.) More 
light may be shed on this point when access 
to all the relevant documents is allowed. 
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. . and also his agreement to allow the Generalis- 
simo’s representatives to go into Manchuria with the Russian 
troops); a 28 

Even though he felt the ultimate settlement of the Manchurian 

issues could not be completed until the atomic bomb had been demon- 

strated, Truman was delighted with these reports. In a diary entry at 

this time Stimson records: “[The President] asked me if I had heard 

of the accomplishment which Harry Hopkins had made in Moscow 

and when I said I had not he told me there was a promise in writing 

. . that Manchuria should remain fully Chinese except for a ninety- 

nine-year lease of Port Arthur and the-settlement of Dairen which we 

had hold of. . . .”*54 . 

At the same time Hopkins pleased the President with his report on 

the Far East he also cabled that Stalin had repeated the pledge that the 

Red Army would be prepared to march by August 8, but that no 

troops would be committed until agreement on the basis of the Yalta 

accord had been reached with China. Stalin suggested that T. V. 

Soong come to Moscow as soon as possible. Hopkins advised: “This 

procedure seems most desirable from our point of view. . . . He left 

no doubt in our mind that he intends to attack during August. It is 

therefore important that Soong come here not later than July 1st.”°* 

Truman agreed to send Soong to Moscow to begin discussions with 

Stalin before the beginning of July.** Despite this decision, however, 

he did not decide to fulfill Roosevelt's Yalta pledges.+ On June 4 he 

informed Hurley in general terms that a number of problems relating 

to the maintenance of a democratic government in China would be 

dealt with when the heads of government met.*" And, as we shall see, 

he continued to follow the strategy of delay, refusing to settle the final 

negotiations until the atomic bomb had been shown.t Although this 

decision initially followed the rather simple logic that the new weapon 

would be a “master card” in the ultimate diplomacy, there was now a 

second reason for wishing to delay the negotiations. If a Soviet declara- 

tion of war could be postponed, it now became obvious that the atomic 

* This is apparently an exaggeration. No agreed to send Soong, he also agreed to ful- 
record of a written agreement has been fill the Yalta accord. As will be shown, the 
found, nor does such an agreement reappear deduction does not follow from the fact. 
in later negotiations on these points. (See Feis’s error, Between War and Peace, 

+I have emphasized this point because pp. 113-14.) 
some have thought that because Truman t See below, pp. 192-194. 
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bomb might end the war before the Red Army crossed the Manchurian 

border. Thus, not only would the bomb influence the negotiations, 

but—far more important—it might provide a way to prevent Soviet 

military control of the area. 

In fact, the Soong mission now became intimately bound up with 

the use of the atomic bomb and the desire to prevent the Red Army 

from entering Manchuria. This subtle and complex question will be 

taken up in due course. But, for a proper understanding of American 

strategy, it must first be understood that, contrary to the opinion of 

some writers,* the President’s seemingly conciliatory decision to send 

Soong to Moscow (and his subsequent attitude toward the mission) 

did not derive primarily from a feeling that great care had to be taken 

for fear that Stalin might delay his entry into the war. On the con- 

trary, by mid-May this fear (which had indeed troubled Washington at 

an earlier date) hac all but disappeared. In its place there was now 

almost unanimous agreement that the Red Army would attack in mid- 

August. 

Tronically, Truman’s showdown over Poland had provided the best 

test of Soviet intentions in the Far East: although General Marshall 

had warned that a tough approach might jeopardize an early declara- 

tion of war against Japan, in fact, his judgment had been proven 

wrong.} Even at the height of the tensions over Poland, there was 

every sign that Russia would enter the war as soon as sufficient num- 

bers of troops had been transported across the Trans-Siberian Rail- 

road. Before Hopkins left for Moscow, and before there was any 

break in the tense atmosphere, Stimson noted in his diary (on May 

15) that there was no longer much doubt about Stalin’s plan to enter 

the war at an early date.*® 

* Feis consistently presents the unsup- against Japan. As will be shown, however, 
ported opinion that “the surviving wish to 
have Russian cooperation in the war contin- 
ued to constrain American officials in their 
differences with the Soviet Union over vari- 
ous European situations.” 
point in one accepted interpretation of this 
period; those who have not taken proper ac- 
count of the atomic bomb’s role in the di- 
plomacy of delay must explain why Truman 
adopted a conciliatory attitude during May 
and June. The easiest, but incorrect, explana- 
tion is the one offered by Feis: Truman did 
not want to lose Russian help in the war 
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This is a vital, 

not only was there no longer a fear that 
Russian help would be lost by political ac- 
tion, but Truman hoped to delay Russian 
entry. Thus, as explained, the Hopkins mis- 
sion and Truman’s conciliatory approach de- 
rived not from military considerations, but 
from the desire to delay a diplomatic con- 
frontation with Stalin until the atomic bomb 
had been shown. (Feis, Churchill, Roosevelt, 
Stalin, pp. 599-600; Japan Subdued, p. 14; 
Ehrman, Grand Strategy, p. 294. See also 
my Appendix II.) 

+ See above, p. 51. 
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Indeed, for some time Marshall seems to have been almost alone in 

his cautious estimate of Stalin’s intentions; his was the conservative 

Army view (as Admiral Leahy has observed), which carefully and 

skeptically examined every form of assistance which could be added to 

the invasion strategy.°® But both before and after the showdown, the 

fear that Stalin might delay his entry into the war does not seem to 

have dominated the thinking of other senior policy makers. Through- 

out the last half of the war, at Teheran, at Moscow, at Yalta, Stalin 

had promised to join the fight against Japan two to three months after 

the defeat of Germany. After October 1944 Churchill had “no 

doubt whatever” that Stalin would declare war as soon as Germany 

was beaten.*t And Roosevelt told Harriman, “I have at no time en- 

tertained any doubts whatever” as to Stalin’s intentions.” 

Even those who did have doubts were greatly reassured by the April 

Soviet notice of intention to denounce the nonaggression pact with 

Japan.® As we have seen, in mid-April Stalin explicitly reaffirmed his 

plan to declare war two to three months after German surrender.“ 

On April 22 Molotov made it clear to Truman that Russia had lost no 

interest in the Yalta understanding. The two American representa- 

tives in Moscow, Ambassador Harriman and General Deane, re- 

peatedly counseled that Russia would enter the war at an early date 

because of its own interests in the Far East.** Secretary Forrestal, 

Acting Secretary of State Grew, Secretary Stimson, all agreed with 

this estimate.*’ There were continuous reports of Soviet troop move- 

ments to the Far East and by mid-May even Marshall seems to have 

been won over. After a talk with the cautious General, Stimson re- 

corded that “we” now think Russia will enter the war at an early 

date.** A week later Marshall endorsed Stimson’s assurance that 

there was no danger that raising the political issues would jeopardize a 

Russian declaration of war.® Hence, Hopkins’s May 28 report that 

Stalin “left no doubt in our mind that he intends to attack during 

August” only confirmed the existing consensus. *” 

Thus, it is clear that after mid-June the American approach to the 

question of Soviet entry into the Japanese war was no longer domi- 

* Note also the phrasing of Grew’s May _ pan,” p. 69.) Compare Churchill’s May 14 
12 letter: ‘‘ . . . In connection with the po- message to Halifax: “Having regard to their 
litical effects of the expected Soviet entry 

” (Department of Defense, “Entry of 
the "Soviet Union into the War against Ja- 

[Russia’s] own great interests in the Far 
East, they will not need to be begged...” 
(Churchill, Triumph and Tragedy, p. 576.) 
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: oh nated by a fay that Stalin iieht delay ntl 
~ been done, as Marshall had once feared. Secretary of the Ney For- 

restal was probably closer to the truth when he later commented that 

“fifty divisions could not have kept them out.”"* The real question 

was whether the war could be ended before the Red Army—and, 

inevitably, Soviet influence—flowed from Siberia across the Man- 

churian border. As they pondered this question, American policy 

makers had to consider Japan’s capacity to sustain the hostilities and 

to decide whether or not the United States could afford to dispense 

with a Soviet declaration of war. 

From any rational military point of view, Japan was already de- 

feated. By early summer the better part of the Imperial Navy had been 

sunk and the Imperial Air Force had been reduced to the impotence 

of sporadic kamikaze attacks.”? B-29 bombers met only limited re- 

sistance as they struck at targets of choice. Between March 9 and June 

15 almost seven thousand bomber missions were dispatched for urban 

incendiary attacks; losses amounted to only 136 planes, an average of 

a mere 1.9 per cent of the sorties.7* Japanese morale slumped after 

repeated poundings, in the course of which the greatest single man- 

made disaster in history was recorded: the March 10 raid on Tokyo 

resulted in 124,000 casualties.“ General Curtis E. LeMay’s grisly 

boast was only a slight exaggeration: the bombing raids were “driving 

them back to the stone age. . .”’° But this was only the beginning. 

With the capitulation of Germany, it was clear that the full force of 

American and British power would be focused on only one target.”* 

Now Japan, with a productive capacity only 10 per cent as large as 

America’s, would bear the brunt of the best military resources ac- 

cumulated during the European war.” Clearly, defeat was inevitable. 

In fact, Japanese leaders had already reached this conclusion; their 

_ main reason for continuing the struggle was a desire to try to modify 

the rigid unconditional-surrender formula. They hoped that by pur- 

chasing the good offices of the Soviet Union with Japanese-controlled 

concessions on the China mainland they might improve the surrender 

terms.”* But here too there were ominous signs; Soviet denunciation 

of the nonaggression pact raised grave doubts that this frail hope 

could be fulfilled.” 

In this situation American policy makers recognized the crucial 
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~ role a declaration of war by Russia would play. It would close the one 
remaining loophole which allowed Japanese leaders to find hope in a 

continuation of the war. Indeed, with Japanese power and morale 

crumbling, the continued though fading Soviet neutrality was the 

proverbial straw to the drowning man; both Japanese military and 

political leaders, for different reasons, rested their hopes and their 

strategies on the next move of the Soviet Union. The military thought 

possibly that Russia might be persuaded to join with Japan, but, more 

realistically, they hoped for Soviet neutrality. The political leaders 

thought possibly that Russian neutrality might be maintained, and 

hoped that Russian mediation might end the war with less stringent 

surrender terms.*®° 

Although Japanese peace feelers had been sent out as early as Sep- 

tember 1944*" (and Chiang Kai-shek had been approached regard- 

ing surrender possibilities in December 1944),** the real effort to end 

the war began in the spring of 1945. This effort stressed the role of the 

Soviet Union. In April a new Japanese government headed by the 

moderate Admiral Suzuki was formed. The man chosen to be foreign 

minister—Shigenori Togo—was carefully selected; he was well 

known for his opposition to the war and his friendliness toward the 

Soviet Union (he was a former ambassador to Moscow). Togo ac-— 

cepted the post on the understanding that he would be free to try to 

end the war,®* and immediately the new government initiated a major 

diplomatic démarche which, subtly straddling the narrow agreement 

between the various Japanese political and military groups, delicately 

carried Japan’s last hope forward in exploratory talks with Russia.** 

It is not the purpose of this essay to analyze the various Japanese 

maneuvers based on the hope of Russian help.* These continued from 

April until the end of the war,®* and since the United States had 

broken the Japanese codes much earlier in the war, they were known 

to the highest American authorities.°° The important point for our 

purposes is that the increasing dependence of Japan upon the attitude 

of the Soviet Union had major implications for American policy. Al- 

though the April 24 report that Soviet help was no longer needed for 

* For more information on these matters, sions. Note especially Butow, pp. 60, 61, 65, 
see Butow, Japan’s Decision to Surrender; 66, 67, 71, 72, 78-80, 83-91, 110, 123; Kase 
Kase, Journey to the Missouri; Togo, The pp. 84; Jones, pp. 126-32; Zacharias, pp. 
Cause of Japan; F. C. Jones, et. al., The 359-60. 
Far East 1942-46; Zacharias, Secret Mis- 
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_an invasion was endorsed by the Joint Chiefs on. Maye 10, 87 it now 

appeared that a Soviet declaration in and of itself might shock Japan — 

into surrender long before an invasion would have to be launched. 

The political and psychological value—as distinct from the purely 

military value—of Russian entry into the war had long been acknowl- 

edged by Churchill. As early as September 1944 the Prime Minister 

had argued that Japan would surrender once faced by the combined 

strength of the three powers.**® However, American policy makers 

had been reluctant to rely upon the shock value of Russian entry. For 

months, as they cautiously plotted an invasion, they had refrained 

from overly optimistic assessments of the possibility of surrender.® 

But by the late spring of 1945, it was impossible to overlook this 

opportunity to end the war without an invasion. 

In mid-April the Joint Intelligence Committee reported that Japa- 

_ nese leaders were looking for a way to modify the surrender terms to 

end the war.®® The State Department was convinced the Emperor 

was actively seeking a way to stop the fighting.°* By April 24 the 

Joint Staff Planners cautiously suggested that an invasion “threat in 

itself” might bring unconditional surrender.®? The War Department 

too was impressed by the changed Japanese attitude.** In late April 

_ the chief United States Army planners initiated studies on “what we do 

if Japan decides to surrender on V-E Day.”®* Admiral Leahy was 

convinced the war could be ended long before an invasion would have 

to be launched.*® Secretary Forrestal and Acting Secretary Grew 

believed that a statement reassuring the Japanese that “unconditional 

surrender” did not mean dethronement of the Emperor would prob- 

ably bring an end to the war.®* Secretary Stimson thought that even a 

powerful warning by itself might bring capitulation. He added that 

guarantees for the Emperor would make the prospect for quick sur- 

render much better.°’ 

Within Japan, the destruction of the last of Japanese naval power 

and the loss of Okinawa—the first major island of the home chain— 

strengthened the hand of the moderates urging peace.®® By mid-June 

six members of the Supreme War Council had secretly entrusted For- 

* The judgment was held consistentiy for | nese would probably wish to get out on al- 
almost a year; on July 17, 1945, General most any terms short of the dethronement 
Ismay reported a Combined Intelligence Staff of the Emperor.” (Quoted in Ehrman, 
estimate to Churchill that “when Russia Grand Strategy, p. 291.) 
came into the war against Japan, the Japa- 
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eign Minister Togo with the task of approaching the Soviet Union 

“with a view to terminating the war if possible by September.”®® By 

early July the United States had intercepted messages from Togo to the 

Japanese ambassador in Moscow which showed that the Emperor 

himself had now taken a personal hand in the matter and had directed 

that the Soviet Union be asked to help end the war.*1°° The Em- 

peror’s intervention confirmed earlier intelligence estimates, and it 

unquestionably signaled Japan’s willingness to surrender. Forrestal 

termed the telegrams “real evidence of a Japanese desire to get out of 

the war.”*°! Grew has confirmed the importance of the Emperor’s 

intervention; for American leaders, as Leahy put it, “were certain that 

the Mikado could stop the war with a royal word.”?” 

As the Japanese position deteriorated, on May 21, Secretary Stim- 

son advised that a Russian declaration of war would have a “profound 

military effect.” He ordered further studies of the problem. As these 

were being prepared, Stalin reported to Hopkins that there were re- 

newed Japanese feelers aimed at securing Soviet help to end the 

war.'®? In early June, Stimson received a report from the War De- 

partment’s Operations Division which concluded: 

Like [that of] the Germans, [Japanese] protracted resistance is based 

upon the hope of achieving a conditional surrender. . . . Probably it © 
will take Russian entry into the war, coupled with a landing, or immi- 
ment threat of landing . . . to convince them of the hopelessness of 
their position.1°4 

By mid-June even the extremely cautious General Marshall advised 

the President that “the impact of Russian entry on the already hope- 

less Japanese may well be the decisive action levering them into capitu- 

lation at that time or shortly thereafter if we land in Japan.”?” In 

early July the Combined Intelligence Committee was even more 

definite—“An entry of the Soviet Union into the war would finally 

convince the Japanese of the inevitability of complete defeat.”+*°° 

*Truman’s recent declaration that he 
knew of these approaches removes former 
doubts as to whether the intelligence infor- 
mation reached the highest officials. (Con- 
ference of Berlin, I, p. 873.) 

+ The complicated and continuously chang- 
ing military picture has been misunderstood 

by almost every important observer. Ehr- 
man’s analysis, which recognizes that Ameri- 
can policy makers were not overly anxious 
for Russian help, is the best. However, Ehr- 
man misses the two radical shifts in Ameri- 
can military thinking; he fails to give proper 
weight to the April 24 judgment that Russia 
(Continued on next page) 
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oF war were based, of course, upon the Doane that the J apanese 

would be forced to accept “unconditional surrender.” However, by 

_ the end of May, every important senior American policy maker, in- 

- cluding the President, had decided that, if necessary, the rigid surren- 

der formula would be substantially modified to assure the Japanese 

that the Emperor would retain his throne.1°? As Acting Secretary of 

State Grew noted on May 29, it was only “the question of timing 

{that] was the nub of the whole matter.”°° As early as April 18 the 

Joint Planners had reported that a clarification of the surrender terms 

in itself might be all that was needed to achieve surrender.’” 

Throughout May this judgment was continuously reinforced so that 

by June it was clear to American leaders that either a Russian declara- 

tion of war or a change in the surrender terms was likely to bring 

capitulation.1*° Almost certainly a combination of the two measures 

would stop the fighting immediately. 
(It is not my purpose to argue whether either or both of these 

measures would, in fact, have ended the war. What J wish to show is 

that American leaders believed such a result was likely. Hence, their 

- decision to use the atomic bomb was made at a time when the best 

intelligence and military advice indicated there were other ways to 

end the war without an invasion. As will be shown, the bomb was used 

not because there were no alternatives, but precisely because Ameri- 

can policy makers wished to avoid the political consequences of these 

alternatives. ) 

Thus, as each day of the spring passed, it became more and more 

doubtful that an invasion would be needed to force Japanese capitula- 

tion. To be sure, it was important to go forward with planning for an 

_ invasion, especially since General Marshall did not wish to weaken 

morale by raising possibly false hopes, but such planning now took 

on a contingency aspect; it was necessary to be prepared, but actual 

(Continued from preceding page) 
was no longer needed for an invasion, and 
he misses the mid-June judgment that a 
Russian declaration of war could make an 
invasion unnecessary. (Ehrman; Grand Strat- 
egy, pp. 292-95.) Feis’s failure to distinguish 
results is the other possible error; he thinks 
American policy makers always wanted Rus- 
sian help. He mentions, but does not realize 
the importance of the April 24 judgment 
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and completely misses the mid-June assess- 
‘ment. Typically he fogs the argument by 
mixing up early-April judgments with late- 
April opinions and with general comments 
from different periods throughout the sum- 
mer. (Feis, Japan Subdued, p. 13.) Hewlett 
and Anderson make the same mistakes, con- 
fusing different assessments made at different 
times throughout the summer. (The New 
World, p. 349.) 



DoROR: would be ivinched only if all other pediods to end Hes war i ; 

failed." Thus, as Admiral Leahy has stressed, “The invasion itself 

was never authorized.”? Prudence, not necessity, dictated military 

thinking. Advance preparations for an invasion which would not in 

any event begin until November 1 (three months after Russia was 

expected to declare war) followed the logic of Admiral Ernest J. King’s 

advice to the President: 

So far as preparation was concerned, we must aim now for Tokyo 

Plain; otherwise we will never be able to accomplish it. If preparations 

do not go forward now, they cannot be arranged for later. Once 
started, however, they can always be stopped if desired.118 

In this spirit, when Truman approved the plans outlined by the Joint 

Chiefs on June 18, he made it absolutely clear that he would “decide 

as to the final action later.”1"* As Assistant Secretary of War McCloy 

has emphasized, the President let it be known that he would withhold 

his final decision until the time “beyond which there would not be 

further opportunity for a free choice.”**® 

While American military planners outlined alternatives for all 

eventualities, the President and his senior civilian advisers focused 

their attention on more immediate matters; every important American 

policy maker, including the President, had grave reservations about 

Russian military operations in Manchuria. Some, of course, like Ad- 

miral Leahy (who took a “jaundiced view” of Russian domination of 

the area) had never believed a Russian declaration of war should be 

encouraged.*!® But if it could be arranged, Harriman, McCloy, 

Grew, Forrestal, Stimson, Byrnes, and Truman, all preferred to end 

the war without Russia, or at least before the Red Army had gotten 

very far into Manchuria.{?** Thus, they no longer directed their 

efforts to forcing capitulation before the November 1 target date for 

an invasion, but before the August 8 target date for Soviet entry. “I 

* This point is often overlooked. For in- 
stance, R. C. Batchelder’s recent The Irre- 
versible Decision (p. 119) still argues that 
an invasion was taken for granted. 

+ Even Leahy’s published memoirs hint at 
this purpose. Note his discreet understate- 
ment: “Some of us indulged in a hope that 
Japan might get out of the war before the 

Soviet Government came in.” (Leahy, I Was 
There, p. 419.) See also Eisenhower’s report 
of a discussion with Truman in mid-July: “I 
told him that since reports indicated the im- 
minence of Japan’s collapse I deprecated the 
Red Army’s engaging in that war.” (Eisen- 
hower, Crusade in Europe, pp. 441-42; 
Forrestal, Diaries, pp. 78-79.) 
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must frankly admit . . . I would have been satisfied had the Russians — 

determined not to enter the war,” Secretary of State Byrnes cautiously 

hinted in 1947. “I believed the atomic bomb would be successful and 

would force the Japanese to accept surrender on our terms.”""* 

But the fact that all eyes were on the August 8 target date, rather 

than the November 1 invasion date, has been affirmed and reaffirmed 

_in much more explicit terms: “Though there was an understanding 

that the Soviets would enter the war three months after Germany sur- 

rendered,” Byrnes has more recently testified, “the President and I 

hoped that Japan would surrender before then.” And still more 

explicitly: “We wanted to get through with the Japanese phase of the 

war before the Russians came in.”*?”° 

A War Department report made to Stimson at the time stated the 

crucial consideration in more general terms: 

[An early] Japanese surrender would be advantageous to the U.S., 

both because of the enormous reduction in the cost of the war and 

because it would give us a better chance to settle the affairs of the 

Western Pacific before too many of our allies are committed there and 

have made substantial contributions to the defeat of Japan. . . 124 

Byrnes has also stated specifically that he wished to end the war 

before Russia entered, because “I feared what would happen when the 

Red Army entered Manchuria.”!”? This statement deserves close at- 

tention, because it underscores the important point that Japan was so 

weakened and Russia had so little capacity to undertake an amphibi- 

ous invasion that there was never any danger of Soviet operations in 

the Japanese home islands.j Thus, the desire to end the war before 

Russia entered was not based primarily, as is sometimes thought, on a 

* This fact also undoubtedly accounts for 
Byrnes’s use of the conjunction “and” in- 
stead of the preposition “to” in a key state- 
ment in his memoirs; he writes that it was 
“essential to end the war as soon as possible 
and avoid the invasion.” The two goals, of 
course, were not the same. Elsewhere Byrnes 
has admitted that from among the alterna- 
tive ways to end the Japanese war before an 
invasion the atomic bomb was chosen so as 
to avoid Russian entry. (Byrnes, All in One 
Lifetime, pp. 286, 300, 308.) 

+ Max Beloff has noted this point, but 
misunderstood its significance. Attempting to 
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confute P. M. S. Blackett’s argument that 
the atomic bomb was used to end the war 
before the Russians reached Japan, he 
rightly notes that there was never any 

_ chance that the Russians would get that far. 
However, he overlooks the more fundamen- 
tal point that American policy makers saw 
the bomb as a way to keep the Russians out 
of Manchuria. Thus Blackett’s argument, 
though wrong in detail, is right in substance. 
(Beloff, Soviet Policy, p. 106; Blackett, Mili- 
tary and Political Consequences, pp. 116- 
30. See also U.S. Senate, Hearings: Mili- 
tary Situation in the Far East, p. 6.) 
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wish to prevent Soviet occupation of Japan.* Rather, American policy 

makers, aware that Russia could conquer the Japanese armies on the 

China mainland in less than two months,'** desperately hoped to end 

the hostilities before Soviet military operations paved the way for So- 

viet domination of Manchuria and North China. 

It was with this diplomatic objective in mind that American policy 

makers once again considered the political value of the atomic bomb. 

Despite their subsequent assertions, they were no longer primarily 

worried about having to undertake a costly invasion of Japan.*** 

They believed a Russian declaration of war in itself would probably 

end the war quickly if necessary. They were also prepared to mod- 

erate the surrender terms to end the war before an invasion.} Conse- 

quently, the fundamental objective was no longer military, but polit- 

ical—could the war be ended before August 8? 

Truman had already decided (or assumed) that the bomb would be 

used in Japan. Even in his April 24 discussion with Stimson, there had 

never been any question about whether the new weapon would be 

employed when it was ready.t At the end of April, General Marshall 

gave Field Marshal Wilson information on the operational use of the 

new bomb and told him it would be used sometime in August.??° 

Indeed, the President has emphasized: “Let there be no mistake about 

it. I regarded the bomb as a military weapon and never had any doubt 

that it should be used.”??° 

Thus the only question was how, not whether, the atomic bomb 

would be employed. Originally, at about the time of the Yalta Con- 

ference, the bomb had been regarded as a new tactical weapon of 

unusual force; Marshall planned to use it in conjunction with an in- 

vasion.’*" A total of nine bombs were to have been dropped as three 

* Later, Stimson argued that an end to 
the war before Russian operations had be- 
gun in Manchuria would also obviate Soviet 
claims to help occupy Japan. See below, p. 
190. 

+ This fact also allows us to delineate 
American priorities with some precision. The 
most important objective was to end the 
war without an invasion. Since there seemed 
little problem about this, the dominant ques- 
tions were: Could the war be ended before 
Russia entered? And could the unconditional- 
surrender formula be maintained? It is 
easy to show that if forced to choose be- 

tween Russian entry and modifications of 
the surrender formula, American leaders 
preferred to relax the surrender terms of- 
fered to the Emperor. But, as Byrnes has 
written, a further political value of the 
bomb was that it seemed to obviate such a 
choice—“I believed the atomic bomb would 
. . . force the Japanese to accept surrender 
on our terms.” (Knebel and Bailey, No 
High Ground, p. 36; Stimson, On Active 
Service, p. 621; Grew, Turbulent Era, Ul, p. 
1450; Byrnes, Speaking Frankly, p. 208.) 

+ See above, p. 56. 
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armies ahaulted the island of Kyushu from 

- bombs would have supported each attack, and in each case a ie: 

_ would have been brought into operation against Japanese reserves. 128 

From this point of view, the idea that the few available bombs might 

be squandered on civilian or quasi-military targets would have seemed 

s a waste of irreplaceable resources needed for the invasion. However, 

the deterioration of Japanese power and morale permitted a recon- 

sideration of these plans. 

In fact, American policy makers now saw a Russian declaration of 

war and the atomic bomb as military and psychological equivalents. 

Originally, they had regarded Russian entry as important mainly be- 

cause of its value to the invasion strategy. Shortly after they revised 

this assessment, however, they saw that a Russian declaration of war 

in and of itself might be enough to shock Japan into surrender. Simi- 

larly, although they had first regarded the atomic bomb as a support- 

ing weapon, to be used tactically in the actual invasion, they now 

came to see that it might be powerful enough in and of itself to 

shock Japan into surrender. Thus, by the end of May the President’s 

_ special representative, Byrnes, “was confident that, when developed, it 

would bring a speedy end to the war in the Pacific.”1?° 

It was for this reason that the Interim Committee seriously con- 

sidered neither whether to use the atomic bomb, nor whether to use it 

in support of an invasion. Japan was in such dire straits that American 

leaders felt it wise to approach the bomb as a weapon of terror. 

Hence, when the Interim Committee met on May 31 to consider the 

problem, the only important question was how the bomb could be 

used to end the war quickly, that is, how it could be used with the 

greatest psychological effect.**° As Stimson was later to write, to edge 

the faltering Japanese into capitulation, all that was needed was “a 

tremendous shock,”’*! or, in General Marshall’s words, “a terrific 

shock.”3%? 

The Interim Committee considered the matter first in a joint 

meeting with its scientific panel. As Arthur H. Compton, a member of 

the panel, has written, “It seemed a foregone conclusion that the bomb 

would be used. It was regarding only the details of strategy and tactics 

that different views were expressed.”*** In fact, the Committee was 

not given much information about the relationship of the bomb to the 

war. There was little discussion of alternative methods to end the war. 
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_ Although Hopkins had just reported that there was “no doubt” Stalin e 

would enter the war in August, apparently nothing was said about 

awaiting the results of the Russian declaration of war or about using 

the bomb in conjunction with the Russian declaration.1** J. Robert 

Oppenheimer has testified: “We didn’t know beans about the military 

situation in Japan. We didn’t know whether they could be caused to 

surrender by other means . . .”!8° The only question was the best 

way to use the bomb so as to create a dramatic and shocking ef- 

fect" 2° 

First, the President’s special representative asked one scientist 

about a suggestion that the Japanese be given some striking but harm- 

less demonstration of the bomb’s power before using it in a manner 

that would cause great loss of life. For about ten minutes the propo- 

sition was the subject of general discussion. Oppenheimer could think 

of no demonstration sufficiently dramatic to convince the Japanese 

that further resistance was futile. Others objected that the bomb might 

not explode, or that the Japanese might shoot down the delivery plane 

or bring American prisoners into the test area. If the demonstration 

failed to bring surrender, the chance of administering the maximum 

surprise shock would be lost.'*7 

After some discussion, Stimson offered a conclusion which com- 

manded general agreement: there would be greater shock value if the 

bomb was dropped without advance warning. While it would be un- 

wise to aim only for a civilian area, it would be best to make as 

profound a psychological impression on as many of the inhabitants as 

possible. James B. Conant suggested, and Stimson agreed, that the 

best target would be a vital war plant employing a large number of 

workers closely surrounded by workers’ houses. The next day, when 

the Interim Committee met in executive session, Byrnes formally pro- 

posed the Committee recommend that the bomb be used as soon as 

possible and without warning against a Japanese war plant sur- 

rounded by workers’ homes. The Committee adopted the suggestion. 

* JI have seen no evidence for Ehrman’s 
assumption that “the Interim Committee 
made its recommendations with full knowl- 
edge of the strategy for the Pacific.” 
(Grand Strategy, p. 279.) 

+The preceding paragraphs rely heavily 
upon Hewlett and Anderson, The New 
World, pp. 358-60. 

I have not dealt with the important story 
of the attempt by a group of scientists to 
prevent use of the atomic bomb against a 
civilian target. On June 16 the Scientific 
Panel, reviewing suggestions made by a 
number of scientists, reported to the Interim 
Committee that they could propose no 
(Continued on next page) 
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At the same time the Interim Committee was reaching this Biche 

sion Secretary Stimson and General Marshall discussed the best 

method to employ the new weapon.'®® Of course, the Secretary of 

War bore ultimate responsibility for recommendations as to the use of 

the weapon, but there was little difference between his view and 

that of the Committee. The objective was the most dramatic and 

shocking disclosure of the new force, and Stimson and the Committee 

agreed that an unannounced strike upon a large city was the best 

approach’*°“Any other course . . . involved serious danger to the 

major objective of obtaining a prompt surrender from the Japa- 

nese.” *7° 

Stimson took every precaution to ensure that the attack would 

make the greatest impression. Fearing that the B-29 raids might bomb 

out Japan so thoroughly that the atomic weapon would not have a fair 

background against which to show its strength, Stimson spoke to both 

the President and Army Air Forces Chief, General Henry H. Arnold, 

about the matter. It was agreed that orders would be issued not to 

bomb a number of cities, so that unblemished targets would be avail- 

able when the bomb was ready.*** : 

_ On June 1 Byrnes reported the recommendation of the Interim 

Committee to the President.**? Since Truman had already assumed use 

of the weapon, and since he already saw it primarily as a way to end 

the war before Russia entered, the only real point he had to approve 

was whether the Committee’s approach would produce the greatest 

shock effect. He told Byrnes that, regrettable as it might be, so far as 

he could see, the only reasonable conclusion was to use the bomb.*** 

He told Stimson the bomb “should be dropped as nearly as possible 

upon a war production center.”*** He approved the Committee’s 

recommendation,*** and early in June the commander of the special 

B-29 group stationed in the Pacific was informed that one atomic 

bomb would be available for use against the enemy on August 6, 

1945.*46 

(Continued from preceding page) 
technical demonstration likely to bring an 
end to the war. This recommendation was 
based on two assumptions: (1) that the 

bomb was needed to avoid an invasion; (2) 

that the war had to be ended very quickly. 
Since neither the panel nor the Committee 
discussed alternative ways to end the war 
without an invasion, it is not surprising that 
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this recommendation was produced. Note 
that even this evaluation came two weeks 
after the Interim Committee had reported 
the best method to use the bomb to the 
President, and two months after Truman 
had assumed its use in the war. The views of 
the scientists never reached the President. 
(Feis, Japan Subdued, p. 43; Hewlett and 
Anderson, The New World, pp. 369-70; 
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A SUBTLE PROBLEM OF THE STRATEGY 

OF DELAY 

THUS STIMSON’s JUDGMENT that the atomic bomb would be 

dominant over the “tangled weave” of political problems in the Far 

East became a major feature of American policy. When Stimson first 

offered his strategy of delay, he had stressed mainly that the bomb 

would eventually strengthen the American diplomatic hand. However, 

now a second aspect of the policy had emerged: the atomic bomb 

could pay political dividends by ending the Japanese war before Rus- 

sia entered. Obviously, this would preclude Russian domination of 

Manchuria, but there were also important implications for European 

political problems: a quick end to the war would allow the President 

to maintain large concentrations of troops in Europe during the initial 

postwar negotiations. 
Indeed, Truman felt it politically so important to have a major 

force in Europe that on June 6 (a month after German surrender) he 

told his staff he “would withdraw only the troops we could spare from 

Europe for our war in the Pacific.”**" In reality, however, by now he 

hoped the bomb would allow him to end the war not only before an 

invasion had begun, but many months before—that is, before massive 

troop transfers, which could take from four to six months to complete, 

had progressed very far.**® The thought “uppermost” in his mind was 

“how soon we could wind up the war.”2*° Thus, in a talk with Stim- 

son concerning the atomic bomb, he “stressed the need for speed in 

the Pacific” at the same time he argued the necessity of maintaining 

troops in Europe for political purposes.’° 

Although Stimson had successfully urged the political value of the 

atomic bomb’s capacity to end the war quickly, there was a major 

Knebel and Bailey, “The Fight over the 
A-Bomb”; see also Alice K. Smith, “Behind 
the Decision to Use the Atomic Bomb.”) 

One member of the Interim Committee, 
Under Secretary of the Navy Ralph A. 
Bard, later changed his mind. His June 27 
dissent stressed a combination of three al- 
ternative ways to end the war without the 
use of the bomb: “Emissaries from this 
country could contact representatives from 
Japan ... and make representations with 
regard to Russia’s position and at the same 

time give them some information regarding 
the proposed use of atomic power, together 
with whatever assurances the President 
might care to make with regard to the 
Emperor of Japan. . . . It seems quite pos- 
sible to me that this presents the opportu- 
nity which the Japanese are looking for. I 
don’t see that we have anything in particu- 
lar to lose . . . The only way to find out 
is to try. . . .” (Quoted in Knebel and 
Bailey, No High Ground, pp. 109-10.) Em- 
phasis supplied. 
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- 5 of se As Stimson had noid on May 15, one of the “great uncer- 

 tainties” was “when and how the [atomic bomb] will resolve it- 

- self.”°! This point was also raised at Truman’s June 18 discussion of 

military strategy. Until this time all conventional military planning by 

the Joint Chiefs had been kept quite separate from discussions of the 

atomic bomb.‘ At this meeting, however, Assistant Secretary of 

War McCloy found the invasion plan fantastic; he was sure the bomb 

would end the war. As he later told Secretary Forrestal, he argued 

_ that the bomb “was pertinent not merely to the question of the inva- 

\ 

sion of the Japanese mainland but also to the question of whether we 

- needed to get Russia in to help us defeat Japan.”*** Although the 

President welcomed McCloy’s arguments, the meeting went forward 

with its plans because it was agreed that no one could be absolutely 

sure the bomb would work. The President would make his final deci- 

sion later.1°4 era 

Despite the great confidence of Stimson and the others, American 

ae policy makers were still dealing with an untested weapon; simple pru- 

dence required that they not rely entirely upon the unknown quantity. 

It was undoubtedly for this reason that, as we shall see, despite his 

desire to end the war before the Red Army crossed into Manchuria, 

Truman did not yet wish to abandon a Russian declaration of war as 

an alternative way to prevent an invasion. In fact, Truman told his 

military advisers that firmly securing the declaration was a major ob- 

jective of his trip to Potsdam.1* | 
Indeed, if the bomb should fail, he would lose nothing by encourag- 

ing early Russian entry, for without the new force the United States 

would hardly be in a position to oppose Stalin’s political objectives in 

Asia. As Stimson had pointed out, the Russians could choose to 

“await the time when U.S. efforts will have practically completed the 

- destruction of J apanese military power and can then seize the objec- 

tives they desire at a cost to them relatively much less than would be 

occasioned by their entry into the war at an early date.’’25¢ 

Since an early declaration might still be useful, there was every 

reason to hold on to the option of a Russian shock ending to the war. 

Yet Truman’s problem was extremely subtle; for, if the bomb should 

work as expected, he did not want, as we have seen, to encourage 

Stalin to launch his Manchurian offensive, Truman’s late-May deci- 
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sion to send Soong to Moscow forced him to consider his course with _ 
_ some care. When Soong arrived at the end of June, he would be asked — 
to affirm the Yalta accord as a condition for Russian entry into the 

war. Should the United States fulfill Roosevelt’s pledge to “take mea- 

sures” to ensure that Russia’s claims would “unquestionably” be met? 

Weighing all considerations, on June 13, the Joint Chiefs of Staff 

recommended that a Soviet declaration of war was just valuable 

enough to warrant fulfillment of the Yalta accord.*? Now that the 

shock value of Soviet entry had replaced the minimal value of the Red 

Army’s usefulness to an invasion, the Joint Chiefs reversed the April 

24 decision that no Pacific supply route would be cleared “until the 

Soviets on their own initiative so request.”*'°* They now also dis- 

carded the judgment that “only such contributing operations as are 

essential to establish conditions prerequisite to invasion” should be 

conducted.’® Instead, on June 29 they directed that new plans be 

prepared for keeping open a sea route to Russian Pacific ports.*® 

General Deane was instructed to tell the Russian military that the 

Joint Chiefs would like to discuss coordination of efforts for the war, 

and for the first time the scope of the Potsdam Conference was broad- 

ened to include a discussion of military cooperation in the Japanese 

war.{7*! Nevertheless, the Joint Chiefs (with the exception of Mar- 

shall) were restrained in their enthusiasm for Soviet help. At the mili- 

tary discussion of June 18 the President was left with this statement of 

the military position: 

Admiral King said he wished to emphasize the point that, regardless 

of the desirability of the Russians entering the war, they were not in- 
dispensable, and he did not think we should go so far as to beg them 
to come in. While the cost of defeating Japan would be greater, there 
was no question in his mind but that we could handle it alone. He 
thought that the realization of this fact should greatly strengthen the 
President’s hand in the forthcoming conference.} 16 

Union into the War against Japan,” p. 72.) * See above, p. 31. 
tIn fact, of the professional military 

+1 have not been able to find the pre- 
cise date of the decision to broaden the 
Conference agenda. Available evidence 
shows that it was after Stalin agreed to the 
Potsdam meeting at the end of May. The 
decision probably was taken on June 13, 
together with the recommendation that Rus- 
sia be encouraged to declare war. (Depart- 
ment of Defense, “Entry of the Soviet 

leaders Marshall, still taking the Army view 
that Russian help would be valuable, was 
the only positive force in favor of encour- 
aging Russia. King’s view is given above, 
Leahy had never wanted the Russians to 
enter the war, and the following day Gen- 
eral Arnold presented the view that the Air 
Force could finish the war alone. (Craven 
(Continued on next page) 
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Despite its qualifications, the mild fecommucne ton that the Yalta 

conditions for Soviet entry be met was at odds with Stimson’s argu- 

ment that the Far Eastern negotiations should be delayed. Truman’s 

decision was once again in favor of the Secretary of War. Although he 

had to send Soong to Moscow or risk revealing that he might not fulfill 

Roosevelt’s Yalta pledge, Truman now decided that the Chinese For- 

eign Minister would not be allowed to complete his negotiations with 

Stalin.1* As Byrnes has subsequently revealed, the President’s exe- 

cution of the strategy of delay was extremely subtle: 

Our purpose was . . . to encourage the Chinese to continue negoti- 
ations. . If Stalin and Chiang were still negotiating, it might delay 
Soviet entrance and the Japanese might surrender. The President was 

in accord with that view.* 16 

Thus, Truman cortinued to straddle two policies at once. He con- 

tinued to attempt to delay a Soviet attack, hoping that the war could 

be ended quickly by the atomic bomb;'’® and on the other hand, 

until he was sure of his course, he avoided any action which might 

lose the insurance of a Russian declaration of war should the atomic 

test fail.** 

Probably because of the notorious inability of the Chinese to main- 

tain secrecy, Truman did not reveal his strategy to Soong. Instead, he 

let it be known in various indirect ways that he wished the Sino-Soviet 

negotiations to drag out at least until mid-July and probably longer. 

Meeting with T. V. Soong on June 9, Truman revealed the Yalta 

agreement and indicated generally that he would continue Roosevelt’s 

commitment.** However, when Soong met with Grew two days later 

to discuss details, the Acting Secretary of State refused to give a pre- 

cise definition of the American position. Soong wanted to know what 

_ was meant by the pledge to support the “status quo” in Outer Mon- 

golia, and the “pre-eminent interests” of Russia in Dairen and the 

(Continued from preceding page) 
and Cate, Air Forces in World War II, V, 
pp. 711, 741.) 
Compare General Ismay’s comment that 

Soviet help was “worthless from the mili- 
tary point of view.” Also Churchill’s re- 
mark: “We are in a good position there. 
We don’t care if [Stalin] comes into the 
war against the Japanese or not. We don’t 
need him now.” (Ismay, Memoirs, p. 403; 
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_ Mikolajezyk, The Pattern of Soviet Domina- 
tion, pp. 133-35.) 

* Although this statement was made with 
Tespect to a specific cable sent to Soong 
after his arrival at Moscow, I have placed 
it here at the outset of the argument as it 
is my purpose to show that this course was 
followed from the end of June, with slight 
variations, until the middie of August. 
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Manchurian Railroad.’** Grew’s vague responses brought Soong at 

one point to ask just what the United States had supported. Grew 

would give no definite answers. Instead, he said he assumed no final 

agreement could be reached until the Big Three considered the prob- 

lem at Potsdam.'® 

Such a statement from the Acting Secretary of State spoke volumes; 

the United States had no interest in an early conclusion of the Sino- 

Soviet negotiations. However, Soong still wished for more details, and 

unable to get them from Grew, he asked to see the President 

again.*”° On June 14 he probed Truman’s stand, trying to get a more 

definite assessment, but he found that the President would not be 

pinned down.*”* He stated only that he wanted to get early Russian 

help in the war, but that he “wished to assure Dr. Soong that he would 

do nothing which would harm the interests of China, since China was 

a friend of the United States in the Far East.”!”? Two days later, on 

June 16, Grew and Truman privately agreed that certain portions of 

the Yalta accord could not be settled until the Big Three met.?” 

Shortly thereafter Grew included Far Eastern problems on the rec- 

ommended agenda for Potsdam.*”* 

At the same time that the President met with Soong he instructed 

General Hurley to inform Chiang Kai-shek of the Yalta commit- - 

ment.’ Hurley found that Chiang had already been told of the 

understanding by the Soviet ambassador.*“® He reported that the 

Chinese leader was pleased with Soviet assurances of support for Chi- 

nese territorial integrity and political independence under Nationalist 

sovereignty.‘77 Since Chiang counted heavily upon Stalin’s help 

against the Communists, and since China had no control over the 

areas in which Russia sought concessions, Hurley was certain there 

would be no difficulty in fulfilling the Yalta accord—“I am convinced 

that the Soviet Union and China will be able to reach an agreement 

quickly.” *778 

Thus, when Soong reached Moscow in an American Army plane at 

the end of June a curious reversal of roles had occurred.*”? The 

United States, which had originally agreed to press Chiang to accept 

* General Wedemeyer later attempted to Yalta terms, but these claims are not borne 
argue that Chiang was disappointed at the out by the 1945 documents. (See U.S. Sen- 
Yalta terms, and General Hurley later con- ate, Military Situation Far East, pp. 2417, 
tended that he was trying to modify the 2432, 2885-89.) 
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the Yalta terms, had now lost interest in completing -Sor 

negotiations. In fact, Truman clearly wished to delay a settlement and 
was in no hurry to fulfill the conditions of Soviet entry into the war. 

On the other hand, Chiang Kai-shek greatly valued an agreement with 

pe | Stalin which would redound to his benefit in the struggle against the 

_ Chinese Communists. He was only too happy to pay the Yalta price in 

an area where Chinese authority had not been exercised for years.**° 

He had nothing to lose, for once the Red Army crossed the Manchu- 

tian border there would be little he could do to eliminate Soviet in- 

_ fluence. Consequently, as Harriman has testified, when Soong reached 

Moscow, the Chinese Foreign Minister “made it clear to me that his 

Government was anxious to reach an agreement with the Soviet 

Union, and to this end he was prepared to make concessions which we 

considered went beyond the Yalta understanding.”!*! Indeed, as 

soon as the negotiations began, the American ambassador found that 

_ instead of having to “take measures” to see that the Chinese agreed to 

- Stalin’s claims, he had to hold Soong back at a number of steps along 

the way.’ 

Stalin offered a four-piece package: a treaty of friendship and alli- 

ance which explicitiy and publicly conveyed Soviet support to Chiang 

instead of the Communists; an agreement to recognize the indepen- 

dence of Outer Mongolia; an agreement regarding the Manchurian 

ports of Dairen and Port Arthur; and an agreement covering the 

~Manchurian railroads.’** The points where differences might arise 

were not of great importance. They inevitably involved the interpreta- 

tion of the Yalta pledge to preserve the status quo in Outer Mon- 

golia and to safeguard the “pre-eminent interests” of the Soviet Union 

_in the Manchurian ports and railroads.*** 

China had not exercised control over Outer Mongolia since 1911, 

and Stalin interpreted the phrases to require de jure Chinese recogni- 

tion of the country’s acknowledged de facto independence.* He also 

__ argued that Soviet “pre-eminent interests” required Soviet administra- 

tive control over an internationalized regime in the port of Dairen; 

and joint Sino-Soviet ownership of railroads, with Soviet manage- 

* The situation was anomalous in that 
both the Soviet Union and China paid lip 
service to Chinese sovereignty in the area, 
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while the Mongolian government entered 
into independent relations with foreign 
powers. (Conference of Berlin, 1, pp. 865-67.) 



ent, *385 These claims were ‘far os than the ore-1905 rights Roose- 
velt had promised to support, and Chiang had no important objections 

to the substance of the Yalta accord.'®* Initially, however, he wished 

to avoid the politically difficult recognition of Outer Mongolian in- 

dependence.**’ He also preferred Chinese administration over 

Dairen, and Chinese ownership of the railroads, with joint Sino-Soviet 

control and mixed management.?*° 

As can be seen, none of these were important points of disagree- 

ment. The differences were trivial compared with Stalin’s pledge to 

support Chiang materially and morally against the Communists, to 

withdraw Soviet troops from Manchuria after the fighting and, above 

all, to take Chiang’s administrators with the Red Army into the Soviet 

zone of combat.’® As Stalin and Soong began to bring their initial 

negotiating positions closer together, however, the United States in- 

tervened decisively. Despite the State Department’s recommendation 

that Chiang “would be well advised” to recognize the independence of 

Outer Mongolia,*®° on July 4 Truman instructed Harriman to “in- 

formally” tell Soong that he did not believe the Yalta agreement 

necessitated recognition of the Mongolian government.’*' Byrnes, 

who had just taken office as Secretary of State, “was afraid Soong 

would. . . make additional concessions if he were in doubt about our 

attitude.”®? Hence, a further message was sent to Chungking urging 

Chiang not to go beyond the American interpretation of Yalta. 

Truman later characterized these efforts as “strong diplomatic sup- 

port to China while T. V. Soong negotiated . . . in Moscow,” but this 

description is misleading.*** In fact, Truman attempted not to sup- 

port Chiang, but to restrain him.} By now it was clear that the talks 

could be stretched out until the atomic test and the Potsdam Confer- 

ence.’®® Thus, on July 6—the day Truman sailed for Potsdam— 

Harriman received a further instruction: he was now to tell the Rus- 

* Later it was claimed that Stalin’s de- Department has also advanced the dubious 
mands went “substantially beyond the Yalta 
understanding.” At the time, however, the 
State Department advised that  Stalin’s 
claims were “clearly more advantageous to 
China” than the terms calling for the com- 
plete restoration of the rights possessed by 
Russia prior to the Russo-Japanese War to 
which Roosevelt had agreed. (Congressional 
Record, Aug. 27, 1951, p. A5415; Confer- 
ence of Berlin, I, pp. 864-72.) The State 

argument that the general agreement to rec- 
ognize Chinese sovereignty in Manchuria 
should have taken precedence over the spe- 
cific terms regarding the restoration of pre- 
vious rights. (Ibid., p. 870.) 

+ This is sometimes obscured, because de- 
spite Chiang’s desire for agreement, Soong 
did not wish to be personally responsible 
for yielding on the politically touchy issues. 
(Conference of Berlin, U1, pp. 1245-46.) 
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- sians and Chinese that the United States wanted no final neeientt to 

be concluded until the American government had been fully con-— 

sulted. At an “appropriate time” the United States would also like to 

make certain that the treaties provided for nondiscriminatory treat- 

‘ment against third parties in the operation of the ports, railroads, and 

trading arrangements in the area.1°° This would ensure that Amer- 

ica’s traditional “Open Door” policy would be protected. Finally, 

Harriman was told that the United States could not accept Stalin’s 

interpretation of the “pre-eminent” Soviet interests in the ports and 

railroads.1®” Following these instructions, the American ambassador 

secured Soong’s promise that no agreement would be concluded until 

Truman had been consulted.1°* Harriman then advised Soong to 

break off his negotiations with Stalin.’ 

As these diplomatic efforts went forward, military planning placed 

less and less reliance on the Soviet Union. On July 3, the Joint Chiefs 

instructed General Arnold to reserve four cities for attack by the 

atomic bomb.” On July 4 the British formally approved the use of 

the new weapon against Japan.”°* On July 11, the Joint Chiefs rec- 

ommended that only after other competing demands had been met 

should Russia be sent Lend-Lease equipment for possible use in the 

Japanese war.*” And on the eve of the Potsdam Conference Ad- 

miral Leahy rejected the suggestion that he “take up with the Presi- 

dent as soon as possible the question of Lend-Lease to Russia.” He felt 

the matter “was involved with the date that Russia might enter the war 

against Japan and that the date might not be determined at this con- 

ference, since it might depend upon agreement between Russia and 

China.”?°% 

While the American government laid its plans on the assumption 

that Sino-Soviet agreement would not be reached, however, Chiang 

Kai-shek and T. V. Soong made renewed efforts to conclude the ne- 

- gotiations. “The fact is that in spite of the position I took Soong gave 

in on several points to achieve his objectives,” Harriman later testi- 

fied.?°* Chiang sent Soong new instructions: he was now to yield to 

the Soviet position regarding Outer Mongolia. Soong was instructed 

to suggest that a plebiscite be held and to promise that China would 

_ accord de jure recognition to a new independent status at the war’s 

end. In exchange for this concession, Chiang asked for specific pledges 

of Soviet help against the Communists.” 
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Stalin too was anxious to complete the negotiations. On July 10 he 

accepted Chiang’s offer. He “stated categorically that he would sup- 

port only the National government in China and that all the military 

forces in China must come under the control of the government.”2% 

Now the only points in dispute concerned the minor questions of 

control and management for Dairen and the Manchurian rail- 

roads.?°7 

At this juncture, Harriman and T. V. Soong considered their next 

step. The Chinese Foreign Minister had already agreed not to com- 

plete the negotiations until Truman had been consulted.?°* With the 

Big Three Conference (and the atomic test) less than a week off, 

Harriman reported that if the United States held to its interpretation 

of the Yalta agreement, the negotiations would be delayed at least that 

long.”°*® Truman and Byrnes, now in mid-Atlantic aboard the cruiser 

Augusta, radioed back instructing Harriman to say that although the 

United States did not want to act as interpreter, they believed the 

Chinese should not meet the Russian position regarding the port of 

Dairen and the railroads. Harriman was also told to reaffirm the 

American demand that no final agreement be concluded until the 

United States had been consulted.74° This message, together with 

Soong’s previous assurances, precluded final agreement. The Chinese 

Foreign Minister now followed Harriman’s advice and, despite Stalin’s 

protests, broke off the talks and left for Chungking on July 14.7 

Harriman reported that Soong was willing to leave the final negotia- 

tions in Truman’s hands. *?”” ; 

Thus, the strategy of delay had been fully implemented. Truman 

looked forward with great optimism as he considered the leverage the 

July 16 atomic test might give to two faces of his diplomacy”*“—now 

the Manchurian negotiations would be completed only after the “mas- 

ter card” had been demonstrated; and, with luck, the war might be 

dramatically ended with the Red Army still stalled on the far side of 

the Manchurian border.+ 

* For more information on these discus- 
sions see Feis, China Tangle, pp. 315-21; 
Japan Subdued, pp. 60-61; Between War 
and Peace, pp. 113-14; Truman, Year of 
Decisions, pp. 315-21; Byrnes, Speaking 
Frankly, p. 205; All in One Lifetime, pp. 
290-91; U.S. Dept. of State, Relations with 

China, pp. 114-25; Congressional Record, 
Aug. 27, 1951, pp. A5410-16. 

+ Ehrman, misunderstanding this subtle 
point, thinks the United States “did not in- 
tend to seek actively to prevent Russia 
from declaring war... .” (Grand Strategy, 
p. 292.) 
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Presidency. From the early judgment that Russian entry was “a pre- 

requisite to a landing in the Japanese homeland,” it had shifted to the 

- late-April decision that “early Russian entry . . . is no longer neces- 

sary.” Finally, Truman’s ultimate conclusion had been reached: “If 

the test should fail, then it would be even more important to us to 

ce “bring about a surrender before we had to make a physical con- 

ONS A 

American diplomacy had followed suit. At Yalta, Roosevelt had 

promised to “take measures” on “advice from Marshal Stalin” to ar- 

range Chiang Kai-shek’s concurrence in the conditions for Soviet 

entry into the war. The American ambassador had received a stern 

directive: “We should not permit the Chinese Government to gain the 

impression that we are prepared to assume responsibility as. ‘adviser’ 

to it in its relations with the U.S.S.R.”?? Truman, however, had 

reconsidered Roosevelt’s arrangements and in the middle of May had 

decided to postpone fulfillment of his predecessor’s pledges. By mid- 

re June his policy had come full circle; the American ambassador now 

coached the Chinese Foreign Minister in his every move. And the 

Soong mission, originally designed to induce an early Soviet declara- 

tion of war, now served quite another purpose. Contesting minor rail- 

road and port issues, American diplomacy utilized the mission to 

execute a carefully articulated stalling action; as the President and his 

advisers waited for the atomic bomb, the Soong negotiations were 

carefully set in the path of the Red Army poised for its assault across 

the Manchurian border. 
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The Tactics 
of the 

Potsdam 

Conference (l) 

The President was tremendously pepped 

up by [the report of the successful — 

atomic test] and spoke to me of it again 

and again when I saw him. He said it 

gave him an entirely new feeling of con- 

fidence and he thanked me for having 

come to the Conference and being pres- 

ent to help him in this way. 

—SECRETARY OF WAR 

Henry L. STIMSON 

July 21, 1945 

A FACE-TO-FACE MEETING with Stalin had originally played no 

part in President Truman’s approach to Manchuria and the intimately 

related question of Soviet participation in the Japanese war. Despite 

the President’s June comment that it was important to meet with the 

Soviet Premier in order to insure an early Russian declaration of war, 

the decision to hold a heads-of-government meeting so soon after 

Yalta had initially derived from entirely different considerations. The 

original motivation had been a desire to maintain the pressure of the 

immediate showdown approach; and the chief concern had been to 

*I have chosen the word “tactics” for 
the title of this and the next chapter to 
emphasize that in no way can the essay be 
considered a history of the Potsdam nego- 
tiations. Many complicated and important 
questions are treated only briefly. Other 
questions are not dealt with at all. I have, 

however, taken up the substantive issues 
Truman and Byrnes felt to be most impor- 
tant (Byrnes, Speaking Frankly, pp. 67-68), 
and the reader is referred to Conference of 
Berlin, I and II, for a detailed record of 
the meeting. 
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reduce or eliminate Soviet influence in Eastern and Central Bivope: oa 

The President’s decision to delay a confrontation with Stalin im- 

plied no abandonment of this fundamental approach. Although Tru- 

man’s conciliatory attitude during May and June has led many ob- 

servers to believe that Truman was determined to follow Roosevelt’s 

broadly cooperative approach, in fact, the firm line of policy initiated 

in April had been set aside only as a temporary tactical maneuver as 

the President awaited the outcome of the atomic test. Hopkins’s reso- 

lution of the Polish issue only removed the chosen symbol of the 

President’s policy; but there was no change in the fundamental objec- 

tive. The Polish issue had taken on special significance mainly because 

it had seemed to afford an opportunity to establish precedents for all 

_ of the liberated countries} and now the basic question once more . 

came to the fore. 

Thus, even as Hopkins negotiated in Moscow, the President and his 

advisers laid plans to renew the firm approach to political and eco- 

nomic problems in Eastern and Central Europe. Truman told Grew 

this would be the “fundamental subject” of his meeting with Stalin.* 

And on June 15, the President directed Admiral Leahy to prepare an 

~ agenda for the Conference. The restrained approach could now be 

abandoned. It was time, he stated, “to take the offensive.’ 

Originally, three powerful considerations had given Truman con- 

fidence that his firm approach to the Soviet Union might succeed. Not 

only had it been decided that Soviet help was no longer needed for an 

invasion of Japan, but the American Army had been at its greatest 

strength in Europe; and the leverage of American economic power 

had seemed irresistible at a time when the Soviet government was 

beginning to consider its vast postwar reconstruction requirements. 

These fundamental considerations did not change during the two 

summer months of conciliation and delay. 

Despite Churchill’s earlier fears, Stimson’s promise that redeploy- 

ment would not materially weaken American strength on the Conti- 

*See above, pp. 39-40. This of course, jects incident to winding up the European 
continued to be the primary motivation. See, conflict... . ” (Strauss, Men and Decisions, 
for example, Byrnes’s statement: “We an-  p. 437.) 
ticipated little discussion at Potsdam about + See\ ab. 22-23 
the Japanese phase of the war... . [In Pe ONG DUA ec es 
preparation] we concentrated on the sub- ~ See Chapter I. 
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nent was fulfilled; as Potsdam approached there were still more than 

three million American and British troops in Europe.* Prospects for — 

the future also looked bright; the Joint Chiefs of Staff reported there 

would be excess troops on the Continent well into 1946.3 And on 

July 5, the day before Truman embarked for the Conference, the 

House Select Committee on Post-War Military Policy gave approval 

to proposals for a peacetime military conscription and training pro- 

gram, an action which stimulated hope that American conventional © 

power would not be dissipated immediately after hostilities.* Secre- 

tary of State Byrnes—acting less than twenty-four hours after taking 

office on July 3—reminded the President that American troops in 

Europe would be of primary importance “from the political aspect.”® 

Byrnes thereby officially affirmed his support for the consensus that, as 

Grew put it, without adequate power “our diplomacy becomes weak 

and ineffective.”® 

Similarly, as Potsdam approached, there was no diminution in 

American economic bargaining strength, and, indeed, the President’s 

advantage in this respect had considerably increased. Truman in- 

tended to offer economic aid to Stalin, and as we have seen, the first 

item on his agenda was “Credits to the U.S.S.R.”7 But whereas in 

April the President had only been able to speak of his hope that 

Congress would make this source of negotiating power available to his 

administration, now he was in a far stronger position. As the President 

left for his meeting with Stalin, both the Senate and House committees 

considering postwar financing gave an extremely friendly reception to 

Lend-Lease Administrator Leo T. Crowley as he presented the ad- 

ministration’s official proposals. Crowley encountered few objections 

to legislation to increase the lending authority of the Export-Import 

Bank from $700 million to a full $3.5 billion in the first year of peace. 

Even the eminently conservative Senator Robert A. Taft agreed with 

Crowley’s suggestion that Russia could receive a first-year credit of 

approximately one billion dollars.* Taft thought this a “fair amount.” 

Such support undoubtedly added to Truman’s confidence that he 

would be able to dispose of large-scale credits in his bargaining with 

* Information provided by the U.S. De- mated total for USSR on the same date: 
partment of Defense. Estimated world-wide 10,600,000. See also Eisenhower, Crusade in 
strength of American (excluding British) Europe, p. 429. 
forces on August 31, 1945: 11,913,639; esti- 
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‘trol over other resources cert the 

Soviet government. Stalin had already pressed his strong interest in 

German industrial reparations and in a division of the German fleet— 

and control over both of these was largely in Western hands. More- 

over, there were other bargaining counters available, for it was known 

- that Stalin would seek Anglo-American agreement to a revision of the 

- Montreux Convention governing the Dardanelles, to Soviet participa- 

tion in a trusteeship over former Italian colonies, and to recognition 

of the governments established under Soviet auspices in the Bal- 

kans.*° 

But more important than any of these considerations, of course, 

_ was Truman’s belief that the atomic bomb would almost certainly lend 

a great power to his diplomacy. Indeed, the need to wait until the 

new force had been tested and demonstrated before discussing diplo- 

yo _ matic issues with Stalin had been a controlling factor throughout the 

os -- summer. The Potsdam meeting itself had been twice postponed for 

Ni this reason. Now, in early July, as Truman has written, “Preparations 

were being rushed for the test atomic explosion in Alamogordo, New 

- Mexico, at the time I had to leave for Europe, and on the voyage over 

I had been anxiously awaiting word on the results.”** On the eve of 

his first meeting with the Soviet delegation, the President confidently 

; Ay told an associate: “If it explodes, as I think it will, I’ll certainly have a 

hammer on those boys!”” . . 

hy 
With such an array of diplomatic power at his disposal the Presi- 

dent was evidently quite hopeful that although his initial showdown 

had been frustrated, a new “offensive” might succeed. The primary 

ams objective remained the promotion of economic and political stability 

. _. throughout Europe—a goal regarded as the sine qua non both of 

ie world peace and of American security.* For one thing, this meant a 

commitment to a strong Continental economy which had powerful 

implications for the American approach to Germany.} But in Eastern 

Europe, “if the political situation . . . could be adjusted so that Hun- 

: gary, Yugoslavia, Rumania, and Bulgaria, as well as Poland and Aus- 

* See above, pp. 52-55, 77-80. 7 See below, pp. 161-173. 
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Truman believed, “this would help us in our plans for peace.” 

Thus, as in Poland, although American diplomats were concerned 

with possible restrictions on free trading arrangements," the first 

objective was to secure reasonably representative and Western-ori- 

ented governments which would promote democracy through free 

elections. As in Poland, as Crowley told Congress, economic lever- 

age would provide one source of strength in the attempt to achieve 

this objective in each country.’* But, first it would be necessary to 

reduce or eliminate dominant Soviet influence. It was the hope of 

American diplomacy that the Soviet Union would agree to establish 

representative governments throughout its zone of military control. 

And it was the belief of American diplomats that early free elections 

would dissipate whatever remained of the substantial Soviet wartime 

authority in the area.*" 

At this late date in the Cold War it is extremely difficult to recap- 

ture the assumptions and conceptions of American diplomacy in 

1945. It must therefore be emphasized that at the time the optimistic 

American appraisal was not simply wishful thinking. Stalin’s Decem- 

ber 1944 abandonment of the Greek Communists seemed very real 

evidence of his willingness to cooperate. In France, Italy, and Bel- 

gium, the Communist parties, at the height of their influence because 

of their predominance in the resistance movements, meekly yielded 

much authority to Western-oriented governments.’® In Finland, where 

Soviet influence was great, free elections had already taken place (in 

March).*® In Austria, the Renner government established with Soviet 

support met the State Department’s criterion as “representative.”*° In 

Czechoslovakia, President Eduard Benes reported no Soviet interfer- 

ence in political matters, American reporters were given free rein and 

the United States maintained satisfactory diplomatic relations.”* 

Even in Poland, the hope that early free elections would be held as 

pledged was strengthened when visiting Western correspondents were 

permitted unrestricted freedom and when wartime political controls 

restraining the Western-oriented groups were relaxed.**? To be sure, 

* The political situation in Poland pre- premier, Mikolajczyk, that he was “hopeful 
sented a mixed picture. However, American that through the strength of the Peasant 
hopes were reinforced by reports, such as party a reasonable degree of freedom and 

_the one from the Western-oriented former (Continued on next page) 
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‘there were disturbing events at this time,® and at a later date 

‘the entire atmosphere was to change, but one cannot understand 

American strategy without recognizing that in the late summer of 

1945 there seemed reasons to believe that Stalin might be prepared 

to work with the West: The actions of the Communist parties in 

France, Greece, and Italy, and Soviet support for democratic gov- 

ernments in Finland, Czechoslovakia, and Austria were of very real 

political significance: They yielded power to anti-Communist groups 

in the crucial formative period of postwar politics. For the Com- 

munists to attempt later to regain the lead would not be easy.* 

Thus, though their hopes were later to be disappointed, as American 

diplomats surveyed the problems of Europe in the late summer of 

1945, they were not deeply worried about problems in the West,”* 

and they had considerable confidence that their plans for democratic 

governments might be implemented almost everywhere on the Conti- 

nent.+ Their confidence, however, did not easily extend to Southeast- 

ern Europe. For here, despite the fact that Communist armies found 

themselves supporting monarchies,”> Stalin did not show the same 

attitude he exhibited elsewhere. And for this reason, the real focus of 

_ American attention was in the Balkans.+ 

The immediate issues arose because the conduct of the war had 

given the Soviet Union predominant political power in Hungary, Bul- 

garia, and Rumania. American policy makers acknowledged, as the 

Acting Secretary of State advised the President on June 28, that 

“spheres of influence do in fact exist, and will probably continue to do 

so for some time to come.’”** Grew went on to comment: “In view of 

the actual Eastern European sphere and the Western Hemisphere bloc 

(Continued from preceding page) 
independence can be preserved now. and 
that in time, after conditions in Europe be- 

a very long time. In July 1947—exactly 
two years after Potsdam—he was still con- 

come more stable and Russia turns her at- 
tention to her internal development, controls 
will be relaxed and Poland will be able to 
gain for herself her independence of life as 
a nation. ... ” (Conference of Berlin, I, 
p. 728.) ; 

* For an illuminating account of how this 
policy appeared from the point of view of 
the more militant and independent Com- 

-munists, see Djilas, Conversations with 
Stalin, especially pp. 12-13. Regarding the 
Soviet abandonment of the Greek Commu- 
nists, see below, p. 134. 

+ Bymes did not lose this confidence for 
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vinced that there was no immediate danger 
of Communist revolution in Western Europe 
and his interest was still focused on Eastern 
Europe. If the other powers would “hold 
firm,’”’ he was certain that the Soviets would 
“retire in a very decent manner.” (Speaking 
Frankly, pp. 294-95.) 

The term “the Balkans” does not prop- 
erly include Hungary. However, the State 
Department regarded the problems of Hun- 
gary, Bulgaria, and Rumania as the same, 
and it is therefore convenient to use “the 
Balkans” in the loose sense common in 
many documents. This is also Churchill’s 
usage. (Triumph and Tragedy, p. 227.) 
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. . . we are hardly in a position to frown upon the establishment of 

measures designed to strengthen the security of nations in other areas 

of the world .. .”?? Despite this judgment, however, Grew and 

others did not hesitate to urge an active initiative to promote Amer- 

ican policy objectives throughout the Soviet-controlled areas.?® 

The problems of implementing a policy designed to establish a new 

political and economic order within the Soviet area were consider- 

able. American awareness that spheres of influence existed reflected 

not only the obvious fact that the Red Army occupied the entire 

region; equally important was the fact that the Soviet political position 

in each country had been acknowledged—and indeed, endorsed—by 

the United States and Britain in three separate agreements negotiated 

during the last months of the war. 

The first was the famous arrangement initiated by Churchill and 

concluded between the Soviet Union and Britain after discussions last- 

ing from May to October 1944. “Let us settle our affairs in the Bal- 

kans,” Churchill had proposed to Stalin, and the two had agreed to 

acknowledge “90 per cent” Soviet influence in Rumania in exchange 

for “90 per cent” British influence in Greece. Additionally, Soviet 

influence was defined as “80 per cent” in Bulgaria, “80 per cent” in 

Hungary, and “50 per cent” in Yugoslavia.* Churchill had thus rec- 

ognized varying degrees of Soviet predominance in three Balkan 

countries in exchange for a free hand in Greece and joint responsibil- 

ity in Yugoslavia. In his report to the Cabinet on this accord, Chur- 

chill stressed the need to respect Soviet security requirements: “Thus 

it is seen that quite naturally Soviet Russia has vital interests in the 

countries bordering on the Black Sea, by one of whom, Rumania, she 

has been most wantonly attacked with twenty-six divisions, and with 

the other of whom, Bulgaria, she has ancient ties.””° 

Roosevelt had initially accepted the Churchill-Stalin arrangement 

for only a three-month trial period.*® There is no doubt that the 

President had qualms about the idea of a division of responsibilities, 

but there was little he could do about it.** He allowed his ambassador 

to “observe” the negotiations between Churchill and Stalin, and al- 

though Harriman could not commit the President, neither did Roose- 

* These final agreed percentages are taken edy, p. 227) gives only the initial British 
from Woodward, British Foreign Policy, p. bid and neglects to discuss subsequent nego- 
308. Churchill’s report (Triumph and Trag- __ tiation between Molotov and Eden. 
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Roosevelt had cabled Churchill and Stalin: “I am most pleased that 

you are reaching a meeting of your two minds. . . .”88 More im- 

- portant than this general message of approval, however, was the fact 

that by early 1945 Roosevelt, fully aware of the meaning of his ac- 

tion,** had explicitly endorsed the general understanding when it was 

_“translated’”®* into the terms of the armistice agreements for Hun- 

gary, Bulgaria, and Rumania.* 

These second Balkan agreements granted the Soviet commander 

(who was also chairman of the Allied Control Commission in each 

instance) the same almost unlimited authority which the earlier Ital- 

- jan armistice had granted to the West.*” In Rumania, Soviet authority 

was to continue without diminution until a peace treaty had been 

signed.*® Reflecting the reduced percentages (as was explicitly under- 

stood),®° the Bulgarian and Hungarian armistice terms vaguely al- 

lowed that Western representation on the Allied Control Commissions 

in the two countries might be increased in the “second phase” begin- 

ning after German capitulation and extending until the peace treaties 

had been signed.* ; 

The Churchill-Stalin arrangements were tested in December 1944, 

when British troops were used to establish order in Greece.*° “Stalin 

. adhered strictly and faithfully to our agreement of October,” 

Churchill has written, “and during all the long weeks of fighting the 

Communists in the streets of Athens, not one word of reproach came 

from Pravda or Izvestia.”* As Churchill was to point out, Stalin’s 

respect for British predominance in Greece, “in spite of the fact that 

all this was most disagreeable to him . . .”* reaffirmed the validity 

of the basic accord and underscored the reciprocal obligations toward 

_ the Soviet sphere undertaken by the West.*® 

The Churchill-Stalin arrangement, the armistice agreements, and 

the Greek incident established the framework for the early 1945 dis- 

cussions at Yalta. Here the third agreement covering the Balkans was 

negotiated. Before the Conference, the State Department—which had 

* It is quite surprising that scholars have able. (See Senate Committee on Foreign Re- 
paid so little attention to the only detailed lations, A Decade of American Foreign Pol- 
agreements relating to Southeastern Eu- icy, 1941-49, pp. 455, 482, 487, 494.) 
rope. The armistice texts are readily avail- 
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objected to Roosevelt's acknowledgment GF ite int informal Chae 
chill-Stalin accord and his endorsement of the armistices**—tried to 

convince the President that his position had to be reconsidered. On 

the eve of the Conference, the State Department argued that Western 

influence in the area could be re-established only if democratic gov- 

ernments were promoted and free elections were held. In addition to a 

general “Declaration” of intent, the Department urged the President to 

propose a new consultative agency with real power to assist the coun- 

tries “in setting up governmental authorities broadly representative of 

all democratic elements in the population.”*¢ 

Roosevelt, however, was not prepared to challenge the Soviet pre- 

rogatives he had so recently endorsed. Byrnes reports that he “did not 

like” the State Department’s proposal.*” And shortly before the Con- 

ference, Stettinius told Eden of Roosevelt’s “misgivings.”** Under 

considerable pressure from his own delegation (among them Byrnes, 

who was “greatly impressed” with the proposal), during the Yalta 

meeting Roosevelt reluctantly agreed to propose a considerably modi- 

fied version of the Declaration.*® This pledged the powers to consult 

“where in their judgment conditions require” assistance to establish 

democratic governments.°° The requirement of unanimity even be- 

fore consultations could begin, of course, acknowledged Soviet au- — 

thority and veto rights in the area. But Roosevelt gave further and 

more specific definition to his understanding of the spheres-of-influ- 

ence arrangement. Without hesitation, the President rejected the heart 

of the State Department proposal, excising the provisions which would 

have established an agency with power to implement the broad ideals. 

Moreover, Secretary of State Stettinius was authorized to remove even 

the few phrases of the general Declaration which pledged the powers 

to “establish appropriate machinery for the carrying out of the joint 

responsibility set forth in this Declaration.” *** 

Similarly, at Yalta Roosevelt made no attempt to reconsider the 

specific conditions of the armistice agreements he had signed, and it is 

apparent from discussions before and during the Conference that the 

President regarded the broadly phrased Declaration primarily as a 

device to offset domestic criticism of the de facto spheres-of-influence 

*It is difficult to understand how Feis changes of language.” (Churchill, Roosevelt, 
can characterize these as “some minor Stalin, p. 550.) 
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understanding.* Truman’s special representative for the Balkans later” 

commented: “The facile use without any definition of such contro- 

versial terms [as ‘democratic elements,’ ‘free elections,’ et cetera] 

would alone be sufficient reason to doubt the soundness of the docu- 

ment as a basis for joint action.”°? 
Indeed, two weeks after Yalta, when the Soviet government exer- 

cised its prerogatives under the armistice agreement by intervening in 

Rumania to establish a new government under Petru Groza, Roose- 

velt (like Churchill), refusing to make more than a mild gesture on 

the basis of the Declaration, suggested only that consultations might 

be in order.®* When the Soviet government rejected this suggestion 

by pointing out that their actions were within the terms of the armis- 

tice agreement," much to the dismay of the State Department, 

Roosevelt refused to pursue the matter.t American representatives 

remained at their posts in Rumania, and the President told associates 

that the situation could not be considered a “test case” of relations 

with Russia. ¢*° 

* The Secretary of State’s special assistant 
supported the Declaration as 
powerful antidote that we can devise for 
the rapidly crystallizing opposition in this 
country” to the United Nations idea. Stettin- 
ius himself offered it to Roosevelt because 
something was needed “to reassure public 
Opinion in the United States and elsewhere.” 
(Conferences at Malta and Yalta, pp. 98, 
101.) 

+ Molotov’s rejection argued that even the 
mild American démarche “envisaged a 
broader interpretation of the Crimea deci- 
sions . . . than corresponds with the facts. 

The declaration in question . . . is based 
upon the presence ... of Allied Control 
Commissions.” (See Conference of Berlin, I, 
p. 398.) 

+ Churchill later wrote: “If I pressed 
[Stalin] too much he might say, ‘I did not 
interfere with your action in Greece; why 
do you not give me the same latitude in 
Rumania?’ . . . I was sure it would be a 
mistake to embark on such an argument.” 
(Triumph and Tragedy, p. 420-21.) 

It is often claimed that the Churchill-. 
Stalin deal was meant to last only until the 
end of the war, and that Soviet unilateral 
actions in the liberated countries violated 
the Yalta agreement. (Churchill, Triumph 
and Tragedy, p. 227; Byrnes, Speaking 
Frankly, p. 73.) Neither claim stands up to 
careful examination. 

Although Churchill initially tried to se- 
cure Roosevelt’s and the Cabinet’s agree- 
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“the most. 
ment to his arrangements with the argument 
that they would last only for the duration 
of the war, and although in 1953 he was 
to make the same claim, there is no evi- 
dence that Churchill ever reached such an 
understanding with Stalin. On the contrary, 
it was only too obvious that the agreement 
would have lasting influence, and it was 
precisely for this reason—to protect the 
British position in Greece—that Churchill 
promoted it. Furthermore, after German ca- 
pitulation, in correspondence and talks with 
Stalin, Churchill explicitly acknowledged the 
continuing obligations of the arrangement. 
(Triumph and Tragedy, pp. 74, 75, 77-78, 
227, 560, 636; Woodward, British Foreign 
Policy, pp. 307-08.) 

More important, however, is the fact that 
the agreement was directly translated into 
the armistice terms, which specifically en- 
dorsed Soviet predominant influence. Again, 
though the West hoped to improve its 
status after the war, the agreements make 
ne provision for this. As Lord Strang has 
stated, the result of even the more moder- 
ate Bulgarian armistice terms “was to open 
the way for exclusive Soviet influence.” 
(Strang, At Home and Abroad, p. 225.) 
And indeed, before Roosevelt agreed to the 
terms of the armistices, Harriman carefully 
and explicitly warned him that they ac- 
knowledged Soviet control over internal pol- 
itics. (Feis, Churchill, Roosevelt, Stalin, pp. 
415-16, 448-57.) 

Finally, besides the fact that the broadly 
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A REVERSAL OF VIEWPOINT 

WITH THE DEATH of Roosevelt, however, the State Department 

found itself with a second opportunity to press the case for an active 

American interest in the Soviet sphere of influence. It now seemed 

possible that actions to implement the broad ideals of the Yalta Dec- 

laration might be taken. By May 10, Secretary Stimson, sensing a 

State Department campaign to commit the new President, and fearing 

the consequences of a new initiative, noted that it was “time to take 

precautions against a stampede into a dangerous reversal of our view- 

point. . . namely, not to get mixed up in a Balkan row.”®* On the 

same day, he advised Truman: “We have made up our minds on the 

broad policy that it was wise not to get into the Balkan mess even if 

the thing seemed: to be disruptive of policies which the State Depart- 

ment thought were wise.” He reminded the new President that “we 

have taken that policy right from the beginning, Mr. Roosevelt having 

done it himself or having been a party to it himself.”°” 

At first, Truman seemed briefly to accept Stimson’s advice.®® But 

during the period immediately preceding Hopkins’s mission, true to 

his basic view that the United States had a vital interest in the prob- — 

lems of the entire Continent, the President accepted the strong views 

of the State Department by committing himself to an active policy of 

intervention in an area controlled by Yugoslavia.®® By the end of 

May, Truman had moved five divisions to the Brenner Pass and had 

shifted part of the Adriatic fleet north in a show of power which 

forced Tito to accept Western control of the important port of Tri- 

estes.” 

phrased Yalta Declaration in no way af- 
fected the armistice terms, as has been 
shown, Roosevelt quickly agreed to strike 
all of the operative clauses from the State 
Department’s proposal. The Declaration does 
indeed proclaim the ideal of ‘‘concerting the 
policies of the three Powers,” but after 
Roosevelt’s alterations, what was left was an 
agreement to consult only “when, in the 
opinion of the three governments, conditions 
. . . make such action necessary.” (Confer- 

ences at Malta and Yalta, p. 972.) Hence, 
the Russians were accorded full power to 
veto even the suggestion of consultations. 
Though the Secretary of State based much 
of his rhetoric on the Yalta Declaration, 

Byrnes was only too aware that its specific 
terms justified Soviet rejection of American 
approaches. (Speaking Frankly, p. 34.) 

For other information on the rights of 
the various powers under the Churchill- 
Stalin deal, the armistice arrangements, and 
the Yalta Declaration, see Conference of 
Berlin, I, pp. 211-17; Hull, Memoirs, 
I, p. 1458; Kennan, Russia and the West, 
p. 366; Roberts, Rumania, p. 266; Dennett 
and Johnson, Negotiating with the Russians, 
pp. 176-77. 

* For more information on this question, 
see Grew Papers, May 12-June 12, 1945; 
Stimson Diary, same dates; Feis, Between 
(Continued on next page) 
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_which—despite the Churchill-Stalin seleorent to. ‘share responsibil- 

ity—was not directly related to vital Soviet interests. As Grew noted 

after a meeting with the President on May 14, “It was generally 

agreed that Tito was not very sure of himself and it was not believed 

‘that Stalin would give him unlimited support.”** In areas of the 

__ Balkans more intimately related to Soviet interests, Truman initially 

showed similar enthusiasm for a firm American approach, but soon 

his actions became more subtly involved in the broader strategy of 

delay. 

In the first days of May, at a time when Truman was still committed 

to the immediate showdown approach in Poland, he suggested to 

Acting Secretary Grew that it would be wise for the United States 

to demonstrate its interest by calling home American representa- 

tives in protest over the situation in Rumania and Bulgaria.” Al- 

hee though the President quickly changed his mind and withdrew this 

proposal, he did not lose interest in Balkan affairs.** Even as he 

planned Hopkins’s conciliatory mission to Moscow, the President or- 

dered new State Department studies of the problem of the Balkans.™ 

And despite the fact that Churchill personally informed Truman of his 

arrangement with Stalin, and despite the President’s understanding 

that “Russian dominance in these countries had thus been recog- 

nized,”’+* Truman now accepted the State Department’s view that 

(Continued from preceding page) show of force regarding Trieste. Leahy 
War and Peace, pp. 40-46; Feis, Churchill, 
Roosevelt, Stalin, pp. 627-30; Clark, Calcu- 
lated Risk, pp. 443-45; Truman, Truman 
Speaks, pp. 70-71; Truman, Year of Deci- 
sions, pp. 244-45; Churchill, Triumph and 
Tragedy, pp. 552-55; Bryant, Triumph in 
the West 1943-46, p. 468. 

*Truman’s attitude is illuminated by 
Stimson’s diary eutry: “The Yugoslavs under 
Tito are retiring . . . and it has had such 
an inspiring effect upon our chief, the Pres- 
ident, that he had given Grew instructions 

. to give them force if they sought to , 
break back on the agreements. McCloy and 
I both thought that was a little overzealous 
-..” (Diary, June 12, 1945.) 
This is another case which shows how 

Truman gave priority to establishing Amer- 
ican influence in Eastern Europe and the 
Balkans. General Marshall’s advice that a 
strong stand on the Polish question might 
jeopardize the Japanese war effort had been 
rejected in late April. Marshall advanced 
the same argument in mid-May against a 
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noted that Marshall told the President that 
“every effort at any cost should be made to 
avoid a clash.” (Leahy Diary, May 11, 
1945, p. 81.) But Truman once more re- 
jected his advice. 

The point is of considerable importance 
for it is sometimes asserted that Truman’s 
conciliatory diplomacy vis-A-vis Europe in 
late May and June derived from agreement 
with Marshall that the war effort might be 
jeopardized. As has been argued before, and 
as the Trieste incident shows again, Truman 
was not in agreement with Marshall on this 
point. (For another interpretation, see Feis, 
Churchill, Roosevelt, Stalin, pp. 599-600.) 

+See also Byrnes’s statement that “we 
knew they had reached the informal under- 
standing that, if the British found it neces- 
sary to take military action to quell internal 
disorders in Greece, the Soviets would not 
interfere. In return, the British would rec- 
ognize the right of the Soviets to take the 
lead in maintaining order in Rumania.” 
(Speaking Frankly, p. 53.) 
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the Yalta Diédiaration provided a basis for American action in the 

liberated areas. Consequently, Truman devoted much time during the 

period from early May to early July to the study of ways in which he 

might reverse Roosevelt’s decision and implement the broad ideals of 

the Declaration once the temporary period of conciliation had come 

to an end.® 

In each country the situation facing the President was slightly 

different. Nowhere had the Russians installed Communist premiers. 

The State Department reported that in Hungary (“80 per cent” Soviet 

influence) power was exercised by “a coalition government headed by 

a conservative general [which] includes representatives of the five 

principal parties of the center and the left. . . . There has been no 

attempt. . . to substitute a purely leftist regime for the present coali- 

tion government.” However, the State Department believed that Com- 

munist political strength was increasing due to the presence of the 

Red Army. There were also minor complaints that the American 

members of the Control Commission suffered from restrictions under 

the Soviet interpretation of the accepted rules of procedure.™ 

In Bulgaria (“80 per cent” Soviet influence), the situation ap- 

peared to be slightly less favorable to the West. Four days after the 

armistice had been signed in October 1944 a popularly supported ~ 

coup d’état had installed a “Fatherland Front” government under 

Colonel Kimon Georgiev.** The new premier (whom the State De- 

partment’s representative described as “a true conservative”)® and 

four other Cabinet ministers were members of the moderately con- 

servative Zveno party. Four other Cabinet posts were controlled by 

Agrarians, four by Communists, and three by Social Democrats.” 

Although the Fatherland Front enjoyed considerable popularity in the 

country, the State Department considered it to be Communist-domi- 

nated.’ Fearing that an early election controlled by the government 

might give endorsement to the existing power distribution, the State 

Department had proposed tripartite observation to ensure free elec- 

tions even while the war was in progress, but when this suggestion 

was rejected the matter had been taken no further.” 

In Rumania (“90 per cent” Soviet influence), the Groza govern- 

ment installed by the Soviets shortly after Yalta had now consolidated 

its position. Although the government was responsive to the Soviet 

occupation authorities, the political situation was not clearly defined. 

Molotov had publicly proclaimed that the Soviet Union had no in- 
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tention of “changing the existing social order”: “73 Gron himself, a 

prosperous landowner and industrialist, had established a long anti- 

Communist record;*"* and the Russians permitted widespread pub- 

licity for speeches by Cabinet members attacking Communist direc- 

tives. As in Bulgaria, however, the State Department believed the 

Groza government to be Communist-dominated.’* In both Bulgaria 

_and Rumania, the State Department was also disturbed because the 

Soviet Union had already concluded bilateral trading agreements 

which paid little heed to the Department’s desire for more open, multi- 

lateral trading arrangements.” 

During the conciliatory months of May and June, Truman made no 

major effort to intervene directly in Balkan affairs. The only manifes- 

tation of his interest was an attempt to take advantage of the provi- 

sions of the Hungarian and Bulgarian armistice agreements which 

hinted at increased American representation on the Control Commis- 

sions after German capitulation. The President attempted to make the 

most of these slight loopholes in the agreements which authorized 

Soviet predominance in the area: Although the degree of representa- 

tion had not been defined for the “second phase,” and although there 

was no basis for such a modification in the Rumanian armistice, Tru- 

man instructed Ambassador Harriman to propose that the United 

States and Britain be accorded veto power over the actions of the 

Soviet commander in all three countries.+7® 

This initial attempt to undo the Churchill-Stalin understanding and 

the armistice agreements was greeted skeptically in London. Many 

months earlier, the Foreign Office had concluded that to press the 

Russians in Southeastern Europe would endanger the hope of postwar 

cooperation. It was believed that since the area had never experienced 

Western democracy, and since the war had “proletarianized” the 

_ population, there was likely to be far greater internal demand for 

stability than for Western political institutions. Opposition to the So- 

viet Union in an area vital to its security would be of little service to 

British policy.” Indeed, until the death of Roosevelt, none of the Big 

Three had acted upon the assumption that Soviet predominance could 

* Byrnes’s later reference to Groza as Hungary on June 1, Rumania on June 12, 
“the Communist leader” is mistaken. and Bulgaria on June 14. (Conference of 
(Speaking Frankly, p. 51.) Berlin, I, pp. 368, 399, 372-73, 364.) 

}{ Harriman made his approach regarding 
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be diteety challenged. Now, of the Big Three, Truman alone wished 

to act. The American ambassador in London reported that the For- 

eign Office believed it “useless” to make an approach to the Russians 

—“Moscow would never allow itself to be maneuvered into position 

where Brit[ish] and Amferican] Rep[resentatives] would be able to 

outvote Soviets. . . .””8° 

Truman disregarded this judgment and went ahead with his 

approach to Moscow. Undoubtedly to the surprise of the Foreign 

Office, the American initiative met with a favorable response. Stalin 

replied to Harriman’s request with a major concession in the Balkans 

—he would agree to modify the armistice terms so as to permit a 

Western veto on the Hungarian Control Commission, and he pro- 

posed that American and British representatives be accorded the privi- 

lege of prior consultation in Bulgaria and Rumania.* Stalin’s offer 

was made shortly after Hopkins had yielded on the Polish question— 

at a time when General Deane found a generally friendly atmosphere 

in Moscow**—but within a few weeks (during the Potsdam Confer- 

ence) the Soviet Premier went even further: He accepted the full 

American proposal, agreeing that Western representatives in Bulgaria 

and Rumania would be accorded the same powerful veto position as 

in Hungary.® 

Truman’s successful attempt to increase the status of his representa- 

tives in the Balkan countries was only an interim measure. A far more 

important policy objective was the promotion of democratic, Western- 

oriented governments pledged to early free elections. Although the 

President had no doubts about the desirability of reorganizing the 

governments in Rumania and Bulgaria, he did not present this de- 

mand to Moscow during May and June. In Poland, the President had 

been forced to abandon a hastily conceived showdown over the same 

issue once Stimson’s more subtle strategy had been accepted, and he 

did not make the mistake of attempting a premature confrontation on 

the Balkans. Instead, as in his handling of Far Eastern matters, Tru- 

man simply stalled. 

Although the President made no official moves, he lost no interest 

in the problem. When, for example, on May 10 Grew brought him a 

long cable from George Kennan, the chargé d’affaires in Moscow, 

warning of the deeper implications of Soviet Balkan policy, Truman, 

much interested in the report, told the Acting Secretary he was al- 
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he had told Grew and Ambassador Lane it would be desira le not to 

) exercise too much pressure while Hopkins negotiated, the President — 

_ made it absolutely clear that in due course he would act decisively to 

remove “the Soviet blackout” from the Balkans as well as the rest of 

Central and Eastern Europe. 85 

Although the President’s summer strategy of delay in the Balkans 

dictated patience and the postponement of an American initiative, 

there were strong indications, even to those not privy to his private 

calculations, that Truman was not prepared to accept the status quo. 

The decision not to accept the Georgiev and Groza governments was 

carried forward by Truman’s determined refusal to recognize either 

government after the collapse of Germany. Since opposition political 

leaders throughout the Balkans had already approached American 

representatives, searcning for some sign that the United States might 

champion their cause against the Soviet Union, the negative act of 

refusing to accord diplomatic recognition took on ever-increasing im- 

portance in the domestic politics of each country. It now became 

possible to hope that the United States would not accept the estab- 

lished governments.* Because Truman’s inaction was a powerful 

source of instability during the immediate postwar jockeying for polit- 

ical position, as the President’s Balkan representative Mark Ethridge 

has written, “the withholding of its accord” became an “important 

_ American instrument of pressure.”** 

Fully aware that the absence of American recognition was a de- 

stabilizing force in the Soviet sphere, Stalin raised the matter directly 

with Truman three weeks after German capitulation: “More than 

eight months have passed since Rumania and Bulgaria broke off rela- 

tions with Hitler Germany, signed an armistice with the Allied coun- 

tries, and entered the war on the Allied side. . . . The Soviet Govern- 

ment deems it proper and timely right away to resume diplomatic 

relations.”*’ But the strategy of delay in the Balkans, as elsewhere, 

was characterized by studied inaction. Although Truman did not 

judge it timely to press his own demands, neither would he yield 

anything of importance. His response to Stalin’s plea arrived in Mos- 

cow on June 2, while Hopkins was still negotiating, but the Presiden- 

* See below, pp. 208-210, 218-219. 
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tive, ‘fearing that the cable might upset his Cireilistory 

diplomacy, recommended that it be delivered only after he had left the 

Soviet Union.** Hence it was only on June 7 that Stalin received 

Truman’s complaint that the governments were “neither representa- 

tive of nor responsive to the will of the people.” Truman did not 

reveal his demand that the governments be changed, however. 

Vaguely promising “it is my sincere hope that the time may soon come 

when I can accredit formal diplomatic representatives,” Truman only 

suggested that it might be well to have discussions “in order to concert 

more effectively our policies and actions in this area.”* 

Stalin’s response implicitly directed attention to the absence of free 

elections and the subservience to American and British forces of the 

governments in the West: “The opportunities for the democratic ele- 

ments in Rumania and Bulgaria are not less than, say, in Italy, with 

which the Governments of the United States and the Soviet Union 

have already resumed diplomatic relations.” The Soviet Premier once 

more demanded immediate diplomatic recognition,®*® but on June 19 

Truman replied: “I am giving this matter further study. . . . I there- 

fore propose that we discuss it at our forthcoming meeting.”®? Stalin’s 

final pre-Potsdam communication was abrupt: “I maintain as hereto- 

fore that there is no justification for further delay in resuming diplo- 

matic relations with Rumania and Bulgaria.”®? 

Truman’s basic attitude disturbed the Foreign Office. Just before 

Potsdam, in a conversation with Assistant Secretary of State James C. 

Dunn, Sir Alexander Cadogan “expressed disagreement with our 

reluctance to conclude peace with Bulgaria, Rumania and Hun- 

gary and reiterated UK view that treaties of peace would solve our 

difficulties in those countries. . . .”°* Despite the British objections, 

however, as before, Truman simply ignored the advice. Thus, until the 

eve of the Potsdam meeting, on the one hand, the President refused to 

recognize the governments and, on the other, he held back his demand 

that they be changed. As in the Far East, he postponed action on the 

fundamental issue. 

As has been shown, in general, Truman’s strategy of delay was 

conceived in terms of the power the atomic bomb would eventually 

add to American diplomacy. From the very first, his decision to post- 

pone a confrontation with Stalin had derived from the belief that the 

atomic bomb would relate not only to the Far East, but to European 
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issues as well. Both Secretary Stimson and Secretary Byrnes had duped 

this view, and Byrnes, having stressed that the weapon might allow the - 

United States to dictate her own terms, had specifically argued that it 

would make Russia more manageable in Eastern Europe. It is not 

surprising, therefore, to find that the President’s own view of the Bal- 

kan issue followed the logic of this approach. 

Indeed, on June 6, Truman had been specific in stating to Stimson 

_ that once the new weapon was demonstrated it would be useful in 

achieving a satisfactory solution to the Balkan as well as to the Polish 

and Manchurian problems. He said that in this area, too, he believed a 

settlement would be reached when the Russians granted quid pro quos 

in exchange for admitting them to partnership for international con- 

trol of the new atomic force. 
At the same time that he offered this view, the President and his 

Secretary of War had-discussed the best tactics to employ in approach- 

ing the broad problem. As we have seen, Stimson had advised Truman 

that “the greatest complication” would arise if the bomb had not been 

conclusively demonstrated before the meeting with Stalin. Although 

Truman had postponed the Potsdam Conference in order to give the 

physicists more time, Stimson had “pointed out that there might stiil 

be delay.” He had also told the President the Interim Committee 

recommended “that there should be no revelation to Russia or anyone 

else of our work in [the atomic bomb] until the first bomb had been 

successfully laid on Japan.” If, as Stimson thought possible, this had 

not occurred by the time of the meeting, and if “the Russians should 

bring up the subject and ask us to take them in as partners,” the 

Secretary had urged that “our attitude was to. . . make the simple 

statement that as yet we were not quite ready to do it.” 

_ In this discussion Stimson had underscored a new and important 

point. Although in mid-May he had urged only that Truman should 

not “have it out with Russia” until he knew for certain “whether this 

[was] a weapon in our hands or not,” during the Interim Committee 

discussions the strategy of delay had become much more specific. In 

the first week of June, Stimson advised that mere knowledge of the 

success of the atomic test would not be enough to influence the power 

realities; it would first be necessary to publicly demonstrate the 

weapon by “laying it on Japan” before Stalin could be expected to be 
greatly impressed. If the heads-of-government meeting took place be- 
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foté the battle demonstration there would be “the greatest complica- 

tion.” 

Truman’s agreement with this new recommendation had pro- 

foundly ironic implications. Throughout the month preceding the 

Truman-Stalin meeting, Stimson’s fear that the bomb might not be 

publicly demonstrated before the negotiations proved to be only too 

correct. Although, as J. Robert Oppenheimer has testified, “I don’t 

think there was a time where we worked harder at the speed-up than 

in the period after the German surrender,”®* by the end of June it was 

certain that the bomb would not be “laid on Japan” until early Au- 

gust.°” Thus, Truman’s twice-postponed meeting still would occur a 

few weeks too early for the atomic bomb to strengthen his diplomatic 

hand. In fact, as Stimson advised, the President should not even reveal 

the weapon to Stalin until it was shown in a dramatic battle demon- 

stration. 

The President now had no alternative but to go ahead with the 

arrangements for a mid-July heads-of-government conference. But it 

was clear that he could not yet press his diplomatic demands to a 

showdown. Ironically, the logic of his position ensured that the much 

heralded confrontation with Stalin could only be a modified continua- 

tion of the strategy of delay! Undoubtedly the hobbles the technolog- 

ical timetable now placed upon the President’s diplomacy must have ~ 

been extremely frustrating, for he was committed to a meeting which 

would take place a scant two weeks too early to be decisive. In a letter 

to his family written on July 3, Truman made no attempt to hide his 

feelings: “I am getting ready to go see Stalin and Churchill, and it is a 

chore. ... Wish I didn’t have to go, but I do, and it can’t be stopped 

now.”®® On the voyage to Europe he wrote to complain again: “I wish 

this trip was over. I hate it. But it has to be done.”*® 

POTSDAM 

DESPITE THE DEEP IRONY that inevitably Truman would not be 

able to force matters to a showdown in his talks with Stalin, there was 

now no longer any reason why the President could not state the full 

American position. By the time the two heads of government had met, 

Truman would know the results of the atomic test, and the battle 

demonstration in Japan would be only a few weeks off. There would 
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sonally present the United Seats proposals. Thus, Truman 

Stalin arrangement, the armistice agreement, and Roosevelt’s Yalta 

decisions.°° The day Truman sailed from Norfolk, Virginia, Acting 

Secretary of State Grew revealed to the American ambassador in 

London that the previously rejected State Department position had 

now become official policy. Although Roosevelt had excised the oper- 

ative clauses of the Yalta Declaration, Grew now cabled: “You may 

. . . tell Fo[reign] Offfice] that . . . at forthcoming highest-level dis- 

cussions we intend to press strongly proposals for implementation. 
99101 

The decision to state the full American case at Potsdam—at a time 

when a final showdown could not be expected to occur—produced a 

curious combination of firm demands, unyielding rejections of Soviet 

proposals, and most of all, continued willingness to postpone all ques- 

tions in dispute. As is apparent, the subtleties involved in such a nego- 

tiating posture cannot easily be understood without reference to the 

atomic bomb. Nor can they be explained without recognizing that 

there had as yet been no reason to modify the existing strategy of 

delay. At the time, British diplomats found the American approach 

quite confusing—until they learned more of the atomic bomb.* It is 

not surprising that students of the problem who have not had access to 

previously classified information have also been confused. Undoubt- 

edly, the scarcity of material (and the fact that the American ap- 

proach ultimately failed) accounts for the poverty of scholarship in 

this matter,+ and that, so far as I know, the American approach to 

Eastern Europe and the Balkans at Truman’s only meeting with Stalin 

has not been adequately described. 

Secretary of State Byrnes has written that both he and the President 

felt the attempt to reduce or eliminate Soviet influence in Southeastern 

Europe to be one of the most important objectives of American 

diplomacy at Potsdam.’ As a matter of fact, once the Conference 

began, American proposals regarding this area precipitated the first 

prolonged discussions of the meeting.*°* Truman later described as the 

* See below, pp. 152-154. especially his mistaken view that the United 
+See for example, Woodward, British States “gave up hope” of influencing the 

Foreign Policy, pp. 552-53, 555-57. Note _ politics of the Balkans (p. 557). 
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with him a bluntly worded paper aimed at reversing the Churchill- 



rest debate” of the entire ok aoe his Sent with Stalin over 
the issue.°* And Admiral Leahy never qualified his statement that — ‘ 

“Stalin suffered his greatest defeat” in connection with the Balkan 

discussions at Potsdam.!% 

Thus, unquestionably the American delegation ascribed great im- 

portance to its proposals involving the Soviet sphere of influence. Be- 

cause they felt them to be far more important than have latter-day 

students of the problem, and because Truman’s characteristic yet 

subtle approach to the Balkan issues provides a perfect illustration of 

the continued strategy of delay in action, it is useful to isolate, day by 

day, the attitudes and maneuvers of the President and his advisers and 

to relate them to the reports of the atomic bomb which flowed con- 

tinuously from New Mexico and Washington to Berlin. 

Truman arrived at Potsdam during the late afternoon of Sunday, 

July 15.*°* As Stimson had promised, on Monday, July 16, at 5:30 

A.M. (local time) the first successful atomic test took place at the 

Alamogordo site, in New Mexico.’ A cryptic report reached the 

Secretary of War early the evening of the same day: “Operated on this 

morning. Diagnosis not yet complete but results seem satisfactory and 

already exceed expectations. . . .”1°° This message was immediately 

brought to the attention of the President and the Secretary of State. 

“Truman and Byrnes. . . were of course greatly interested,” Stimson 

noted, “although the information was still in very general terms.”*” 

The following day, after Stalin had suggested that Truman take the 

chair at the opening plenary session of the Conference, the President 

wasted no time in stating his full position. “Seizing this hoped-for 

opportunity to take the offensive,” Admiral Leahy confided to his 

diary, Truman “presented at once, without permitting any interrup- 

tion, the . . . proposals for the agenda which we had prepared. 

. . .”40 Tn striking contrast to Roosevelt, who had habitually al- 

lowed Stalin and Churchill to take the lead,‘’* Truman confidently 

produced detailed American proposals for the broad range of issues 

he intended to discuss during the Conference.* Taking up Eastern 

Europe, the President bluntly asserted that the obligations of the three 

governments undertaken in accord with the Yalta Declaration had not 

* Compare Roosevelt’s letter to Stalin be- these discussions informal, and I have no 
fore Yalta: “We understand each other’s reason for formal agenda.” (Feis, Churchill, 
problems and as you know, I like to keep Roosevelt, Stalin, p. 497.) 
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been fulfilled. He quoted the State Department’s prepared statement 

of steps required to implement the Declaration, demanding: 

1. “. . . the immediate reorganization of the present governments in 

Rumania and Bulgaria . . .” 
2. “. . . immediate consultations to . . . include representatives of 

all significant democratic elements . . .” 
3. three power assistance “. . . in the holding of free and unfettered 

elections.”1!2 

In essence, the demands were precisely those which Truman had 

‘pressed in the first showdown over Poland: a reorganization of the 

government and immediate free elections. 

The first plenary session, of course, was devoted only to listing 

items for the agenda.’”* The three foreign ministers were instructed to 

review the proposed items and to suggest specific questions for the 

heads of government.*** Before discussion of the President’s proposals 

_by the foreign ministers, however, further word of the atomic test was 

received from New Mexico. Again the coded message was written in 

general terms, but it indicated far greater power than had been ex- 

pected. It implied that the blast could be heard at a distance of fifty 

miles and seen at a distance of 250 miles.1° “I at once took [the 

message] to the President, who was highly delighted, . . .” Stimson 

records. “The President was evidently very greatly re-enforced .. . 

and said he was very glad I had come to the meeting. . . .”1*6 

The following day (July 19) at the foreign ministers’ meeting, 

Byrnes requested that the President’s paper on the implementation of 

the Yalta agreement be put on the agenda for the Big Three.” This 

was agreed to, but at the plenary session Stalin asked that the subject 

be put off because the Soviet delegation had a proposal of its own to 

make regarding this set of issues.14* Consequently, discussion of the 

problem was once more briefly delayed. However, in private conver- 

sation with Churchill on the previous day, Stalin had already indicated 

his general reaction to the American proposal. As the Prime Minister 

reported it, Stalin was clearly affirming his continued adherence to the 

spheres-of-influence arrangement: The Soviet Premier “. . . said that 

he had been hurt by the American demand for a change in Govern- 

ment in Rumania and Bulgaria. He was not meddling in Greek affairs, 

and it was unjust of them.’’2”® 
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When Molotov took up the issue now referred to the July 20 for- 
eign ministers’ meeting, he gave a more detailed presentation of this 

basic response. Molotov introduced a new Soviet statement, which 

combined a rejection of the American proposal with a strong attack 

on the situation in Greece. The Soviet paper called attention to the 

fact that the governments in both Bulgaria and Rumania were ful- 

filling the armistice agreements. Rejecting the American suggestion - 

for a reorganization of the governments, it stated that the Soviet 

government saw no reason for the powers to become involved in the 

domestic affairs of Bulgaria and Rumania. Molotov went on to urge 

restoration of diplomatic ties “in the nearest days.” Then, switching to 

the offensive, he stated: “There is one country—Greece—in which no 

due order still exists, where law is not respected, where terrorism rages 

directed against democratic elements. . .” Molotov concluded that it 

was necessary to take action to establish democratic government in 

Greece.12° 

Despite this use of the Greek issue to underscore the abrogation of 

the spheres-of-influence agreement,* the primary focus of attention of 

the meeting was the status of the established Bulgarian and Rumanian 

governments. In fact, the general debate over recognition begun dur- 

ing May and June by Truman and Stalin was now brought to a climax 

by the foreign ministers. Molotov demanded immediate recognition of 

the Georgiev and Groza governments. Byrnes stated that the United 

States “could not recognize them at this time.”!?* The Secretary of 

State repeated Truman’s demand for reorganization of the govern- 

ments and supervision of elections. He also urged that American press 

representatives be allowed to observe freely and to report on condi- 

tions in the countries.’*? Molotov steadily refused to alter the status 

quo or to accept supervision of the elections. However, he said he had 

“no objection to” improving the position of American press repre- 

sentatives, and he offered to consider written suggestions regarding 

both the elections and freedom of the press.” 

While these were being drafted,’** a third report on the atomic test 

arrived by special courier. This presented a detailed, full-length de- 

* Another instance of this occurred after slavia. Bevin suggested they drop both is- 
Attlee replaced Churchill. Stalin presented sues, and Stalin immediately Teplied: “Yes, 
another series of charges against Greece in welcome.” (Byrnes, Speaking Frankly, p. 
retaliation for a British paper on Yugo- 75.) 
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A brief Feet Biere a sense of ite udiomant 

. in a remote section of the Alamogordo Air Base, New Mexico, 
the first full scale test was made of the implosion type atomic fission 

bomb. For the first time in history there was a nuclear explosion. . . . 
The test was successful beyond the most optimistic expectations of 

~ anyone . . . I estimate the energy generated to be in excess of the 
equivalent of 15,000 to 20,000 tons of TNT; and this is a conservative 

estimate. 

The feeling of the entire assembly was . . . profound awe. .. .* 

The arrival of this report on J uly 21 was the psychological turning 

point of the Conference. “It was an immensely powerful document, 

clearly and well written and with supporting documents of the highest 

importance,” Stimson noted. “It gave a pretty full and eloquent report 

of the tremendous success of the test and revealed far greater destruc- 

tive power than we expected. . . .” Stimson’s diary entry continues: 

J then went over to the “Little White House” and saw President Tru- 
man. I asked him to call in Secretary Byrnes and then I read the report 

in its entirety and we then discussed it. They were immensely pleased. 

The President was tremendously pepped “ by it and spoke to me of it 

again and again when I saw him. 

The Secretary of War concludes: “He said it gave him an entirely new 

feeling of confidence and he thanked me for having come to the Con- 

ference and being present to help him in this way.’”!”® ; 

That the atomic report did help by producing a new sense of con- 

fidence in the President’s power to secure his diplomatic objectives is 

evidenced by Truman’s attitude at the plenary session which took 

place almost immediately after his meeting with Stimson. In the 

course of the discussion, Stalin decided to raise the Balkan issue di- 

rectly with the President. He proposed an amendment to the Amer- 

ican proposal, asking immediate recognition of the governments of the 

liberated countries.'*° Truman’s confidence—and, indeed, his blunt- 

ness—is apparent even from the official third-person report of the 

discussion: 

* For the entire report see Conference of 
Berlin, Il, pp. 1361-71. 
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_ countries were established on a proper basis, the United States would 
recognize them and not before. The President stated that the meeting 
would proceed and that this question would be passed over.!27 

This declaration precisely stated Truman’s basic view at Potsdam. 

He would not agree to the Soviet position; he had stated his own. 

demand; and he was quite prepared to pass over the matter at this 

time.* Churchill was struck by Truman’s new confidence, and the 

next day, after Stimson had read the full-length report to the Prime 

Minister, he reflected on the President’s attitude. Stimson recorded: 

[Churchill] told me that he had noticed at the meeting of the Three 

yesterday that Truman was evidently much fortified by something 

that had happened and that he stood up to the Russians in a most em- 
phatic and decisive manner, telling them as to certain demands that 
they absolutely could not have and that the United States was entirely 

against them. He said “Now I know what happened to Truman yes- 

terday. I couldn’t understand it. When he got to the meeting after 
having read this report he was a changed man. He told the Russians 
just where they got on and off and generally bossed the whole meet- 

ing.” Churchill said he now understood how this pepping up had 

taken place and that he felt the same way. His own attitude confirmed 

this admission. . . .1% 

Thus, the first effect of the atomic bomb was a simple, yet pro- 

foundly important one—it confirmed the President’s belief that he 

would have enough power to reverse Roosevelt’s policy and attempt 

actively to influence events in the Soviet sphere of influence. It would, 

however, still be a few weeks before the battle demonstration of the 

new weapon. Hence, the full impact of the new weapon upon the 

diplomatic and power balance could not yet be tested. From Truman’s 

point of view, therefore, after the July 21 meeting of the heads of 

government there was no reason to press matters any further. And, 

indeed, since Stalin and Truman both held their ground, no further 

* See also the President’s stand on July recognize these governments until they are 
24: reorganized . 
Truman. We are asking reorganization of TRUMAN. May I suggest that we again refer 

these governments along democratic the matter to the Foreign Ministers? 
ee —Conference of Berlin, Ul, pp. 371-72. 

Truman. I have made clear we will not 
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substantive progress was made on the Balkan issues. The final pro- 

tocol recorded the agreement for improved Control Commission pro- 

cedures discussed earlier and accepted in final form at the meeting. It 

stated that “the Three Governments have no doubt” that representa- 

tives of the Allied press would now enjoy full freedom to report; and it 

diplomatically papered over the stalemate on the fundamental issue: 

- “The Three Governments agree to examine each separately in the 

near future, in the light of conditions then prevailing, the establish- 

ment of diplomatic relations . . .”*1?° 

The American delegation was quite pleased with this outcome; the 

final issue had been successfully delayed and, as Admiral Leahy 

noted, although Stalin “tried every trick in the book, [he] did not 

succeed in getting the diplomatic recognition he sought.”+**° Truman, 

who had not really wanted to come to the inevitably premature Con- 

ference in the first place, was now convinced that nothing more could 

be accomplished at this time. “The United States was standing firm,” 

he told Stimson on July 23. (The Secretary noted that “he was appar- 

ently relying greatly upon the information as to [the atomic bomb].”)*** 

‘And, the following day, “The President was frank about his desire to 

close the Conference and get away. . . .”18? 

A PROBLEM OF FRANKNESS 

DESPITE THEIR OBJECTIONS, before the Potsdam meeting began, 

the Foreign Office had informed the State Department that “British 

officials at Potsdam would support the American view [of the Balkan 

issues] even though they had little hope that the Soviet Government 

would agree to it.”"*? However, the First Secretary of the Embassy in 

Washington had told an American official “it was his understanding 

that if the Soviet Government does not agree to the U.S. position the 

_ British officials will then endeavor to persuade the U.S. to agree to the 

* Note that early in the Conference Tru- 
man agreed that “observation” of the elec- 
tions was as good as “supervision.” (Con- 

ference of Berlin, Ul, p. 166; Truman, Year 
of Decisions, p. 362.) 

For a detailed discussion of how these 
agreements were reached, see references 
provided under “Yalta Declaration,” Confer- 
ence of Berlin, Il, p. 1643. 
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} His basic “trick” was to refuse to ac- 
cept the American proposals for Italy unless 
his proposals for the Balkans were accepted. 
In the end, as might be expected, agree- 
ment was reached to postpone both issues. 
(See Conference of Berlin, Il, pp. 168-69, 
207, 1492.) 



oe : THE TACTICS OF THE POTSDAM CONFERENCE (1) 

early recognition of the two governments.”!** This view, of course, 

reflected Churchill’s appraisal (made in mid-1944 and held consis- 

tently until Potsdam) that the West would not be able substantially to 

influence Soviet policy in the Balkans. 

The State Department’s successful attempt to convince the Foreign 

Office to adopt an initially parallel position on Balkan and other ques- 

tions, of course, marked the end of Truman’s temporary effort to 

avoid “ganging up” against the Russians during the short period of 

conciliation.* However, Churchill was still nervous about breaking 

the spheres-of-influence arrangements he had promoted. On July 18, 

after the vague first report of the atomic test, the Prime Minister 

dined alone with Stalin and noncommittally replied to the Soviet 

Premier’s protests by stating he had not yet seen the American pro- 

posals.**° But when the full report of the successful test arrived, his 

reservations disappeared. “From that moment our outlook on the fu- 

ture was transformed,” Churchill has testified. “We were in the pres- 

ence of a new factor in human affairs, and possessed of powers which 

were irresistible.”’°° The Foreign Office never made the projected 

effort to convince the United States to recognize the Bulgarian and 

Rumanian governments. Instead, they gave active and powerful sup- 

port to the American Balkan demands.**” 

Churchill’s unhesitating breach of the agreements he himself had 

originally proposed confirms the impact of the atomic bomb upon his 

estimate of the power realities. The Balkans, which had once seemed 

beyond the reach of Western diplomacy, now again seemed acces- 

sible.t Lord Alanbrooke’s diary entry for July 22 offers a glimpse 

of Churchill’s state of mind and an indirect reflection of American 

attitudes: 

[The Prime Minister] . . . had absorbed all the minor American ex- 

aggerations and, as a result, was completely carried away. . . . We 

* See above, pp. 69-70. 
+ Churchill’s action illuminates the diffi- 

cult question of what Truman might have 
done had the atomic test failed. It is prob- 
able that Truman himself could not have 
answered this question in advance, for, un- 
like Churchill, Truman made his calcula- 
tions on the basis of the extremely confi- 
dent predictions of the Secretary of War. 
Nevertheless, Grew records that on May 31 
Truman did ask for studies “of what points 
we should stand out for and on what points 

we could compromise or yield.” (Confer- 
ence of Berlin, I, p. 158fn.) Although Tru- 
man would probably have begun with the 
same proposals, it is difficult to judge which 
points he might have yielded at Potsdam— 
or subsequently—had the atomic test failed 
and the American Army been withdrawn 
from Europe. Churchill’s preatomic view 
that the Balkans were the first place to 
yield, and his postatomic change, are prob- 
ably the best guide to the Anglo-American 
judgment of the power realities at the time. 
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- with the Russians. The decket of this ‘ope and the power to use 

it would completely alter the diplomatic equilibrium which was adrift 

since the defeat of Germany. Now we had a new value which redressed 

our position (pushing cut his chin and ee now we could say, 

“If you insist on doing this or that, well . . .” And then where are 

the Russians!198 i 

Alanbrooke subsequently commented that Churchill 

was already seeing himself capable of eliminating all the Russian 

centres of industry and population. . . . He had at once painted a 

wonderful picture of himself as the sole possessor of these bombs and 

capable of dumping them where he wished, thus all-powerful and 

capable of dictating to Stalin!1®® 

- One result of Churchill’s new confidence was, as Stimson noted, 

that the Prime Minister “not only was not worried about giving the 

Russians information of the matter but was rather inclined to use it as 

an argument in our favor in the negotiations.”**° It was only after he 

tead the full report of the test that Churchill reached the conclusion 

that Stalin ought to be informed; but American officials had come to 

this view a few weeks earlier. In fact, the Interim Committee’s initial — 

recommendation that nothing should be said of the new weapon until 

it had been “laid on Japan” had been slightly modified on the eve of 

the Potsdam meeting. 

Under pressure from nuclear scientists working at the University of 

Chicago, the scientific panel had reconsidered the initial recommenda- 

tion at a meeting held on June 16.*** The basic proposal of the scien- 

tists was presented in a report drafted by Dr. James Franck. The 

report argued that it was futile to hope the secret of the new weapon 

could be maintained. It stressed that an attempt to do so was bound to 

stimulate a desperate arms race, and that the United States, with its 

large centers of population and industry, would eventually be at a 

great disadvantage. It urged that the only hope lay in international 

control of the new force and concluded, therefore, that it would be 

unwise to use the weapon in a manner which might prejudice inter- 
national cooperation. Suggesting a technical demonstration of the 
bombs, it strongly recommended against a surprise attack upon Ja- 
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nd even allied countries hich bce less mistrust of our : 

ways and intentions . . . may be deeply shocked by this step.”* 

Although the scientific panel rejected the basic cel of the 

Franck report, it did agree that circumstances of the wartime use of — 

the weapon might affect prospects for international cooperation.” It 

therefore recommended that the Soviet government be informed of — 

the new weapon’s existence before it was used.'4* This recommenda- 

tion was unanimously approved by the Interim Committee on June 

21." On July 3, Stimson carried the final recommendation to the 

President: 

He should look sharp and, if he found that he thought that Stalin was 
on good enough terms with him, he should shoot off at him what we 

had arranged .. . simply telling him that we were busy with this 
thing working like the dickens and we knew he was busy with this 
thing and working like the dickens and that we were pretty nearly 
ready and we intended to use it against the enemy, Japan; that if it 
was Satisfactory we proposed to then talk it over with Stalin after- 
wards, with the purpose of having it make the world peaceful and safe 

rather than to destroy civilization. If he pressed for details and facts, 
Truman was simply to tell him that we were not yet prepared to give 
them. The President listened attentively and then said that he under- 

stood and he thought that was the best way to do it.# . 

The following day, July 4, Stimson mentioned this conclusion to the 

British members of the Combined Policy Committee: “If nothing was 

said . . . its subsequent early use might have a serious effect on the 

relations of frankness between the three great Allies. . . .”*** The 

Secretary of War also took it up with Churchill at Potsdam on July 

17—after the first cryptic report, but before the full-length report. At 

this point Churchill took a strong stand against mentioning the 

weapon to Stalin.1*7 The next day Truman discussed it with the Prime 

Minister. Churchill reports: “On behalf of His Majesty’s Government 

I did not resist his proposed disclosure of the simple fact that we have 

this weapon. He reiterated his resolve at all costs to refuse to divulge 

*See Bulletin of the Atomic Sc‘entists, 
May 1946, for full report. Also Hewlett 
and Anderson, The New World, p. 366; 
Feis, Japan Subdued, pp. 40-43; Smith, 
“Behind the Decision to Use the Atomic 
Bomb,” Bulletin of the Atomic Scientists, 
XIV (October 1958). 

Former President Eisenhower has recently 
disclosed that at Potsdam he too advised 
Stimson that Japan was “already defeated,” 
that the atomic bomb should not be used, 
and that the United States should “avoid 
shocking world opinion.” (See Eisenhower, 
Mandate for Change, pp. 312-13.) 
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any particulars. . 1 a8 As we have: seen, once the full gee came 

in, Churchill’s attitude switched from opposition and passive acqui- 

escence to strong approval of the idea. | 

Thus, it was with Churchill’s agreement that on July 24—the day 

after he decided it was time to close the Conference as soon as pos- 

sible—Truman casually mentioned to Stalin that a new weapon of 

: unusual force had been developed.'*® However, he used neither the 

word “nuclear” nor the word “atomic,” and Churchill, who was 

watching the encounter with intense interest, “was sure that [Stalin] 

had no idea of what he was being told.”!°° Indeed, immediately after 

his conversation Truman boasted to the Prime Minister: “He never 

asked a question!”**' Both Byrnes and Leahy confirm that, despite the 

‘recommendation of the Interim Committee and the Secretary of War, 

when the actual discussion took place Truman did not teli Stalin that 

an atomic weapon had been developed.**"? Instead, apparently hoping 

that his action might allow him to rebut future charges that he had 

been less than frank with the Soviet ally, Truman offered only the 

vaguest hint of the weapon. As we shall see, for reasons intimately 

related to the fundamental logic of his strategy, the President had 

decided that the actual disclosure of the new sites would also be 

delayed.+ 

* This is often misunderstood. See, for (Craven and Cate, Air Forces in World 
example, the erroneous statement that War II, Vol. V, p. 712.) 
“Stalin was told of the new weapon...” T See below, p. 183. 
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CHAPTER VI 

The Tactics 

of the 

Potsdam 

Conference (Il) 

[The atomic bomb] is tying in with what 

we are doing in all fields . . . 

; —SECRETARY OF WAR 

HEnry L. STIMSON 

July 23, 1945 

AS EARLY AS the first week of June it had been assumed that the 

atomic bomb would strengthen American diplomacy only after it was 

demonstrated in combat. This view was inevitably reinforced by the 

Potsdam decision to keep the atomic test secret from Stalin. From 

Truman’s point of view, therefore, there was now even less reason to 

begin serious negotiations; the President was extremely impatient with 

the discussions, and he did not conceal his belief that there was little 

point to continuing the diplomatic sparring at Potsdam.} His desire to 

end the Conference as soon as possible was indicated to Stalin on July 

24 (although as yet no major agreements had been reached) when 

Truman declared that “when there was nothing more upon which they . 

could agree, he was returning home.” On the same day, Byrnes told 

Molotov that “the United States delegation wants to dispose of pend- 

ing matters so that the Conference can end.”? 

Truman’s attitude had important tactical implications. As one ob- 

* The word “tactics” must be emphasized 
here even more than in the preceding chap- 
ter. The German reparations issue here con- 
sidered involved extremely complicated ne- 
gotiations which I have only attempted to 
summarize. If one bears in mind the limita- 
tions discussed in footnote on p. 171, it 

may be helpful to consult the more detailed 
summary in Conference of Berlin, II (pp. 
940-49). 

+ Truman later recalled: “I was becoming 
very impatient, and on a number of occa- 
sions I felt like blowing the roof off the 
palace.” (Year of Decisions, p. 369.) 
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conducted sidey the threat of. imminent ‘American depar ure, 

remarked at the time, the American delegation was in the best of 

spirits. Ambassador Harriman also “commented on the increasing 

cheerfulness evidently caused by the news from us [of the atomic 

~ test].”> On J uly 24, Stimson recorded: “[The President] told me about 

the events of yesterday’s meeting with which he seemed to be very 

satisfied.”® And on July 28, Secretary of the Navy Forrestal noted: 

“(The President] said he was being very realistic with the Russians and 

found Stalin not difficult to do business with.”” Later, Byrnes was to 

recall that even the difficult debate and the stalemate over Bulgaria © 

and Rumania “perhaps should have stifled my SpHmisat, but it 

didn’t.”** 

The American delegation’s sense of satisfaction and confidence, 

apparent to all firsthand observers, also marked its approach to what 

Byrnes termed “the most difficult issue before us—Germany.”* Con- 

sidering that most writers have agreed with Byrnes’s view that Ger- 

many was the most significant problem discussed at Potsdam, it is vital 

to recognize that Truman’s July 23 decision to end the Conference 

quickly was taken before the heads of government or the foreign min- 

isters had even begun serious consideration of the main issues in dis- 

pute. And, as both Truman and Byrnes were to make clear during the 

remainder of the Conference, if the Russians did not find the Amer- 

ican proposals for Germany acceptable, the United States delegation 

was quite prepared to leave with no agreement; the matter could be 

taken up at a later date. Thus, the tactics followed in dealing with the 

Balkan issues were to be followed in the treatment of Germany as 

well. 

_ The American approach to Germany was a logical extension of the 

basic desire to establish a stable Europe. Together with the Balkan 

demands, the proposals for Germany constituted the core of the poli- 

cies Truman and Byrnes thought it important to urge at Potsdam.?° 

asi It is true that some Americans were seem to have been greatly worried. After a 
disturbed by Soviet suggestions for a base discussion with Truman on July 23, Stimson 
in the Dardanelles and for Soviet participa- recorded: “He evidently thinks a good deal 
tion in a trusteeship for one of the Italian of the new claims of the Russians are 
colonies. However, the President does not bluff . . .” (Diary, July 23, 1945.) 
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‘not derive from a feeling of despair. On the contrary, as Stimson 



politically stable: Continental system. * : 
Truman found that there was not much disagreement with his sug- 

gested political principles for postwar Germany; with little dispute, the “eae 

Conference endorsed the American proposal on July 18.1! However, 

at the time Truman began to search for a way to close the Conference, 
\ . . . . . ° ' 

the subcommittee considering the crucial economic issues reached a 

deadlock.’? This caused some worry, for as Stimson had urged 

throughout the summer, and as American economic experts stressed, 

there was need for a cooperative settlement: “The Russian zone [is] 

the ‘bread basket’ of Germany, while the [Western] zones together 

constitute a deficit food area.”!* Accordingly, although Truman was 

prepared to leave Potsdam without an understanding,j he and Byrnes 

went to considerable lengths to attempt to force agreement on Amer- 

ican terms. 
Again, there was not much difficulty in the negotiations over gen- 

eral principles for the economic administration of Germany. The real 

controversy arose over the basic question of the scale and power to be 

permitted the postwar German economy. The level of reparation 

withdrawals was the heart of the matter, for a decision on this issue 

would determine what was to be left in Germany and would control a 

host of other subsidiary questions. At Yalta, Roosevelt had agreed to 

establish a Reparations Commission charged with responsibility for 

creating a detailed plan and for “the fixing of the total sum” of repara- 

tion payments to be made by Germany. It was agreed that the Com- 

mission would 

take in its initial studies as a basis for discussion the suggestion of the 

Soviet Government that the total sum of the reparation . . . should 

be 20 billion dollars and that 50% of it should go to the U.S.S.R.4 

Roosevelt’s commitment to twenty billion dollars as a basis for dis- 

cussion was not a definitive statement of policy. Nevertheless, it estab- 

lished the order of magnitude for reparation withdrawals. Indeed, 

because the British Cabinet would not agree to such a commitment, 

*For American views on the need to + See below, p. 170. 
treat Europe as an integrated unit, see Con- 
ference of Berlin, I, pp. 257-61; Il, pp. 
754-57, 808-9. 
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Churchill refused to endorse this aspect of the agreement. (This i is the 

one provision of the Yalta protocol which bears the signatures of — 

Roosevelt and Stalin, but not of Churchill.)** More important than 

the precise figure, however, was Roosevelt’s endorsement of the prin- 

ciple that a firm target for reparations would be established in ad- 

vance. His agreement that “Germany must pay in kind for losses 

caused by her”!® also endorsed the principle of “compensation” *’— 

rather than the principle of “capacity to pay’”—as the basic criterion 

to guide reparations negotiations. Since there was no question that 

Soviet damages had been much greater than one half of twenty billion 

dollars,1® Roosevelt’s agreement to very large-scale reparations was 

thus doubly confirmed. 

This understanding gave first priority to establishing a target figure 

for reparation withdrawals. The accord treated only as a residual item 

the question of what industrial resources were to be left in Germany 

after the reparations had been paid, and it gave only secondary im- 

portance to the inevitable debilitating effect such withdrawals would 

have upon the German standard of living. Thus, it accepted Stalin’s 

argument that the Germans should pay for some of the tremendous 

devastation their armies had caused in the Soviet Union.” 

Even before Yalta, this approach had been severely criticized by 

Stimson and others who feared that weakening the German economy 

would seriously endanger European stability.”° Roosevelt was fully — 

aware of this difficulty and was also reluctant to agree to excessive 

withdrawals from the German economy.”* But ultimately the Presi- 

dent’s decision had been taken with regard to other than purely eco- 

nomic considerations. 

Throughout the last year of the war American policy makers had 

been faced with the difficult but unavoidable task of creating a viable 

plan for postwar European security. To most American leaders, the 

necessary condition of such a plan was a system of specific guarantees 

against the revival of German power. Unable to hope that the Amer- 

ican public would permit retention of occupation forces in Europe for 

more than two years after the war’s end,?? Roosevelt had been forced 

to find a nonmilitary solution to the security problem. The President 

evolved two complementary approaches. The first was an attempt to 

work out a cooperative relationship with the Soviet Union. In Europe, 

this involved a coordinated effort to control Germany and was first 
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expressed in the plans for a German Allied Control Council. “It is by 

now a commonplace,” one State Department official characteristically 

noted, “that Germany cannot commit another aggression so long as 

the Big Three remain united.””° 

Roosevelt’s second policy was based upon a calculated decision to 

weaken the industrial basis of German military power. Although 

Roosevelt disclaimed the “Morgenthau Plan” to remove 80 per cent 

of German industry,”* in fact, the Yalta decision followed the funda- 

mental logic of this approach. Massive reparations and what was 

termed the “industrial disarmament’®> of Germany were two sides of 

the same coin. It may be true that Roosevelt underestimated the diffi- 

culties such a policy would create,”* but as Byrnes knew, he had very 

little sympathy for those who urged a “soft” peace for the Germans.”” 

On the eve of the Yalta meeting, the President somewhat overenthusi- 

astically told his Cabinet that as far as he was concerned, the Germans 

“could live happily . . . on soup from soup kitchens.”?8 

Roosevelt also felt that international control of the Ruhr industrial 

area would be a useful guarantee against a German military revival.” 

But the heart of his approach to the security problem was a melding of 

his two basic policies. Since Stalin desperately wanted industrial repa- 

rations to compensate for destruction wrought by Hitler’s armies, at 

Yalta the agreement to extract large-scale reparations met Soviet re- 

quirements—thereby consolidating a cooperative relationship—at the 

same time that it reduced the industrial basis of German power.**° 

This approach to the European security problem had obvious im- 

plications for the stability of the German economy. The hardened 

Russian answer to those who protested that there were not enough 

resources to meet Europe’s needs, reparations, and German require- 

ments, was: “Let the German standard of living be reduced.”** In 

America, however, when Truman took office, those who feared the 

effects of such a policy urged the new President to reconsider Roose- 

velt’s approach.*? As we have seen, Truman was completely in accord 

* Note how Roosevelt broke with Chur- 
chill over the question after being prompted 
by Hopkins that “the Russians have given 
in so much at this conference that I don’t 
think we should let them down.” (Confer- 
ences at Malta and Yalta, pp. 902, 920.) 
Much of the information contained in the 

preceding analysis is taken from Paul Y. 
Hammond’s excellent study, Directives for 
the Occupation of Germany: The Washing- 
ton Story. This is presently available in 
mimeograph form from the author or from 
the Twentieth Century Fund, but is soon to 
be published. 
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. "rope should not be reduced.* ‘Morsenthan? s views were rejected, 

by June 8 Grew was able to write: “There is no longer disagreement 

concerning the need for assuring such essential economic rehabilita- 

tion in Germany as is necessary to the fulfillment of the purposes of 

occupation.”®? One result of this change was that the United States 

continued to procrastinate on the reparations issue and, as we have 

~~ .geen, the American reparations representative began negotiating on 

the matter some three and a half months later than had been envi- 

sioned at Yalta.t+ 

Even more significant, however, was the fact that only a short time 

after taking office, Truman asked for the resignation of Secretary of 

the Treasury Morgenthau—the primary architect of Roosevelt’s pol- 

icy.t°* On June 1, the new President also gave instructions to increase 

the production of German coal.*® More specifically, the President felt 

that the Russian desire for large-scale reparations from Germany— 

“althouzh morally she should have been made to pay”—could not be 

met.** “America was not interested in reparations for anybody,”*’ he 

later wrote. And, fearing that massive withdrawals from Germany 

would necessitate American assistance, on May 18, he instructed his 

“tough” reparations negotiator, Edwin Pauley, to oppose “any repa- 

ration plan based upon the assumption that the United States. . . will 

finance directly or indirectly any reconstruction in Germany or repa- 

ration by Germany.’** Despite this attitude, however, before the Pots- 

dam Conference, Truman refused to attempt openly to reverse Roose- 

velt’s Yalta decision. . 

Instead, Pauley was instructed to try to secure Soviet agreement to 

a set of concepts to guide reparation withdrawals, which shifted em- 

phasis away from the basic principles of Roosevelt’s commitment but 

still paid lip service to the Yalta decision. Thus, Pauley was told: “It is 

and has been fundamental United States policy that Germany’s war 

potential be destroyed, and its resurgence as far as possible prevented, 

by removal or destruction of German plants, equipment, and other 

* See above, pp. 79-80. 
+ See above, pp. 85-86. 

over the matter. Truman recalis: “ ‘All 
tight, I replied, ‘if that is the way you 

t Morgenthau had wanted to come to the 
Potsdam meeting because of his deep inter- 
est in the German economic issue. Accord- 
ing to Truman, he threatened resignation 
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feel, I'll accept your resignation right now.’ 
And I did. That was the end of the con- 
versation and the end of the Morgenthau 
Plan.” (Year of Decisions, p. 327.) 



’ oper ‘habe ame “lina” Moveyes he was to urge a new ap-_ 

proach to the determination of actual withdrawals: Experts should 

establish the amount of industry required to produce a German stand- 

ard of living approximately equal to that of the surrounding nations; 

industrial resources in excess of the amount needed to produce this 

standard would then be distributed as reparations. Receipts from 

goods produced for export each year would be used, in the first in- 

stance, to pay for German imports; what was left after these claims 

had been met would be used to satisfy reparations requirements.*° In 

this fashion the American interest in a reasonably strong German 

economy would be given first priority, while reparations would be 

treated as a residual. The Yalta principle of compensation would be 

replaced by the principle of “capacity to pay.” Hence, in any conflict 

over the distribution of limited German resources, although the Yalta 

principle would have given preference to the claims of the invaded 

countries, the new approach would have favored the German stand- 

ard of living. 

When Pauley first brought forward this set of principles in the Mos- 

cow discussions during June, the new American approach was bitterly 

opposed by the Russians.*t A debate first arose over the suggestion 

that yearly exports be used in the first instance to pay for imports 

rather than reparations.*® The Russians argued that reparations could 

not be considered a mere residual.** Backed by Truman’s firm deci- 

sion that the United States would not pay for German reconstruction* 

and aided by the determination of the State and War Departments to 

avoid paying for German imports,** Pauley held his ground; the nego- 

tiations on the issue ended in stalemate.*® While these discussions were 

going on, Pauley also asked the State Department to permit him to 

make a direct assault on the fixed-figure requirement, the heart of the 

Yalta agreement.*® The Russian representative “keeps coming back to 

the 20 billion dollar sum,” Pauley complained on June 19.*7 Amer- 

ican policy, he argued, “should not fix any total figure in advance.” 

Instead, “a formula [should] be adopted which will emphasize per- 

centages, rather than dollars.”** 

Although Pauley’s suggestion would have directly contradicted the 

* Truman felt the United States had in- this to happen again. (Truman, Year of 
directly financed German reparations after Decisions, p. 307; Byrnes, Speaking Frankly, 
World War I and he vowed not to allow ip. 82.) 
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Yalta decision, it was ‘Oats a ned ee of Tamers instruc- 

- tions; if the level of German industry and the standard of living were 

to be established as fixed targets, reparations would automatically be- 

come a residual. Before Potsdam, however, Truman was not prepared 

so directly to countervene his predecessor’s agreement. On July 2, 

Pauley was sent a somewhat ambivalent instruction: “The interest of 

this Government in questions of the total amount of reparations. . . 

_ is subservient to its interest in the firm application of those principles 

and procedures . . .” Despite this statement, however, Pauley was 

told that the United States would not take a stand against establishing 

a firm target figure. He was instructed that although the twenty-billion- 

dollar mark was too high, there was no objection to discussion of a 

figure in the twelve-to-fourteen-billion-dollar range.” 

Interpreting these somewhat contradictory instructions along lines 

favoring his own approach, on his own initiative a few days before 

Potsdam, Pauley boldly told the Soviet reparations representative that 

he was no longer prepared to establish a fixed reparations target!°° 

This, of course, produced a deadlock. As Pauley reported on July 7, 

although some progress had been made, no agreement had been 

reached on “fundamental problems.” Hence, the reparations issue, 

which had taken up much of the Yalta Conference, and which, it had 

seemed, would be disposed of shortly thereafter, was now transferred 

to Potsdam. 

THE FIRM APPROACH TO REPARATIONS AND 

A NEW SOLUTION TO THE SECURITY PROBLEM 

FROM ONE POINT OF VIEW, the discussion of the reparations issue 

in Berlin was bound to strengthen the basic American viewpoint. 

When American policy makers arrived in Germany they were ap- 

palled at both the destruction of the country and at what Stimson 

termed the “rather oriental” policies of the Russians.** At every turning 

they came across workers feverishly dismantling German industrial in- 

stallations for immediate shipment-to the Soviet Union.®* But, although 

they were shocked by the scale and pace of these activities, during the 

first days of the Potsdam meeting, Truman and Byrnes made no al- 

teration in their approach to reparations. 

It was only after the full report of the atomic test arrived that they 
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Avan tactics. The confidence evidenced in the handling of the Bal- 

kan issues now appeared in the treatment of Germany as well. The 

need for Soviet cooperation, which had followed from the same con- 

siderations important to Roosevelt, and which had been expressed in 

Truman’s troop withdrawal during the summer,* now ceased to be a 

decisive influence upon policy. A tremendous new assertiveness char- 

acterized the American attitude as Truman and Byrnes abandoned the 

ambivalence of the summer instructions. Although only four days be- 

fore the American delegation had sailed for Potsdam they had told 

Pauley that a figure of twelve to fourteen billion dollars would be 

acceptable, now, the reparations negotiator was directed to refuse to 

adhere to the agreement that a fixed reparations figure be estab- 

lished.®* 

This direct assault upon the Yalta principles was in line with Paul- 

ey’s earlier recommendation. However, the President also received 

powerful advice on the matter from other quarters. Significantly, the 

German problem was the one issue, besides the atomic bomb, which 

directly concerned Secretary Stimson.*® Throughout the previous year 

he had argued against the destruction of German industry,} and now, 

during the first days of the Potsdam meeting he stressed the vital 

importance of a healthy German economy.’ Using language which 

strikingly contrasted with his usual moderate style, he argued that “it 

would be foolish, dangerous and provocative of future wars to adopt a 

program calling for the major destruction of Germany’s industry and 

resources.”°® 

That responsibilities for policy regarding both the atomic bomb and 

the German issue were united in the person of the Secretary of War 

emphasizes (and symbolizes) the fact that it is extremely artificial to 

ignore the relationship between the new weapon and the Americans’ 

confidence in their power to achieve solutions to diplomatic problems. 

Stimson’s July 23 comment that the atomic bomb “is tying in with 

what we are doing in all fields’”*® suggests the connection, and the fact 

is that the development was both psychologically and conceptually§ 

related to the American attitude toward Germany. The most obvious 

* See above, p. 83. major share of the responsibility because of 
+ See above, p. 53. the military role in the occupation. (Con- 
t Although the State Department was also _ ference of Berlin, Il, p. 754.) 

deeply involved, the War Department had a § See below, pp. 172-173. 
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‘the Aenean A epotatOrs! Stimson’ s basic approach and Pauley’ 

- cific policy now became the essence of an eae set of American 

_ proposals. 

Secretary Byrnes made the position clear at a foreign ministers’ 

session on July 23, two days after the full report of the test arrived. 

Objecting to the broad definitions the Russians wished to apply to 

- “war booty,” worried about the economic effects of Polish control of 

part of eastern Germany,* and, as always, fearing the effects of large- 

scale withdrawals, Byrnes stated unequivocally: “There will be no 

. reparations until imports in the American zone are paid for. There 

can be no discussion of this matter.”®° True to his word, Byrnes re- 

- fused to consider Molotov’s suggestion that if German consumption 

were reduced, reparations and imports could both be paid for.*' Nor 

would he consider the proposal that consumption, reparations, and 

imports, each be accorded an equal claim on export receipts so that a 

reducticn in exports would affect all in the same proportion.” More- 

over, he asked that the discussion of the fundamental target-figure 

question be postponed for a short while. 

_ Since the Russians held to the same views they had taken during the 

Moscow talks, it is not surprising that the July 23 negotiations ended 

in a stalemate. The Secretary of State was undoubtedly aware of the 

futility of the effort, for even before announcing his firm stand in the 

tripartite foreign ministers’ meeting, he had come to the conclusion 

that quite a different handling of the dispute was necessary. His re- 

quest that the target-figure question be postponed was directly related 

to his new appraisal, for, with the approval of the President, an hour 

earlier on the same day he had already approached Molotov privately 

* Truman and Byrnes were disturbed that 
by turning over former German territories 
east of the Odei-Neisse line to Poland the 
Russians had seriously reduced Germany’s 
economic resources and also her capacity to 
pay reparations. This matter took up con- 
siderable time at Potsdam and subsequently. . 
However, the importance of the issue has 
probably been unduly emphasized, for (1) 
the entire area comprised only approximately 
(by American estimate) 5.9 per cent of Ger- 

many’s movable assets, 6 per cent (or 9.7 per 
cent) of total manufacturing assets, 7.1 per 
cent of mining and manufacturing produc- 
tion; (2) the Yalta agreement provided that 
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in any event much of the area would be 
given over to Poland after the peace treaty; 
and (3) most important, Stalin told Truman 
he was not committed to Polish administra- 
tion of the area and seems at one point to 
have been willing to negotiate a compro- 
mise settlement. (See Conference of Berlin, 
I, p. 635; Ibid., UW, pp. 861-62, 879-81, 
943, 1572.) Finally, of course, the facts of 
the Oder-Neisse dispute were well known 
throughout the summer and had not af- 
fected the State Department’s willingness to 
discuss a twelve-to-fourteen-billion-dollar tar- 
get before Potsdam. 



circumstances he wondered whether it would not be better to give 

consideration to the possibility of each country taking reparations 

from its own zone.” If the Russians wished industrial reparations from 

the West, they might pay for them with food and coal.“ 

For the remainder of the conference Byrnes directed his primary 

effort toward securing agreement to this zonal plan. Although he was 

prepared to continue discussion of the Yalta understanding that Ger- 

many would be treated as an economic unit for reparations purposes, 

he would do so only on the assumption that no fixed target would be 

established and that reparations would have last claim on export re- 

ceipts.® Molotov was therefore faced with the choice of accepting the 

new zonal approach, or having to agree to an alteration of the Yalta 

agreement which eliminated the crucial target figure and which 

treated all reparations as residuals. 

Byrnes was fully aware of the meaning of his negotiating stance: 

the Russians, who desperately wanted heavy industrial reparations, 

occupied a zone primarily devoted to raw-material production, agri- 

culture, and light industry.** The Ruhr, in Western hands, was the key 

to the reparations issue; and the proposal that each side satisfy its 

claims from its own zone was an open threat to the understanding that 

the Russians would be allocated half of all reparations selected from 

the whole of Germany.* 

Molotov soon bitterly “pointed out that if they failed to agree... 

the result would be the same as under Mr. Byrnes’s plan. Each side 

would draw reparations from their respective zones. . . .”®" And even 

United States Assistant Secretary of State William L. Clayton cau- 

tioned Byrnes: “Any decision to exclude them from any participation 

in the distribution of the heavy equipment in the Ruhr as reparations, 

would be considered by the Russians as a reversal of the Yalta and 

Moscow position, since no Allied understanding would be necessary 

to enable them to get reparations from their own zone.”* 

Indeed, taken together, the refusal to fix a target and the proposal 

that each side take reparations from its own zone all but eliminated 

the expectation that the Soviet Union would receive industrial repara- 

* Byrnes also supported the zonal pro- tual reparation determinations. (Conference 
posal with the argument that separate ad- of Berlin, Ul, p. 274; Speaking Frankly, p. 
ministration would avoid quarrels over ac- 83.) 
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tions from the Western zones.® Molotov Grongiy Binoscd ‘the Sr, ee 

proposal. He told Byrnes he was quite prepared to reduce the amount 

of Soviet claims, but that a fixed figure for the entire economy was 

absolutely essential.” With Byrnes still refusing to discuss such a fig- 

ure, on July 27 Molotov asked point-blank “if the decision with re- 

gard to reparations which was taken at the Crimea Conference re- 

mained in force.”" 
Byrnes replied that Pauley had “considered the proposal and that in 

view of the circumstances now existing he regarded it as impractical.” 

At Yalta, he added, “all that was done was to accept the proposal 

[regarding twenty billion dollars] as the basis for discussion. If he were 

asked for a million dollars and he said he would discuss it, this did not 

mean that he would write a check for it.”"* Molotov responded stress- 

ing the importance of establishing some fixed target, rather than the 

twenty-billion-dollar estimate itself; he would like “to know what re- 

mained from the Crimea decision as a basis for discussion. Mr. Byrnes 

‘knew that the Soviet delegation was willing to consider reducing the 

amount of reparations.”’*? But Byrnes refused to adhere to the fixed- 

target principle. After careful consideration, he said, “he had deter- 

mined that it was now in his opinion impractical.”” 

Byrnes’s refusal to establish a fixed figure did not derive, of course, 

from technical considerations. Although it was difficult to obtain ac- 

curate statistics on Germany, even six months earlier Roosevelt had 

been prepared to agree to a rough estimate of twenty billion dollars — 

for reparations, the State Department had already established twelve 

to fourteen billion as a reasonable target, and during the Potsdam 

meeting Pauley himself produced a slightly more conservative esti- 

mate of ten to twelve billion.* Byrnes’s basic opposition to large-scale 

reparations was the underlying factor.”* But his reluctance to negoti- 

ate, his refusal to consider any of Molotov’s proposals to reduce the 

target figure (which at one point brought the Russian request within 

one billion dollars of the State Department estimate),+ and his refusal 

*On the rough assumption that half of duce the Soviet claim to eight billion dol- 
the reparations would come from capital 
goods and half from current production, I 
have derived this figure by doubling Paul- 
ey’s estimate that five to six billion dollars 
would be available from capital goods 
alone. (Conference of Berlin, Il, p. 892.) 

7 At one point Molotov offered to re- 
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lars. (Conference of Berlin, Il, p. 297.) It 
seems likely that had Byrnes been prepared 
to bargain, Molotov might have reduced 
this unilateral offer further and, perhaps, 
might have accepted the State Department’s 
seven-billion-dollar estimate (ie., 50 per 
cent of fourteen billion). 



“THE Tactics OF THE. POTSDAM CONFERENCE (II) 

to ith forward his own estimates derived from tactical, not statistical, 

considerations—and from Pauley’s suggestion that there was wisdom 

in delay.”° 

Consequently, with Molotov stubbornly insisting on the Yalta 

terms, and Byrnes completely unwilling to establish a firm target, on 

the substantive issue there was very little progress.”7 On more limited 

aspects of the problem, however, there was some forward movement. 

After a series of complicated negotiations, Molotov finally agreed in 

principle to Byrnes’s proposal that each side satisfy its claims from its 

own zone.” However, he did so on condition that a certain percentage 

of industrial-capital reparations from the Western zone would be 

partly given, partly sold to the Soviet Union.*” 

This understanding altered the form but not the substance of the 

fundamental issue. Since the Soviet zone comprised approximately 40 

per cent of German industrial resources, supplemental payments from 

the Western zone would have to be made to meet the Yalta require- 

ment that 50 per cent of German reparations be paid to the Soviet 

Union.*® The question now was: Precisely how much would the Rus- 

sians be given from the Western zone? Although certain percentages 

had been agreed, as Molotov stressed, a percentage “of an undeter- 

mined figure meant very little.” Thus, the debate over a fixed figure 

for the entire economy narrowed to a struggle over the more limited 

question of whether or not to establish a target for industrial repara- 

tions from the Western zone.®* . 
Once again Byrnes refused to be pinned down; and once again it 

was not for technical or statistical reasons.** The Secretary of State 

had available to him expert estimates of the potential reparations 

available from the Western zone.** These were presented with Pauley’s 

advice that the prudent sum for withdrawals from the Western zone 

“differs so widely from the figure which the Russians have in mind 

that I believe the mere mention of this figure at this time would pre- 

clude any agreement being made at all.”*° In fact, Pauley told Byrnes, 

* During the Potsdam bargaining the pre- chosen to use the summary term “a certain 
cise percentages, and the zones to which percentage” throughout this essay. The in- 
they were applied, were constantly changed. terested reader will find the details of this 
In order to save space by avoiding a aspect of the negotiations well summarized 
lengthy description of this process I have in Conference of Berlin, Il, pp. 944-47. 
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ae 2 he believed the West should pay ony. about 10 per cent of the repa 

tions the Russians believed justifiable under the Yalta agreement. ae 

The Secretary of State received additional strong support for his 

refusal to return to the Yalta principle from the War Department 

when Assistant Secretary McCloy agreed that it would be a “great risk 

. if the amount of reparations . . . [were] absolutely fixed now.”** 

But more important, as the controversy with Molotov reached a 

climax, the underlying fact that the American delegation was pre- 

pared to postpone final determination of the issue gave Byrnes a tre- 

mendous advantage. 

In conversations with Admiral Leahy on July 26 and July 27, the 

President reaffirmed his decision to “depart for home at the earliest 

practicable date” and to “terminate” the Conference.*’ Although Sta- 

lin’s illness and the British elections** caused some delay, the day after 

the British delegation returned to Potsdam, Truman and Byrnes de- 

cided to state the American case privately to Molotov.® On July 30, 

Byrnes made the position abundantly clear to the Soviet Foreign Min- 

ister: It was time to wind up all of the negotiations. Now the proposal 

that each side satisfy its reparations requirements from its own zone 

(with a certain percentage to be transferred to the Soviet zone from the 

West) was to be “conditional upon agreement on two other pro- 

posals.” Byrnes brought forward previously discussed papers on lesser 

issues relating to the treatment of Italy and the satellite nations and 

the Polish western border. All three would have to be accepted as a 

package. If Molotov did not agree, Byrnes “was willing to report to 

the Big Three and they could decide whether to continue the discus- 

sion or refer the matter to some future conference.”® The following 

day Byrnes was more explicit: “T told him we would agree to all three 

or none, and that the President and I would leave for the United 

States the next day.”®* 

Thus, the American tactics on the German issue paralleled the ap- 

ptoach they had taken to the Balkans. Roosevelt’s previous under- 

standing was abandoned, and the Russians were told that the position 

would have to be accepted or no agreement would be possible; Tru- 

man and Byrnes were more than willing to postpone a final settle- 

* The figure was 214 million dollars in of 2 Bonne Aaah Ninel of Beriin, Il, pp. 
capital removals from the Western zone— 297, 892.) 
ie., about one tenth of the Russian estimate 
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‘ment. “Moreover, ‘the oe conception of the ‘April shomdenn now 
once again came to the fore; aware that the Russians desperately — 
needed economic aid—from American credits or from Western-con- 

trolled German reparations—Byrnes now attempted to bargain in- 

dustrial withdrawals for Soviet concessions on other diplomatic issues. 

Although Stalin had rejected the demand that the governments of 

Bulgaria and Rumania be changed, he apparently reasoned that the 

promise of a percentage of Western industrial reparations (even 

though it was a percentage of an undetermined figure) was better 

than no reparations agreement at all. Hence, after bitterly criticizing 

Byrnes’s tactics,°” on July 31, agreeing to abandon the Yalta principle, 

he accepted the American reparations plan.®* The tough-minded ne- 

gotiator Pauley found “keen satisfaction” in the result.*°* Admiral 

Leahy believed it one of the “major achievements” of the Confer- 

ence.*> And Secretary Byrnes was subsequently to boast that the 

United States “finally succeeded in eliminating from the agreed decla- 

ration any mention of a total amount.” +** 

The firm tactics and the decision to reverse Roosevelt’s agreement 

undoubtedly were related to the “entirely new sense of confidence” 

which Truman told Stimson the atomic test had given him. There is no 

* Truman’s recollection is illuminating: “If 
Pauley had not been as tough as he is, we 
could never have got any reparations pol- 
icy....He is a tough, mean so-and- 
so... .” (Daniels, Man of Independence, p. 
305.) 

+It was also agreed that reparations 
from the Eastern zone would be used to 
meet not only Soviet but also Polish claims 
and that the Soviet Union would renounce 
its interest in German external assets in 
Western Europe, German gold captured by 
the Allied armies, and a share in corporate 
assets of German enterprises (such as rail- 
roads) which would necessarily be left in 
the country. (See Conference of Berlin, Ul, 
pp. 944-46, 1485-87.) 

The reparations negotiations, as seen from 
the American viewpoint, are usefully sum- 
marized in Conference of Berlin, Il, pp. 
940-49. In using this State Department doc- 
ument, however, it is important to remem- 
ber (1) that it was written two months 
after Potsdam; (2) that the State Depart- 
ment, of course, has no wish to emphasize 
Truman’s break with Roosevelt’s agreement; 
and (3) that the report incorporates a rad- 
ically new interpretation of the zonal repa- 
rations agreement. The last point is of con- 

siderable importance, for shortly after 
Potsdam both American and British policy 
makers were to hold that “the zone plan 
. .. did not contemplate separate repara- 
tions plans.” (Ibid., p. 944.) Specifically, it 
was later claimed that the agreement to 
treat the German economy as a unit pre- 
cluded Soviet reparations extractions so long 
as there was a deficit in the import-export 
balance of the western zones. (Byrnes, 
Speaking Frankly, pp. 167, 189.) The pub- 
lication of the Potsdam papers shows this 
claim to be false. At the time, Ernest 
Bevin was only too aware that the plan 
“cut across the agreement to treat Germany 
as a whole economy,” but his objections 
were expressly overruled. As Byrnes to!d 
Molotov, “If the Soviets agreed to his plan 
they would have no interest in exports and 
imports from our zone...” (Conference 
of Berlin, II, pp. 490-91, 520-21.) Despite 
Byrnes’s subsequent decision to break the 
agreement, he himself emphasized the mean- 
ing of his plan on numerous occasions at 
Potsdam, both to Bevin and to Molotov, 
and he proposed various modifications of 
the final protocol to clarify the point. 
(Ibid.; see especially pp. 291, 572, 827, 932; 
also pp. 450, 475, 487, 490, 491, 520, 822, 
822fn.) 
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way, of course, to know if Truman and Byrnes would ie taken Sich : 

an unyielding line had they not been “greatly re-enforced” by the 

news. But it is vital to recognize that the new approach was adopted 

only after the atomic report was received. Moreover, in a more funda- 

mental sense, the relationship between Truman’s decision and the 

atomic bomb is greatly illuminated by considering that Truman in- 

herited not only the Yalta agreement from his predecessor, but the 

- ~basic problem of European security. 

For both Roosevelt and Truman, the need to establish specific 

guarantees against the possibility of another German military revival 

was a fundamental condition of policy. Although he very much 

wished to maintain American troops in Europe,* Truman, like 

Roosevelt, was unable to count on Congressional authority for such 

action. Hence, he too had had to search for nonmilitary guarantees 

against a rebirth of German power. And despite his desire to maintain 

a strong German contribution to Continental economic stability, he 

had been forced to rely upon “industrial disarmament” and Soviet 

cooperation on the Control Council as the foundations of his policy.* 

For this reason, during May and June, Hopkins had been author- 

ized to tell Stalin that Truman, like Roosevelt, was prepared to agree 

to international controls for the Ruhr industry, and Pauley had also 

been allowed to discuss the matter.°* Similarly, Pauley’s first repara- 

tions plan emphasized (albeit to a lesser extent than Roosevelt’s had) 

the destruction of selected German arms industries.®® And, as we have 

seen, until the very eve of the Potsdam Conference, Truman contin- 

ued to hold on to the major premise of Roosevelt’s policy. Although 

the twenty-billion-dollar reparations figure was to be reduced to 

twelve to fourteen billion, until the atomic-test report Truman did not 

abandon the substance of Roosevelt’s Yalta decision——a decision which 

had established the conditions of Soviet-American cooperation in Eu- 

rope and of the industrial disarmament of Germany. 

“The problem which presents itself . . .” Stimson advised Truman 

before details of the atomic test arrived, “is how to render Germany 

harmless as a potential aggressor, and at the same time enable her to 

play her part in the necessary rehabilitation of Europe.”°° The Secre- 

tary of War stated in precise terms the question which had confronted 

* See below, p. 224. 
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both Roosevelt and Truman, but within hours of his statement the : 

dilemma inherent in the problem had been resolved in a radical and 

dramatic way. As Truman explained to General de Gaulle shortly 

after Potsdam, there was no longer any need for international control 

of the Ruhr, nor for other specific and material guarantees against 

renewed aggression—“The German menace should not be exagger- 

ated,” for “the United States possessed a new weapon, the atomic 

bomb, which would defeat any aggressor.”?% . 

Thus, although Truman continued to endorse “industrial disarma- 

ment” as a way to achieve European security, he knew that the United 

States would never again greatly fear the threat of German military 

power.’ Truman no longer required Soviet cooperation or massive 

reductions in German industry to achieve his primary objective. Act- 

ing in accord with his view of the undeniable merits of the American 

plan for European stability, the President could afford to ignore the 

German devastation of Russia and the Yalta agreement. There was no 

need to compromise; the reparations issue now took on a distinctly 

secondary importance. In the last analysis, therefore, the atomic bomb 

influenced the fundamental problem Truman faced to an even greater 

extent than it did his tactics; by revolutionizing the problem of Euro- 

pean security the new weapon rendered trivial the considerations 

which had dominated Roosevelt’s approach until his death. 

DEADLOCK, CONFIDENCE AND DELAY 

AS HAS BEEN SHOWN, Truman’s tactics on major issues at Pots- 

dam were much the same: the President unveiled the full extent of the 

American demands, he refused to make important concessions, and he 

made it clear that if no agreement was reached, he was quite prepared 

to postpone consideration of the issue until a later date. “That was his 

position yesterday, that was his position today, and that would be his 

position tomorrow’—Truman’s statement in the course of one of the 

debates provides a fitting summary of his approach.’* Such an atti- 

tude combined the confidence derived from the new atomic weapon 

with the basic strategy postulate that it would be wise to delay final 

negotiations until after the atomic weapon had been demonstrated. 

That Stalin accepted the substance of the American proposal for Ger- 

many should not obscure the fact that Truman followed the same tac- 
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aie a Fe onsidetable Bement of delay, for although the Russians were > prom- 

ised a percentage of industrial reparations from the western zone, the 

total to which this percentage would apply—and consequently the 

central issue of the agreement—would not be decided for many 

months.1° | 

It had been clear even before the American delegation left Washing- 

ton that the President had little real desire to begin serious negotia- 

tions at this time. Once at the Conference, neither Truman nor his 

Secretary of State attempted to wield the powerful bargaining leverage 

which had played such a crucial role in the first showdown over Po- 

land; instead of following the plan to negotiate a large credit in ex- 

change for Soviet diplomatic concessions, this effort had also been 

suspended for a few more weeks.* A Council of Foreign Ministers, 

established by the hcads of government at Byrnes’s suggestion, would 

meet to take up the diplomatic negotiations in less than a month.7’” 

And, as Churchill has written, it would have much to do, for “a 

formidable body of questions on which there was disagreement was 

. . . piled upon the shelves.”1°° 

Thus, the only real agreements reached at Potsdam were on those 

_ questions over which there was little dispute (such as political prin- 

ciples for postwar Germany). On proposals concerning the American- 

controlled areas (such as Italy) to which Stalin would not agree, there 

was little progress;°’ on proposals concerning the Soviet-controlled 

area (such as the Balkans) there was postponement; on proposals 

concerning jointly controlled areas (such as Germany) there was either 

delay or an agreement along the broad lines of the American pro- 

posals written in vague and sometimes contradictory terms which, as it 

turned out, could be interpreted in a different way by each side.t 

* See below, pp. 223-224. 

t+ It is probable that the American pro- 
posal to establish machinery for post-Pots- 
dam negotiations was directly related to the, 
expectation that there would be little likeli- 
hood of a settlement during the heads-of- 
government meeting. In the presently avail- 
able material I have found no evidence on 
this point, and the American argument for 
the new Council of Foreign Ministers was 
put forward—and accepted—as the most 
efficient way to speed the peace settlement. 
Yet it is impossible to ignore the fact that 
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the American delegation was extremely in- 
terested in establishing a council to take up 
all the postponed issues immediately after 
the atomic bomb was to be demonstrated 
and only three weeks after the President 
was to return to America. 

} The reparations and economic agree- 
ments are universally regarded as confused 
and were later the source of considerable 
dispute. (See McNeill, America, Britain, and 
Russia, 1941-46, p. 625; Ratchford and 

Ross, Berlin Reparations Assignment, pp. 44, 
187; Penrose, Economic Planning for the 
Peace, p. 284. 



“to Maoee until the next A hieedse. 108 As Admiral teLky has conveni- 

ently summarized the outcome, in addition to the Balkan issue, these 

were some of the “problems on which no agreement could be 

reached”: 

(1) internationalization of major waterways (American proposal); 

(2) trusteeships of colonial possessions, principally Italy’s holdings in 

Africa (Soviet proposal); (3) Macedonian-Greek frontier (British 

proposal); (4) settlement of Soviet claims for Turkish territory and 

control of the Dardanelles; (5) Russian seizure of British and Ameri- 

can industrial property in Rumania; (6) Italian reparations; (7) nam- 

ing of “high war criminals,” although it was agreed that a special com- 

mission would make its “nominations” within a month; (8) Russian 

attempt to force Britain and America to sever diplomatic relations 

with Spain (the best Stalin got on that one was language in the com- 

muniqué which stated that Spain should not belong to the United 

Nations); (9) Stalin’s effort to open up the question of control of 

Tangier and the Levant; and (10) Russian attempt to have the status 

quo in Yugoslavia accepted by the other two Allies.1°° 

Reviewing the communiqué produced by the Potsdam Conference, 

General de Gaulle commented: “.. . We learned that it had con- 

cluded in a kind of uproar.”*1"° His judgment of the result would have 

been correct, of course—if ‘the American government had hoped to 

achieve a major negotiated settlement at this juncture. But, the whole 

point of strategy throughout the summer and throughout the Potsdam 

meeting, was to delay the settlement of controversial issues until the 

atomic bomb had been demonstrated. It is for this reason that the 

American delegation was not at all depressed with the seeming stale- 

mate recorded in the Potsdam protocol. At the end of the Conference 

the President told Eisenhower he had achieved his objectives,’"* and as 

Byrnes has written, from the American point of view, the Conference 

could only be considered a success.""? Byrnes believed that a few dis- 

cussions at the foreign ministers’ meeting, scheduled to meet only 

*The British also felt this way. After (Bryant, Triumph in the West 1943-46, p. 
reading the minutes of the Big Three on 478.) See also Churchill’s comment: “. . . 
July 23, Alanbrooke confided to his diary: Frustration was the fate of this final Con- 
“One fact that stands out more clearly than ference...” (Triumph and Tragedy, p. 
any other is that nothing is ever settled!” 668.) 
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three weeks after his return to Washington, would ne the way for a 

settlement in Eastern Europe.1* The Potsdam protocol, in his view, 

provided a “basis” for the “early restoration of stability in Europe.”*** 

Attempts to erect a lasting structure upon this foundation and to settle 

all outstanding issues would only begin when the strategy of delay had 

reached its climax.* 

CODA: CULMINATING TACTICS OF DELAY 

IN THE FAR EAST 

THROUGHOUT JUNE AND JULY, Truman’s approach to the Man- 

churian and Chinese diplomatic issues had followed a delaying strat- 

egy roughly similar to his approach to European issues. However, at 

Potsdam, once again the related issue of Soviet entry into the Japa- 

nese war complicated the tactical problem facing the President. There 

was no reason for Truman to conceal his views on European issues, 

for his ultimate goal was prompt agreement along the lines of Amer- 

ican proposals. But despite his earlier plans to complete the Soviet- 

Chinese negotiations at Potsdam,} with the public demonstration of 

the new weapon still a few weeks off, Truman had no wish to reach a 

settlement which would also be the cue for an immediate Soviet decla- 

ration of war. Consequently, his approach to Far Eastern problems 

was far less candid than was his blunt assault upon the European 

issues. 

As we have seen, in the weeks preceding Potsdam, Chinese Foreign 

_ Minister T. V. Soong had been carefully advised at each. step of his 

negotiations with Stalin so as to maintain the insurance of Soviet 

participation in the war at the same time that final agreement and an 

actual declaration of war were delayed until the atomic test.t As this 

approach was followed it became increasingly evident that the Japa- 

_ hese were seeking an early end to the hostilities. American intercepts 

of cables between Tokyo and the Japanese ambassador in Moscow 

confirmed the “real evidence”§ that the Emperor—the one person all 

agreed could end the war—had now taken an active hand in the 

* See below, pp. 200-204, 226. t See above, pp. 120-126. 
+ See above, p. 121. § See above, p. 109. 
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matter.* In the week before Potsdam, formal decisions of the Imperial 

Conference to stop the fighting were revealed in the cables, and the 

Japanese ambassador begged for an interview with Molotov to discuss 

a special mission to be headed by Prince Konoye “carrying with him 

the personal letter of His Majesty stating the Imperial wish to end the 

war.”' Molotov, however, refused an interview, and the ambassador 

was forced to carry his message to a subordinate official. He was then. 

told that a response would undoubtedly be delayed because of the 

impending Big Three meeting.'® 

On July 17, the day of the first plenary session, another intercepted 

Japanese message showed that although the government felt that the 

unconditional-surrender formula involved too great a dishonor, it 

was convinced that “the demands of the times” made Soviet media- 

tion to terminate the war absolutely essential.1’’ Further cables indi- 

cated that the one condition the Japanese asked was preservation of 

“our form of government.”'8 A message of July 25 revealed instruc- 

tions to the ambassador in Moscow to go anywhere to meet with 

Molotov during the recess of the Potsdam meeting (caused by the 

British elections) so as to “impress them with the sincerity of our 

desire” to terminate the war.’!® He was told to make it clear that “ 

should like to communicate to the other party through appropriate 

channels that we have no objection to a peace based on the Atlantic 

Charter.” The only “difficult point is the . . . formality of uncondi- 

tional surrender.”?*° 

With the interception of these messages there could no longer be 

any real doubt as to Japanese intentions; the maneuvers were overt 

and explicit and, most of all, official acts. As Eisenhower told Stimson, 

“Japan was, at that very moment, seeking some way to surrender with 

a minimum loss of face!’”**! Even the covert, devious, and unofficial 

maneuvers made in Germany a few months earlier had been recog- 

nized as important opportunities to secure a surrender and had been 

*Tt is impossible to determine whether 
the President saw every one of the inter- 
cepted cables. That he surely was familiar 
with the contents of the most important 
ones cannot be doubted, and he has con- 
firmed that he saw the two crucial cables 
(July 12 and July 25). (Conference of Ber- 
lin, I, p. 873.) Moreover, both Stimson and 

Forrestal had full information regarding the 
intercepts. (Conference of Berlin, Il, p. 
1266; Stimson, On Active Service, p. 617; 
Forrestal, Diaries, pp. 20, 74-76.) Forrestal 
also made a special effort to bring a number 
of the texts to the attention of Byrnes at 
Potsdam. (Strauss, Men and Decisions, p. 
188; Byrnes, All in One Lifetime, p. 297.) 
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proposals had not yet been made in detail, and 

already determined that, if necessary, he would be quite prepared to 

modify the formula so as to allow the Japanese to maintain their 

2 Imperial institutions, and he reaffirmed this intention during the Pots- 

dam Conference.??? 

~ Thus, the cables showed not only the Japanese desire to end the 

war, but the fact that the Japanese and American governments were 

not very far apart in their conception of final surrender terms. Most 

important, however, the cables also confirmed that the last frail hopes 

of the Japanese were now unmistakably focused upon the as yet inde- 

_ terminate position of the Soviet Union. The insistent attempts to see 

Molotov were such obvious evidence of Japanese anxiety that at one 

point the ambassadcz in Moscow had to caution the foreign minister 

in Tokyo against moves “which would only result in exposing our 

uneasy emotion and would be of no benefit to us.” 

Despite this advice and the continual reports that there was little 

reason for optimism concerning Russian intentions,’* the Japanese 

government continued to cling to the belief that so long as Stalin 

remained uncommitted it might be possible to hope for Soviet media- 

tion, or at least Soviet neutrality.”?° Undoubtedly, the Soviet enigma 

gave pause to even the most ardent Japanese peace advocates. The 

combination of uncertainty and hope precluded open peace maneu- 

_ vers within governing circles, for as long as Soviet mediation was a 

possibility, no government could assume the dishonor and disadvan- 

tage of suing for peace on unconditional terms.+ 

Throughout the summer, the American government had recognized 

how this situation greatly enhanced the shock value of a Soviet decla- 

ration of war—it would eliminate the last hope and was likely to force 

capitulation.t Now the point was even more obvious. On July 16, 

Stimson advised the President that “the impending threat of Russia’s 

participation” and “the recent news of attempted approaches on the 

part of Japan to Russia” had produced “the psychological moment” to 

attempt to warn Japan into surrender.’** On July 18, Secretary Byrnes 

* See McNeill, America, Britain, and Rus- t+ See Butow, Japan’s Decision, pp. 112- 
sia, 1941-46, pp. 569-70. Also my Appen- 41. 
dix I, pp. 256-260. + See above, pp. 106-110. 
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menting that the recent i apanese maneuvers were aie oiaewy 

inspired by a fear of what Russia might do.'?7 = 

This confirmation of earlier estimates of the crucial psychological 

and political role played by the Soviet Union was matched, at Pots- 

dam, by renewed proof of Stalin’s intentions. Since mid-May, Amer- 

ican policy makers had been convinced that the Soviet Premier would — 

enter the war, as pledged, as soon as the Soong negotiations were 

completed. Now, on July 17, Stalin once more reaffirmed his plans in 

a private talk with Truman and Byrnes; the Red Army would be 

prepared to cross the Manchurian border by mid-August and would 

do so as soon as the Chinese treaty was initialed.’ On July 21, the 

Joint Chiefs of Staff informed the American commanders in the Pa- 

cific that they could expect a Russian declaration of war on or about 

August 15.179 

Thus the alternatives which had emerged during the summer of 

delay were confirmed at the Potsdam Conference; if all that appeared 

necessary to force Japanese capitulation was a “tremendous shock,” 

the United States could choose to accomplish the objective with either 

a Soviet declaration of war or the atomic bomb. Additionally, there 

was the possibility of a negotiated settlement involving guarantees for 

the Emperor.1*° 

Truman did not hesitate. He had no wish to test the judgment that a 

Soviet declaration of war would probably force capitulation. Nor was 

he interested in attempts to negotiate. Instead, he simply followed 

through on earlier plans to use the atomic weapons as soon as pos- 

sible. “The atomic bomb was no ‘great decision,’ ” he later recalled, 

“. . . not any decision that you had to worry about”;’*? and he has 

confirmed on numerous occasions that he “never had any doubt that it 

should be used.”1*? Once the cables announcing the tremendous suc- 

cess of the New Mexico test began to flow into Potsdam, Truman was 

concerned only with operational details.* Formal British agreement 

to use the weapon had already been recorded on July 4,"*° and Chur- 

* Since the story of the use of the other decisions involved in the actual opera- 
atomic bomb against Japan has been de- tions. For a good account, see Hewlett and 
scribed in detail elsewhere, I have elimi- Anderson, The New World; and Craven and 
nated interesting but well-known information Cate, Air Forces in World War II, Vol. 
relating to the various presidential and V. 
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chill confine: “The historic fact remains, and must oe judged i in the 

after-time, that the decision whether or not to use the atomic bomb 

. . . Was never even an issue.”1*# 
Secretary of War Stimson records only that on July 22 ihe President 

“was intensely pleased” with word that the weapons might be deliv- 

_ ered somewhat earlier than had been expected.**® When more detailed 

information arrived stating “operation may be possible any time from 

August 1,”2°° Truman “said that was just what he wanted, that he was 

highly delighted.”187 And on July 25, the formal order to use the 

weapon in combat was issued by the Secretary of War."** As the Pres- 

ident later recalled, “I . . . instructed Stimson that the order would 

stand unless I notified him that the Japanese reply to our ultimatum 

was acceptable.” !%" 

Having reaffirmed the decision—or pe umpion wae had 

guided policy since April, Truman turned to the problem of Soviet 

entry into the war. Again, he continued to follow the earlier tactics of 

delay. When on July 18 Stalin had personally brought copies of the 

latest Japanese messages to the President’s attention,'*° Truman had 

made no attempt to follow up the Japanese overtures. Instead, he had 

simply agreed with Stalin’s suggestion that “it might be desirable to 

lull the Japanese to sleep . . . [through an] unspecific answer.”!*! 

When the full report of the unexpected power of the test reached the 

President, however, he went beyoag | the vagaries and ambivalence of 

his initial position. 

As early as July 18, having heard from the President that “the war 

might come to a speedy end,” Prime Minister Churchill was quite 

aware of a new confidence in Truman’s approach to military problems 

in the Pacific.1#? When the full report of the test arrived, there could 

no longer be any question. On July 23, Alanbrooke noted one of the 

“American exaggerations” Churchill had absorbed and taken as his 

own: “It was now no longer necessary for the Russians to come into the 

Japanese war; the new explosive alone was sufficient to settle the 

‘matter.”’** Later the same day, reporting to the Cabinet on a conver- 

sation with Byrnes, Churchill cabled: “It is quite clear that the United 

States do not at the present time desire Russian participation in the 

war against Japan.”#44 

Churchill’s observation was completely accurate. As Byrnes has writ- 

ten, “The reports made it clear that the bomb had met our highest 
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aces and that the shock of its use would very likely knock our al- 

ready wavering enemy out of the war.”!#° On July 23, Stimson re- 

corded that even the cautious General Marshall “felt, as I felt sure he 

would, that now with our new weapon we would not need the as- 

sistance of the Russians to conquer Japan.”*** This confirming view 

was reported to the President the next day,'*? and now there was 

unanimity; the ambivalent strategy of delay had paid off; it was no 

longer even necessary to attempt to maintain the insurance of a Soviet 

declaration of war. Thus, there was a double irony in the Potsdam 

meeting, for not only was it too early to settle European matters, but 

the only other reason for coming to the Conference—to insure a 

Soviet declaration of war—had now also disappeared.**® 

During June and early July American officials had agreed that a 

proclamation attempting to “warn Japan into surrender” would be 

issued from the Potsdam meeting. The warning had been conceived 

partly in the hope that if it were accepted the atomic bombing would 

be forestalled; but its primary objective had been to reinforce the 

impact of the bombing—for then, as Stimson had emphasized, al- 

though the atomic bomb would not be specifically mentioned in the 

declaration, the new weapon would be related to a demand for sur- 

render, and it would serve as a “sanction” to the warning.’*® Thus, the 

primary aim of the proclamation was to encourage a prompt Japanese 

surrender, and the War Department, for its part, had supported the 

measure not only to end the war before an invasion, but more pre- 

cisely, “before too many of our allies are committed there.” 

Nevertheless, it was realized, as Stimson and Stettinius had speci- 

fically advised (and as was apparent to all concerned), that if the 

warning was endorsed by the Soviet Union its effectiveness would be 

multiplied manifold.’** Before Potsdam, optional phrases including the 

Soviet Union as one of the signatory powers had been written into the 

warning at various points. These would be used if it was decided to 

invite Stalin to join in issuing the proclamation.*’ Similarly, before 

Potsdam, General Marshall and former Secretary of State Hull had 

particularly emphasized the great value of the Soviet “sanction” to the 

warning.’** And Stimson’s memorandum of advice to the President, 

reflecting the pre-Potsdam ambivalence, was replete with conditional 
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Now, however, greatly bolstered by the atomic test, Truman de- 

cided to strike out the tentative phrases and issue the proclamation 

without asking Stalin’s participation.” During June, American lead- 

ers, aware that the Soviet Premier might not like to give the enemy 

advance indications of his intentions, had hesitated before suggesting 

te that the United States Chiefs of Staff come to Potsdam; after the 

German defeat, military discussions could only be concerned with the 

Far East, and, “having in mind the possible Japanese reaction” to 

such a powerful hint of Russian plans, they were quite aware that 

Stalin might avoid military consultations.°* Now, however, there was 

no fear of embarrassing the Soviet leadership or of prejudicing the 

military situation in Manchuria; much to the surprise and apparent 

anger of the Russians, the warning proclamation was issued from the 

site of the tripartite meeting even before the Russians were informed 

‘of its existence.1® 

Similarly, when on July 29 Molotov requested that the President 

provide a formal letter inviting Soviet participation in the war, Tru- 

man attempted to avoid the issue.4** The Secretary of State and his 

assistant Benjamin Cohen spent the better part of the afternoon trying 

to devise a response to the Soviet request.%? “We had, of course, 

begun to hope that a Japanese surrender might be imminent and we 

did not want to urge the Russians to-enter the war,” Byrnes has testi- 

fied.*®° After considerable thought, finally the President sent Stalin a 

legalistic letter stating that he felt the new United Nations Charter 

(although not yet ratified) made it proper for the Russians to join in 

the war against an aggressor.*** Undoubtedly aware of the limitations 

of this document, in a covering note Truman told Stalin: “If you 

decide to use it, it will be all right. However, if you decide to issue a 

_ statement basing your action on other grounds or for any other reason 

prefer not to use this letter, it will be satisfactory to me.” As Gen- 

eral Deane has noted, “.. . . Soviet participation was no longer an 

essential ingredient . . . we were in a position to be tough and in- 

different.”1® 
_ But avoiding the issue was only the most passive aspect of the 

_ American approach at Potsdam. By this time American leaders not 

only had little desire to maintain the possibility of a Russian declara- 
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of the Navy Forrestal discussed the problem with the Secretary of 

State on July 28. His diary entry records: “ . . . Byrnes said he was 

most anxious to get the Japanese affair over with before the Russians 

got in, with particular reference to [the Manchurian ports of] Dairen 

and Port Arthur. Once in there, he felt it would not be easy to get 

them out. . . .”*° Moreover, as Byrnes has recently revealed, it was 

primarily for this reason that the earlier decision to inform Stalin of 

the successful atomic test had been rejected in practice; the vague 

statement that a powerful new weapon was available had been made 

because Truman and Byrnes feared that if Stalin were aware of the 

full power of the atomic test—and the possibility that the atomic 

bomb would end the war before Russia entered—the Soviet Premier 

might immediately order the Red Army to attack.* 

And it was also for this reason that American policy makers—for 

the third time—shifted the emphasis of their approach to the Soong 

mission. No longer interested in preserving the possibility of an early 

declaration of war, Truman and Byrnes now hoped to use the negoti- 

ations only as a way to hold off the Red Army attack while the atomic 

bombs were brought into action. As General Deane has written, “It 

was a foregone conclusion that a satisfactory adjustment would be 

reached,”*® but with the full report of the New Mexico test in hand, 

on July 23, the President and the Secretary of State, carefully trying to 

avoid the appearance of disregarding Roosevelt’s pledges, cabled 

Chiang Kai-shek that they did not want him to make any concessions. 

They also declared that it was important for the Chinese to resume 

negotiations with Stalin.1** “I had some fear,” Byrnes later reported, 

“that if they did not, Stalin might immediately enter the war.”?® 

Thus the strategy of delay continued. Despite the American interest 

in Sino-Soviet agreement on the complicated Chinese and Manchu- 

* This information comes from Byrnes. 
Asked about the question many years later, 
Truman did not deny this intent, but stated 
that he did not remember such a considera- 
tion. (Feis, Japan Subdued, p. 89; also see 
above, p. 156.) 

This fear may also partly account for the 
fact that despite Truman’s desire to leave 
the Conference after July 23, he stayed on 

' until August 2. Truman and Byrnes may 

well have wished to keep Stalin negotiating 
until the atomic bomb was used. At one 
point, it seemed the first attack could have 
taken place any time after August 1. Simi- 
larly, brief military conversations took place 
at Potsdam. Undoubtedly these were held 
though they were no longer needed, because 
cancellation of the talks would have 
aroused Soviet suspicions. 
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after the atomic bomb had been used and, as hoped, the Japanese war 

had ended. Although on July 17 the President informally discussed 

with Stalin the American desire to maintain the “Open Door” in Man- 

churia, and specifically, to treat Dairen as a free port, he did not 

pursue these matters during the remainder of the conference.*® Simi- 

larly, although Stimson, Byrnes, and Harriman greatly feared that 

~ Russian control of the ports and railways of Manchuria might affect 

American commercial interests in the area, and although Stimson 

pressed his fears repeatedly in discussions with the President, Truman 

had no desire to attempt to secure new guarantees from Stalin at this 

juncture.’ Finally, Truman rejected a proposal by State Depart- 

“ment experts that Soong be summoned to Potsdam to conclude ne- 

gotiations on the few remaining points in dispute.1”° 

Even more obviously than in his handling of the European matters, 

the President made it clear that he had no wish to negotiate. His 

summer plans to complete the treaties in his talk with Stalin were 

‘suspended. The agenda items on the Far East were not taken up, and 

Truman did not press his earlier demand to be consulted before the 

Soviet Chinese treaty was signed. The “appropriate time”* had not yet 

arrived; first there would be an attempt to end the war. Then, with the 

Red Army stalled on the far side of the Manchurian border and—as 

Stimson had urged two months earlier—with the “master card” in 

hand, it would be time to “have it out with Russia on her relations to 

Manchuria and Port Arthur and various other parts of North China, 

and also the relations of China to us.” + 

During the last days of the Potsdam meeting, Stalin brought a fur- 

ther Japanese message to the attention of the President. Replying to 

the Soviet request for more definite information regarding the pro- 

posed Prince Konoye mission, the Japanese ambassador stated: 

The mission . . . was to ask the Soviet Government to take part in 
mediation to end the present war and to transmit the complete Japa- 
nese case in this respect. . . . Simultaneously, he wished to repeat 
that Prince Konoe (sic) was especially charged by His Majesty the 
Emperor to convey to the Soviet Government that it was exclusively 

ei tir ee ae Cas 

* See above, p. 124, } See above, p. 98. 
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the desire of His Majesty to avoid more bloodshed by the parties en- 
gaged in the war. . . .*17 

Though the message was still lacking in detail, there could be now 

no doubt that the Japanese government was seriously looking for a 

way to end the war. But again, the President had little interest in 

attempting to investigate the possibilities the Japanese approach 

offered. He simply agreed to the suggestion that the Russians should 

give a definite negative answer to the request that Prince Konoye be 

received, and he moved on to other business. }?” 

On the same day that Truman and Stalin discussed this matter 

(July 28), the Japanese Premier told a press conference that his gov- 

ernment would “mokusatsu” the Potsdam warning.’ Truman inter- 

preted this as a rejection of the proclamation, taking the Japanese 

term to mean “ignore” or “regard as unworthy of public notice.”’™* 

For this reason, earlier instructions to utilize the new weapons as soon 

as possible were not countermanded. 

Truman permitted the bombing despite new cable intercepts which 

strongly indicated that the Japanese decision to “mokusatsu” did not 

mean an abandonment of the attempt to end the war. In fact, the 

cables suggested that the Premier had wished to convey by his am- 

biguous word the equally possible meaning, “withhold comment at 

this time.”*”° A cable intercepted on the same day of the press con- 

ference showed that in the two days since the proclamation had been 

received the Japanese government had not yet reached a decision on 

how to treat the important question it raised. Truman’s earlier deci- 

sion to issue the warning proclamation without Soviet endorsement 

had been responsible to a considerable degree for the prolongation of 

Japanese indecision; despite the fact that the Soviet Union was not a 

belligerent, a proclamation from the Big Three Conference but signed 

only by Truman and Churchill (and Chiang Kai-shek) had increased 

the confusion with which the Japanese appraised the Soviet attitude. 

The cable to the Japanese ambassador stated: “The position taken 

by the Soviet Union in connection with the Potsdam joint declaration 

. . . will henceforth have a bearing on our planning and will be a 

* Truman had already seen an intercepted + As can be seen the Russians for their 
copy of this message. (Conference of Ber- own reasons were little interested in negotia- 
lin, I, p. 873; I, pp. 1262-63.) tions to end the war. 
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. a number of questions which could not be ‘mnipediately answere 

“For the time being, countermeasures against the joint declaration - 

will be decided after we receive and study the Soviet reply to our” 

latest message. **"¢ 

_ This intercepted cable was followed by another, on August 2, 

which stated: “The battle situation has become acute. There are only 

~~a few days left in which to make arrangements to end the war.... 

Since the loss of one day relative to this matter may result in a thou- 

sand years of regret, it is requested that you immediately have a talk 

with Molotov . . .”2"" But the President evidently had no interest in 

these cables, nor in potentially time-consuming attempts to explore 

__the opportunity to bring the hostilities to an end.t 

On the contrary, as T. V. Soong reached Moscow, the first days of 

August took on the air of a frenzied race for time. Although under the 

previously delivered orders the bombing could take place anytime 

after August 3, weather conditions in Japan frustrated the desire for 

an immediate strike.1"? Now, apparently worried that Stalin might be- 

: come impatient with the continued stalling of the Chinese negotiators, 

or that Soong might yield, on August 5, Truman sent a final instruc- 

tion to Ambassador Harriman asking him to tell Stalin that the United 

States believed the Chinese could be expected to go no further toward 

_ meeting the Soviet demands.’”® 

Thus, as the President and his entourage aboard the cruiser Au- 

gusta reached mid-Atlantic on the return voyage from Potsdam, the 

strategy of delay entered its final phase. Truman and Byrnes (and 

wey * There can be no doubt that the Presi- 
Rae dent and the Secretary of State were as 
he well informed on this and subsequent cables 

as they were on the previous ones. Byrnes 
Teports that on July 28, for example, ‘“Sec- 

the Imperial institutions. (See above, p. 
110.) Hence, his use of the atomic bomb 
must be explained in other terms. See also 
Stimson’s diary entry of July 24: “I then 
spoke [to Truman] of the importance 

retary Forrestai arrived and told me in de- 
tail of the intercepted messages from the 
Japanese government to Ambassador Sato in 
Moscow, indicating Japan’s willingness to 
surrender.” (All in One Lifetime, p. 297.) 

+ It is sometimes argued that Truman 
had to use the atomic bomb because the 
Japanese would not accept “unconditional” 
surrender. (Byrnes, Speaking Frankly, pp. 
211, 262.) This argument neglects the fact 
that early in the summer Truman had de- 
cided if necessary to permit a conditional 
surrender allowing the Japanese to maintain 
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which {I attributed to the reassurance of the 
Japanese on the continuance cf their dy- 
nasty . . . I hoped that the President would 
watch carefully so that the Japanese might 
be reassured verbally through diplomatic 
channels if it was found that they were 
hanging fire on that one point. He said he 
had that in mind, and that he would take 
care of it... .” (Conference of Berlin, Ul, 
p. 1272.) See Lord Alanbrooke’s similar 
conclusions, and his suggestion that “an op- 
portune moment to make it clear to the 
Japanese might be shortly after a Russian 
entry into the war.” (Ibid., p. 36.) > 
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eatafie: blast it would herald a new and a eat advance i in 

American power and—if the logic followed throughout the summer of 

delay continued to hold true—its force would permit a new American Aa 

initiative in European and Far Eastern diplomacy. « 
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CHAPTER VII __ 

American 

Diplomacy 

Takes 

the Offensive 

Byrnes had already told me .. . that 

in his belief the bomb might well put us 

in a position to dictate our own terms at 

the end of the war. 

—PRESIDENT HARRY S$. TRUMAN on a 

conversation with James F. Byrnes 

in April 1945 

_ THERE IS NO wAY to recapture the shock of the bombing of 

Hiroshima and Nagasaki. It requires an extraordinary feat of his- 

torical imagination to recreate the surprise and drama and horror of 

the day the world first learned of the atomic bomb. And it is all but 

- impossibie to recall the instant change in American thinking, the new 

sense of confidence and power the first atomic explosions engendered. 

To understand the impact of the new weapon upon diplomacy, one 

must go beyond the simple assertion that the added military power 

could be useful in war and in diplomatic maneuvering. In the first 

instance, its influence was psychological. 

Truman’s exuberance and Churchill’s excitement at Potsdam show 

some of the emotional force of the new development. Though he had 

expected the bomb to be a success for many months, and despite the 

fact that at Potsdam he learned how greatly the test had exceeded 

expectations, when the President was informed of the successful 

bombing of Hiroshima, the effect was remarkable. Aboard the cruiser 

Augusta, Truman hurried back and forth telling officers and crew 

alike the news." “I was greatly moved,” the President has told us; and 

his sentiment was not remorse, but satisfaction. His first remark to 
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jose with him at the time was the unqualified assertion, “This is the 
greatest thing in history!” 

To the average American, as well as to most senior government 

officials, news of the atomic bomb came first from the newspapers. 

Here too the weapon’s power was disclosed in a way which produced 

great emotion and optimism about its usefulness as an instrument of 

high policy. On August 7, newspapers were filled with banner head- 

lines announcing the devastation of Hiroshima.’ Not only was the 

development an unprecedented and amazing—indeed, at the time, 

fantastic*—-scientific feat, but at once the bomb’s seemingly incredible 

power for war and peace was dramatically disclosed. In less time than 

it took to read a newspaper, the American public learned that the 

bomb might reduce the Japanese war from a publicly estimated year 

and a half to a few short weeks or even days. Immediately, news of 

Nagasaki convinced those who might have doubted the extent of the 

new power. In less than a week, the war—which until then had been a 

long series of costly island-to-island battles against an enemy who 

fought to the death—was suddenly over. Not only was the atomic 

bomb spectacular in itself, but it immediately demonstrated its appar- 

ent capacity to force surrender upon a powerful enemy. {* 

While the public at large was treated to the dramatic news of the 

weapon, the President and his senior advisers worked feverishly to end 

the Japanese war quickly. Ironically, the atomic bomb had not ful- 

filled one hope of the strategy of delay; with the Soong negotiations 

still stalled, on August 8—three months, to the day, after German 

capitulation—the Soviet Union declared war on Japan, and early the 

* The New York Herald Tribune (Aug. 
7, 1945) commented that the new force was 
“weird, incredible and somehow disturbing; 
one forgets the effect on Japan or on the 
course of the war as one senses the founda- 
tions of one’s own universe trembling . . .” 

+In recalling the effect of the bombing 
upon the American public I wish only to 
point out that most Americans did not 
doubt (and do not doubt) that the atomic 
bomb ended the war. (See, for example, 
Truman, Year of Decisions, p. 426; Byrnes, 
Speaking Frankly, p. 264; All in One Life- 
time, p. 308.) Though a good case can 
probably be made that the Soviet declara- 
tion of war actually provided the coup de 
grace, there is no need to argue the point, 

nor can a final answer to this question ever 
be given. However, note that the Japanese 
Cabinet did not decide to surrender after 
the first atomic bomb, that the Cabinet 
fixed its hopes on the undetermined So- 
viet attitude until the very moment Stalin 
declared war, that the Russian entry hit 
where it counted (ending the hope of the 
military leaders), and that American propa- 
ganda directed at Japan after Hiroshima 
stressed the importance of the Russian at- 
tack. (Ehrman, Grand Strategy, pp. 283, 
306-7; Hewlett and Anderson, The New 
World, p. 403; Craven and Cate, Air 
Forces in World War II, Vol. V, pp. 730- 
32; S. E. Morison, “Why Japan Surren- 
dered,” The Atlantic, October 1960, p. 47.) 
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quickly as we can before Russia. . . 

few days peewecn the Soviet deckaratene and ‘the. formal surre der of 

- Japan, Stimson, Byrnes, and Truman continued to follow the basic 

line of strategy they had adopted during the summer. Stimson urged 

the President that “the thing to do was to get this surrender through as 

should get down in reach of the 

Japanese homeland . . . It was of great importance to get the home- 

land into our hands before the Russians could put in any substantial 

claim to occupy and help rule it.’””* 

Byrnes, of course, emphatically agreed.’ But an August 10 Japa- 

nese message accepting the Potsdam Proclamation was conditional; it 

_asked guarantees that the Emperor’s position be respected.* Stimson 

urged that American assurances for the Emperor would produce a 

quick surrender.® Byrnes, agreeing with the objective, disagreed on 

tactics—such assurances might appear as a sign of weakness and could 

“cause much delay.””® Finally, Truman accepted a suggestion by 

Forrestal that a message which implicitly recognized the Emperor’s 

position but which was explicitly “unconditional” would be the best 

way to secure a prompt response.’' In the meantime, “the President 

observed that we would keep up the war at its present intensity.”* 

Byrnes now attempted to arrange quick approval for this approach 

from the other Allies.** When Molotov asked for a day to consider the 

* The tremendous desire to end the war 
quickly was expressed in many ways. Since 
the bomb dropped on Hiroshima accom- 
plished the shock effect, the use of the sec- 
ond bomb against Nagasaki may well be 
explained by noting that Truman and 
Byrnes wished to leave absolutely no doubt 
about their resources or their intentions, and 
were anxious to avoid any time-consuming 
delays. Byrnes has testified they knew “the 
Japanese were patently anxious to surren- 
der,’ but after the first Japanese acceptance 
message came in, Truman ordered conven- 
tional military operations to continue full 
force. At the Cabinet meeting on August 
10, Stimson “suggested . . . that it would be 
a humane thing ... that might affect the 
settlement if we stopped the bombing... .” « 
However, his view was “rejected on the 
ground that it couldn’t be done at once be- 
cause we had not yet received in official 
form the Japanese surrender, . . .” Stimson’s 
diary entry continues: “This of course was a 
correct but narrow reason, for the Japanese 
had broadcast their offer of surrender 
through every country in the world,” (Stim- 
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son Diary, Aug. 10, 1945.) Forrestal’s diary 
shows that Stimson also “cited the growing 
feeling of apprehension and misgiving as to 
the effect of the atomic bomb even in our 
own country,” and that the Secretary of the 
Navy supported the advice that conventional 
bombing should cease. (Forrestal, Diaries, p. 
83.) Truman refused to let up the pace 
even after the Japanese accepted the final 
American message, which implicitly ac- 
knowledged the position of the Emperor. 
Long after Radio Tokyo had broadcast ac- 
ceptance of these terms (on August 14), 
but before the message had reached Wash- 
ington through official channels, General 
Arnold (who wished to stage as big a finale 
as possible) was permitted to send 1,014 
aircraft (approximately 800 B-29’s and 200 
fighters) to drop six thousand tons of con- 
ventional explosives on Honshu. (Byrnes, 
All in One Lifetime, p. 305; Truman, Year 
of Decisions, p. 423; Leahy, I Was There, 
pp. 434-36; Craven and Cate, Air Forces 
in World War II, Vol. V, pp. ‘699, 732-33; 
New York Times, Aug. 15, 1945.) 
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United States was quite prepaid to lias the Ge without ips 

~ Soviet Union unless approval for the American message was immedi- 

ately given.”* Stalin quickly yielded to the American demand," and 

the message was sent to the Japanese on August 11.1" Now there was 

nothing to do except wait for the response. 

Aware that each hour meant a further advance of the Soviet ar- 

mies, and also some loss of life, American leaders now became ex- 

tremely impatient.1° “Never have I known time to pass so slowly!” 

Byrnes recalls.‘ When Japanese acceptance of the American message 

arrived, Byrnes abandoned all diplomatic requirements. Although the 

three powers had attempted to coordinate the acceptance and an- 

nouncement of the German surrender,'® Byrnes now cut consultations 

short and, giving the other Allies less than three hours’ notice, he 

declared that the President would announce acceptance of the Japa- 

nese surrender at 7 P.M., August 14; the others could join in at that 

time if they wished.’® 

Thus, the war was ended five days after the Red Army entered 

Manchuria. Despite the fact that the atomic bomb did not prevent the 

attack, however, it did fulfill the other hope of the strategy of delay. 

Truman has characterized the result: “Our dropping of the atomic 

bomb on Japan. . . forced Russia to reconsider her position in the 

Far East.””° Indeed, as Stimson had predicted, after the bombing the 

relative positions of the United States and the Soviet Union were rad- 

ically altered. A new firmness immediately appeared in American 

diplomacy and, correspondingly a new willingness to yield egos 

in the Soviet stance. 

After the New Mexico test, Truman had decided to exclude the 

Soviet Union from a significant role in the occupation and control of 

Japan.”! For this reason the August 11 message, as Stimson noted, 

“asserted that the action of the Emperor must be dominated by the 

Allied commander, using the singular to exclude any condomin- 

ium.”22 When Harriman had demanded immediate Soviet agreement 

to the message, Molotov had asked for time to consider just this 

point.”* But Moscow was in no position to dispute American preroga- 

tives and by endorsing the American message the Soviet government 

formally paved the way for unilateral American control of Japan.” 

191 



- Similarly, Stalin could do very little when Truman Gapky refused his i 

request that the Red Army be allowed to take a token surrender in the 

Japanese homeland (on the northern half of the island of Hok- 

kaido).2> And Stalin’s readiness to accept American conditions after 

Hiroshima was underscored a week after surrender when an Amer- 

ican proposal for a Far Eastern Advisory Commission was accepted.”° 

This body, unlike the Control Commissions governing the other ex- 

; enemy states, was to be virtually powerless. Its location—in Wash- 

ington—stressed the fact that it would have little control over the 

operating decisions of the Supreme Commander, General Douglas 

MacArthur, in Tokyo.?” Thus, it was with the general approval of the 

Russians that Truman told the press on August 16 that Japan would 

not be divided into occupation zones, and declared in the first week of 

September that as far as Japan was concerned, “in the event of any 

differences of opinion [among the Allied powers] the policies of the 

United States will govern.” **° 

That the atomic bomb had strengthened the American hand was 

even more clearly demonstrated when the “tangled weave” of Man- 

churian issues was taken up. Japan, of course, was beyond the reach of 

the landlocked Red Army. But even in the area of Soviet military 

operations, Tru;nan now found Stalin prepared to accept most Amer- 

ican terms. The President had delayed the Manchurian negotiations 

all summer, and he had rejected the State Department’s suggestion 

that they be concluded at Potsdam. However, as soon as the news of 

Hiroshima was made public, on August 7, 9, and 10, following his 

instructions, Harriman told Stalin and Soong that the United States 

believed the Chinese should make no further concessions.”® With 

only a short debate, Stalin now conceded almost all of the points he 

had pressed so diligently during the past month of talks with Soong:t 

Dairen was to become a free port under Chinese administration 

*Later, during the London Conference, Soviet position in the Balkans. (New York 
Stalin reversed his attitude, demanding a Herald Tribune, Sept. 25; New York Times, 
greater role in Japan. As Walter Lippmann, Oct. 14; London Times, Oct. 2; Christian 
James Reston, the London Times, the Chris- | Science Monitor, Oct. 3, 1945.) 
tian Science Monitor, and others noted at 
the time, his reversal was probably in re- { See above, pp. 122-125. 
taliation to the pressure Byrnes put on the 
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(except in time of war),*° and the jointly owned Manchurian railways 

were to be governed by a ten-man board of directors (five from each 

country) whose President was to be a Chinese Nationalist with deci- 

sive power to cast two votes.*! A treaty was initialed on August 14 

which “generally satisfied” Chiang Kai-shek,®? and Ambassador Har- 

riman cabled that T. V. Soong “was very grateful for our support and 

is convinced that unless we had taken an active part in the negotia- 

tions he would have had to accede to all Stalin’s demands.” *** 

In Chungking, Ambassador Hurley was enthusiastic about the 

value of the treaties to internal Chinese politics. As in 1927, the Rus- 

sians took a stand against the Chinese Communists:} “The publica- 

tion . . . has demonstrated conclusively that the Soviet Government 

supports the National Government of China and also that the two 

governments are in agreement regarding Manchuria.”** In America, 

most commentators expressed great satisfaction with the settlement in 

an area not administered by China for many years and under the 

direct military control of the Soviet Union.*® On August 29, Madame 

Chiang visited Truman to thank him for his support. The President 

told his press conference: “She was very happy over the Russian-Chi- 

nese treaty, just as all of us are.”** 

To be sure, at a later date the hopes these successful negotiations 

produced were to be dissipated. But at the time—and for a very con- 

siderable period—Stalin respected the treaties.*7 Chiang Kai-shek’s 

administrators were permitted to take over civilian control in the Red 

Army zone of operations®® and the American Air Force and Navy 

ferried thousands of Nationalist troops (who had no independent way 

to reach the area)*® to Manchuria to take over responsibilities from 

the Russians.*° Although Stalin took advantage of his position to re- 

move a number of Manchurian industries as “war booty,” ¢*" the Red 

Army withdrew in April 1946. As the State Department later sum- 

marized the situation: “It was considered that Russia had accepted 

* For the texts of the agreements, see 
Department of State, Relations with China, 
Annexes 51-59, pp. 585-96. 

+ And in 1959-1965? 

t As I have noted, in the late autumn of 
1945 a new Soviet démarche in the Far 
East seemed to be a direct response to the 

American effort in the Balkans. (See above, 
p. 192fn.) It may well be that the Soviet 
interest in industrial reparations and “war 
booty” from Manchuria was also a response 
to the West’s reluctance to adhere to the 
Yalta reparations formula and the subse- 
quent breakdown of German administrative 
arrangements. 
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withhold all aid from the Chinese Communists. . beets 

Thus the primary American objectives in the ar East were 

achieved. Moreover, as had been expected throughout the summer, 

now Truman and Byrnes began to take the initiative to secure further 

a - political and commercial concessions in Manchuria. At Stimson’s sug- 

' gestion, Truman had also deferred an approach to the Russians on 

these additional matters during the summer.+ At Potsdam he had 

rejected the suggestion that negotiations begin while Stalin and he 

e were together. However, now the “appropriate time’ had arrived. In 

his first approach to Molotov after Hiroshima, Harriman was in- 

structed to attempt to secure a new public statement affirming Soviet 

support for America’s traditional “Open Door” policy in the area.“ 

‘ Molotov initially responded that such a statement was superfluous, 

since Stalin had repeatedly confirmed his support for this policy. But 

_ Truman and Byrnes persisted, on August 22 instructing Harriman to 

_— press the matter with Stalin himself.** This effort succeeded. On Au- 

er gust 27 the Soviet Premier overruled his foreign minister and said he 

was prepared to issue the declaration sought by Washington.*” 

a THE SECRET CLOSE-IN APPROACH 

E IN THE WHIRLWIND DAYs immediately after Hiroshima and Nag- 

x ; - asaki, American diplomacy changed so swiftly that few observers have 

caught the sweep of all the policy decisions unveiled in a few short 

weeks. Secretary Byrnes, however, has emphasized the importance of 

this brief period. Underscoring the breadth and scope of new diplo- 

matic departures, he has recalled: “Those . . . days . . . were full of 

action.’’** In fact, the sheer volume of work caused the Secretary of 

* Although it is still a matter of dispute | Byrnes was still able to write: “Whether 
to what extent Stalin aided the Chinese Stalin will continue to resist the temptation 
Communists in the first postwar years, there ... is a question which ... remains in 
is substantial agreement that his assistance, the balance.”’ (Byrnes, Speaking Frankly, pp. 
if of any importance at all, was extremely +227-29, 293.) Similarly, as late as Septem- 
limited. (Beloff, Soviet Policy, pp. 42-43; ber 1947 the Chinese Foreign Minister 
Department of State, Relations with China, wished to do nothing which might cause 

: p. 121.) The Red Army withdrew from Stalin to reconsider his obligations under 
Manchuria in April 1946. (Ibid., p..147; the Sino-Soviet treaty. (Department of State, 
McNeill, America, Britain and Russia, 1941-___ Relations with China, p. 121.) 
46, p. 709.) As late as June 1947, Byrnes 
made no complaints that Stalin was support- ¥ See above, pp. 98, 101-103. 
ing the Chinese Communists. At thaf time + See above, p. 124. 
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tember 1 be postponed until September 10.*° 

that he London foreign ministers’ meeting set fe Sep- ai 

- Amongst all the activities, however, unquestionably the most im- 

portant concerned atomic energy. At precisely the same time Amer- 

ican Far Eastern diplomacy was achieving its objectives, Truman and 

Byrnes also made it clear that the United States intended to maintain 

its atomic monopoly. 

Truman’s August 6 statement—released with the news of Hiro- 

shima—trevealed that “it is not intended to divulge the technical 

processes of production or all the military applications.”°° In his Au- 

gust 9 report to the nation, the President declared: “The atomic bomb 

is too dangerous to be loose in a lawless world . . . We must consti- _ 

tute ourselves trustees of this new force.”®! Within a week of the presi- _ 
dential statement, the War Department released a long report on 

atomic energy with the notice: “The best interests of the United States 

require the utmost cooperation by all concerned in keeping secret now - 

and for all time in the future all scientific and technical information. 

.”°2 In another week Truman directed that no information on the 

nuclear development project be released without the specific approval 

of the President.*°* 

Thus, Truman made public his resolve to maintain the production 

secrets of the new weapon. His declarations revealed that Stimson’s 

early idea of exchanging information on nuclear energy (and simul- 

taneously establishing international controls) had been rejected. In- 

stead of the theory that the new development might be used as a 

bargaining counter with which to obtain diplomatic quid pro quos 

from the Russians, there was to be what Stimson had once described 

as “the secret close-in attempted control of the project by those who 

control it now.”°* Although initially Truman had had to decide only 

that diplomacy would be delayed until the atomic weapons were 

demonstrated, by the end of July he had also resolved the nascent 

dispute between Stimson and Byrnes; the President had adopted the 

Secretary of State’s more narrow view that a temporary monopoly of 

nuclear weapons, in itself, would be valuable to diplomacy.t 

* Churchill praised this decision in the already said that he would not reveal the 
House of Commons. (5th Series, Hansard, atomic bomb itself at all. . .” (U.S. House 
Vol. 413, Commons, 76-86.) Shortly there- of Representatives, Hearings: Atomic Energy 
after Stimson’s successor, Robert Patterson, Act, Oct. 9, 18, 1945, p. 66.) 
reassured Congress that “the President has + See above, pp. 62-64. 
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“Indeed, although the policy decision was ake in Te ‘July nae 

made public only on August 6, the crucial assumptions of the narrow 

view had been adopted as early as the first week of June; for, despite 

Stimson’s hopeful discussion of diplomatic quid pro quos, the Interim 

Committee had been strongly influenced by the Secretary of State— 

designate. In the May 31 meeting of the Committee, the director of 

_ the Los Alamos laboratories, J. Robert Oppenheimer, had argued that 

under a system of controls the United States should offer the world 

free interchange of nuclear information, with special emphasis on 

peacetime uses. He had felt the nation would strengthen its moral 

position if it acted before using the bomb.** General Marshall and 

Assistant Secretary of State Clayton, however, had argued against 

putting faith in a system of inspection safeguards for international 

conirol.°* General Marshall had added his opinion that it would be 

best to build up a combination of like-minded powers that would 

_ bring Russia into line by the very force of the coalition.*’ As the 

discussion progressed, Byrnes had intervened decisively; he argued 

against giving information to the Russians, even in general terms. He 

concluded that the best policy was to push production and research 

and make certain that the United States stayed ahead.*® 

Byrnes’s prestige—and his status as personal representative of the 

President—had not been ignored. The Interim Committee unani- 

mously concurred in his judgment: It would be best to push research 

and production, to maintain secrecy, and to establish a combination of 

democratic powers for cooperation in atomic energy.®® Byrnes and the | 

Committee also expressed hope that some form of cooperation with 

Russia could be worked out so that under a control system each coun- 

try would make public whatever work was being done on the sub- 

ject.®° However, in reality the Committee’s recommendations all but 

excluded the possibility of international control of atomic energy: The 

Russians were unlikely to accept continued American production and 

research without attempting to secure nuclear weapons for them- 

selves, and the Committee had no specific control proposals to make. 

Aware of the limitations of this.approach, even as Stimson had dis- 

cussed quid pro quos with the President on June 6, he had acknowl- 

edged that the Committee’s ideas were “imperfect” and that they 

“might not be assented to by Russia.” But he had told the President 
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that “we were far enough ahead of the game to be able to accumulate 

enough material to serve as insurance.”* 

Thus, in the end, even Stimson, who knew that a nuclear monopoly 

could not be maintained, and who was deeply concerned by the pros- 

pect of an arms race, had given priority to continued weapons produc- 

tion and research instead of an attempt to establish international con- 

trols. Stimson briefly took great interest in a proposal that further 

production of atomic weapons should be halted temporarily as evi- 

dence of good faith, so that an approach to Russia could be at- 

tempted, but he did not pursue the idea.** On June 21 the Interim 

Committee, preparing a statement to be issued by the President, — 

struck out a proposed sentence which would have committed the 

United States to attempt to achieve international control of atomic — 

energy.® Stimson accepted the draft, but although he continued to 

be troubled that, as he had once expressed it, “modern civilization 

might be completely destroyed,”® apparently few other members of 

the Interim Committee shared his fears.* 

Most important, the President’s personal representative, Secretary 

Byrnes, had few doubts about the wisdom of the “close-in” ap- 

proach.® He believed the temporary atomic monopoly would be a 

great advantage to American diplomacy.®™ In his view, the primary 

task was to establish a “lasting structure of peace.”®* A stable Europe, 

essential to world peace and American security alike, was the number- 

one goal.® Byrnes also believed that the nuclear monopoly could be 

maintained for at least seven years.”° He appears to have been con- 

vinced that within this period, with the support of the revolutionary 

new weapon, his diplomacy could easily achieve its idealistic objec- 

tives. Thus, the weapon seemed a crucial factor in forcing agreement 

to an American plan for permanent peace—a plan which, ipso facto, 

would prevent another world war. Since this vision promised an end to 

all war it implicitly obviated the danger of an arms race. There seemed 

plenty of time to accomplish the task before the Russians might break 

the American monopoly.+ In any case, as Byrnes has written, “no one 

* Oppenheimer is an _ exception. See + “Permanent peace,” or “lasting peace,” 
Atomic Energy Commission, Oppenheimer or “durable peace,” seems to have been a 
Hearings for repeated references to his per- universal objective of American policy 
sonal depression during this period and his makers. (See above, pp. 53, 78.) In retro- 
fear for the future. (Continued on next page) 
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a seemed too alarmed at the prospect, because it th 

iid seven years we should be far ahead of the Soviets in this field. 

appeared that 
271 

Byrnes’s arguments for secrecy and continued production of weap- 

ons convinced not only the Interim Committee but also the Presi- 

dent. Although during June Truman also spoke optimistically of 

diplomatic quid pro quos, he accepted the recommendations presented 

ae ~ tohim. In mid-July, at Potsdam, the President told Churchill he would 

“at all costs . . . refuse to divulge any particulars.””* He later wrote: 

“I had decided that the secret of the manufacture of the weapon 

would remain a secret with us.”” 

Indeed, during the Potsdam Conference both the President and 

Stimson lost the trace of interest in international controls each had 

— evidenced earlier in the summer. Depressed by the omnipresent Soviet 

secret police in Berlin, both came to the conclusion that a control 

scheme could hope to succeed only if Russia were to become an open, 

democratic society.“* As Harriman pointed out (and as Stimson soon 

realized) ,”° to attempt to force the Soviet Union to change its national 

system would be to demand something no great power could con- 

sider.7° However, once accepted, the idea that controls could be es- 

tablished only if Russia became a democracy inevitably destroyed 

even the meager remaining hope of international cooperation. Stim- 

son’s diary shows that this realization “troubled me a great deal,”’” but 

as Truman has testified, the Secretary of War no longer urged the 

exchange of important information on the weapon.” And Stimson re- 

turned from Potsdam strongly opposed to the release of any atomic 

information.*” 

The President later (in September) expressed some interest in meth- 

(Continued from preceding page) haps four years before the concrete progress 
spect it is not surprising that leading made in the United States can be over- 
Officials, having personally experienced two 
‘world wars in one lifetime, should have 
aimed so consistently for a proper basis—as 
they defined it—which would eliminate a 
third world war. Nor, indeed, is it surpris- 
ing that once given the unexpected power 
of the atomic bomb that they should have 
regarded the weapon as a meanis to achieve 
their goal. In this early period, Byrnes’s 
view was the most straightforward, but 
compare Churchill’s statement to the House 
of Commons, August 16, 1945: “The 
United States stand at this moment at the 
summit of the world ... Let them act up 
to the level of their power ... So far as 
we know, there are at least three and per- 
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taken. In these three years we must re- 
mould the relationships of all men, wher- 
ever they dweil, in all the nations... .” 
(Sth Series, Hansard, Vol. 413, Commons, 
80.) The newly available information on 
Byrnes’s view also illuminates a previously 
enigmatic statement in his memoirs. Recall- 
ing discussions of the bomb with Churchill 
at Potsdam, Byrnes states: “In addition to 
his tremendous interest in the effect of the 
bomb on the war with Japan [Churchill] 
foresaw more clearly than many others the 
possibilities presented by the release of 
atomic energy.” (Speaking Frankly, p. 262.) 

For more information on Byrnes’s view, 
see Hewlett and Anderson, The New World, 



THE OFFENS VE 

ods for “controlling bomb warfare”®° bal the idea of sharing important e 
information under a control scheme was dropped—‘“As far as I was 
concerned, this was not a matter for discussion.”®! Having accepted 
Byrnes’s basic recommendations and having agreed that no control 

would be possible until the Soviet Union changed its system, Truman 

automatically—and apparently quite confidently—ended up 

strongly supporting the narrow view of his Secretary of State. Even 

before Potsdam there is little evidence that Truman showed much 

personal interest in promoting attempts to establish international con- 

trols. During the Conference he rejected the idea that frank relations 

and international cooperation required that he tell Stalin of the new _ 

weapon before using it.t After the Conference the President followed 

Byrnes’s recommendations that no approach to the Russians be made. 

He told de Gaulle that because the United States had the only atomic 

bombs, “the peace problem . . . was therefore largely economic.”*® 

Stimson’s Potsdam advice, which made control seem impossible, had 

bolstered Byrnes’s conception of the role of the bomb in diplomacy; 

Truman concluded that so long as no “foolproof” method of control 

existed, 

of the bomb had given us.” ¢** 

“it was important to retain the advantage which the possession 

pp. 354-60, 417, 418, 456, 458-59, 461, 
469, 532; Atomic Energy Commission, Op- 
penheimer Hearings, p. 33; The New York 
Times, Sept. 6, 1945; Byrnes, Speaking 
Frankly, pp. 87, 179, 203, 261; All in One 
Lifetime, pp. 284, 303; Stimson Diary, Aug. 
12-Sept. 3, Sept. 5, Sept. 11, 1945. The 
reader will note that I have not mentioned 
as one of the reasons for Byrnes’s opposi- 
tion to control schemes his belief that they 
were technically impossible. From all the 
evidence I have seen, it is quite clear that 
Byrnes began with the idea of basing his 
diplomacy on the atomic bomb (as his 
early April discussions with Truman show). 
Though he certainly distrusted the Russians, 
there is little evidence that at this time he 
opposed international control schemes be- 
cause of doubts about their feasibility. 
Rather, he simply had no interest in any of 
the various schemes suggested which might 
have deprived him of the key factor in his 
diplomacy. 

In 1947 Byrnes came to the conclusion 
that when the Russians caught up there 
would be little likelihood of war. Recalling 
that neither party used poison gas or germ 
warfare during the Second World War, he 
argued that a parallel situation would even- 
tually be reached: “No nation dared use 

these terrible weapons because they knew 
the same weapons would be used against 
them.” (Speaking Frankly, p. 276.) Though 
Byrnes failed to achieve his diplomatic ob- 
jectives, if the present delicate balance of 
terror can be maintained, ironically Byrnes’s 
prediction may be borne out. 

* Stimson later reconsidered . his entire 
viewpoint. See Appendix III. 

+ See above, pp. 156, 183. 
+ The last sentence is Truman’s 1955 rec- 

ollection. From the evidence I have seen, 
however, it appears that between April and 
August 1945 Truman never had more than 
a passing interest in the idea of interna- 
tional control. Despite his comments about 
quid pro quos, in practice he seems to have 
consistently agreed with Byrnes that the im- 
plied threat of the weapon could not be 
given up to an international control scheme. 
Available evidence does not permit a final 
determination of how Truman saw the 
problem at the time, but as I have shown, 
even taking Truman’s recollection at its face 
value, by the time of Potsdam he had de- 
fined the control problem in a way which 
could not be resolved. Thus, on his own 
terms the “advantage which the possession 
of the bomb had given us” could only be 
the advantage urged by Byrnes. 
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In this way the ideas Byrnes had urged during the summer oe ") 

American policy: When it came, the much delayed showdown would 

not be based upon exchanging an international control system for 

diplomatic quid pro quos. Instead the “advantage” of the weapon 

could only be its value as an “implied threat.”* The consolidation of 

_ this viewpoint was confirmed privately at the same time the President 

__ offered his public pledges to guard the secrecy of the new develop- 

ment. In early August, immediately after Hiroshima and Nagasaki, 

Assistant Secretary of War McCloy found Byres resolutely against 

any negotiations looking toward the international contro] of atomic 

energy.®** The Secretary of State reiterated that “in his opinion we 

should continue the Manhattan Project with full force.”®* Similarly, 

Byrnes, representing the President, transmitted a direction through 

General Groves to J. Robert Oppenheimer that the work at Los 

Alamos was not to let -up.%* Expenditures of the Manhattan Project 

rose during the first months of peace from 43 million doliars in August 

to 51 million in September to 59 million in October.*” 

Byrnes’s dominant position in policy making was evidenced in other 

ways immediately after Potsdam. The scientific panel of the Interim 

Committee now reported that thermonuclear weapons might be de- 

veloped, and that their power would greatly exceed the power of the 

fission weapons used in Japan. It was the panel’s “unanimous and 

urgent recommendation” that such developments be controlled by 

international agreement. Again, however, the President’s personal 

representative took a negative view of any attempt to approach the 

Russians. Oppenheimer, who had helped draft the report and had 

carried the panel’s recommendation to Byrnes, was told that the “pro- 

posal about an international agreement was not practical and that 

he and the rest of the gang should pursue their work [on the hydrogen 

weapon] full force.”** 

REMOVING THE SOVIET BLACKOUT 

FROM THE BALKANS 

TRUMAN’S STATEMENT that the United States would act as 

“trustees” of the new force came in his August 9 report to the nation on 

* The term is taken from Stimson’s diary he also argued against “‘a succession of ex- 
report of Bymes’s privately expressed view press or implied threats or near threats in 
of the bomb. (See below, p. 255.) Within our peace negotiations.” (Stimson, On Ac- 
a month the Secretary of War came to five Service, p. 645.) 
oppose the Byrnes view. On September 11, 
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the Potsdam Conference. Thus, just as the atomic bomb had been inti- 

mately related to his European policy throughout the summer, the 

disclosure of the President’s approach to the new weapon was im- 

plicitly linked to his first postwar discussion of European issues. Once 

again, however, it is necessary to recall that American departures 

in European diplomacy, in Far Eastern diplomacy, and in atomic- 

energy policy were revealed simultaneously, and in a great rush in 

the crowded second, third, and fourth weeks of August. 

Truman’s August 9 report on Potsdam emphasized his sense of 

confidence and optimism about the future; the Allies would “con- 

tinue to march together to a lasting peace and a happy world.”®? 

Although he was not yet able to report that all his European objec- 

tives had been achieved, the President offered a convincing argument 

that the ultimate goal, a politically and economically stable Europe, 

would be achieved. In the main, the American proposals for Germany 

had been accepted. Agreement on political principles had been 

reached and, most important, the economic issue, which was domi- 

nated by the reparations question, had been settled along the lines of 

American proposals: The “idea of attempting to fix a dollar value 

. . . was dropped.”®° The President looked forward to early agree- 

ment on various other proposals when the foreign ministers held their — 

first peacetime meeting in London. Soon most of the issues postponed 

at Potsdam might be settled.** 

At the time Truman was making these remarks cooperative rela- 

tions with the Russians began on a hopeful note almost everywhere on 

the Continent. In Germany, Eisenhower and Zhukov quickly estab- 

lished a warm friendship and close working relations.*? Plans for free 

interzonal politics and trade were laid (and soon implemented ).*°* In 

Austria, General Mark Clark was less successful in his personal rela- 

tionships, but he too found a considerable degree of Soviet coopera- 

* The moderate Soviet approach in East- 
ern Germany and elsewhere during the 
early autumn of 1945 has been noted by 
many observers; and the radical changes 
which took place later have yet to be ade- 
quately explained. In addition to the fact 
that free enterprise, free trade, free travel, 
and free politics were promoted by the Rus- 
sians in East Germany during this period, 
in October the Red Army ripped up vital 
rail communications extending from the So- 
viet Union through Poland to Germany. 
For more information on this fascineting 

but unexplored period, see Slusser, Soviet 
Economic Policy in Postwar Germany, pp. 
16, 19, 20, 42, 55; Nettl, The Eastern Zone 
and Soviet Policy in Germany, 1945-50, 
pp. 80, 81, 281, 292; Leonhard, Child of 
Revolution, pp. 352, 379, 391, 411, 413-15, 
427; Eisenhower, Crusade in Europe, p. 444. 
Similarly, at this time the Red Army, which 
controlled the greater part of Czechoslovakia 
and Hungary, withdrew. (McNeill, America, 
Britain and Russia, 1941-46, p. 734; Betts, 
Central and South East Europe, p. 126.) 
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tion immediately after Potsdam.” In Pol: : 

Truman’s policy—there also seemed to be signs of hope. At Potsdam, 

Truman had again secured Stalin’s support for an early free election 

and for unrestricted reporting by Western correspondents.®® Assistant 

Secretary of State Clayton and Ambassador Harriman had carried 

forward talks regarding economic aid with the Polish government.®° 

“is 

_ Immediately after Potsdam, American correspondents requested per- 

mission to enter the country. (The Polish government agreed on 

August 24, and the reporters soon enjoyed unrestricted freedom. )°** 

_ Ambassador Lane laid plans to bring to a culmination the summer 

_ strategy of attempting to bargain American credits for early elections — 

and unrestricted trade. And, just as Truman had been confident the 
approach would work in April, Lane seemed to find every reason to 

believe the approach would now succeed.* 

Thus, there seemed a reasonable basis for Truman’s hopeful review 

_ of most European questions. But in his Potsdam report to the nation 

the President also discussed Southeastern Europe. And here, as had 

ae _ been clear before and during the Potsdam meeting, the Russians were 

not so amenable to American plans. Consequently, once again from 

Truman’s point of view Southeastern Europe presented the most im- 

mediate challenge to American European policy. Truman’s Potsdam 

demand that the governments of Bulgaria and Rumania be changed 

~ had been refused, but the President had made it quite clear that he 

was willing to postpone, not withdraw, his demand. Now, immediately 

after Hiroshima and Nagasaki, he publicly declared: “These nations 

are not to be spneres of influence of any one power.”®® 

This statement of American opposition to Soviet domination of the 

Balkans was of major political significance. Here was the first open 

and public break in the wartime alliance. And immediately the Presi- 

dent and his Secretary of State demonstrated that the declaration 

meant what it said: The United States demanded that the governments 

subservient to Soviet influence be removed. From the American point 

of view, forcing agreement on this issue was important not only in 

*Lane held his first explicit talks with 
the Poles on September 3. Hoping to secure 
early free elections and the elimination of 
disciminatory trading agreements, he carried 
forward the April strategy in discussions 
throughout the autumn. “With complete 

_ candor,” he stated that economic aid would 
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be forthcoming only if the American pro- 
posals were accepted; “I determined to take 
advantage of the eagerness of the Polish 
Government for economic assistance and to 
use it as a lever... .” (Lane, J Saw Poland 
Betrayed, p. 145.) 
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also ecu the issue, “like t hie Polish Caen in April, ae f 

came ie symbolize American opposition to a Soviet sphere of influ- : 3 

ence throughout Eastern Europe. The crucial decision of the sum- i 

mer had been to delay a confrontation on this fundamental question _ 

until the atomic bomb had been demonstrated, and although the Pots- _ 

dam meeting had unavoidably come a few weeks too soon, now there 

was no longer any reason to wait. 

As early as mid-April, Byrnes had told the President that in his 

belief the bomb might well put America in a position to dictate terms 

at the end of the war.®*® He had told one of the nuclear scientists that 

the demonstration and possession of the new weapon would make 

Russia more manageable in Eastern Europe, specifically mentioning 

Poland, Rumania, and Hungary.* Now Secretary Byrnes set about the 

task of implementing his own basic view. In Byrnes’s approach to the 

Balkans, and in Truman’s support for this approach—more than in 

any other single diplomatic effort—American leaders demonstrated © 

that the strategy of delay had reached its long-awaited climax. To- 

gether with British leaders, American policy makers now attempted to 

fulfill the President’s summer pledge to “insist on the eventual removal 

of the Soviet blackout.”?°° 

Truman’s declaration of opposition to spheres of influence was 

what one observer termed “the first gun” in an “Anglo-American 

diplomatic offensive.”?°' In a series of powerful statements other 

American and British leaders drove home the President’s point. Prime 

Minister Clement Attlee told Parliament he “looked forward with 

hope to the emergence of democratic governments based on free elec- 

tions” in the Balkans.’ Foreign Minister Bevin, revealing the Pots- 

dam change in the British approach, declared that he would refuse to 

recognize the governments of Hungary, Bulgaria, and Rumania until 

free elections were held.t°? He added that under Soviet control, in his 

opinion, “one kind of totalitarianism [was] being replaced by an- 

other.”!°* Winston Churchill publicly introduced the term “the iron 

* Before his death, Dr. Leo Szilard that the possession of the bomb by Amer- 

offered a few more details of his May 28 
conversation with the Secretary of State— 
designate: “Byrnes was concerned about 
Russia’s having taken over Poland, Rumania, 
and Hungary, and so was I. Byrnes thought 

ica would render the Russians more man- 
ageable in Europe. I failed to see how. 
...” (U.S. News & World Report, Aug. 15, 
1960, p. 69.) 
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curtain”* and demanded an end to the “police oe is - ite i 

area.1°> At the same time he told the Commons his belief that the 

atomic bomb gave the West “irresistible” powers.’°° 

In these speeches the privately expressed confidence so apparent at 

Potsdam was publicly manifested. Churchill’s speech in the Commons 

made no attempt to hide the relationship between the new weapon 

and his judgment that the West now had the power to force Soviet 

acceptance of their approach in the Balkans. Although American 

spokesmen were not so explicit in public, a number of commentators 

noted the direct relationship between the “entirely new sense of confi- 

dence” in diplomacy and the atomic explosions. Indeed, it was all but 

impossible to miss the connection, for Truman’s disclosure of the con- 

frontation in the Balkans was heralded by the commanding news of 

the two atomic bombings; and the destruction of Nagasaki and the 

President’s attack upon spheres of influence were made public on 

precisely the same day, August 9.+ 
The Anglo-American assault upon Soviet predominance in the 

Balkans was made despite the Churchill-Stalin arrangement, the 

armistice agreements, and the Yalta decisions. In fact, Truman’s pub- 

lic declaration was a unilateral act which contravened the assump- 

tions of an understanding the President had signed only a week ear- 

lier.’ At Potsdam, Truman had acknowledged the authority of the 

Allied Control Commissions in each country and had reaffirmed the 

*Tt had been used in private cables ear- 
lier. (Churchill, Triumph and Tragedy, p. 
573.) It is interesting to note that almost 
immediately after Churchill used the term 
in the Commons the original situation it was 

meant to describe changed. Churchill used 
the term specifically to mean that British 
officials were restricted in their movements 
‘in Poland and the Balkans (‘tan iron fence 
had come down around them’—Conference 
of Berlin, Il, p. 362) and to mean that West- 

ern correspondents were not allowed free 
range. However, at Potsdam the Western 
representatives were given all the additional 
tights in the Soviet zone that they asked 
(Conference of Berlin, Il, pp. 1494-95), 
and after Potsdam, Western correspondents 
were given free access to Poland, Rumania, 
and Bulgaria. (State Department Bulletin, 
Aug. 26, 1945, pp. 283-84; New York 
Times, Sept. 13, 1945.) Hungary, of course, 
never presented a major problem in this re- 
spect. Although Churchill introduced his 
term in the autumn of 1945, it was only 
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considerably later that a new “iron curtain” 
descended in the Soviet zone of Europe. 

+ C. L. Sulzberger, noting the “diplomatic 
offensive” in the Balkans, commented: “The 
disclosure of an effective atomic weapon, 
completely shifting the actual balance of 
military power . . . revised the entire over- 
all atmosphere and the realities of a situa- 
tion in which two rival Allied pressures 
were operating against each other.” (New 
York Times, Aug. 26, 1945.) James Reston 

also noted the new American confidence 
and related it to the atomic explosions, 
which disclosed “the actuality of preponder- 

‘ant military power.” (Ibid.) The New York 
Herald Tribune (Aug. 29, 1945) commented 
on the widespread opinion “that it is the 
Truman firmness, backed by the atom bomb 
and the five-ocean navy, which has pro- 
duced the very moderate Sino-Russian 
treaty, the about-face in Bulgaria, the non- 
interference ... in the internal affairs of 
the new Polish state and similar manifesta- 
tions.” 
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principle of joint action through the Commissions. Indeed, he had 

emphasized his commitment by successfully urging that the status of 

American members of the Commissions be raised, and that they be 

given veto powers.'°* Now, simply bypassing the Commissions and the 

obligations of the armistice terms, Truman’s statement made a uni- 

lateral appeal to public opinion in each country. And following the 

appeal, Secretary Byrnes began a campaign of direct intervention in 

the internal politics of Hungary, Bulgaria, and Rumania. 

Hungary was the first problem, but the least difficult, for Chur- 

chill’s understanding seemed to be operating fairly well. The Russians 

were working closely with a government headed by the conservative 

General Bela Miklos, a former supporter of the Horthy dictatorship.1® 

The State Department believed “the present ‘Provisional National 

Government’ [to be] a coalition regime representing all important 

anti-Nazi parties.”""° However, Byrnes urged better facilities for free 

campaigning and demanded that the already scheduled elections be 

postponed until new arrangements could be made.’ Even before 

Potsdam, the Russians had shown themselves willing to admit the 

Allies to equal power on the Hungarian Allied Control Commission, 

and new procedures, permitting a Western veto, had actually been put 

into operation by July 16.*'” Now the Russians quickly acceded to the 

American demand, postponing the election on August 29." Budapest 

municipal elections were held on October 7. The Soviet pledge of free 

elections was strictly adhered to, and the Communist party suffered a 

resounding defeat. The Hungarian national election of November 4 

produced a similar result."™* 

Thus, the Russians were apparently willing to yield to American 

demands in Hungary. In Bulgaria and Rumania, where Soviet inter- 

ests were greater (80—20 and 90-10 respectively, in Churchill’s cal- 

culations) Stalin had not yielded to Truman’s main demands at Pots- 

dam. Now, after Hiroshima, the President forced a test of the new 

power relationships. Bulgaria was first. Here domestic political con- 

flicts had begun to take on international implications earlier in the 

year, but there had been little active maneuvering for position be- 

tween the big powers and Soviet responsibility had not been directly 

challenged during the war. Nevertheless, it was already clear that 
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politicians cian the country had 1 

_ the powers to back their various causes. ais 
When the Fatherland Front government was formed - it originally 

had the support of the Agrarian and Social Democratic parties.*** The 

most important political personality among these groups was Nikola 

Petkov, the Agrarian leader.t!” However, the alliance which had 

= brought together the Agrarian and Zveno parties on the one hand, 

with the Social Democratic and Communist parties on the other, was 

extremely unstable.* During the winter of 1944-45 Petkov and his 

followers accused the Communists of attempting to use the joint 

_ Fatherland Front committees—which governed Bulgarian towns and 

cities—to increase their own political strength in the country.’’? The 

Communists denied the accusation and charged the conservative 

groups with working against the occupying Soviet troops, a contra- 

vention of the armistice agreement,”° and a breach of faith which 

would undermine the Fatherland Front government.’* 

The tension caused by the political crisis was severe; it divided 

groups not only along party lines, but within the parties as well. The 

basic cleavage appeared over the general question of to what extent it 

was necessary to cooperate with the Soviet Union and the Com- 

munists.’”? The spokesman for those who believed cooperation essen- 

tial was the Zveno party leader and prime minister, Kimon Georgiev. 

- The American State Department representative, Maynard Barnes, 

found Georgiev “a true conservative in his views of the sacredness of 

private property (otherwise he could never have held highest political 

office in country) . . .”"”* However, the Prime Minister also felt it 

necessary to establish a working relationship with the Russians. On 

July 30, Barnes reported: 

[Georgiev] sees world as largely divided between three great powers 

and their respective spheres of influence. It is his belief Balkans fall 

squarely within Russian sphere. He considers himself too much of a 
realist to [accept] the view that spheres of influence are out- 

modded aha 

Georgiev and others believed cooperation with the Communists 

and the promotion of the Fatherland Front government the sine qua 

non of a viable Bulgarian political accommodation to the postwar 

power realities. However, others, like Petkov, disagreed. They dis- 
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trusted the Communists and hoped that if an immediate “free” elec- 

tion could be held, their power among the conservative peasant 

groups would thrust them into a dominant political position. They 

hoped that the Western powers would take their side against the Soviet 

occupation forces and enable them to establish a new government 

which would implement their more conservative political program.” 

Nevertheless, Petkov was not the spokesman for a united group of 

conservative politicians. Like the Prime Minister Georgiev, many 

other conservatives within the Agrarian and Social Democratic parties 

believed the Fatherland Front the only possible course for Bulgaria. 

In fact, throughout 1945 differences of opinion over this issue 

engendered violent debate and hostility, splitting the Agrarian party 

into “cooperation” and “anticooperation” factions. A test of 

strength took place between the groups at the May 1945 congress of 

the party. Petkov denounced the congress and the “cooperative” line 

it espoused.” However, the congress elected the right-wing Alexander 

Obbov leader of the Agrarian party on a platform of cooperation with 

the Fatherland Front.’** This split the Agrarians into an official 

Obbov wing promoting cooperation and the dissident Petkov wing 

urging a more and more critical view.’ 

Though still a member of the Cabinet, Petkov obviously needed all 

the political support he could find, for he faced the combined forces of 

the Russian occupation and the remainder of the Fatherland Front 

government. It was not surprising that he looked first to the American 

representative for help. In Maynard Barnes he found an extremely 

sympathetic ally. Almost from the first, Barnes took Petkov’s side.’ 

Because it also sympathized with Petkov’s views, the State Department 

championed the opposition demand for immediate “free” elections."** 

The Russians exercised their power under the armistice to reject an 

American bid for supervision of the elections in mid-April while the 

war still continued, but they promised early free elections on the Fin- 

nish pattern soon after the war’s end.” A few weeks after Germany 

collapsed, an election date—August 26—was set.*** 

From May to July the political struggle within Bulgaria focused on 

preparations for the coming election. The past history of democracy 

in the country was not very promising."** The opposition quite natu- 

rally feared that the Fatherland Front would manage the election so 

as to preclude a free campaign and they were extremely suspicious of 
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the election plans. 185 Petkov and a small dissident faction of the Social m 

Democratic party, with the support of Barnes, raised the Yalta pledge _ 

of free elections as their standard.’*® Together, Petkov’s supporters 

and the American representative (who went to the limit—and perhaps 

beyond—of his instructions) urged that the election plans be liber- 

alized.*7 Both the Agrarian leader and Barnes attempted to secure 

- open American support for a vigorous campaign to promote three- 

power supervision—or at least observation—of the elections. 

Barnes’s strategy was to avoid any act which would increase the 

status of the Soviet-backed government. For this reason in June he 

vigorously opposed signing a peace treaty with the Georgiev govern- 

ment, and he disputed as “spurious” the British “contention that con- 

clusion of peace with Bulgaria now would entail withdrawal of Soviet 

troops.”*8 Instead, he argued that if a new government could be 

formed on the basis of a free election, American influence would be 

greatly increased: “In the event we raised the question with Russia of 

continued occupation of Bulgaria by its troops we could count not 

only upon having the mass of Bulgn people behind us, but also the 

Bulgn Govt.”?*? | 

Searching for a political handhold, Barnes seized upon the con- 

servative peasant vote: “As I see matters so far as Bulgaria is con- 

cerned, the hope of the democratic nations must be based on the wide 

mass of agrarian opinion in this country . . .”!4° Hence, he recom- 

mended a determined effort to promote free democratic elections as a 

means to support “this overwhelming mass of the Bulgn population in’ 

the only way that is left to us.”?41 In sum, on the eve of Potsdam he 

argued: “There seems only one wise course, namely to do everything 

we can at present to assure the freest election possible with the widest 

democratic participation that pressure from U.S. at this time can 

mie tbect.” 7? 

Barnes met “clandestinely” (to use his term) with Petkov and his 

followers even before Potsdam and encouraged them in their opposi- 

tion to the Fatherland Front.‘ Though prevented from making a 

direct pledge of American support, Barnes discussed the election situ- 

ation with high Bulgarian government officials, indicating the likeli- 

hood that the Allies might soon intervene to postpone the scheduled 

elections, and urging more rigorous safeguards for the opposition. 
At the same time, Barnes begged his own government for an all-out 
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_ effort to support Petkov and the other opposition politicians. Cabling 
home, he repeatedly reminded the State Department of its interpre- 

tation of the Yalta free election ideal: 

If democratic elements within and outside the [Fatherland] Front 

could be made aware of views to which I have referred and that such 

views will be re-iterated at Potsdam, they would be galvanized into 
a resistance against Communist designs, which in absence of public 

encouragement from US, could only appear futile and hazardous to 
them.145 

As this appeal for a public declaration indicates, foreign interven- 

tion was the key to the Bulgarian political situation. Without an active 

American initiative, few politicians would attempt to oppose the Fa- 

therland Front government. With it, there was a possibility that a 

political crisis could be promoted which would open the way to a new 

pattern of power within the country. Consequently, Barnes was al- 

most frantic in his efforts to persuade Washington to come to his aid: 

“T am sorry to keep harping on this point . . .” he cabled on July 9.** 

And, again on July 30: 

I realize that this is a very long telegram on what may quite naturally 

appear to many in the Dept as a situation very remote from real and 

active American interests. I report at such length in the hope of still 

convincing the Dept of the desirability of some public state- 

MENG iwieaee 

The fact that the United States had not recognized the Fatherland 

Front government until Potsdam was enough to sustain hope of inter- 

vention. However, as the Big Three Conference drew to a close, poli- 

ticians in Bulgaria began to despair of American support. In the midst 

of the Conference, Barnes reported: 

I found Petkov still full of courage but very fearful that if no sign is 

forthcoming from the US and UK and particularly from US, of 

favorable reaction to his resistance to the [Fatherland Front] rigged 

elections, the independents . . . will waver in their loyalty to his 

leadership in this matter.148 

Petkov himself attempted to stimulate American intervention. On 

July 26 the Agrarian leader bypassed the established channels of au- 

thority under the armistice agreement and circulated an open letter to 
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: oes raat this point Petkov had two Sompleneakion objec- 
tives: to weaken the authority of the Soviet-dominated Control Com- 

- mission, and to bring the Western Allies into support of his position. 

Quite aware of the significance of Petkov’s audacious challenge to the 

__ Soviet occupation authority, the Fatherland Front government was 

deeply disturbed, Petkov’s maneuver brought forth a response indica- 

tive of the tense political situation and the anxieties of the govern- 

ment. The Prime Minister accused the Agrarian leader of treason: 

 “Petkov’s sin had not been merely venial but had been a mortal sin, 

because he had distributed copies of his letter to members of the 

[Allied Control Commission], thus giving the British and Americans 

an opportunity to intervene.”**° 

A few days later, on July 31, Petkov’s resignation from the gov- 

ernment was accepted.’*? Barnes, reporting just as the Potsdam Con- 

ference ended, said he had hoped that Petkov’s resignation would 

provoke a government crisis. However, without American interven- 

. tion, Barnes was extremely doubtful that Petkov’s lead would be fol- 

lowed: 

I fear in absence of any encouraging signs from Washington, London 

and Potsdam of Anglo-American interest in Bulgarian election situ- 

ation Petkov’s “departure” may not be followed, as I had hoped it 

would be, by resignations of Stoyanov, Cheschmedjieff, Pavlov and 

Derzhanski. I feel very strongly that time has come when Dept must 

tell me what, if anything, the US Govt is really Bipeetys J to do about 
local political and election situation.1*? 

As is evident from these cables, Barnes was deeply perplexed and 

_ frustrated by the ambivalence of the American position during the 

period of the long delay. With no way to know of the atomic bomb 

and the President’s plans, he greatly feared that his own initiative 

would not be supported. In pleading for help for Petkov he thought he 

was urging something which might “quite naturally appear. . . very 

remote from real and active American interests.”°* In fact, as we 

have seen, Truman had pledged an active initiative in the Balkans 

months earlier and, at the very moment Barnes’s despairing cables 

reached Potsdam, Truman had already gone beyond the representa- 

tive’s proposals: While Barnes asked only that elections procedures be 
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imp ay he President adamantly geared of Stalin thee the Geor- a 

giev government be changed. * 

Thus, after Potsdam, Barnes found that his own views were not 

only sympathetically received, but that Washington was ready to in- 

tervene far more directly and actively than he could have hoped. The 

President’s continued refusal to recognize the Georgiev government 

and his pointed declaration that the Balkans were not to be considered 

a sphere of influence for any one power (made against the back- 

ground of mushroom clouds rising in the Pacific) were dramatic sig- 

nals of American intentions. They transformed doubt into confidence; 

Bulgarian politicians who had been afraid to oppose the government 

without foreign support were now prepared to act. 

Now all that was required was sufficient time to undertake a suc- 

cessful campaign against the government, and sufficient safeguards to 

insure that such a campaign would not be impeded. The first point 

involved the timing of the election. Since few politicians (except Pet- 

kov) had been prepared to criticize the government until after Tru- 

man’s statement, as the August 26 election approached there had been 

virtually no political campaigning against Fatherland Front candi- 

dates.j As a result—with the election only three weeks off—even if 

conditions were absolutely free, there was little likelihood that the 

opposition could convey its message to the public in time to sub- 

stantially affect the outcome of the poll. Only too aware of the need 

for prompt action, Barnes had begged for a public statement from 

Washington throughout July. However, Truman’s need to wait for the 

atomic bomb had complicated the problems he faced in Bulgaria.*™* 

To make up for his own delay, therefore, the President first had to 

attempt to postpone the Bulgarian election to allow time for serious 

campaigning. Secondly, he wished to improve the election statute. 

And thirdly, he wished to remove the existing government so that the 

election would be administered by men more independent and more 

favorable to the West. Four days after Nagasaki, Secretary Byrnes 

moved speedily to the task, forcefully unveiling the full extent of the 

American demands. Bypassing the recognized authority of the Soviet — 

commander under the armistice terms, on August 13, Byrnes sent an 

* See above, pp. 148, 151. Yugoslavia; see Betts, Central and South 
East Europe, pp. 58-59. 

y+ Apparently a similar problem arose in 
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open letter to Prime Minister Georgiev. He demanded that the ‘dee 

tions scheduled for August 26—now less than two weeks off—be 

postponed.’** Byrnes also gave notice that the United States would not 

recognize the Bulgarian government until it had been radically re- 

organized: 

The information available to the United States Government has not 
satisfied it that the first Provisional Bulgarian Government is ade- 
quately representative of the important democratic elements, of demo- ~ 
cratic opinion, or that the existing government has arranged for the 

scheduled elections to take place under conditions which will allow 

and insure the participation therein, free from the fear of force and 

intimidation, of all democratic elements.1°° | 

Byrnes’s letter (which was followed by a similar British protest) ,1°? 

even more than the President’s statement, was an explicit attempt to 

influence the political situation within the country. (Truman’s Balkan 

representative later characterized the actions as “a major diplomatic 

effort.”)°* By committing American prestige to the main demand of 

the opposition, the Secretary of State’s maneuver threw the Father- 

land Front government into a state of frenzy. Its first reaction was a 

futile attempt to urge the American government to stand by the com- 

mitments it had made in signing the armistice agreement. Under 

that agreement, the government—which, of course, had no diplo- 

matic relations with the United States—took orders from the Soviet 

chairman of the Allied Control Commission.* On August 23, Geor- 

giev’s Finance Minister, Petko Stainov, publicly stated the govern- 

ment’s position: “The British and the United States Governments 

should rather have submitted notes to Moscow, reached an agree- 

_ ment, and then advised the Bulgarian Government.””® 

Despite this statement, the government was obviously weakened 

and much on the defensive. The four government ministers who had 

_ been unwilling to act without foreign help,+ now told the Prime Min- 

ister that unless the elections were postponed and changes made in the 

electoral law, they would leave the government.’® Georgiev refused to 

agree and accused the four of working with Barnes.1* On August 17, 

the four resigned in protest over the plans for the forthcoming elec- 

* See above, pp. 134, 140-141. t See above, p. 210. 
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tion.1® Georgiev countered the resignations with a firm declaration 

that the election would be carried out as scheduled.’ He publicly 

attacked the four ministers and others who “allow themselves to be 

influenced by foreign powers.”!** New Cabinet members replaced the 

Opposition group, and the government prepared to ride out the cri- 

sis.°* 

With the American government and the Petkov group of opposition 

leaders now publicly committed, there remained only the question of 

what action the Soviet Union would take to uphold a government it had 

sponsored for more than a year. Although Stalin, hoping to persuade 

Truman to act with him, had not recognized Georgiev before Pots- 

dam,’*® after the President’s statement attacking spheres of influence, 

the Soviet Premier had moved quickly to give strong support to the 

Fatherland Front. On August 15, Radio Moscow announced that the 

Soviet Union would accord diplomatic recognition to Georgiev.** Two 

days later, Moscow announced that the famous Bulgarian Communist 

Georgi Dimitrov would return from the Soviet Union to participate 

in—and lend his prestige to—the Bulgarian elections.'®* The return of 

Dimitrov, who had become famous during the Reichstag trial, further 

affirmed Soviet support for the elections and the government. [zvestia 

commented that the election plans were “most democratic.” 

Thus the opposing positions of the various parties crystallized. 

“What must chiefly be regretted,” observed the diplomatic corre- 

spondent of the London Times in Sofia, “is that a new complication is 

added to Allied relations. The Soviet Government has already recog- 

nized the Bulgarian Government and has sent an Ambassador to Sofia 

. . . A peace treaty can be made only with a recognized Govern- 

ment—and London and Washington appear to be committed not to 

recognize the Bulgarian Government. A deadlock appears inevi- 

table.” 

The implications of the conflict were also noted in Britain, where 

preparations for the first peacetime foreign ministers’ meeting were 

underway. “The Bulgarian situation, it is said in official circles here, is 

likely to produce an early deadlock in the work of the new Council of 

Foreign Ministers,”’1 one American observed. Indeed, the challenge 

to Soviet influence in the Balkans seemed too obvious and too funda- 

mental to permit of an easy reconciliation. The Foreign Office and 

others had been certain the Russians would not yield to the American 
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demands befor Potsdam, and once Sovie su Mi 

conveyed to Georgiev’s rejection of the American note. there seemed 

no possible way to avoid a head-on collision. The Americans were 

adamant and the Russians were not likely to back down. Although the 

Soviet commander agreed to consult Moscow again, the Allied Con- 

trol Commission meeting of August 22 produced no positive results.*” 

It was both a shock and a surprise, therefore, when on August 

26—the very day of the election—radio Sofia interrupted its eleventh- 

hour appeals to voters and its denunciation of “foreign interference” 

to announce that the election had been postponed!** 

Truman’s Balkan representative, Mark Ethridge, later boasted that 

the West’s “determined action” had produced “remarkable results.”** _ 

At the time, British Foreign Office officials were jubilant at the sudden 

success, telling reporters that the Bulgarian decision eased “consid- 

erably the Anglo-Soviet-American diplomatic tension.”!"* Russian ac- 

quiescence in the American demand was an ignominious defeat for 

Soviet power in the Balkans.**° 

The dramatic volte-face and Stalin’s apparent willingness to co- 

“operate also greatly heartened the opposition politicians and the 

American officials in Bulgaria who were confirmed not only in their 

judgment of the situation, but also in their estimate of their own 

power to affect events. The opposition now presented a list of further 

conditions for the election and demanded that both the Prime Minister 

and the Minister of Interior resign.’ The United States pressed the 

demand that the government be reorganized, and Barnes met with 

government and opposition leaders to attempt to reach agreement on 

changes in the government and preparations for the new election.” 

The Georgiev government, helpless in the face of Soviet acquies- 

cence to the Americans, could do little to repair the damage of the 

August 26 embarrassment. Instead, it began wholesale acceptance 

of various opposition proposals. Meetings were held with the Amer- 

ican military representative and-with Barnes to discuss requirements 

for the new election. Pardons were granted to 302 political pris- 

oners; another 400 had their sentences drastically reduced. As 

Stalin had promised at Potsdam, American newsmen were allowed to 

enter the country and to report freely.‘* All four opposition parties 

were legally recognized and allowed to publish newspapers.1®? (It was 

necessary to give standing to those parties which, fearing to act with- 
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out American support, had previously banded together in the Father- 
land Front.) *** Mixed committees, made up mostly of schoolteachers, 

were designated to oversee the elections.** The government pro- 

claimed a series of administrative steps to insure free campaigning.1® 

In an attempt to close ranks, the government also invited the dissi- 

dent opposition groups to reunite with the party leaders who had 

supported the Fatherland Front.'*® The move aimed at healing the 

breach between the two factions of the Agrarian and Social Demo- 

cratic parties. However, the now confident opposition groups refused 

to reunite with their former colleagues. Instead, they demanded the 

dismissal of those Agrarian and Social Democratic ministers who had 

remained in the Cabinet,’®’ and they began to hold public demonstra- 

tions to create public support for their position.1** Once more they 

reiterated the demand that the Prime Minister and the Minister of the 

Interior resign. They now declared that unless this was agreed to, they 

would boycott the election.** 

At this point the Georgiev government balked. Moscow and Sofia 

had yielded to the demand that the election be postponed and had 

agreed to a number of reforms to insure a free campaign.* However, 

the proposal that the government be changed, which had been refused 

when Truman first raised it at Potsdam, was apparently still too much 

to ask. As the London Conference approached, once more the Bul- 

garian political situation became tense. The American-supported 

groups were once more more in a direct confrontation with the Soviet- 

backed government. “The situation, therefore, remains on dead cen- 

ter,” one observer noted.'®° Indeed, the renewed stalemate seemed 

even more rigidly defined than the original one had been. 

Moreover, as the London Conference opened, the situation began 

to take on threatening overtones. Earlier, when the American demand 

* Later the opposition boycotted the elec- no interference in the election; (4) at al- 
tion, and the State Department declared 
that the election had not been freely con- 
ducted. However, this claim must be care- 
fully examined, for (1) Truman’s Balkan 
representative, who studied the problem in 
Bulgaria at the time, later wrote “it was by 
no means clear that the electoral boycott of 
the opposition was the best means of re- 
solving the problem .. .”; (2) the British 
Foreign Office did not support the State 
Department’s protests over the election; (3) 
most Western correspondents found little or 

most exactly the same time the Soviet-spon- 
sored election in Hungary (which was not 
boycotted by the Hungarian opposition) was 
conducted in a “free” manner which met 
the State Department’s standards. (Dennett 
and Johnson, Negotiating with the Russians, 
p. 191; Sunday Times, Nov. 18, 1945; 
Christian Science Monitor, Nov. 20, 1945; 
Ibid., Sept. 20, 24; Oct. 12, 16, 17, 18; 
Nov. 17, 1945; Seton-Watson, The East Eu- 
ropean Revolution, p. 193; Betts, Central 
and South East Europe, p. 105.) 
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for a postponement of the elections had been secived only four dave 

after Nagasaki, there were scattered comments about the role of the 

atomic bomb in America’s new-found “firmness.”* Now, as the 

United States pressed the demand that the government be changed, 

mass meetings filled the streets of Sofia with defiant, repeated chants 

of “We don’t fear the atomic bomb!”"*? 

Thus, the fact that the atomic bomb had imparted an entirely new 

sense of confidence to American diplomacy was quickly recognized 

and interpreted in the most unfavorable light; it appeared as a menac- 

ing force—in brief, a threat. There were now also doubts as to the 

actual power of American diplomacy. It appeared that the diplomatic 

successes could only be attributed to the atomic bomb, for once it had 

been demonstrated, points at issue in Manchuria, Hungary, and Bul- 

garia which had not been yielded at Potsdam had now been accepted 

by the Russians. But now the failure to change the Bulgarian govern- 

ment seemed a sign that the diplomatic offensive which had scored so 

brilliantly might be losing its force. It remained to be seen to what 

extent Soviet policy would yield i in a country far more vital to it than 

_ Hungary or Bulgaria. 

DEADLOCK IN RUMANIA 

EVEN CHURCHILL HAD DISTINGUISHED between the three ex- 

satellite countries, allocating, in the first instance, Soviet influence of 

“50 per cent” in Hungary, “75 per cent” in Bulgaria, and a full “90 

per cent” in Rumania.+ Though these figures had been modified in the 

bargaining process, from the Soviet point of view Rumania was ob- 

viously the most important Balkan country. Rumania occupied a key 

strategic position athwart the southwestern invasion route to Russia. 

Bulgaria had been able to wage war against the Soviet Union for only 

twenty-four hours;'? but Rumania, in alliance with Hitler, had sent 

twenty-six divisions against the Soviets, devastating Russian territory, 

and penetrating as far into the interior as Stalingrad.1°? Moreover, 

Rumanians harbored traditional anti-Russian sentiments and were 

therefore more likely to use their strategic geographic position against 

the Soviet Union in any future hostilities.*% 

rr rc I NSS SSE 

* See above, p. 204. + See above, p. 133. 
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American policy, however, recognized no distinctions in the Bal- 

kans.* In Rumania, too, American leaders had long planned to take 
the initiative to change the government. The demonstration of the 
atomic bomb and the end of the long wait meant that these plans 

could now be implemented. Here, as elsewhere, the first move in the 

diplomatic offensive was Truman’s attack upon spheres of influence— 

a declaration which gave heart to conservative politicians in Rumania 

as it had in Bulgaria. Here there was even greater excitement for, un- 

like Bulgaria, in Rumania the deep tradition of anti-Russian feeling 

had been increased, not diminished, by war propaganda and the defeat 

suffered at Russian hands.1* 

Even during the spring, while the war was still on, among Peasant 

and Liberal leaders there was a constant hope that somehow the West- 

ern powers would come to their assistance. According to one Amer- 

ican in the country at the time, “they were wholeheartedly anti-Rus- 

sian, and a good many of their members continued to assume that the 

Western Allies would somehow intervene.”’®* Although it seems that a 

number of conservatives had been offered posts in the Groza govern- 

ment, they had apparently refused to join the government after a 

dispute over estimates of their relative importance in the domestic 

political balance.**’ The leading politician in the conservative ranks, 

the seventy-year-old Juliu Maniu, leader of the Peasant party (a figure 

corresponding roughly to Petkov in Bulgaria), had retired from chair- 

manship of his party two weeks after Groza took office.’** 

However, Maniu, like Petkov in Bulgaria, did not retire from active 

participation in politics. As Potsdam approached and the powers con- 

tinued to withhold recognition, Maniu and his associates also hoped 

under normal peacetime conditions, a repre- * As many observers have pointed out, 
Byrnes never seemed to understand a di- 
lemma inherent in his policy. There is no 
Treason to doubt his numerous assurances 
that in urging free elections and new gov- 
ernments he had no wish to support gov- 
ernments hostile to the Soviet Union; never- 
theless, as Roberts has written, “a popularly 
elected Government [in Rumania] would in 
all probability be anti-Soviet.” Thus, inev- 
itably Byrnes’s idealistic policy must have 
seemed a threat to the Russians. (Roberts, 
Rumania, p. 269.) 

On the viability of democratic govern- 
ment in Rumania, see also the views cabled 
to the War Department by its representative 
in Bucharest shortly before Potsdam: “Even 

sentative government in Rumania would find 
it difficult to maintain itself in power. Ru- 
manians have had no experience in democ- 
tracy for over ten years, and the ability of 
members of any coalition government to 
work in harmony for the common goal, re- 
gardless of personal or party problems must 
be open to question.” (Conference of Ber- 
lin, I, p. 397. For additional views, see 
Wolff, The Balkans in Our Time, p. 286; 
McNeill, America, Britain and Russia, 1941- 

46, pp. 698-701; Allen, Great Britain and 
the United States, p. 872; Williams, The 
Tragedy of American Diplomacy, pp. 258- 
59.) 
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that the Sovietaansors 

the strength of anti-Russian sentiment in ey gaits Foe they could go 

farther than Petkov in Slavophilic Bulgaria. The Peasant and Liberal 

parties decided to organize demonstrations to show that opposition to 

the National Democratic Front government was an effective force. 

~~ They also hoped to forestall a Potsdam decision to recognize Groza or — 

a slightly altered government.” 

In open violation of the specific terms of the armistice, on July 18 

Maniu boldly began his political offensive with a speech to university 

students demanding that the Groza government be dismissed: “The 

country must no longer tolerate dictatorial governments imposed from 

abroad.”2°! The speech was followed by a brief demonstration in the 

Palace Square.?°*.Two days later, Constantin Bratianu addressed 

about seven hundred members of his Liberal party’s youth organiza- 

tion in the same vein.” Following his speech, a larger demonstration 

and parade took place.** This time the protesting demonstrators were 

met by Communists and others who supported the government. A 

brief struggle between the two groups took place and two people were 

injured and approximately thirty-two were arrested.?° 

The acting American representative in Bucharest, Roy Melbourne, 

reported that the Groza government was greatly disturbed by the 

demonstrations.”* A hastily summoned conference between party 

leaders and the National Democratic Front evidenced increasing anx- 

iety over the internal and the international situation. The hopes of the 

Peasants and Liberals, and the fears of the government, were directed 

toward Potsdam. The opposition apparently believed that the Big 

Three might eliminate the Groza government and open the way for 

new elections. Groups within the government too, according to Mel- 

bourne, were “expecting Cabinet changes and fearing shifts detri- 

ment[al]” to the National Democratic Front position.?* 

As in Bulgaria, the internal political situation was ruled not enly by 

the relative strengths of the various political factions, but by the role 

the big powers played—or might be expected to play. In the midst of 

the Potsdam meeting, Maniu sought an interview with Melbourne in 

Bucharest to report that “he had counseled his party that U.S. and 

Great Britain . . . could secure Soviet acquiescence to a democratic 

interpretation of Yalta.”?°* He said that in his belief the National 
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Peasants coal couhdently expect an overwhelming dlectoral anionic: 

if free elections were held.2° He urged that Groza be removed from. 

office so that a new government would supervise the elections.?!° He 

asked the War, Interior, and Propaganda ministries for his own party. 

The National Peasant party could be expected to be impartial, he 

explained, since “it would be to its interest to conduct the elections in 

an unbiased manner. . . . An inevitable large National Peasant ma- 

jority” would emerge in any event.”12 

Having made his proposal, Maniu went on to hint at the possible 

consequences if he failed to achieve his aims. If the Groza government 

was retained, he stated, his party would organize energetic country- 

wide opposition, including demonstrations. According to Melbourne, 

“in measured words he said that for such. . . action he was certain of 

support from the dissatisfied Rumanian peasants who would unite 

with the townspeople. . . .”?¥? 

In view of earlier Rumanian riots and bloodshed (even during the 

war),* there were ominous overtones in this statement. In fact, it 

contained the distinct hint of a threat and offered the prospect of 

violent disturbances. The “measured words” meant that the opposi- 

tion could, if it so chose, create an unstable and dangerous situa- 

tion. Earlier, one reason Churchill had proposed his spheres-of-influ- 

ence arrangement to Stalin was his knowledge that political feelings 

ran so high in Rumania and Greece that civil war was a very real 

possibility—especially if the powers began to support different fac- 

tions.?1* In Greece, where anti-British feeling had already resulted in a 

short outburst of civil war in December 1944,+ and in Rumania 

where riots and violence had been suppressed just before Groza’s ap- 

pointment in the spring of 1945, Churchill’s judgment was apparently 

a fair assessment of realities. Maniu’s statement did no more than 

recall and confirm this earlier estimate. Shortly thereafter, Molotov 

affirmed the same view, telling Byrnes that Rumanian politics could 

easily erupt into a civil war if the powers did not concert their poli- 

cies 714 
Maniu undoubtedly made his statement in the hope of forcing a 

* These precipitated the Soviet interven- 
tion discussed on p. 136. 

+ See above, p. 134. 
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more explicit American commitment to his cause. However, during 

the summer of delay, and at the time of the Potsdam Conference, the 

American representative couid give the Peasant leader very little di- 

rect encouragement. Like his colleague in Bulgaria, he did not know 

to what extent Truman was prepared to press the matter. Nor did he 

know of the atomic bomb. As soon as the Conference ended without 

recognition of the Groza government, however, the opposition had its 

signal.2*> And, as in Bulgaria, the series of speeches denouncing 

spheres of influence and “police governments” sparked tremendous 

political activity within the country. 

In Rumania, the attack upon the Soviet-sponsored government cen- 

tered around, and was led by, the young King Michael. The King had 

already secretly asked for American help before Potsdam.?*® Now, 

privately encouraged to act by American representatives,?** Michael 

publicly demanded that Groza resign.2** He then bypassed the 

Allied Control Commission and appealed directly to the three Al- 

lied powers to help him form a new government.?!® Adding empha- . 

sis to his demand, the King gave notice that until a new government 

was formed, he would refuse to sign government decrees.””° Shortly 

thereafter, the Minister of Finance resigned. Michael seized the op- 

portunity and, refusing to authorize the appointment of a replace- 

ment, made it impossible to pay the salaries of government employ- 

ees.”*1 Michael also refused to appear at important public celebra- 

tions, and, in a dramatic gesture of opposition, he left Bucharest to 

wait for the elimination of the Groza government.?” 

Melbourne let Michael know that if he persisted the United States 

would support him,””? and Byrnes immediately responded to the 

King’s appeal. On August 22, the Secretary of State met with repre- 

sentatives of the press, welcomed Michael’s request for help to replace 

Groza, and pledged official American support for efforts to change the 

‘government. The United States would gladly lend “assistance with a 

view to the formation of a government, which, according to the report 

of the Conference of Berlin, might be recognized by the principal 

powers,” Byrnes declared.”** The Secretary of State’s favorable re- 

sponse confirmed the American intention to bypass the Allied Control 

Commission and it publicly committed the United States to the de- 

mand that the Groza government be changed. 

Some observers noted that the initial Soviet decision to yield to “the 
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firmness of the Western Allies” in Bulgaria had given the American 

and British governments confidence in their approach to Rumania.” 

Though undoubtedly the first success in Bulgaria confirmed American 

leaders’ estimates of their ability to force the Soviet hand in the Bal- 

Kans, as we have seen, Truman and Byrnes had decided to intervene 

to remove the Soviet “blackout” many months earlier. During the 

period of the long wait, and at Potsdam, they had made their inten- 

tions quite clear and had also told Stalin that they would not yield on 

their demand that the Rumanian government be changed. 

Thus, implementing their earlier plans, and now apparently quite 

confident of the wisdom of their course and their power to pursue it 

successfully, throughout August, American leaders pressed the at- 

tempt to remove Groza from office. As the London Conference of 

Foreign Ministers neared, however, no sign of Soviet willingness to 

yield appeared as it had in Bulgaria. Apparently the Russians felt that 

Rumania was different and, in fact, they had already indicated differ- 

ences in attitudes toward the two countries. 

Immediately after Potsdam (on August 4), Moscow had hastened 

to accord diplomatic recognition to Bucharest, although it was two 

weeks later—and only in the brief period before yielding to American 

demands—that Moscow had accorded the same recognition to So- 

fia.2*° Thus, even before the new American effort in Rumania, the 

Soviet Union had declared its commitment to Groza. After Michael’s 

appeal and Byrnes’s response to it, Moscow again promptly and dra- 

matically demonstrated that it was not prepared to yield easily in 

Rumania. [zvestia criticized “some foreign newspapers” for their an- 

tagonism to Groza.”*” The Soviet-supported government announced a 

campaign against “hirelings of the former Premier Radescu.” Twenty 

“terrorists” were arrested for attempting to overthrow the govern- 

ment. Those who were “trying to create discord among the United 

Nations and seeking foreign support for the realization of their per- 

sonal political ambitions” were castigated by the government.”** 

On August 28, it was announced that the Soviet envoy in Rumania 

had been raised to the rank of full ambassador.””? A week before the 

London Conference, Groza and his Deputy Prime Minister Tatarescu 

were invited to Moscow, where they were given celebrity treatment, 

including a state dinner by Stalin.**° On September 4, the Soviet 

Union refused a proposal by Byrnes for consultations on the basis of 
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“statement from Me netackie Maniv: and Bratianu for their 

in the crisis: ' 

Maniu and Bratianu have lost all contact with the realities of present- 
day political life in Rumania. They endeavor to provoke a Govern- 
ment crisis by artificial means and to sow discord between the Gov- 
ernment and the people on the one hand, and the Head of State, 

King Michael, on the other, by recommending him to actions harmful 
to the national interest and to the crown.?*? 

The following day, Izvestia accused Britain and America of trying to 

~ force Groza out of office, specifically identifying the local representa- 

tives of the two powers as prime movers in Michael’s maneuver. Giv- 

ing notice that the Soviet Union would hold to its support of Groza, 

_Izvestia commented: 

American and British representatives began to insist on the resigna- 
tion of the Rumanian Government without first placing the matter 
before the Allied Control Commission, thereby violating established 
procedure in the work of the Commission. If this is called implementa- 
tion of a coordinated Allied policy, what might be called unilateral 

acts violating the coordination of Allied policy? . . . The viewpoint 
of Soviet public opinion is quite clear. It firmly maintains that inter- 
ference . . . is inadmissible.?3* 

Stalin now gave further evidence of his commitment to Groza, send- 

ing the Rumanian Premier back to his country with numerous polit- 

ically useful concessions. Groza received promises of a Soviet loan of 

150,000 tons of grain, the return of railroads to Rumanian direction, 

the return of a number of locomotives, railway freight cars, merchant 

ships, and even a few warships. Moreover, the Rumanian Premier was 

able to bring back from Moscow an agreement to reduce the repara- 

tions burden and a pledge to repatriate immediately all prisoners of 

war. Finally, Stalin agreed that Soviet troops stationed in Rumania 

would help reconstruct towns destroyed in the war.2*4 

In this way, Moscow underscored its intention to stand by Groza on 

the eve of the London Conference. Now Britain and the United States 

on the one hand, and the Soviet Union on the other, were publicly 

committed to diametrically opposed positions in Rumania. Within the 

country, the opposition and the Groza government were similarly 
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their prides behind them, Caealy’ Ane the Soviet Unent in direct 

contravention of the armistice.?*® 

TOWARD A TEST OF STRENGTH 

_ THUS, ON THE EVE of the first peacetime meeting of the foreign 

ministers, the American offensive in the Balkans, which had been met 

by initial Soviet willingness to compromise, now had reached major 

obstacles in both Bulgaria and Rumania. The over-all question first 

posed in April and again at Potsdam was still the same: Did the 

United States have the power to force Soviet acquiescence to its de- 

mands deep within the Soviet area of influence? From the early sum- 

mer American leaders had been convinced that, once demonstrated, 

the atomic bomb would permit them to demand major changes in the 

border areas of the Soviet Union. But now this conviction would be 

tested, and the relative power of the United States and the Soviet 

Union defined, when the foreign ministers met on September 10. 

As Secretary Byrnes prepared to leave for London, the various 

instruments of diplomacy which had not been actively employed dur- 

ing the summer of delay were now again readied for use. Although 

neither the President nor the Secretary of State had discussed a large- 

scale credit with Soviet representatives since the late-April showdown, 

now, after the atomic bomb had been demonstrated, they were pre- 

pared to negotiate. At a meeting with the President and the Secretary 

of State shortly after the Japanese surrender, Leo Crowley urged that 

the Lend-Lease cutoff—first attempted, then repealed in May— 

should now be firmly implemented. Once again, though his recom- 

mendation was based upon the law’s requirement that Lend-Lease 

cease at the end of hostilities, and though it would have implications 

for all the Allies, Crowley made it clear that the primary advantage of 

immediate action was that it would force the Soviet Union to look for 

other means to pay for American material assistance. Both the Presi- 

dent and the Secretary of State agreed with Crowley, and Truman 

authorized him to act promptly.**** After Lend-Lease shipments were 

* See Byrnes, All in One Lifetime, pp. August cutoff—like the May cutoff—was the 
309-10, for a report which indicates that desire to force the Soviet Union into a de- 
the primary reason for the timing of the (Continued on next page) 
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halted on August 22, the Russians were ‘informed that ‘the Hare ae 
Import Bank would consider an application for a large credit. It was 

soon made clear that they would be expected to offer, as quid pro 

quo, concessions in Eastern and Southeastern Europe.”** 

Similarly, throughout the summer Truman and his advisers had 

regarded the presence of conventional troops as vital to their Euro- 

pean diplomacy. The atomic bomb, as Stimson had expected, had 

helped stabilize the situation by ending the war long before redeploy- 

ment had substantially weakened American strength on the Conti- 

nent.* But now, looking to the future when demobilization would 

drain troops from Europe, Truman moved swiftly to attempt to pre- 

serve his position; on August 17—the third day of peace—he publicly 

declared his intention to ask Congressional approval for a universal- 

military-training program for all able-bodied young men.*** On the 

eve of the London Conference he gave details of his proposals for 

peace, telling an August 31 Cabinet meeting “that the time had come 

to initiate a new military policy. If we were to maintain leadership 

among other nations, we must continue to be strong in a military 
way.” 22° 

But, as before, economic aid and the presence of conventional 

troops were the least important elements in the American diplomatic 

posture. Throughout the summer the expectation of the atomic bomb 

had dominated diplomatic strategy. Now, in late August, as Byrnes 

prepared for his meeting in London, the Secretary of State made it 

clear that the bomb continued to play a predominant role in his cal- 

culations. In a long discussion with Byrnes, Assistant Secretary of 

War McCloy found him “quite radically opposed to any approach to 

Stalin whatever” to attempt to establish international control of 

(Continued from preceding page) 
pendent position in the next round of credit 
negotiations. And, as in May, the President 
apparently was not guided primarily by a 
belief that the legal provisions required im- 
mediate and unequivocal action, for he 
made a number of exceptions to the Lend- 
Lease cutoff. For a report of these, see Mc- 
Neill, America, Britain and Russia, 1941-46, 
p. 785. 

* See above, p. 117. 
+ Congress rejected Truman’s proposal. 

Harriman was later to argue that this was 
the primary reason American diplomacy 
failed to achieve its European objectives: 
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“Only by keeping our military forces in be- 
ing after Germany and Japan surrendered 
could we have attempted to compel the So- 
viet Union to withdraw from the territory 
it controlled. . . .” (Congressional Record, 
Aug. 27, 1951, p. A5416; emphasis added.) 
Similarly, Truman has written: “I am mor- 
ally certain that if Congress had gone into 
the {military training] program thoroughly 
in 1945, when J first recommended it, we 
would have had a pool of basically trained 
men which would have made the Soviets 
hesitate in their program of expansion in 
certain strategic parts of the world.” (Year 
of Decisions, pp. 511-12.) 
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atomic energy—‘He was on the point of departing for the Foreign 

Ministers’ meeting and wished to have the implied threat of the bomb 

in his pocket during the conference. . . .”?4° 

And two days before sailing for London, Byrnes discussed the cen- 

tral role of the atomic bomb in his diplomacy with Secretary Stimson: 

Jim Byrnes had not yet gone abroad and I had a very good talk with 
him afterwards sitting in the White House hall . . . I took up the 
question which I had been working at with McCloy up in St. Hubert’s, 
namely how to handle Russia with the big bomb. I found that Byrnes 
was very much against any attempt to cooperate with Russia. His 

mind is full of his problems with the coming meeting of foreign minis- 
ters and he looks to having the presence of the bomb in his pocket, so 

to speak, as a great weapon to get through the thing. . . .741 

In this frame of mind Secretary of State Byrnes sailed for his first 

peacetime encounter with a representative of the Soviet Union. Since 

early April, the President and his senior advisers had focused their 

attention on political and economic conditions in Eastern Europe; 

they had never lost their active interest in reducing or eliminating 

Soviet influence in the area. In April the President had been able to 

back his diplomacy only with large-scale credits and the presence of 

the American army in Europe. Advised that there was much to gain if 

he would wait for the atomic bomb, Truman had decided to postpone 

a showdown over Eastern Europe. 

Now, as Admiral Leahy has written, “it was no longer a theory. We 

had the bombs.”*4? The firm approach so long in suspense could be 

resumed with the backing of unprecedented military power. For the 

first time since April, Secretary Byrnes was ready for a meeting with 

Molotov to discuss affairs in the Soviet zone of Europe. His immediate 

objective which, like the April showdown over Poland, was to have 

symbolic implications for all of Eastern Europe, was to force a 

change in the Balkan governments. The Secretary of State was ex- 

tremely confident of success.”** His meeting was to be, as he later 

wrote, “in a very real sense, a test of strength.”?** 
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One factor that was-‘to change a lot of 

ideas, including my own, was the atom 

bomb... 

—ADMiRAL WILLIAM D. LEAHY 

_ CHIEF OF STAFF 

TO THE PRESIDENT 

BYRNES FIRMLY PRESSED his demand that the Bulgarian and 
Rumanian governments be changed, but when Molotov refused to 

yield at London, the first peacetime meeting of foreign ministers broke 

_ down completely—it was impossible even to agree upon a joint pro- 

tocol recording the failure.* The initial climax of the post-Hiroshima 

struggle was a continued and open deadlock. “We had come to the 

crossroads,” Byrnes recalls.’ In forcing a public break over the issue, 

the Secretary of State’s action was intended to be symbolic. As in 

the Polish dispute in April, American policy aimed not only at a favor- 

able resolution of the specific points at issue, but at a reconsideration 

of fundamental political and. economic arrangements throughout the 

Soviet-controlled zone of Europe—“Only by refusing to bow to Soviet 

domination could we establish sound relations for the future.” 

Byrnes has written that “our attitude was a shock to them,” and it is 

certain, as both he and John Foster Dulles (who assisted the Secretary 

of State at London) have emphasized, that postwar Soviet-American 

tension must be dated from the London Conference.® It is also un- 

doubtedly true that the atomic bomb not only influenced the attitude 

American policy makers took in their approach to the confrontation, 

* Technically, the Conference broke down see also, Senate Committee on Foreign Re- 
over a procedural issue, but as Byrnes has lations, A Decade of American Foreign Pol- 
written, in reality, “the chief cause” was the icy, 1941-49, p. 55; Leahy Diary, Sept. 23, 
dispute over the governments of Rumania 1945, p. 163.) 
and Bulgaria. (Speaking Frankly, pp. 104-8; 
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1 Ainister Attlee cabled - President Truman at the “i 
time, ihe weapon completely overshadowed the discussions.* 

The political developments after August 1945, like the later (mid- 

1946), ill-fated attempts to control atomic energy, cannot here be — 

analyzed.* And, unfortunately, Admiral Leahy’s summary judgment 

that the Cold War began in the Balkans can only be tested with fur- 

ther research.® However, at this point the major conclusions to be 

drawn from a study of American policy during the first five months of 

the Truman administration can be briefly summarized. It is also pos- 

sible to attempt to define certain other problems which, with presently 

available materials, can be stated but cannot be conclusively resolved. 

The most important point is the most general: Contrary to a com- 

monly held view, it is abundantly clear that the atomic bomb pro- 

foundly influenced the way American policy makers viewed political 

problems. Or, as Admiral Leahy has neatly summarized the point, 

“One factor that was to change a lot of ideas, including my own, 

was the atom bomb .. .”* The change caused by the new weapon was 

quite specific. It did not produce American opposition to Soviet poli- 

cies in Eastern Europe and Manchuria. Rather, since a consensus had 

already been reached on the need to take a firm stand against the Soviet 

Union in both areas, the atomic bomb confirmed American leaders in 

their judgment that they had sufficient power to affect developments in 

the border regions of the Soviet Union. There is both truth and pre- 

cision in Truman’s statement to Stimson that the weapon “gave him 

an entirely new feeling of confidence.” 
This effect was a profoundly important one. Before the atomic 

bomb was tested, despite their desire to oppose Soviet policies, West- 

ern policy makers harbored very grave doubts that Britain and Amer- 

ica could challenge Soviet predominance in Eastern Europe. Neither 

Roosevelt nor Truman could have confidence that the American pub- 

lic would permit the retention of large numbers of conventional troops 

in Europe after the war. (And Congressional rejection of Truman’s 

* The official history of the Atomic En- only after being assured that the proposal 
ergy Commission demonstrates how Byrnes would guarantee continued American pro- 
opposed later attempts to control atomic duction of atomic weapons for some years. 
energy, and how he finally agreed to ap- (Hewlett and Anderson, The New World, 
proach the Russians with a control plan pp. 417, 456, 459-60, and especially 461.) 
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military-training program later confirmed the Peiainustid ane 

predictions. ) Thus, at the time of the Yalta Conference, as Assistant 

Secretary of State William L. Clayton advised Secretary Stettinius, “a 

large credit . . . appear[ed] to be the only concrete bargaining lever 

for use in connection with the many other political and economic 

problems which will arise between our two countries.”* 

That this lever of diplomacy was not sufficiently powerful to force 

Soviet acceptance of American proposals was amply demonstrated 

during the late-April and early-May crisis over Poland. Despite Tru- 

man’s judgment that “the Russians needed us more than we needed 

them,”® Stalin did not yield to the firm approach. Hence, without the 

atomic bomb it seemed exceedingly doubtful that American policy 

makers would be abie substantially to affect events within the Soviet- 

occupied zone of Europe. It may well be that, had there been no 

atomic bomb, Truman would have been forced to reconsider the basic 

direction of his policy as Churchill had done some months earlier. 

_ Indeed, Churchill’s 1944 estimate of the power realities usefully 

illuminates the problems faced by Western policy makers as they at- 

tempted to judge their relative strength vis-a-vis the Soviet Union. As 

soon as Roosevelt rejected Churchill’s desperate pleas for an invasion 

through the Balkans, the Prime Minister understood that he would 

have little power in Southeastern Europe, and that, indeed, the British 

position in Greece was seriously threatened. As he told Roosevelt, 

“the only way I can prevent [utter anarchy] is by persuading the Rus- 

sians to quit boosting [the Communist-oriented] E.A.M.”?° Again, 

there was overwhelming logic in his parallel 1944 argument: “It 

seems to me, considering the Russians are about to invade Rumania in 

great force. . . it would be a good thing to follow the Soviet leader- 

‘ship, considcring that neither you nor we have any troops there at all 

and that they will probably do what they like anyhow.” As he later 

recalled, before the atomic test, “the arrangements made about the 

Balkans were, I was sure, the best possible.”!? 

As I have attempted to show, by the time of the Yalta Conference, 

somewhat reluctantly, and against the wishes of the State Department, 

Roosevelt came to the same conclusion. Even the State Department 

_ was forced to adopt the official view that “this Government probably 

would not oppose predominant Soviet influence in [Poland and the 

Balkans].”"° And one high-ranking official went beyond this judgment; 

substituting his concern for Western Europe for the Prime Minister’s 
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specific fears about Greece, he stated: “I am willing to sponsor and 

support the Soviet arguments if it will save . . . the rest of Europe 

from the diplomacy of the jungle which is almost certain to ensue 

otherwise.”** As Truman’s Balkan representative recalled the Yalta 

Conference, it was “fateful that these discussions should have been 

held at a time when Soviet bargaining power in eastern Europe was so 

much stronger than that of the western allies.”!® But it remained for 

Byrnes to summarize the early-1945 relative strengths of the powers: 

“It was not a question of what we would Jet the Russians do, but what 

we could get them to do.”’¢ 

As I have shown, this appraisal was radically changed by the sum- 

mer of 1945. Since Byrnes advised Truman on both the atomic bomb 

and the need for strong opposition to the Russians in Eastern Europe 

before the President’s first confrontation with Molotov, the new weap- 

on’s first impact possibly can be seen as early as the April showdown. * 

However, no final judgment can be rendered on this point, using the 

evidence presently available. But there is no question that by the 

middle of July leading American policy makers were convinced that 

the atomic bomb would permit the United States to take a “firm” 

stand in subsequent negotiations. In fact, American leaders felt able 

to demand more at Potsdam than they had asked at Yalta. Again, 

Churchill’s post-atomic appraisal is in striking contrast to his view of 

the pre-atomic realities: “We now had something in our hands which 

would redress the balance with the Russians.”’* And Byrnes’s new 

advice to Truman was quite straightforward: “The bomb might well 

put us in a position to dictate our own terms. . . .”"8 

Once the profound impact of the atomic bomb upon American 

judgments is recognized, considerable light is cast upon the com- 

plicated events of the summer of 1945. The curious reversals in 

American Polish policy and the Hopkins mission both become under- 

standable. The period is one in which two groups of officials debated 

strategy. Although there were differences of emphasis, since all agreed 

on the broad objective of attempting to force the Soviet Union into 

cooperative relationships in Eastern and Central Europe, the real 

struggle was over timing. Those outside the War Department who had 

little knowledge or little faith in the as yet untested atomic weapon 

argued that an immediate showdown was necessary. In this their views 

* See above, p. 63/n. 
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a feed a ‘further area of Wester dee tion eonibihen with 

a withdrawal of American troops, would convince Stalin time was on 

his side if he dug in while the West melted away.” 

Secretary Stimson, however, was able to counter this argument in 

two ways: He was able to show that conventional strength on the 

_ Continent would not be substantially reduced during the two months’ 

delay until the atomic test; and he was able to promise that if a con- 

frontation could be postponed the United States would soon be pos- 

sessed of “decisive” powers.”° After forcing a premature showdown on 

_ the symbolic Polish issue, Truman reversed himself and accepted 

_ Stimson’s broad strategy. The price he paid for delay was not high; he 

. 

-was forced to yield the substance of the point at issue in the Polish 

controversy, and he had to withdraw American troops to the agreed 

zonal positions in Germany. Significantly, he later characterized his 

first attempt to utilize economic bargaining strength through the Lend- 

Lease cutoff as a “mistake.”*? From Truman’s point of view, not only 

was the first showdown badly timed, but the need to reverse his public 

position and to send Hopkins on a mission of conciliation must have 

_ been a great personal embarrassment. 

However, it is vital to recognize that Truman’s conciliatory actions 

during late May, June, and early July did not represent his basic 

policy. He had demonstrated in the April showdown and in the deci- 

sion to maintain American troop positions in Germany that his view 

of how to treat with Russia was far different from Roosevelt’s. His 

decision abruptly to cut off Lend-Lease, his show of force over the 

Trieste dispute, his reconsideration of Roosevelt’s Far Eastern agree- 

ment, his breach of the Balkans understandings, his refusal to adhere 

to the Yalta reparations accord—all these acts testify to the great gulf 

between his view and the view of his predecessor. 

Those who argue that “Mr. Truman intended to continue the policy 

laid down by President Roosevelt”*” have focused attention on an 

extremely brief period when Truman did indeed adopt a more moder- 

* Woodward, whose statement I have thing I could to follow along that path.” 
quoted, uncritically follows Truman’s claim: (Year of Decisions, pp. 75-76.) Feis makes 
“I stood squarely behind all commitments the same mistake: “Truman felt faithful to 
and agreements entered into by our late the ideas and ideals of the war leader. . .” 
great President and... I would do every- (Churchill, Roosevelt, Stalin, pp. 599-600.) 
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ate approach. But his actions during this period—symbolized by his 

attempt to avoid the appearance of “ganging up” with Britain against — 

the Soviet Union—were only a manifestation of his tactical retreat. In. 

a fundamental sense, even the conciliatory period can only be ex- 

plained by recognizing that its primary purpose was not to continue 

Roosevelt’s policy, but to facilitate a far different policy based upon 

the overwhelming power soon to be available. Truman replaced the 

symbolic April showdown over Poland with a parallel August and 

September effort in the Balkans. Both before and after the brief con- 

ciliatory period, the President’s attitude is best summed up in the 

statement he made eight days after Roosevelt’s death: He “intended to 

be firm with the Russians and make no concessions.”** And both be- 

fore and after the temporary period of no “ganging up,” Truman’s 

effort to coordinate policy with Britain was a hallmark of his ap- 

proach. As Byrnes has written, Molotov’s conclusion that American 

policy had changed after Roosevelt’s death was “understandable.”** 

The Potsdam meeting clearly illustrates how the strategic decision 

to wait for the atomic bomb dominated American policy making from 

mid-May until early August. The primary reason most Western lead- 

ers began to call for another meeting with Stalin only three months 

after Yalta was their desire to have a confrontation on the important 

European questions then in tense dispute. But, as I have shown, Tru- 

man rejected the advice of his advisers and Churchill, and twice post- 

poned a face-to-face meeting with Stalin because of his decision to 

wait for the atomic bomb.-Ironically, however, in the end he com- 

mitted himself to a meeting which was still a scant two weeks too early 

to be decisive. For this reason, to focus attention on the Potsdam 

meeting itself, as many writers have done,* is to completely misunder- 

stand American policy. Indeed, the interesting question is not what 

happened at the meeting, but why very little happened at all. 

Thus, the importance of the atomic bomb in American calculations 

is underscored by the negative result of the heads-of-government 

meeting; had the new weapon not played such a crucial role in Amer- 

ican strategy, there would have been every reason for Truman to 

* Note how both Woodward and Feis Potsdam Conference, rather than the im- 
conclude their studies (British Foreign Pol- mediate post-conference diplomacy. 
icy and Between War and Peace) with the 
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attempt to achieve a negotiated settlement as quickly as possible afer oe 

the defeat of Germany. Assuming, as Churchill did until mid-July, 

that it was unwise to gamble on the possibilities of the as yet untested 

weapon, the Prime Minister was undoubtedly correct to argue that 

“the decisive, practical points of strategy” involved “above all, that a 

settlement must be reached on all major issues between the West and 

the East. . . before the armies of democracy melted. . .” As he told 

Eden, the “issue. . . seems to me to dwarf all others.’*° Without the 

atomic bomb, Churchill believed, the only hope lay in an “early and 

speedy showdown.”¢ 

Just as he had hurried to arrange an understanding in the Balkans 

before the Russian position became overwhelmingly powerful in late 

1944, he now searched for ways “we may be able to please them . 

as part of a general] settlement.”®’ Churchill sought to establish a 

modus vivendi before American conventional strength disappeared 

from the Continent. He wished to give priority to the German ques- 

tion, to recognize the Balkan governments, to settle ail frontier issues, 

to complete the peace treaties quickly and to give only secondary 

attention to establishing new machinery for post-Potsdam discus- 

sions.”® 

Until the atomic test report arrived, Churchill must have thought it 

incomprehensible that the Americans were not interested in a negoti- 

ated settlement. Though they wished to state their case on all issues in 

dispute, the American delegation was far more concerned with estab- 

lishing a Council to take up unsettled questions than they were in 

serious negotiations while the heads of government were together.?® 

Thus, significantly, London met with no success in a pre-Potsdam 

effort to convince Washington of the seemingly obvious point that the 

_ German issue was more important than the procedural matter of ar- 

ranging for new meetings of the foreign ministers.®*° 

As we have seen, once the detailed report of the atomic test arrived 

at Potsdam, Churchill reversed himself completely: “We were. . . 

possessed of powers which were irresistible.”*! But Churchill’s pre- 

Potsdam appraisal of Stalin’s position was probably correct; for, un- 

less the West was prepared to negotiate a settlement, the Soviet 

Premier undoubtedly calculated there was everything to gain if he 

waited until the American troops were withdrawn from the Conti- 
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_nent.* Since Truman did not tell Stalin of the atomic bomb, it could 
not yet be expected to play a major role in Soviet-American relations. 
And, indeed, with no apparent changes in the power relationships, on 

most issues discussed at the Conference, both Truman and Stalin held 

their ground. The Potsdam Conference took place at a unique mo- 

ment in history, when each side undoubtedly believed time was on its 

side. The logic of the situation ensured—as the final protocol showed — 

—that the Conference could only end in deadlock. 

Undoubtedly Soviet intelligence knew generally of the work being 

done on the atomic bomb. However, it is probable that Stalin had no 

specific knowledge of the New Mexico test—or that if he knew of it, 

he did not know in detail how greatly it had exceeded expectations. 

His post-Hiroshima reversals in Manchuria, Hungary, and Bulgaria 

testify to a new conviction that the power realities required him to 

yield considerably more than he may have originally thought neces- 

sary. It is probable that Truman had this in mind when he noted that 

by early September “our possession of the secret of harnessing atomic 

energy already had far-reaching effects on our relations with other 

nations.”*? 

Undoubtedly the best concise summary of the position taken by the 

West at Potsdam has been provided by General de Gaulle: “The 

Americans and British hoped to recover in application what they had 

conceded in principle.” De Gaulle believed that “the rapidity of the 

Sovietization [of Eastern Europe] was only the inevitable result of 

what had been agreed upon at the Crimea Conference.”** For this 

reason, although he strongly opposed the Yalta decisions, de Gaulle 

felt that “the regrets the British and Americans now expressed [at 

Potsdam] were quite uncalled for.”** He concluded that “there was 

every reason to foresee that on no issue would the Potsdam Confer- 

ence realize any durable entente”; and that there would be “unlimited 

friction between the Soviet and Anglo-American participants.”*° 

Truman would not have agreed with this judgment. He believed 

that the United States had sufficient power to force Soviet acceptance 

of the American plan for lasting world peace. Above all, his policy 

* Compare Deutscher: By the time of the a more or less rapid withdrawal of Amer- 

Potsdam Conference “‘Stalin’s figure loomed ican power from the Continent and conse- 

incomparably larger on the European hori- quently with the further growth of Russian 

zon.” And “Stalin may have reckoned with predominance.” (Stalin, p. 532.) 
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, sound Contirientat economy. There were {wo , fagdanentad reasons 

_ why the President believed the atomic bomb would permit him to 

implement his plan: On the one hand, after a new symbolic show- 

down, the bomb seemed likely to force Soviet agreement to American 

economic and political plans for Eastern Europe; and, on the other, 

___ its power meant that there was no need to fear another German re- 

vival—the German economic contribution to Continental stability 

could be given priority over industrial disarmament schemes. 

Truman’s own argument that a stable Europe was vital to world 

peace and to American security reveals the error of the common opin- 

ion that America had little active interest in European affairs until the 

1947 Truman Doctrine and Marshall Plan. The President’s mid-1945 

declaration to his staff was an accurate statement of American policy: 

_ “We were committed to the rehabilitation of Europe, and there was to 

be no abandonment this time.’’°* Indeed, much more must be said, for 

the American commitment to Europe was not restricted to the West- 

ern regions of the Continent. As George F. Kennan, the author of the 

“containment policy,” has emphasized, American policy was “by no 

means limited to holding the line.”*7 And as Byrnes has repeatedly 

stressed, in 1945 and 1946 senior American officials were not pri- 

marily concerned with a Soviet political or military threat to Western 

_ Europe;** their eyes were focused on conditions in the Soviet-occupied 

zone. Byrnes has been quite explicit; his policy always aimed at forc- 

ing the Russians to yield in Eastern Europe, and in mid-1947 he still 

continued to argue that the United States had it in its power to force 

the Russians to “retire in a very decent manner.” **? 

There is no question that Byrnes’s policy derived from the best 

* Compare Harriman’s previously quoted 
remark that only the lack of sufficient con- 
ventional forces made it impossible “to 

Byrnes left office complaining that the Rus- 
sians “don’t scare.” With straightforward 
logic that illuminated the consistency of his 

compel the Soviet Union to withdraw.” 
(Congressional Record, Aug. 27, 1951, p. 
A5416.) 

By the time the President accepted his 
resignation in early 1947, Byrnes had not 
achieved his objective. Though the Red 
Army had indeed withdrawn from Manchu- 
ria, Iran, Hungary, and Czechoslovakia, 
measured by his own standard he was a 
failure as Secretary of State—American pol- 
icy had not been able to force Soviet with- 
drawal from the rest of Eastern Europe. 
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basic view and the ironic tragedy of his 
idealism, he then attempted to convince his 
fellow countrymen that “measures of the 
last resort” were the only way to secure 
lasting world peace. As is often forgotten, 
Byrnes, who recently endorsed the Presiden- 
tial candidacy of Senator Goldwater, was 
perhaps the most highly placed of those 
who urged a “preventive war” to force the 
Russians out of Europe. (Forrestai Diaries, 
p. 262; Byrnes, Speaking Frankly, p. 203.) 
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- intentions ‘and the highest ideals. And there is no reason to doubt 
Truman’s statement that “the one purpose which dominated me in 
everything I thought and did was to prevent a third world war.’*° 

Nevertheless, the attempt to force Soviet withdrawal from Eastern 

Europe immediately after Hitler’s invasion of Russia was an extremely 

difficult policy to implement. And, inevitably, the policy’s problems 

were greatly multiplied when doubts were raised as to whether or not ~ 

the industrial basis of German power would be weakened as had been 

agreed. It may well be true, as Walter Lippmann observed at the time, 

“that the best that was possible [was] an accommodation, a modus 

vivendi, a working arrangement, some simple form of cooperation, 

and that in demanding more than that we have been getting less than 

that, making the best the enemy of the good.”*? 

Secretary Stimson seems to have shared this judgment and also to 

have recognized that the atomic bomb compounded the difficulties 

Truman’s idealistic policy faced. By early September the Secretary of 

War had come full circle, concluding that “I was wrong” and that the 

attempt to use the atomic bomb to gain diplomatic objectives was “by 

far the more dangerous course.”*? In a profoundly ironic, but un- 

successful, attempt to change the policy he had launched, shortly be- 

fore leaving office Stimson urged an immediate and direct approach to 

Moscow to attempt to establish international control of atomic energy 

which might head off “an armament race of a rather desperate char- 

acter.” Apparently greatly disturbed by the bombing of Hiroshima, 

and now openly opposed to Secretary Byrnes, he advised: “If we fail 

to approach them now and merely continue to negotiate with them, 

having this weapon rather ostentatiously on our hip, their suspicions 

and their distrust of our purposes and motives will increase.”* 

At the same time Stimson offered this advice, Secretary Byrnes 

attempted to explain to Molotov that the United States was “not in- 

terested in seeing anything but governments friendly to the Soviet 

* Stimson’s emphasis. The Secretary of 
War recorded one of his last attempts to 
convince the President of what he now be- 
lieved to be a fundamental error in his 
own previous advice and in American pol- 
icy: “I described the talk that I had had 
with Byrnes and told him what our differ- 
ences were. I told him that both my plan 

and Byrnes’s plan contained chances which 
I outlined, and I said that I thought that in 
my method there was less danger than in 
his and also we would be on the right path 
towards world establishment of an interna- 
tional world, while on his plan we would 
be on the wrong path in that respect and 
(Continued on next page) 
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Union in adjacent countries.” But the Soviet Fores Minot was 

openly incredulous: “I must tell you I have doubts as to this, and it 

would not be honest to hide it.”4* Similarly, at this time former Soviet 

Foreign Minister Litvinov asked an American friend: “Why did you 

Americans wait till right now to begin opposing us in the Balkans and 

Eastern Europe? You should have done this three years ago. Now it is 

too late, and your complaints only arouse suspicions here.”** And 

General Eisenhower, making a triumphal postwar visit to Moscow, 

sensed new and profound Soviet suspicions: “Before the atom bomb 

was used I would have said, yes, I was sure we could keep the peace 

with Russia. Now I don’t know. . . . People are frightened and dis- 

turbed all over. Every one feels insecure again.”*° 

To recall the judgments of Stimson and Eisenhower in the autumn 

of 1945 is to state the ultimate question of to what extent the atomic 

bomb affected the entire structure of postwar American-Soviet rela- 

tions. But it is not possible at this juncture to test Secretary Stimson’s 

September view that “the problem of our satisfactory relations with 

Russia [was] not merely connected with but [was] virtually dominated 

by the problem of the atomic bomb.”** Nor can the issue of why the 

atomic bomb was used be conclusively resolved. 

This essay has attempted to describe the influence of the atomic 

bomb on certain questions of diplomacy. I do not believe that the 

reverse question—the influence of diplomacy upon the decision to use 

the atomic bomb—can be answered on the basis of the presently 

available evidence. However, it is possible to define the nature of the 

problem which new materials and further research may be able to 

solve. 

A fruitful way to begin is to note General Eisenhower’s recollection 

of the Potsdam discussion at which Stimson told him the weapon 

would be used against Japan: 

During his recitation of the relevant facts, I had been conscious of a 

feeling of depression and so I voiced to him my grave misgivings, 

(Continued from preceding page) sor, Robert P. Patterson: “fi had a long 
would be tending to revert to power poli- 
tics.” (Diary, Sept. 5, 1945.) 

Stimson also reviewed the development of 
his thinking in a discussion with his succes- 
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talk with him. I told him how my view 
had been gradually formed; how in the be- 
ginning I was inclined to think we ought to 
hang on to the bomb .. . and its secrets; but 
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first on the basis of my belief that Japan was already defeated and 
that dropping the bomb was completely unnecessary, and secondly 
because I thought that our country should avoid shocking world 

"opinion by the use of a weapon whose employment was, I thought, 
no longer mandatory as a measure to save American lives. It was my 
belief that Japan was, at that very moment, seeking some way to sur- 

render with a minimum loss of “face.” 

“It wasn’t necessary to hit them with that awful thing,” Eisenhower 

concluded.*? 

Perhaps the most remarkable aspect of the decision to use the 

atomic bomb is that the President and his senior political advisers do 

not seem ever to have shared Eisenhower’s “grave misgivings.”* As we 

have seen, they simply assumed that they would use the bomb, never 

really giving serious consideration to not using it. Hence, to state in a 

precise way the question “Why was the atomic bomb used?” is to ask 

why senior political officials did not seriously question its use as Eisen- 

hower did. 

The first point to note is that the decision to use the weapon did not 

derive from overriding military considerations. Despite Truman’s sub- 

sequent statement that the weapon “saved millions of lives,”** Eisen- 

hower’s judgment that it was “completely unnecessary” as a measure 

to save lives was almost certainly correct. This is not a matter of 

hindsight; before the atomic bomb was dropped each of the Joint 

Chiefs of Staff advised that it was highly likely that Japan could be 

forced to surrender “unconditionally,” without use of the bomb and 

without an invasion. Indeed, this characterization of the position 

taken by the senior military advisers is a conservative one. 

General Marshall’s June 18 appraisal was the most cautiously 

phrased advice offered by any of the Joint Chiefs: “The impact of 

that gradually I had found that I was Stimson left office at the end of Septem- 
wrong and that that would be by far the 
more dangerous course than to make an 
effort with Russia particularly to get on 
terms with us of confidence in which we 
would eliminate the manufacture of such 
bombs for war purposes—eliminate the de- 
velopment of the atomic energy of the ex- 
plosive kind, and confine ourselves to its 
use and the development of its more con- 
trollable smaller powers for commerce. . .” 
(Diary, Sept. 17, 1945.) 

ber deeply disturbed at having failed to 
change the direction of the strategy he had 
launched. (Diary, Sept. 21, 1945.) For a 
memorandum in which he offered his final 
detailed views to the President, see Appen- 
dix III. 

* But see: “I must say that personally I 
am not at all sure that we were well advised 
to use it.” (Atomic Energy Commission, 
Oppenheimer Hearings, p. 367.) 
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‘sive action levering them into capitulation . Pee a Kgmital Leahy was — 

absolutely certain there was no need for the bombing to obviate the — 
necessity of an invasion.®° His judgment after the fact was the same as 

his view before the bombing: “It is my opinion that the use of this 

barbarous weapon at Hiroshima and Nagasaki was of no material 

_ assistance in our war against Japan. The Japanese were already de- 

- feated and ready to surrender . . .”°! Similarly, through most of 1945 

Admiral King believed the bomb unnecessary,*” and Generals Arnold 

and LeMay defined the official Air Force position in this way: 

Whether or not the atomic bomb should be dropped was not for the 

Air Force to decide, but explosion of the bomb was not necessary to 

win the war or make an invasion unnecessary.**? 

Similar views prevailed in Britain long before the bombs were used. 

General Ismay recalls that by the time of Potsdam, “for some time 

past it had been firmly fixed in my mind that the Japanese were totter- 

ing.”®* Ismay’s reaction to the suggestion of the bombing was, like 

Eisenhower’s and Leahy’s, one of “revulsion.”®* And Churchill, who 

_ as early as September 1944, felt that Russian entry was likely to force 

capitulation,®* has written: “It would be a mistake to suppose that the 

fate of Japan was settled by the atomic bomb. Her defeat was certain 

before the first bomb fell . . .”5" 

The military appraisals made before the weapons were used have 

been confirmed by numerous postsurrender studies. The best known is 

that of the United States Strategic Bombing Survey. The Survey’s con- 

clusion is unequivocal: “Japan would have surrendered even if the 

atomic bombs had not been dropped, even if Russia had not entered 
the war, and even if no invasion had been planned or contem- 

plated.” +** 

(Continued from preceding page) 
*At the time he argued against the use 

of the atomic bomb, Eisenhower advised the 
additional point that the war could easily 
be ended before Soviet entry. (Eisenhower, 
Crusade in Europe, pp. 441-42.) 

~ See also Marshall’s postwar statement 
that the atomic bombs precipitated the sur- 
tender only “by months”; Bush’s view that 
“the war would have ended before long in 
any case, for Japan had been brought 
nearly to her knees”; Curtis LeMay’s opin- 
ion that the war would have ended in two 
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weeks (“the atomic bomb had nothing to 
do with the end of the war’); Claire 
Chennault’s view that the Russian declara- 
tion of war was the decisive factor; and the 
arguments of Morton, Baldwin, Blackett, 
and Craven and Cate, that the atomic 
bomb was not needed to force a surrender 
before an invasion. (J. P. Sutherland, “The 
Story General Marshall Told Me,” U.S. 
News & World Report, Noy. 2, 1959, p. 
52; Bush, V., Modern Arms and Free Men, 
p. 101; New York Herald Tribune, Sept. 
21, 1945; New York Times, Aug. 15, 1945; 



ay tl the fact that the President did not even ask the Onn 

ion of the military adviser most directly concerned. General Mac- 

Arthur, Supreme Commander of Allied Forces in the Pacific, was 

simply informed of the weapon shortly before it was used at Hiro- 

shima.*® Before his death he stated on numerous occasions that, like 

Eisenhower, he believed the atomic bomb was completely unnecessary 

from a military point of view. 

Although military considerations were not primary, as we have 

seen, unquestionably political considerations related to Russia played 

a major role in the decision; from at least mid-May American policy 

makers hoped to end the hostilities before the Red Army entered 

Manchuria. For this reason they had no wish to test whether Russian 

entry into the war would force capitulation—as most thought likely— 

long before the scheduled November invasion. Indeed, they actively 

attempted to delay Stalin’s declaration of war. 

Nevertheless, it would be wrong to conclude that the atomic bomb 

was used simply to keep the Red Army out of Manchuria. Given the 

desperate efforts of the Japanese to surrender, and Truman’s willing- 

ness to offer assurances to the Emperor, it is entirely possible that the 

war could have been ended by negotiation before the Red Army had 

_ begun its attack. But, again, as we have seen, after Alamogordo 

neither the President nor his senior advisers were interested in explor- 

ing this possibility. 

One reason may have been their fear that if time-consuming nego- 

tiations were once initiated, the Red Army might attack in order to 

seize Manchurian objectives. But, if this explanation is accepted, once 

more one must conclude that the bomb was used primarily because it 

was felt to be politically important to prevent Soviet domination of the 

area. 
Such a conclusion is very difficult to accept, for American interests 

in Manchuria, although historically important to the State Department, 

were not of great significance. The further question therefore arises: 

Were there other political reasons for using the atomic bomb? In 

approaching this question, it is important to note that most of the men 

Morton, “The Decision to Use the Atomic 30; Baldwin, Great Mistakes of the War, p. 
Bomb,” Command Decisions, ed. K. R. 84; Craven and Cate, Air Forces in World 
Greenfield, p. 408; Military and Political War II, Vol. V, p. 726.) 
Consequences of Atomic Energy, pp. 116- 
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involved at the time who since have made their views public always — 

mention two considerations which dominated discussions. The first _ 
was the desire to end the Japanese war quickly, which, as we have 

seen, was not primarily a military consideration, but a political one. 

The second is always referred to indirectly. 

In June, for example, a leading member of the Interim Committee’s 

_ scientific panel, A. H. Compton, advised against the Franck report’s 

suggestion of a technical demonstration of the new weapon: Not only 

was there a possibility that this might not end the war promptly, but 

failure to make a combat demonstration would mean the ‘loss of the 

opportunity to impress the world with the national sacrifices that en- 

during security demanded.’* The general phrasing that the bomb was 

~needed ‘to impress the world’ has been made more specific by J. 

Robert Oppenheimer. Testifying on this matter some years later he 

stated that the second of the two “overriding considerations” in dis- 

cussions regarding the bomb was “the effect of our actions on the 

stability, on our strength, and the stability of the postwar world.”* 

And the problem of postwar stability was inevitably the problem of 

Russia. Oppenheimer has put it this way: “Much of the discussion 

revolved around the question raised by Secretary Stimson as to 

whether there was any hope at all of using this development to get less 

barbarous relations with the Russians.” 

Vannevar Bush, Stimson’s chief aide for atomic matters, has been 

quite explicit: “That bomb was developed on time. . .” Not only did 

it mean a quick end to the Japanese war, but “it was also delivered on 

time so that there was no necessity for any concessions to Russia at 

the end of the war.” ; 

In essence, the second of the two overriding considerations seems to 

have been that a combat demonstration was needed to convince the 

Russians to accept the American plan for a stable peace. And the 

crucial point of this effort was the need to force agreement on the main 

questions in dispute: the American proposals for Central and Eastern 

Europe. President Truman may ‘well have expressed the key consid- 

eration in October 1945; publicly urging the necessity of a more con- 

ventional form of military power (his proposal for universal military 

* The words set off are a quotation of the U.S. Atomic Energy Commission. (Hewlett 
paraphrase provided by the historians of the and Anderson, The New World, p. 367.) 
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training), in a personal appearance before Congress the President 

declared: “It is only by strength that we can impress the fact upon pos- 

sible future aggressors that we will tolerate no threat to peace . . .”% 

If indeed the “second consideration” involved in the bombing of 

Hiroshima and Nagasaki was the desire to impress the Russians, it 

might explain the strangely ambiguous statement by Truman that not 

only did the bomb end the war, but it gave the world “a chance to face 

the facts.” It would also accord with Stimson’s private advice to 

McCloy: “We have got to regain the lead and perhaps do it in 

a pretty rough and realistic way. ... We have coming into action 

a weapon which will be unique. Now the thing [to do is]. . . let our 

actions speak for themselves.” Again, it would accord with Stimson’s 

statement to Truman that the “greatest complication” would occur if 

the President negotiated with Stalin before the bomb had been “laid 

on Japan.” It would tie in with the fact that from mid-May strategy 

toward all major diplomatic problems was based upon the assumption 

the bomb would be demonstrated. Finally, it might explain why none 

of the highest civilian officials seriously questioned the use of the 

bomb as Eisenhower did; for, having reversed the basic direction of 

diplomatic strategy because of the atomic bomb, it would have been 

very difficult indeed for anyone subsequently to challenge an idea 

which had come to dominate all calculations of high policy.* 

At present no final conclusion can be reached on this question. But 

the problem can be defined with some precision: Why did the Amer- 

ican government refuse to attempt to exploit Japanese efforts to sur- 

render? Or, alternatively, why did they refuse to test whether a Rus- 

sian declaration of war would force capitulation? Were Hiroshima 

and Nagasaki bombed primarily to impress the world with the need to 

were to be sacrificed primarily for political, 
not military, reasons. 

See also Williams, The Tragedy of Amer- 

*It might also explain why the sober 
and self-controlled Stimson reacted so 
strongly when Eisenhower objected to the 
bombing: “The Secretary was deeply per- 
turbed by my attitude, almost angrily refut- 
ing the reasons I gave .. .” (Eisenhower, 
Mandate for Change, p. 313.) Stimson’s 
post-Hiroshima reversal, and his repeated 
references to the gravity of the moral issues 
raised by the new weapon, are evidence of 
his own doubts. Eisenhower’s searching criti- 
cism may well have touched upon a very 
tender point, namely, Stimson’s undoubted 
awareness that Hiroshima and Nagasaki 

ican Diplomacy, p. 254, and Fleming, The 
Cold War, I, pp. 296-302. Compare Irving’s 
account of the bombing of Dresden. See 
especially his discussion of the precisely 
parallel argument that Churchill felt it po- 
litically important to impress Stalin with 
overwhelming air power when Central and 
Eastern European issues were discussed at 
Yalta. (The Destruction of Dresden, pp. 
86-102.) 
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The Polish 

Question: 

From Yalta 

to Truman 

THE YALTA PROTOCOL INCLUDED an agreement on the Polish- 

Soviet border and on the organization of a new Polish government. 

Both issues were involved in the post-Yalta controversy. 

With little debate the Yalta meeting approved the Curzon Line 

(with minor variations) as the new Polish-Soviet border. Although 

the heads of government had privately accepted the idea of the Line as 

early as the Teheran Conference,’ the Yalta decision had a great 

impact upon the Polish exile groups in London. The extremely na- 

tionalistic Arciszewski government-in-exile refused any compromise 

on the border issue and denounced the Yalta agreement. Even the 

more moderate Peasant party leader and former Prime Minister, 

Mikolajczyk, was openly critical of the accord.” 

The publication of the Yalta communiqué only underscored the 

hopeless predicament of the Polish exile government. Stalin had been 

abundantly clear about his postwar aims from the very first—he 

wanted the return of Russian lands given to Poland after the First 

World War and, as early as the winter of 1941, had asked Western 

approval of the Curzon Line.* Churchill also supported the Line 

originally suggested by a British foreign minister, but the issue had 

been postponed because of America’s insistence that all territorial 

questions be held for settlement until after the war.* As a conse- 

quence, the Russian position became stronger with each day of the 

war. As the Red Army advanced through Poland, there could be little 

doubt that Stalin would have the final word on the Polish-Soviet bor- 

der settlement. 

Churchill believed that unless the Polish government-in-exile came 

243 



"ATOMIC DIPLOMACY: HIROSHIMA AND POT: | 
hy 

to terms with Russia on the basis of the Curzon 

reason the Prime Minister urged acceptance of the Russian position. 

Churchill’s support for the Line also acknowledged that the Russians 

could easily have taken more territory had they so desired. But the 

border issue had a significance beyond territorial matters. Acceptance 

of the Curzon Line by political leaders would establish their willing- 

ness to cooperate with the Soviet Union. Conversely, any Pole who 

opposed the border could not be termed “friendly” to the Soviet 

Union; and the Big Three were agreed that the new Poland would 

have to be led by men who were willing to cooperate with the Rus- 

-sians and who could be trusted to choose the Russian side in any 

future difficulties with Germany. 

Throughout 1944, Churchill begged, bullied, harassed, and threat- 

ened the London Poles, trying to make them see that unless they 

accepted the border they would never regain power. However, the 

Prime Minister met with no success; and Stalin slowly began to build a 

new Polish governing group which would prove its “friendliness” to 

the Soviet Union. On January i, 1944—+three days before the Red 

Army crossed into Poland—the Soviet radio announced the formation 

of the Lublin Committee which was to help administer territories 

_ cleared of German troops.° As the Red Armies moved through Poland 

the Lublin Committee was given more power and, with the exile gov- 

ernment still refusing to come to terms, the Committee proclaimed 

itself the Provisional Government of Poland on December 31, 1944.° 

At each stage of the Lublin Committee’s rise to power, Churchill 

had counseled the exile government that “everything hinges on one 

thing: the eastern frontier of Poland. If this is settled . . . agreement 

can be reached easily . . . [If not,] they will build up a rival govern- 

ment and gradually take over authority in Poland.”” The Prime Min- 

ister soon bitterly denounced the exile government’s stubbornness, 

pointing out: “It is your fault that the Lublin Poles have come into 

existence.”* Churchill believed the London group “absolutely inca- 

pable of facing facts,” and he told them that it was “absurd, pure 

Utopia” to cling to hope of a settlement on terms other than the 

Curzon Line.’ Faced with the growing power of the Lublin Commit- 

tee and the continued obstinacy of the government, Churchill de- 
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Line they could not 

hope to have a position of power in a postwar government. For this _ 
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clared that listening to the unrealistic proposals of the London Poles 

was “like being in a lunatic asylum.”!” 

Though the growth of a new locus of political power in Poland was 

in large part the result of Polish stubbornness in the face of Soviet de- 

mands, this attitude derived not only from the lack of realism of the 

exiles. One of the main reasons for Polish intransigence was the ill- 

defined position of the United States government. Despite Roosevelt’s 

general commitment to the Curzon principle, the President did not 

reveal his views to the Poles until the end of 1944. This was un- 

doubtedly due to Roosevelt’s fear of alienating the large bloc of Polish- 

American voters before the election of November 1944." Because the 

President avoided the issue the Polish exile government came to believe 

that the American government might eventually champion their 

cause. So long as Roosevelt was uncommitted, it was possible to think 

that the Big Three might not endorse the Curzon Line.” 

It was a great shock, therefore, when shortly after the election 

Roosevelt let it be known that he definitely would not support the 

exile government on the border issue.’* At Yalta he quickly gave 

formal approval to the Curzon Line, thus leaving the London Poles in 

an untenable position, opposed not only to Stalin, but to the united 

stand of the Big Three. Now there could be no doubt: Polish opposi- 

tion to the Yalta accord was an unmistakable sign of “unfriendliness” 

to the Soviet Union and unwillingness to cooperate in the big-power 

settlement. 

Part of the Polish tragedy thus stems from the marriage of Roose- 

velt’s evasiveness with the futile hopes of the Polish exile government. 

Another part stems from the demands of the war itself; for in the same 

way that Eisenhower demanded a recognized authority in France to 

establish order behind American lines,’* Stalin demanded a group of 

“friendly” Poles who could act authoritatively as the Red Army 

struggled against the Germans.” To be sure, Stalin might have liked to 

establish a Soviet-dominated government in any case, but such a po- 

litically astute observer as Churchill was convinced that the Russians 

wanted a cooperative solution of the Polish problem.’* In some re- 

spects, Stalin’s willingness to dicker over the border issue during the 

long and bitter fight for Poland is remarkable, for it was only at the 

end of 1944 that he gave up hope of an agreement with the exile 

government. 
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~ Mikolajezyk government was therefore a major turning point. From 

uphill battle. Moreover, the failure to secure agreement on the border 

Te Mikolajezyk conkronted his Cabinet with the necessity for some agree- 

ment with the Russians. However, the Peasant leader was unable to 

obtain support for a compromise position and, defeated on the issue, 

was replaced by Arciszewski.!7 Churchill understood that the new 

government was committed to a futile policy and refused to have 

anything to do with members of the government.’® The end of the 

the Russian point of view, there was now no hope of an agreed settle- 

ment with the exile government. Despite Western protests, Stalin 

called attention to Mikolajczyk’s resignation and recognized the Lub- 

lin Committee as the provisional government of Poland on January 5, 

1945, a few days before the new Soviet offensive began in western 

Poland.’® The Committee, now established in the Polish capital, was 4 

thereafter known as the Warsaw Provisional Government. 

Thus, the inability of the powers to resolve the border issue in 1944 

brought about a situation in which two governments claimed to rep- 

resent Poland. Though the Western powers would have little to do 

with Arciszewski, their ambassadors were still accredited to the exile 

government. This set the conditions of the second major problem of 

the Yalta Polish negotiations: agreement had to be reached on the 

organization of a single Polish provisional government. 

The West entered the negotiations in an extremely weak position. 

Roosevelt and Churchill had repeatedly promised to support a new 

Polish government “friendly” to the Soviet Union. (At Yalta, Roose- 

velt wrote Stalin: “The United States will never lend its supportin any = 

way to any provisional government in Poland that would be inimical 

to your interests.” )*° Unfortunately, the London Poles had all defined 

their position vis-a-vis the Soviet Union by their denunciation of the 4 

Curzon Line. In supporting these Poles, the West was fighting an 

issue during the long period of Polish obstinacy weakened the Western 

claim that the Poles might easily be = BEOHEH into “friendly” coopera- 

tion with the Russians. 

From the Western point of view, the Arciszewski government was 

hopeless. The only possibility would be an attempt to fuse the Miko- 

lajczyk Poles (now out of the government) with the Warsaw Provi- 

sional Government. It was hoped that both the exile government and 
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the V Wine EOveRITICAE could be dissolved and the way oleate for a i 
totally new government. This would draw its members from among > 

the Mikolajczyk Poles, political leaders within Poland, and the War-- 

saw government. The new provisional government would be pledged 

to hold free elections as soon as possible.?* 

From the Soviet point of view, this plan represented a bold demand. 

Attempts to get the Western-oriented Poles to endorse the Curzon 

Line had failed throughout the war. To eliminate the Warsaw gov- 

ernment would be tantamount to reversing the outcome of the long 

struggle over the border issue. However, at Yalta Stalin indicated that 

he was prepared to accept some additional Poles into the Warsaw 

government, provided they were “friendly” to the Soviet Union. With 

this concession, a long debate over the exact terms of a reorganization 

of the government began. The result was the Yalta agreement: 

A new situation has been created in Poland . . . This calls for the 

establishment of a Polish Provisional Government which can be more 

broadly based than was possible before the recent liberation of west- 
ern Poland. The Provisional Government which is now functioning in 
Poland should therefore be reorganized on a broader democratic basis 

with the inclusion of democratic leaders from Poland itself and from 

Poles abroad. . 

M. Molotov, Mr. Harriman and Sir A. Clark Kerr are authorized as 

a Commission to consult in the first instance in Moscow with mem- 

bers of the present Provisional Government and with other Polish 

democratic leaders from within Poland and from abroad, with a view 

to the reorganization of the present Government along the above 

diness 1c" 72 

This was an extremely vague agreement, and Roosevelt was quite 

aware of its limitations.** Admiral Leahy believed it to be “so elastic 

that the Russians can stretch it all the way from Yalta to Washington 

without ever technically breaking it.”’** Still, the conservative and anti- 

Russian presidential adviser ““was agreeably surprised” at Stalin’s will- 

ingness to yield as much as he did, and the American Secretary of 

State regarded the agreement as a considerable concession by the 

Soviet Union.?®> Now the problem was to get agreement on the exact 

meaning of the vague formula which would establish a “more broadly 

based” government, by “reorganizing” the government “now func- 

tioning in Poland,” in such a way as to create a “new” government. 
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The attempt to give content to these words ipa s with the “fine 

meeting of the Moscow Commission on February 22.” Harriman, — 

Molotov, and Clark Kerr began their work on a note of harmony, 

agreeing to invite a list of Poles to Moscow for consultations. Mem- 

bers of the London exile government were excluded (the government 

had not even been mentioned in the Yalta communiqué), but repre- 

sentatives from among the Mikolajczyk Poles, political leaders within 

Poland, and the Warsaw government were to be invited. The most 

important point about the initial decision was that an invitation went 

first to the Warsaw government. The government was also asked for 

comment on the other names suggested for consultations; thus the 

principle of prior consultation with the government “now functioning 

in Poland” was recognized.*?" 

On February 24, the Warsaw government objected to some of the 

names suggested for consultation. Warsaw observed that Mikolajczyk 

and others had publicly criticized the Yalta agreement, and therefore 

could not qualify to participate in consultations based upon that 

agreement. Molotov supported Warsaw’s veto of Mikolajezyk.** The 

old issue was once more joined, and again the Western powers found 

themselves supporting groups publicly committed to an “unfriendly” 

policy toward the Russians. This situation immediately precipitated a 

split between British and American policy. London and Washington 

agreed that the only hope of preserving the influence of Western- 

oriented Poles lay with Mikolajczyk. Earlier the Peasant leader had 

been officially informed that he would have American support as a 

candidate for premier of a new government, and Eden had said that 

Britain would deal with no other Pole.*® Now, however, Mikolajczyk’s 

attitude on Yalta gave Western plans a severe setback. 

Churchill’s position was especially delicate, for Britain had gone to 

war over the question of Polish independence, and the government 

was under considerable pressure not to yield in the Polish negotia- 

tions.*® Faced with a difficult problem, the Foreign Office took the 

* This point has been obscured. Lane re- this statement was not binding by showing 
ports, vaguely, that at the first meeting of that Harriman agreed to a telegram inviting 
the Commission Harriman said the United Warsaw before agreement had been reached 
States would not object to the Warsaw gov- on the other Poles. (I Saw Poland Be- 
ernment’s coming to Moscow for consulta- trayed, p. 57.) That the invitation did go 
tions ahead of the other Poles, if invitations out before agreement on the other issues is 
were sent simultaneously to an agreed upon _ confirmed by Woodward. (British Foreign 
list. However, he immediately reveals that Policy, pp. 502-3.) 
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offensive. Disregarding Mikolajezyk’s opposition to Yalta, Clark Kerr 

was instructed to demand that the invitation to the Warsaw govern- 

ment be held up until Mikolajczyk and others were also invited to 

Moscow. He refused to agree that the Warsaw government come to 

Moscow for prior consultations. He also asked that the great powers 

supervise the expected Polish elections.** Although the Foreign Office 

attempted to get American support for this position, Harriman was _ 

not instructed to go along with Clark Kerr’s effort.** The American 

ambassador limited himself to the suggestion that although Warsaw 

had to be consulted, the government could not be accorded an abso- 

lute right of veto over a list of names suggested for consultation. He 

advised Washington that the best tactics would be to get the govern- 

ment to Moscow so that consultations could begin.** 

Though this divergence among the powers appeared at the very 

outset of the talks, there was as yet no breakdown. In fact, at the 

second meeting of the Commission, on February 27, Molotov volun- 

teered to allow British observers to enter Poland, although this had 

not been provided for in the Yalta agreement.** Reporting on Stalin’s 

concessions at Yalta, Churchill had told the War Cabinet he had no 

doubts about Soviet willingness to find a harmonious solution to the 

Polish problem; now he found Molotov’s suggestion “a friendly 

offer.”*° Nevertheless the Foreign Office instructed Clark Kerr to con- 

tinue to oppose invitations to the Warsaw government until an agreed 

list of invitations had been sent out. The obstructionist strategy was 

quite simple; until Mikolajczyk was accepted, Britain would block 

further consultations. Thus the substantive work of the Moscow 

Commission came to a halt, for the Russians refused to accept a Pole 

openly hostile to the Curzon Line and the Yalta agreement. The War- 

saw government, which had already been invited to Moscow, was 

asked to postpone its trip.*** 

* The fact that the Moscow Commission 
was initially blocked by unilateral British 
action has often been obscured. The exact 
position taken by Harriman in the negotia- 
tions has not been made public. The point 
at issue is whether or not, between Febru- 
ary 24 and March 18, Harriman changed 
his statement that the Warsaw government 
should be invited to Moscow without Miko- 
lajezyk. (Woodward, British Foreign Policy, 
p. 502:) I have found no evidence that 

American policy switched to support the 
British position at this time. Using official 
British sources, Woodward shows that, on 
the contrary, the Foreign Office fought a 
losing battle to alter the American view. 
(Ibid., p. 509.) Churchill also took the 
matter up directly with Roosevelt, con- 
tinuing to hold up the invitation to Warsaw 
and repeating his view that any Pole 
(meaning, most particularly, Mikolajczyk), 
(Continued on next page) 
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THE DIPLOMACY OF STALEMATE 
Now AMERICAN POLICY WAS FACED with the obstinacy of 

Churchill and the stubbornness of Mikolajczyk. The Prime Minister 

and the Peasant leader had previously disagreed on many matters, 

but, from the American point of view, both were obstructing agree- 

“ment on the Polish issue. To this challenge, Roosevelt’s response was 

twofold. He undertook to bring Churchill to a more moderate stand, 

and he sent his agents to try to force Mikolajczyk to endorse the Yalta 

agreement.*” 

The debate with Churchill developed in the following manner: Ai- 

ter the State Department had refused to support Clark Kerr, it was 

asked by London to.hold up instructions to Harriman while Churchill 

approached Roosevelt directly.*° In a cable on March 8, the Prime 

Minister defended his position and urged Roosevelt to join him. He 

opened his message with the veiled threat of a public statement in the 

Commons if his views were not accepted. Churchill urged a united 

_approach to Stalin which would: 

1. Reject the contention that the Warsaw i eeseces had an absolute 

right to prior consultation. 

2. Demand that any Pole nominated by one Of the three governments 

be invited to Moscow for consultations. 

(Continued from preceding page) 
if acceptable to at least one of the Big 
Three, should be invited to Moscow. Roose- 
velt countered: “I cannot believe that Molo- 
tov will accept the proposal ... and I am 
opposed to putting forward such a sugges- 
tion at this time, as it would in my view 
almost certainly leave us in a stalemate.” 
The President begged Churchill to agree so 
that “our Ambassadors may proceed with 
their instructions ... ” 

The point is of corisiderable importance, 
for it reveals that the first post-Yalta con- 
troversy pitted Churchill against both Roose- 
velt and Stalin, not, as is often thought, 
Churchill and Roosevelt ‘against Stalin; the 
American position was substantially the 
same as the Russian. There has been a 
good deal of confusion on this question and 
more than one author has made it appear 
that Britain and America were united in 
their stand. Feis, for example, slurs over 
the point at issue so as to suggest such a 
conclusion. (Churchill, Roosevelt, Stalin, p 
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571-74.) Lane also passes over the point, 
making it seem that Britain and America 
were in accord. He says simply that “no 
agreement could be reached” on issuing invi- 
tations. (I Saw Poland Betrayed, p. 59.) 
It is true, of course, that Harriman re- 
ported Molotov’s opposition to Mikolajczyk, 
that the State Department was unhappy 
about the situation, that Harriman urged 
that Warsaw be refused an absolute right to 
veto candidates, and that at a later date, 
American policy supported Britain. However, 
despite the vague language, a close reading 
of those who have used official American 
sources shows that no one has directly dis- 
puted the point that Clark Kerr stood alone 
in the actual negotiations. (Byrnes, Speaking 
Frankly, pp. 53-54; Lane, I Saw Poland 
Betrayed, pp. 57-59; Stettinius, Roosevelt 
and the Russians, pp. 312-13; Feis, Chur- 
chill, Roosevelt, Stalin, pp. 572-73.) For 
the subsequent ‘change in American policy, 
see below, p. 262. 
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Provide that the reorganization of the government be arranged in 
discussions among the Poles themselves, with the Commission act- 

ing in “an impartial arbitral capacity.” 
_4. Request the Soviet government to “use its utmost influence to 

prevent the Warsaw administration from taking any further legal 
or administrative action of a fundamental character affecting so- 
cial, constitutional, economic, or political conditions in Poland.” 

5. Urge the Soviet government to arrange for Western observers to 

visit Poland.®® 

Following the advice of Harriman, who opposed a direct approach 

to Stalin, Roosevelt rejected this message: “I feel that our personal 

intervention would best be withheld.” He also urged Churchill not to 

approach Stalin on his own: “I very much hope therefore that you will 

not send a message to Uncle Joe at this juncture, especially as I feel 

that certain parts of your proposed text might produce a reaction 

quite contrary to your intent.”*° Churchill agreed to postpone a direct 

approach to Stalin, but did not yield on the points at issue. On March 

13, he cabled again, this time begging Roosevelt at least to allow the 

two ambassadors to raise the points with Molotov.** Once more he 

raised the threat of a public statement in the Commons which would 

“make it clear that we are in presence of a great failure and an utter 

breakdown of what was settled at Yalta.” He urged “combined 

dogged pressure and persistence” on the five points of his earlier 

cable.” 

The stream of cables from London, and the Prime Minister’s ob- 

_ struction of the Moscow talks apparently brought Roosevelt to the end 

of his patience. On March 16, he cabled: “I cannot but be concerned 

at the views you expressed in your message . . . I cannot agree that 

we are confronted with a breakdown of the Yalta agreement until we 

have made the effort to overcome the obstacles incurred in the nego- 

tiations at Moscow.” Roosevelt went on to delineate his own views, 

point by point, on Churchill’s position. The President: 

1. Agreed that the Warsaw government was not entitled to an “abso- 

lute” right of prior consultation. 
2. Opposed the proposal that any Pole whose name was suggested be 

invited. 
3. Agreed that the Poles invited for consultation should discuss the 

composition of the government among themselves with the Com- 

mission presiding in an impartial arbitral capacity. 
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4. Continued to hold to an earlier suggestion of a “political truce” 
between the Polish groups, as opposed to Churchill’s suggestion 
that Stalin be made responsible for stopping the Warsaw govern- 

ment’s actions.* 
5. Agreed that the question of observers in Poland might once more 

be raised.*? 

This cable summarized the main points at issue. In fact, however, 

~ four of the points involved subsidiary questions. Since the right of the 

Warsaw government to consult with the Commission “in the first in- 

stance” was not disputed, Churchill’s insistence that there was no 

“absolute” right was trivial.t The suggestion that the Poles decide the 

composition of the new government by themselves was a matter of 

form rather than substance. Though the proposal reflected the view 

that the various Polish groups should be considered equal in status to 

the Warsaw government, the only reason for the Commission’s exist- 

ence was to arbitrate or dictate on disputed points. The matter of a 

“truce” or a request that Stalin stop the actions of the Warsaw gov- 

ernment depended upon how quickly an agreement could be reached 

on a new government, for the Red Army was moving through Poland, 

-and some form of administration was a practical necessity in the liber- 

ated areas. The “neutrality” of the administration would inevitably be 

a matter of judgment. The point about observers, too, was not a major 

one. Molotov himself had suggested it originally, but, as Roosevelt 

told Churchill, the Russian Foreign Minister “took fright when Clark 

Kerr revealed that you were thinking of a large special mission.” {** 

* See below, p. 262. 
+ The point arose out of the nereRs 

over whether or not the Yalta agreement 
required prior consultations with the War- 
saw government. The British agreed that 

ial; and the petty struggle over language is 
really more important as a reflection of the 
underlying stalemate over Mikolajczyk, the 
border solution, and the status to be ac- 
corded to the various contending Polish 

Warsaw had to be consulted “in the first 
instance” but argued that it would be going 
beyond the terms of the agreement if the 
Warsaw government arrived in Moscow be- 
fore the other groups. The Russians be- 
lieved Britain to be breaking the Yalta ac- 
cord by insisting on a somewhat legalistic 
reading of language which provided for 
consultations with Warsaw “in the first in- 
stance in Moscow.” Indeed, the British view 
seems to strain the meaning of the words, 
and the presumption in favor of the Rus- 
sian view is even stronger in the Russian 
translation. Here consultations with Warsaw 
are to take place “in Moscow in the first 
instance.” Harriman believed the point triv- 
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groups. In what is surely a strange exagger- 
ation, Arthur Bliss Lane later wrote that 
the Russian interpretation was contrary to 
the “clear” wording of Yalta. (Woodward, 
British Foreign Policy, p. 502fn.; Lane, I 
Saw Poland Betrayed, p. 57; Churchill, 
Triumph and Tragedy, p. 487; Stalin’s Cor- 
respondence, I, p. 207.) 

¢ According to Woodward, twe other fac- 
tors led to the withdrawal of the offer to 
admit observers. One was the fact that 
Britain blocked the invitation to Warsaw. 
The second was a speech in the Commons 
by Eden which referred to the Warsaw 
government in contemptuous terms. (Wood- 
ward, British Foreign Policy, pp. 500, 503.) 
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The issue of real substance derived from Churchill’s demand that 
any Pole suggested by one power be invited for consultations. This 

meant Mikolajczyk, and, in another form, it was the same question 

which, at Churchill’s insistence, had caused the initial deadlock. 

Roosevelt cabled that “our chief purpose” is to “get the negotiations 

moving again, and tackle first of all the point on which they had come 

to a standstill. I cannot urge upon you too strongly the vital im- 

portance of agreeing without delay on instructions to our Ambassa- 

dors so that the negotiations may resume.” On the issue of substance 

the President challenged Churchill directly: “I cannot believe that 

Molotov will accept the proposal . . . that any Pole can be invited 

unless all three members of the Commission object, and I am opposed 

to putting forward such a suggestion at this time, as it would in my 

view almost certainly leave us in a stalemate.”*> Evidently greatly 

annoyed with Churchill, on the same day Roosevelt told his Cabinet 

that “the British were perfectly willing for the United States to have a 

war with Russia at any time and that, in his opinion, to follow the 

British program would be to proceed toward that end.”*¢ 

At the same time that he pleaded with Churchill to yield so that 

consultations could go forward, Roosevelt instructed his chargé 

d’affaires in London to urge Mikolajczyk to withdraw his opposition 

to Yalta. Following the American initiative, British representatives 

also approached the Peasant leader.*” In Moscow, the American am- 

bassador had already urged Molotov not to take an unyielding line on 

the principle of “absolute” prior consultations with Warsaw.*® 

It is important to understand the problem facing American policy 

makers following the deadlock of the Moscow Commission. The Red 

Army was moving relentlessly across Poland, at once liberating the 

country and consolidating administration behind the battlefront. Each 

day the influence of the London group waned and the power of the 

Warsaw government increased. Moreover, each day Soviet justifica- 

tion for giving power to Warsaw was greater, for the assault on Berlin 

required stability and order behind Red Army lines. Time was on the 

side of the Russians. 

From the American point of view, it was absolutely essential to get 

agreement on a reorganized government as soon as possible. More- 

over, there was a deadline: the charter meeting of the United Nations 

was to be held in San Francisco on April 25. It would be important to 
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United Nations meeting convened before agreement had been reached 

and the Conference went ahead without a representative from War- 

saw, the legitimacy of the government “now functioning in Poland” 

would be called into question. 
__ The only group which could gain from the deadlock was the Lon- 

don government-in-exile.* It believed that if matters could be stalled 

until the war’s end the common purpose which united the Allies might 

disappear. Only then could it hope that the Western powers might 

champion its cause against the Russians. For this reason the exile 

government stressed delay, but the focal point of their efforts was also — 

Mikolajczyk. The Peasant leader had already dissociated himself from 

the Arciszewski government, and, if he were to join in a reorganiza- 

tion of the Warsaw government, his action would at once increase the 

popularity of Warsaw and end the hopes of the London government. 

General Anders and others associated with the exile government at- 

tempted to keep Mikolajczyk with them, begging him not to go back 

to Poland.® Quite aware of this strategy, Eden had already discussed 

with Mikolajczyk what he would do if the London government fol- 

lowed a program which was “unrealistic—based on the principle of 

delay.”** Mikolajezyk’s initial response placed him between the War- 

saw and London governments. He would not join Warsaw, and he 

criticized the Yalta agreement, but his criticism was a moderate one 

which left the door open to further change. However, his public attack 

on Yalta was enough to establish his opposition to the agreement, and, 

caught between contending forces, the Peasant leader stalled, hoping 

for better terms or greater support from the West. Roosevelt was 

unsuccessful in his efforts to obtain a statement in support of Yalta.®? 

*It is probable that Churchill also  aggerate—a conflict on the Polish. issue 
thought he could gain by delay. Apart from 
the fact that the Prime Minister faced great: 
pressure not to yield in the Polish negotia- 
tions, it is known that he was making a 
tremendous effort to involve Roosevelt in a 
more active role against Soviet policy in 
Eastern Europe. It is probable that the 
Prime Minister, having failed to get Amer- 
ican support for an invasion in the Balkans, 
believed it good tactics to stress—even ex- 
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which had implications for Roosevelt’s cher- 
ished United Nations project. Churchill’s 
March 25 advice to Eden is illuminating: 
“We cannot press the case against Russia 
beyond where we can carry the United 
States. Nothing is more likely to bring 
them into line with us than any idea of the 
San Francisco Conference being imperilled.” 
(Churchill, Triumph and Tragedy, p. 444.) 
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door to other complications. In Poland proper, the sheer force of the 

Russian assault gave more power, day by day, to the Soviet Union. 

The West grew apprehensive as each mile of Polish territory was 

wrenched from German hands and passed back to be administered by 

the Warsaw government. It was recognized that the Russians had to 

have order behind their front lines, but this requirement could also 

justify Soviet suppression of groups opposed to the Red Army.* In a 

country where anti-Russian sentiment was endemic there were many 

who were as violently antagonistic to the Russians as they were to the 

Germans. The Polish underground army—responsible to the exile 

government—had already come into conflict with the Red Army on a 

number of occasions.** Western leaders knew that the conservative 

and anti-Russian political figures involved in the underground army 

would give ample grounds for any action the Russians might take to 

suppress their activities.°* Moreover, the Warsaw government an- 

nounced a land reform at this time.°® Churchill was especially con- 

_ cerned that the combination of popular social reforms and suppres- 

sion of the opposition would prejudice the future political settlement. 

He urged Roosevelt to join him in a plea to Stalin to use his influence 

to hold back the Warsaw government, but Roosevelt was prepared 

only to suggest a “truce” which would acknowledge the responsibility 

of the right-wing groups harassing the Red Army as well as that of the 

Warsaw government. As the stalemate continued, Churchill’s fears 

grew and he also continued to urge Roosevelt’s support so that West- 

ern observers might enter the country.”® 

From the Russian point of view, the intolerable disturbances to the 

Red Army advance seemed to derive not only from the hostility of the 

Polish underground army; there were suspicious signs that the Poles 

were being aided by the British government and, to a lesser extent, by 

the Americans.*’ The most important fact, of course, was that the 

underground groups depended upon British airdrops for supplies,°* but 

there were also incidents in which American forces aided the Poles. 

One instance involved American servicemen who disguised a Pole in 

* Shortly after Yalta, Byrnes—who had the Soviet Armies any government they 
advised Roosevelt at the conference—pub- cannot trust. The Russians cannot be look- 
licly declared: “It must be remembered that ing back while they are going forward to 
the Russians liberated Poland. The Russian __ Berlin.”” (Quoted in Mikolajczyk, The Pat- 
position is that they do not want behind ern of Soviet Domination, p. 123.) 
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‘American military uaafind one! ually fey him out oF the coun- = 

_try.*°° In normal circumstances Anglo-American assistance might not 

have raised any problems, but since the Poles were often openly op- 

posed to the Red Army, the Western efforts took on a more sinister 

cast. Inevitably it seemed that the West had ulterior motives in aiding 

Polish political groups. Stalin was soon to complain of efforts to resur- 

rect a cordon sanitaire. 

A CRISIS OF CONFIDENCE 

SUSPICIONS GREW ON BOTH SIDES, and the days after the stale- 

mate in the Moscow Commission were some of the darkest in inter- 

Allied relations. General Deane, head of the United States Military 

Mission in Moscow, reports that at this time he “plumbed the depths 

of discouragement and despair.”*' But troubles in Poland and Mos- 

cow were relatively minor irritants compared with an event which at 

this time shattered confidence as had no other throughout the war. In 

late February, German officers made contact with Allied representa- 

tives in Switzerland and began to hint at the possibility of a surrender 

of German forces in Italy.“ On March 8, a German general named 

Wolff appeared to discuss the possibility of negotiations with British 

and American military representatives in Bern, Switzerland.®* Since 

the Russians, as allies, were entitled to participate in any actual sur- 

render discussions with the common enemy, at Churchill’s suggestion, 

information on the first contacts was given to Molotov on March 12. 

The Soviet Foreign Minister asked that Red Army representatives 

also be allowed to participate in the discussions. The British believed 

this to be proper procedure; it would eliminate the possibility of sus- 

_ picions about a surrender in Italy which might facilitate German 

troop movements to the Russian front. However, General Deane 

recommended refusal of the Soviet request. He argued that the Rus- 

sians would introduce complications into the delicate meetings.® 

(Deane, whose relations with the Russians “were not going so well,” 

*Such incidents led to a breakdown in American military personnel behind Red 
arrangements to speed the release of Amer- Army lines and were reluctant to permit 
ican prisoners liberated by the Red Army American access to Poland. (Deane, The 
in Poland. The Russians became wary of Strange Alliance, pp. 197-99.) 
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later admitted there was a large element of “vindictiveness” in his 

recommendation. )® Ambassador Harriman, equally troubled in his 

relations with the Russians, supported the recommendation because 

he believed a firm stand would be a lesson to the Russians that they 

could not expect to get all that they requested. 

The recommendations from the top American officials in Moscow 

were accepted, and on March 15 Molotov was informed that the pur- 

pose of the Bern talks was only to make contact with a view to getting 

German military representatives to Allied Headquarters in Italy. If 

actual surrender talks could be arranged in Italy, Soviet representa- 

tives would be allowed to participate.® Greatly disturbed at this mes- 

sage, Molotov responded that the refusal to allow Soviet officers to 

come to Bern was “utterly unexpected and incomprehensible.””° Mol- 

otov insisted thatthe talks be broken off until Soviet participation was 

accepted.’ General Antonov informed Deane that the Soviet Union 

would not participate in later talks in Italy unless Soviet officers were 

in on the Bern discussions from the beginning.” 

On March 21, Harriman and Clark Kerr told Molotov that he 

misunderstood the nature of the Bern talks; only arrangements for 

further negotiations were being discussed. But Molotov noted that the — 

first information given to him (on March 12) was that the Bern talks 

would “discuss . . . the surrender of German armed forces,” and he 

questioned the reassurances now given—“In this instance the Soviet 

Government sees not a misunderstanding but something worse.”’* He 

declared: 

Negotiations have been going on for two weeks at Bern (sic), behind 

the back of the Soviet Union which is bearing the brunt of the war 
against Germany. . . . The Soviet Government considers this abso- 

lutely impermissible. . . .” 

Molotov’s attitude stimulated a direct message from Roosevelt to 

Stalin. On March 25 the President repeated the assertion that Anglo- 

American representatives were only checking the accuracy of the re- 

- port that surrender might be arranged. He continued to deny Soviet 

participation in the Bern talks, but promised that if a meeting to 

discuss the details of surrender could be arranged, Soviet representa- 

tives would be welcome.” This brought back a strongly worded cable 
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mans to maneuver and to use the talks for switching troops to other 

an sectors, above all to the Soviet front, is precluded.” Stalin claimed that 

- “the Germans have already taken advantage of the talks . . . to 

; - move three divisions from Northern Italy to the Soviet front... . 

_ This circumstance irritates the Soviet Command and engenders dis- 

trust. . . . Ina situation of this kind Allies should have nothing to 
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conceal from each other.””¢ . 

On April 1, Roosevelt responded: “There is no question of negoti- 

ating with the Germans in any way which would permit them to trans- 

fer elsewhere forces from the Italian front. . . . Your information 

- about the time of the movements of German troops from Italy is in 

error.” The President continued to refuse Soviet participation in the 

Bern talks. Stalin replied with a more serious charge: “My military 

colleagues . . . are sure that negotiations did take place and that 

they ended in an agreement with the Germans . . . to open the front 

to the Anglo-American troops and let them move east. . . . I think 

that my colleagues are not very far from the truth. If the contrary 

were the case the exclusion . . . of the Soviet Command from the 

Bern talks would be inexplicable.””” ; 

Roosevelt responded with “astonishment” to the assertion that a 

_ deal had been made with the Germans: “I am certain that there were 

no negotiations in Bern at any time. .. . Frankly, I cannot avoid a 

feeling of bitter resentment toward your informers, whoever they are, 

_ for such vile misrepresentations of my actions or those of my trusted 

subordinates.” Nevertheless, the President continued to refuse Soviet 

representatives. Stalin’s final message was a bitter one: “A difference 

of views has arisen over what an ally may permit himself with regard 

to another and what he may not. We Russians believe that . . . ina 

situation in which the enemy is faced with inevitable surrender, when- 

ever the representatives of one of the Allies meet the Germans to 

discuss surrender terms, the representatives of the other Ally should 

be enabled to take part in the meeting. . . . I still consider the Rus- 
sian point of view to be the only correct one because it precludes 

mutual suspicions.””® 

These important exchanges have been quoted at length because 
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that the West was making an arrangement with the Germans which __ 

would have put the Red Army at a serious disadvantage. It is not 

difficult to discover the sources of this belief. The initial letter from the MS 

American ambassador stated that the Bern talks were to discuss sur- 

render, not merely arrangements for a further meeting in Italy. 

Moreover, and contrary to the American assertions at the time, it has 

since been established that the talks did go into the details of surrender 

terms,*! and came very near to what must be termed negotiations. 

Even at the time, Churchill told Eden that “the Russians may have a 

legitimate fear of our doing a deal in the West to hold them well back 

in the East.”®? The Prime Minister was alive to the possibility that 

political affairs might be “trenched upon” and, indeed, was not certain 

himself that talks had “not already gone beyond” mere military mat- 

ters.°* Thus the Soviet fear that negotiations were going on was under- 

standable. Inevitably, Soviet suspicions must have increased as the 

Bern talks—supposedly designed only to arrange further negotiations 

in Italy—continued for almost two months.* 

The suspicion that the West was making a deal to end resistance on - 

the western front and allow troop transfers to the Soviet front prob- 

ably stemmed from two facts. In the last months the Germans allowed 

the Western Allies to advance as fast as possible into Germany while 

the Russians were faced with last-ditch resistance. Thus, in the month 

of February, 1,675 tanks and assault guns were sent to formations 

engaging the Russians. During that month the western front received 

oniy 67.%* Hitler hoped to split the Allies by such tactics, or at least to 

give over more of Germany to troops whose homes had not been 

devastated by German occupation.™ Inevitably, the German strategy 

must have seemed suspicious to the Russians. Moreover, at one stage 

German agents at Bern offered surrender terms which would have 

permitted German withdrawals from the Italian front.** If Soviet in- 

telligence agents got wind of the offer, the combination of German 

actions and the Bern talks would have seemed extremely suspicious 

* From late February to late April. (Feis, 
Churchill, Roosevelt, Stalin, p. 583; Ehr- 
man, Grand Strategy, p. 128.) 
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indeed, Finally, the fact that German hegortore in Bern were re- 

sponsible to Kesselring, who took over command of the entire western 

front in the midst of the Bern talks, must have increased fears that the 

discussions were not limited to the Italian surrender.*” 

It is against this background of profound Soviet suspicions that the 

- Polish negotiations must be judged. The stalemate, which began with 

the British objection to consultations without Mikolajezyk, continued 

throughout March, and inevitably complications arose and questions 

of form and status came to dominate the negotiations. With issues of 

substance in abeyance, each side attempted to secure petty advantages 

for its favored group of Poles. The most important struggle of this 

kind developed on March 1, when invitations to the San Francisco 

Conference of the United Nations were issued to forty-four nations.** 

Poland was not among the nations invited. In London this caused 

~ great consternation, for the Polish government in exile was aware that 

the failure of the powers to include the government would undermine 

its claim to be the legitimate representative of the Polish nation. But 

this fight had long been lost.*® The real struggle involved the status of 

the Warsaw government. The Russians wanted the existing govern- 

ment in Poland to be invited to San Francisco. Since the Yalta agree- 

ment provided that the government “now functioning in Poland” 

would be “reorganized,” the Russians believed that to deny an invita- 

tion to Warsaw would unfairly diminish the government’s claim to 

legitimate status. The Western powers understood the point but did 

not wish to increase the status of the Warsaw government before a 

reorganization had been arranged. In fact, an invitation to the San 

Francisco Conference was one of the few bargaining points the West 

could exercise in the Polish negotiations. 

On March 5, the American Under Secretary of State, Joseph Grew, 

told the press that neither the London nor the Warsaw government 

would be invited to San Francisco.®® On March 9, the Soviet ambassa- 

_dor in Washington asked that this position be reconsidered,*' but by 

March 16, Roosevelt had reaffirmed the American view.®? Once more 

the Soviet ambassador asked that the decision be changed, but his 

request was refused.** Thereupon Moscow let it be known that Molo- 

tov would not attend the United Nations meeting. His place would be 
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taken by Ambassador Gromyko.* This move was a direct challenge to 

Roosevelt’s ideal of a United Nations organization. 

While it is clear that the Soviet action was related to the exclusion 

of the Warsaw government, it should be noted that the Russian deci- 

sion to keep Molotov at home came just after the American decision 

to exclude Soviet representatives from the Bern talks. Thus, on the 

same day (March 25) that Roosevelt attempted to explain why the 

Russians could not come to Bern, he also begged Stalin to allow 

Molotov to come to San Francisco.” Similarly, at the same time that 

Stalin reiterated his demand for participation in the Bern talks, he 

reaffirmed the decision not to send Molotov.®* Suspicions over Bern, 

the deadlock over Poland, and the fate of the United Nations meeting 

were now inevitably bound up in the more general problem of a crisis 

of confidence between the United States and the Soviet Union. 

It is not the purpose of this essay to analyze the sources of this 

crisis. It may be noted, however, that in the last weeks of March a 

curious reversal of roles took place between Churchill and Roosevelt. 

Throughout the war, typically, Churchill urged Roosevelt to take a 

“firm” line with the Russians; the President usually sought to mediate 

between Churchill and Stalin. This attitude was strikingly evident in 

his handling of the Polish negotiations in the first half of March. 

However, with the Bern problem, it was Churchill who suggested that 

the Russians be allowed to join in the talks; the President took a firm 

and negative line. Although it is impossible to know the President’s 

motives, it is probable that the new attitude was a result of Roosevelt’s 

failing health and his increasing reliance on State Department and 

War Department advisers®*’—that is, upon men who had hitherto 

pressed unsuccessfully for a “firm” approach to the Russians. * Roose- 

velt was out of Washington for much of this period, and the Bern 

messages, in fact, were drafted by Admiral Leahy and General Mar- 

shall.°® According to Harry Hopkins, most messages sent over the 

President’s signature at this time were “not his own.”®® But the most 

striking example of the change of attitude came in a major reversal of 

American policy on the Polish question. 

* Churchill claims that Roosevelt’s health that the more recognizable Roosevelt atti- 
and strength “faded” earlier in March. He  tude—that of mediator and prudent com- 
attributes Roosevelt’s early opposition to his §promiser—is represented in the early view, 
own firm line to this factor. (Triumph and and that—to use Churchill’s phrase—“vari- 
Tragedy, pp. 419, 429.) It seems, however, ous hands” drafted the later cables. 
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ROOSEVELT’S REVERSAL: 
THE STALEMATE COMPOUNDED 

‘ - ON Marcu 16, Roosevelt had minced no words in rejecting 

 Churchill’s attempt to get support for Mikolajczyk. (“I cannot believe 

that Molotov will accept the proposal . . . I am opposed to putting 

no 
Pai 

- forward such a suggestion at this time, as it would in my view almost 

certainly leave us in a stalemate.”)°° Two days after these words were 

written, on March 18, the British ambassador and the State Depart- 

ment were able to get Presidential approval for a new instruction to 

Moscow.'! The message (sent on March 19) urged that any Pole 

suggested by one of the powers be invited to Moscow for consulta- 

tions! Now Britain and America were united in proposing that Miko- 

lajczyk, an opponent of the Yalta agreement, should participate in 

consultations based upon that agreement. If we are to follow Roose- 

- velt’s earlier judgment, this new instruction would “almost certainly” 

account for the continued stalemate of the Moscow Commission until 

the President’s death; for, despite Roosevelt’s efforts to change his 

view, Mikolajczyk did not modify his opposition to Yalta.* 

Roosevelt’s March 19 instruction also took up a number of the 

minor issues of form and status which had dominated the talks as each 

side maneuvered for position. He affirmed Churchill’s view on three of 

_ the remaining four points. 

1. The Warsaw government should not expect an “absolute” right of 

prior consultation. 
2. The Poles consulted in Moscow should determine the composition 

of the reorganized government, with the Commission acting only 
in an impartial arbitral capacity. 

3. The Soviet government should use its influence to stop the Warsaw 
government from actions which might prejudice the political situ- 

* The precise terms of this message are 
not available. However, this paraphrase oc- 
curs in a subsequent message by Churchill: 
“There ought not to be a veto by one 
Power on all nominations.” Churchill says: 
“Stalin will find all this set out . . . in our 
communication of March 19.” (Triumph 
and Tragedy, pp. 434-35.) The precise 
wording is probably the same as that used 
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‘by the President on March 29, although it 
is possible that the March 19 message was 
less definite. (Ibid., p. 745; Stalin’s Corre- 
spondence, II, pp. 210-14; Woodward, Brit- 
ish Foreign Policy, p. 505; Lane, I Saw Po- 
land Betrayed, pp. 59-61; Feis, Churchill, 
Roosevelt, Stalin, pp. 574-75.) 

{For the controversy over Point 3, see - 
p. 252. 



- Russian Poles. 

4. The Soviet government should arrange for Western observers to 
ars 

come to Poland. * 

As Roosevelt had predicted, on March 23 Molotov refused to ac- 

cept the view that any Pole suggested by one of the three powers 

should be invited for consultations. On the main issue the stalemate © 

continued. On the minor points, Molotov offered four “rules” of pro- 

cedure for the Commission: 

1, They should recognize the Warsaw government as the basis for the 
new government with the inclusion of democratic leaders from 
Poland and abroad. 

They should begin consultations in the a instance with the War- 
saw government. 

3. They should summon for consultation only Poles upon whom all 
three of the Commission agreed. 

4. They should then decide upon other Polish leaders whom they 
wished to consult.1°2 

This message ignored the suggestion that influence be used to halt 

repressive action and political change in Poland. Molotov also re- 

jected the request that the Russians arrange for Western observers in 

Poland.?*? Nonetheless, both the American and British ambassadors 

believed Molotov’s proposals might open the way to a resumption of 

negotiations. The Foreign Office, however, thought the proposals 

should be rejected out of hand. Eden now recommended a joint Anglo- 

American message to Stalin. Churchill agreed, and a new message was 

drafted and sent to Roosevelt for approval on March 27.1% 

Once more the Prime Minister raised the threat of a statement in 

Be 

* As has been noted, the message has not 
been published. The points must be deduced 
from available materials. On points 1, 2, 
and 4, there is no doubt. (See Churchill, 
Triumph and Tragedy, pp. 422-23, 426-29, 
where negotiations between Roosevelt and 
Churchill on the wording are printed.) 
There is some doubt as to the exact word- 
ing of Point 3. In a later telegram, Chur- 
chill reminded Roosevelt that in the March 
19 message they had “asked that the Soviet 
Government should use their influence with 
their friends in temporary power there.” 
([bid., p. 434.) It appears that this referred 

to the “truce” idea and not to Churchill’s 
suggestion that the Russians should restrain 
only the Warsaw government, for on April 
1, Churchill and Roosevelt did send a mes- 
sage asking for a “truce.” (Stalin’s Corre- 
spondence, II, p. 203.) It is unlikely that 
the American position, which became in- 
creasingly close to Churchill’s as Roosevelt’s 
death approached and his subordinates be- 
came more active, would have taken the 
more “firm” line on March 19 and the less 
“firm” line on April 1. (See also, Churchill, 
Triumph and Tragedy, pp. 424-25, 432; 
Woodward, British Foreign Policy, p. 505.) 
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Pidliatieat He then stressed ie aed for a more aiveot apptoaeie 

am convinced it is no use trying to argue this any further with Molo- 

tov. . . . Is it not the moment now for a message from us both on 

Poland to Stalin?”°> Churchill wished to reiterate the March 19 par- 

allel instruction, laying emphasis upon the five points.'° 

Roosevelt, at first following the American and British ambassadors, 

_ suggested that Molotov’s four rules might be accepted with certain 

modifications.1°’ However the growing crisis of confidence apparently 

disturbed the President and he replied: “I agree with you however that 

the time has come to take up directly with Stalin the broader aspects 

of the Soviet attitude . . .”1°° The President agreed that any Pole 

might come to Moscow, despite Mikolajczyk’s continued opposition to 

- Yalta. He suggested that the Commission select Poles to be invited 

without allowing Warsaw a right of veto. He would agree to the War- 

saw government’s coming to Moscow for consultations first, if other 

invitations were issued before Warsaw arrived. The President pro- 

posed that “we should respectively use our influence” to ensure that 

“dissident groups cease any measures and counter-measures against 

each other.” Finally, he asked that observers be permitted to enter the 

country. The message was substantially the same as the March 19 

instruction. (Admiral Leahy dryly noted: “It does not appear likely 

that the messages sent today will have any beneficial effect.”)1°° To- 

gether with a supporting message from Churchill, the President’s 

April 1 message initiated the first exchange over Poland at the heads- 

 of-government level since Yalta." 

Stalin’s April 7 response came in two parts. He took up the sub- 

stance of the main question in a reply to Churchill’s separate demand 

that Mikolajczyk come to Moscow. Stalin complained that the West- 

ern ambassadors had insisted “on Mikolajczyk being invited to Mos- 

-cow for consultation, and they do so in the form of an ultimatum, 

ignoring the tact that Mikolajczyk has openly attacked the Crimea 

Conference decisions on Poland.” However, Stalin proposed a com- 

promise solution: “If you deem it necessary, I shall try to induce the 

Provisional Polish Government to withdraw its objections to inviting 

Mikolajczyk, provided-he publicly endorses the decisions of the Cri- 

mea Conference . . . and declares in favor of establishing friendly 

relations between Poland and the Soviet Union.”1!! As is evident, 

Stalin’s concessions on this key issue indicated substantially the same 
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line of compromise that Roosevelt had been pursuing before March 
19:2 

Stalin also suggested a series of steps which might “break the dead- 

lock and reach an agreed decision.” They concerned the minor issues 

of status and form, and he urged that 

1. The powers affirm that the reconstruction of the Warsaw govern- 

ment implies not abolition, but enlargement. 
2. Eight Poles be invited to Moscow, five from Poland, three from 

London. 

3. The Warsaw government be “consulted in all circumstances, that 

they be consulted in the first place.” 
4. Only leaders who have supported the Crimea decision be invited to 

Moscow. 

5. Reconstruction should be effected by replacing a number of the 
present members of the Warsaw government by other Polish 

leaders. 

In a concluding paragraph, Stalin suggested that “the ratio of old 

and new Ministers . . . might be established more or less on the same 

lines as was done in the Yugoslav Government.” This meant that 

approximately four out of five Cabinet posts would remain in the 

hands of the Warsaw government. {*”” 

This message was the last in the Polish negotiations before Roose- 

velt’s death, and the divergence among the powers can now be sum- 

marized. Stalin’s new proposal, as Churchill noted, “offered some 

hope of progress”; for a way out of the main impasse seemed pos- 

sible."* If Britain and America could bring Mikolajczyk to support 

the Yalta agreement, Stalin would urge Warsaw to withdraw its ob- 

jections. A concerted and united effort by the Big Three might turn 

the trick. After a month of squabbling, the approach originally at- 

tempted by Roosevelt seemed to offer promise. 

On the minor issues there were still differences of opinion. Stalin’s 

suggestion that he would urge Warsaw to withdraw its objection to 

Mikolajczyk indicated his view that Warsaw was entitled to veto 

candidates for the consultations. The Western Powers had argued that 

no absolute right of veto was permissible. Stalin wanted the Warsaw 

government to be “consulted in all circumstances,” and in “the first 

* See above, p. 250. } See above, p. 20. 
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is aaked that aay leaders who had eos the Yalta decision 

be invited to Moscow. In backing Mikolajezyk, however, the West 

had refused to accept this as a “principle.” Finally, Stalin had ac- 

cepted neither the proposal that each side use influence to prevent 

hostilities within Poland, nor the proposal that Western observers be 

admitted to the country. Despite these differences, however, the dis- 

tance between the positions had narrowed considerably. These rela- 

tively minor points could probably be settled if they could agree on 
¥ 

re . 
mit 

= 

the fundamental issues. 

Perhaps the most important thing about Stalin’s April 7 message, 

_ however, was that it showed the Soviet Union believed it was now 

necessary to come to terms on “fundamental issues.” In suggesting the 

Yugoslav precedent as a basis for reorganization of the Warsaw gov- 

ernment, Stalin cut through to the core of the dispute. Here was the 

__ issue of power distribution in the new government. The question had 

_ previously appeared only indirectly, in the struggle over Mikolajczyk 

_ and the minor points of status, but for some time it had been apparent 

that the Soviet and Western oa had differing views on the 

crucial question. 

The suspicions which arose during the month-long stalemate ap- 

gue parently prompted Stalin to attempt to define the differences and 

reach agreement. His message contained a charge that the American 

and British ambassadors “have departed from the instructions of the 

Crimea Conference.” Stalin pointed out that the Big Three had agreed 

that “the government now functioning in Poland . . . should be the 

core of a new Government.” He complained that the Western ambas- 

sadors “ignore the Polish Provisional Government, pay no heed to it, 

and at best place individuals in Poland and London on a par with the 

Provisional Government.” Stalin served notice that Warsaw had to be 

_ recognized as tue basis of any reorganization. 

That the Russians wanted a commitment on this point had also 

been apparent from Molotov’s March 23 message. Responding to 

- Molotov’s suggestion that Warsaw be affirmed as the “basis” of a new 

government, Roosevelt had declared that Warsaw would play a 

“prominent role,” but insisted that “a thinly disguised continuation of 

_ the present Warsaw regime would be unacceptable.”!"* This was an 

extremely vague statement, and Roosevelt died before he was able to 
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answer Stalin’s more specific request that the Yugoslav precedent be 
_ adopted. However, his advice to Churchill at the end of March gives 

some indication of his general viewpoint: ee 

You will recall that agreement on Poland at Yalta was a compromise oa 
between the Soviet position that the Lublin government should merely 
be “enlarged” and our contention that we should start with a clean 

slate and assist in the formation of an entirely new Polish government. 
The wording of the resulting agreement reflects this compromise but 
if we attempt to evade the fact that we placed, as clearly shown in the 
agreement, somewhat more emphasis on the Lublin Poles than on the 

other two groups . . . I fear we will expose ourselves to the charge 

that we are attempting to go back on the Crimea decision.1® 

Although by the end of March each side feared the other was 

breaking the Yalta agreement, it seems that Roosevelt, like Stalin, — 

believed the most important thing was to bring Churchill back into 

line with his Yalta commitment. Although the President’s general 

sentiment is shown from this message, it is impossible to know how far 

he would have gone toward meeting Stalin’s proposal at the Yugoslav 

ratio of four old ministers to each new one. 

At Roosevelt’s death on April 12 the dispute over Poland was still ae 

unresolved. For almost a month (February 23—March 19) the 

American position had been much closer to the Russian than the 

British. For a brief period at the end of March, Roosevelt, had re- 

versed his earlier stand and committed himself in support of Churchill. 

Now it appeared that Mikolajczyk might be brought to endorse the 

Yalta agreement. If so, this would remove the obstacle which impeded 

further negotiations, but would leave unresolved the major question 

of power in the reorganized government and a number of minor ques- 

tions. In a sense, the fundamental issue which had produced the 

struggle over Mikolajczyk had simply been defined in more explicit 

terms. Nonetheless, progress had been made, and the British ambassa- 

dor believed that the latest Soviet offer was a definite sign that Stalin 

wanted a cooperative solution to the Polish issue.*** Apparently 

Roosevelt was equally optimistic, for a few hours before his death he 

advised Churchill to “minimize the general Soviet problem as much as 

possible, because these problems, in one form or another, seem to 

arise every day and most of them straighten out . . .”2"" 

267 



ATOMIC DIPLOMACY: HIROSHIMA AND POTSDAM 

TRUMAN’S POLISH PROBLEM 

TRUMAN TOOK OFFICE facing three sets of Polish issues: the role 

of Mikolajczyk, the group of subsidiary status questions, and the 

fundamental matter of power distribution. Truman seems to have 

_ placed great faith in the advice of the State Department, for within 

twenty-four hours of his predecessor’s death, the new President had 

agreed to another direct message to Stalin. He immediately endorsed 

the view that Mikolajczyk had to be invited to Moscow even though 

the Polish leader still opposed the Yalta decision. The claim to a right 

of veto over Poles suggested for consultations Truman deemed to be 

the “real issue.”""* The Prime Minister was highly pleased by Tru- 

man’s enthusiastic support of the “firm” line, although he thought it 

“remarkable” that the President “felt able so promptly to commit him- 

self to it.”1” 

The draft message Truman endorsed was a response to Stalin’s 

April 7 cable. Truman also accepted the idea that eight Poles be 

invited to Moscow, five from London, three from Warsaw; he named 

Mikolajczyk among the group. On the other minor questions, he was 

prepared to allow the Warsaw government to come to Moscow first, if 

the other invitations had gone out before the government arrived, and 

he also wanted the group of Poles to be able to suggest other names 

for the Moscow consultations. As is evident, on these minor questions 

the American and Russian positions were almost in agreement. On the 

remaining matter of substance, however, there was a great difference. 

Truman refused to take up the ratio of power in the new Cabinet in 

advance of the Moscow talks, and he specifically rejected the Yugo- 

slav precedent.*1?° 

On April 15, Churchill cabled that Mikolajczyk had finally agreed 

to endorse the Yalta decision. Though his endorsement was qualified, 

for all practical purposes this eliminated the major stumbling block 

‘which had held up consultations for more than a month and a haif.1?4 

(Within a week Mikolajezyk removed the last qualification and 

pledged full support for the Yalta decision. )?? Truman and the State 

* After an exchange with Churchill, the 
joint message was sent on April 18. (Tru- 
man, Year of Decisions, pp. 25-26.) 
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Department were delighted with the news.12* The “real issue,” Truman 
pointed out to Churchill, was substantially resolved. The question of 

principle as to whether Warsaw had the theoretical right to veto 

candidates for consultations was still in dispute, but it was now only a 

minor quibble, since the point of the argument had disappeared with 

Mikolajczyk’s new stand. Similarly, the questions of status were not 

matters of great import, and Truman considered that “minor ques- 

tions” could be readily resolved.'2* However, there remained the sub- 

stantive question of the power distribution; and, as had become evi- 

dent shortly before the death of Roosevelt, the Russians now wanted 

the issue defined and resolved before the Moscow consultations began. 

Stalin wished to leave no doubt that the Warsaw government was 

accepted by all the powers as the “core” of the reorganized govern- 

ment. Apparently he was especially adamant about the point, not only 

because of the signs that the West might be retreating from the Yalta 

formula,* but also because he gave up a powerful bargaining lever 

and status symbol just after Roosevelt’s death. In a meeting with 

Stalin, Harriman suggested that it would be regarded as a friendly 

gesture and a sign that the Soviet Union wished to continue Roose- 

velt’s policy of cooperation if Stalin would reverse his earlier decision 

and send Molotov to the United Nations.’*° Originally Stalin had re- 

fused to send Molotov, because the Warsaw government had not been 

invited to San Francisco and the absence of a representative from 

Warsaw would cast doubts on the government’s legitimacy. Just after 

Roosevelt’s death, however, Stalin accepted Harriman’s suggestion 

and the Soviet Foreign Minister left for Washington despite the slur 

caused by the continued exclusion of Warsaw.**° 

Thus, when Truman met Molotov on April 23, the touchy question 

of the role and status to be accorded the Warsaw government was of 

increased importance to the Russians. Stalin pressed for a decision on 

the distribution of power in the new government, offering the Yugo- 

slav precedent as a formula. Since the minor points would be of little 

consequence if this issue could be resolved, the outcome of the Polish 

dispute depended upon the view the new President took of Stalin’s 

main proposal. As Admiral Leahy summed it up, this question was 

“the nub of the issue.”?*7 

* See Roosevelt’s comment to Churchill, 
p. 267. 
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The Timing of 

Truman’s Decisions 

and the Origin of 

the Hopkins Mission 

ALTHOUGH AVAILABLE EVIDENCE establishes that Stimson rec- 

ommended the delay of all disputes with Russia until the atomic bomb 

had been demonstrated, and that Truman followed this advice, the 

absence of complete information makes it difficult to pinpoint the 

exact dates on which the advice was offered and the decision was 

taken. The substance of the argument does not depend on this point, 

of course, but it may be useful to attempt to estimate the date from 

what is known. 

The question is: When did Truman first decide to postpone diplo- 

matic disputes until the weapon had been demonstrated? Theoret- 

ically the range of possible dates is from April 25 to June 6—i.e., 

from the date on which Stimson first discussed the atomic bomb in 

detail with the President to the explicit reference to the decision in the 

available materials. On the latter date, Stimson’s diary records that the 
Secretary of War reminded Truman “that the greatest complication 

was what might happen at the meeting of the Big Three” if the bomb 

had not yet been “laid on.” Truman replied that he had “postponed 

_ [the meeting] until the 15th of July on purpose to give us more time.”* 

From the June 6 bench mark it is possible to move backward to a 

much earlier date. On May 16, Stimson’s diary shows that he was fully 

satisfied that Truman had adopted the proper strategy and plans for 

_ the timing of the heads-of-government meeting. In the characteris- 

tically indirect way he used to discuss the secret project, Stimson wrote 

to Truman: “I betieve that good and not harm would be done by the 

policy towards your coming meeting which you mentioned to me.” 

Then, using the same words he had used in discussing the bomb in a 
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iary entn 
fied with a President s poliy “We shall probably hold more s caide 

in our hands later than now.” 

Moving back one stage: on May 14, at the same time he pointed 

out to Eden that a delay in the meeting would not be dangerous, since 

the troop withdrawals from the Continent would be minimal, Stimson 

also “outlined to him the progress which we have made and the time- — 

table as it stood now, and told him my own feeling as to [the atomic 

bomb’s] bearing upon our present problems of an international char- 

acter? 

The decision to postpone the confrontation with Stalin was taken 

earlier than this date, however. On May 10, Stimson records that 

Harriman told him he believed “Russia is . . . going to try to ride 

roughshod over her neighbors in Europe.” In response, Stimson 

“talked over very confidentially our problem connected with [the 

atomic bomb] in this matter.”* 

But it was on May 9 that Truman told Churchill he could not meet 

with Stalin until early July—the time at which Stimson had originally 

stated the atomic bomb would be available.*® 

Thus, the crucial decisions were probably taken in the two weeks 

between Stimson’s April 25 talk with Truman and the May 9 message 

to Churchill. This is also the period of the greatest activity concerned 

with the establishment of the Interim Committee. During this time 

Stimson met with Truman on a number of occasions—at least on May 

1, 2, 3, 4to review preparations for a full discussion of the political 

and diplomatic implications of the new weapon. { 

Within the period April 25—May 9 a still better approximation is 

possible. Almost immediately after meeting with Stimson, the Presi- 

dent began to work on the Hopkins and Davies trips, and had sum- 

moned Davies by at least the evening of April 29.¢ That these missions 

were directly at odds with the tough line of policy accepted by Tru- 

man on April 23, and that they were opposed by the “firm” advisers, 

leaves little doubt that they were directly associated with the only line 

* As is shown in Chapter IV, technical + See above, p. 59. 
delays caused a second delay of the meet- 
ing, and it was also subsequently decided to + When Truman met with Davies on the 
delay not only until the bomb had been morning of April 30, he said that both he 

tested, but until it had been “laid on” Ja- and Hopkins would be making special trips. 
pan. (Truman, Year of Decisions, p. 110.) 
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of conciliatory strategy offered to the President—i.< é., Stimson’ s strat- 

egy of delay. Moreover, Truman’s efforts to keep the trips secret from — 

his top advisers strongly suggests the intimate relationship with the top 

secret atomic project and the discussions with Stimson. 

Although as indicated in Chapter III Truman held on to his firm 

line of policy while he secretly prepared his new approach, all of the 

evidence suggests that the April 25 meeting was the crucial date on 

which Truman accepted Stimson’s line of advice. This was the meeting 

the Secretary of War requested because the atomic bomb had “such a 

bearing on our present foreign relations and such an important effect 

upon all my thinking in this field that I think you ought to know about 

it without much further delay.” This was also the meeting at which 

Stimson advised that the bomb would be (in Truman’s words) “cer- 

tain” to have a “decisive” effect on foreign relations. It was the meet- 

ing which Truman reports centered “specifically” on “the effect the 

atomic bomb might likely have on our future foreign relations.”® 

I have shown, in Chapters III and IV, how the decision to postpone 

a confrontation with Stalin illuminates the Hopkins mission. Once it 

was decided to wait for the atomic bomb, damage done during the 

initial showdown had to be repaired; further Soviet faits accomplis 

had to be forestalled, Stalin’s suspicions had to be allayed, coopera- 

tion had to be re-established in Europe, and measures had to be 

taken to keep the door open to subsequent American influence. Thus, 

the new evidence regarding the atomic bomb provides an implicit 

rejection of other interpretations of the complicated events of the 

summer of 1945. Nevertheless, it may be useful to review the 

alternative theories to show that they do not explain even the previ- 

ously available facts. 

Probably because Truman maintained the greatest secrecy about 

his plans to send Hatry Hopkins to Moscow, the literature on the 

subject is filled with a wide range of speculative, contradictory, and 

erroneous interpretations of the President’s purpose. Broadly speak- 

ing, two major and three minor explanations have been offered for 

Truman’s sudden conciliatory efforts after the showdown with Molo- 

tov. In order of importance these are: 

1. The President thought the tension over European problems might 
lose Russian help in the war against Japan. 
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2. The President thought the tension was ores the San Fran- 
cisco United Nations Conference. 

3. The President sought to reduce tension and to try to get new as- 
surances from Stalin on various Far Eastern matters. 

4. The President simply wanted an evaluation of Stalin’s attitude. 
5. The President, nervous about difficulties with Russia, sent a special 

mission because he believed the British election would delay a 
heads-of-government meeting. 

The first explanation has been offered by a scholar who has had 

access to most government materials. Feis has argued that a main 

reason for Truman’s attempt to reduce tensions was: “The American 

military organization was still eager for Soviet entry in the Pacific 

Ware no." 

As I have shown, this explanation cannot be accepted for a number 

of reasons: (1) The fact is that in late April the military had reached 

the conclusion that Russian help was no longer needed for an inva- 

Sion. (It was only two months later that they tentatively revised this 

judgment on the basis of new estimates of the shock value of a Rus- 

sian declaration of war.)} (2) Moreover, Truman specifically re- 

jected the military argument for a relaxation of tensions when it was 

presented to him by Marshall on April 23. There is no evidence that 

he changed his opinion in the few days before his decision to send 

Hopkins.¢ In fact, in his tough handling of the Trieste matter in mid- 

May (as I have shown in Chapter V) he again specifically rejected 

Marshall’s argument. (3) In any case, throughout May the American 

military entertained few doubts about Stalin’s intentions. In fact, the 

Polish showdown provided the best test of Russian plans, for at the 

height of the tensions there was every sign that the Red Army would 

enter the war at an early date. Even from this point of view there was 

no longer much need for conciliation.§ (4) Finally, if it were true that 

Truman wished to adopt a conciliatory attitude in order to ensure 

Soviet help in the war, there was no reason to keep his views from his 

advisers or from Churchill. Although the great mass of already avail- 

able documents reveal countless facts of far greater secrecy, in none 

of the materials is Truman ever shown to offer this seemingly obvious 

justification for his policy. 

* Hewlett and Anderson’s imprecise argu- + See above, pp. 118-119. 
ment could also be read as a statement of t See above, p. 70. 
this view. (The New World, p. 351.) § See above, pp. 104-106. 
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ues that aroiler important reason. 5 for the Hopkins mission WASS oc) 

“The Secretary of State, from San Francisco, was advising [Truman] _ 

not to engage in acts of pressure or retaliation until the work of that 

conference was done and a charter written. . . .”° Similarly, Sher- 
_ wood has written: “Less than a week after V-E Day, it seemed that 

the San Francisco Conference was going on the rocks. . . Harriman 

_ and Bohlen were on an airplane flying eastward across the continent 

_ with a sense of despair in their hearts. They asked each other whether 

there was any conceivable way of saving the situation. With consid- 

erable hesitancy, Bohlen suggested the possibility that President Tru- 

-man might send Hopkins to Moscow . . .”? 

: This view must also be rejected: (1) Both Feis and Sherwood have 

_ gotten their dates wrong; Truman’s decision to send Hopkins came in 

_ the last week of April (not the second week of May), at a time when 

the Secretary of State was reporting that the San Francisco Confer- 

- ence was off to a good start.*° (2) Aside from the well-known fact 

_ that Truman had little respect for Secretary Stettinius (and decided to 

replace him a few days after taking office), the President did not even 

consult the Secretary of State about sending Hopkins." (3) Indeed, 

_ the only advice he got from the State Department was from Acting 

_ Secretary Grew; this came at the last minute and was against the 

‘Hopkins mission.” 

__. The third explanation has not been offered directly. Hewlett and 

Anderson report that Hopkins’s mission was “to arrange a meeting of 

the Big Three, review the Polish tangle, discuss the future relations of 

the United States and Russia with China, and learn the approximate 

date of Soviet entry into the war.” Subsequently, however, by con- 

centrating on the discussion of Far Eastern matters, these authors 

strongly suggest that such problems were the primary reason for the 

Shh 3, - Hopkins mission.‘ Feis also suggests that the “main purpose” of the 

A Hopkins mission was to explore the Russian attitude before fulfilling 

‘the Yalta agreement on the Far East.*! To set the record straight, it 

should be noted that Truman decided to send Hopkins to Moscow 

long before he came to any conclusions about the Far Eastern ques- 

*Feis clouds this argument. He uses to fulfill the Yalta agreement regarding the 
three pages to show that American policy Far East. Having established the problem, 
makers considered the possibility cf refusing inexplicably he concludes that “before going 
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; Basen policy throughout the first half of May, and it was almost : 

three weeks after Truman’s decision to send Hopkins to Moscow that 

the President agreed to add the Far Eastern discussions to his pe Bret 
tasks.* 

The fourth view is offered by Truman and Feis. Truman states: “I 

wanted to be fully informed about the attitudes of Churchill and Stalin 

.”16 Feis also argues that Hopkins was sent to “ascertain the truth 

about Soviet intentions.””” In reality, of course, such general explana- 

tions beg the vital question; they ignore the fact that the Hopkins _ i 

mission was not merely an exploratory venture, but a major reversal 

of policy which yielded the substance of the most important diplo- 

matic issue in contest between the United States and Russia. To say 

that Truman only wanted to explore Stalin’s attitudes is simply to 

ignore the fundamental debate over political strategy which resulted 

in the mission. 

The fifth explanation is trivial. Woodward argues that “the possibil- 

ity of a visit to Moscow by Mr. Hopkins. . . had been talked about © 

vaguely for some time, though the decision had been taken abruptly 

and had been hastened by the belief that the British general election 

would delay a three-power meeting.”1* Aside from the fact that there 

is no evidence to suggest the British election had anything to do with 

Truman’s decision, it hardly need be pointed out that Churchill fairly 

burned the trans-Atlantic cables begging Truman to hold the meeting 

at the earliest possible date.t The only merit of this explanation is that 

it recognizes that the decision to delay a three-power meeting was the 

crucial decision; though Woodward is mistaken in his view of why 

Truman delayed, he is right to point out that once delay had been 

decided upon, a mission of conciliation became a logical and political 

necessity. 

ahead with . . . effectuation,” Stalin was to fact probably accounts for Feis’s unexpected 
be sounded out on issues “both in Europe 
and in the Far East.” (Between War and 
Peace, p. 81.) Even on his own terms, Feis 
gives no reason to believe that “effectua- 
tion” of the Far Eastern accord depended 
upon Stalin’s views of European issues. Feis 
apparently means that Hopkins sounded out 
Stalin on the Far Eastern issues before 
Truman decided whether to fulfill the Yalta 
accord. But Far Eastern problems were not 
the “main purpose” of the mission, and this 

reference to European matters. 
* See above, pp. 101-102. 
+ See above, pp. 66-67, 101. 
t As will be noted, Feis has offered sev- 

eral different interpretations of the Hopkins 
mission. In fact, one can find each of the 
listed explanations (except the last) in his 
writing. See: Churchill, Roosevelt, Stalin, p 
637; China Tangle, pp. 308-9; Between War 
and Peace, pp. 81-83. 
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APPENDIX Ill 

Stimson's 

Unsuccessful Attempt 

to Change the Strategy 

of Delay Before 

Leaving Office’ 

September 11, 1945 

DEAR MR. PRESIDENT: 

In handing you today my memorandum about our relations with 
Russia in respect to the atomic bomb, I am not unmindful of the fact 

that when in Potsdam I talked with you about the question whether we 
could be safe in sharing the atomic bomb with Russia while she was 
still a police state and before she put into effect provisions assuring 
personal rights of liberty to the individual citizen. 

I still recognize the difficulty and am still convinced of the ultimate 
importance of a change in Russian attitude toward individual liberty 
but I have come to the conclusion that it would not be possible to use 
our possession of the atomic bomb as a direct lever to produce the 
change. I have become convinced that any demand by us for an in- 
ternal change in Russia as a condition of sharing in the atomic 
weapon would be so resented that it would make the objective we 
have in view less probable. 

I believe that the change in attitude towards the individual in 
Russia will come slowly and gradually and I am satisfied that we 
should not delay our approach to Russia in the matter of the atomic 
bomb until that process has been completed. My reasons are set 

forth in the memorandum I am handing you today. Furthermore, I 

believe that this long process of change in Russia is more likely to be 
expedited by the closer relationship in the matter of the atomic bomb 

*Taken from Stimson and Bundy, On of the memorandum, and the second the 
Active Service, pp. 642-46. The emphasis most important point of all. (Ibid., pp. 644— 
was added by Stimson in 1947. He consid- 45.) 
ered the first italicized passage the heart 
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which I suggest and the trust and confidence that I believe would be 
inspired by the method of approach which I have outlined. 

Faithfully yours, 
Henry L. STIMSON, 

Secretary of War 
THE PRESIDENT 

The White House 

MEMORANDUM FOR THE PRESIDENT 

11 September 1945 

Subject: Proposed Action for Control of Atomic Bombs. 

The advent of the atomic bomb has stimulated great military and 
probably even greater political interest throughout the civilized world. 
In a world atmosphere already extremely sensitive to power, the intro- 
duction of this weapon has profoundly affected political considera- 
tions in all sections of the globe. 

In many quarters it has been interpreted as a substantial offset to 

the growth of Russian influence on the continent. We can be certain 

that the Soviet Government has sensed this tendency and the tempta- 
tion will be strong for the Soviet political and military leaders to ac- 
quire this weapon in the shortest possible time. Britain in effect al- 
ready has the status of a partner with us in the development of this 
weapon. Accordingly, unless the Soviets are voluntarily invited into 

the partnership upon a basis of co-operation and trust, we are going 
to maintain the Anglo-Saxon bloc over against the Soviet in the pos- 

session of this weapon. Such a condition will almost certainly stimu- 
late feverish activity on the part of the Soviet towards the development 
of this bomb in what will in effect be a secret armament race of a 

rather desperate character. There is evidence to indicate that such 
activity may have already commenced. 

If we feel, as I assume we must, that civilization demands that some- 

day we shall arrive at a satisfactory international arrangement re- 
specting the control of this new force, the question then is how long 

we can afford to enjoy our momentary superiority in the hope of 

achieving our immediate peace council objectives. 

Whether Russia gets control of the necessary secrets of production 
in a minimum of say four years or a maximum of twenty years is not 

nearly as important to the world and civilization as to make sure 

that when they do get it they are willing and co-operative partners 

among the peace-loving nations of the world. It is true if we approach 

them now, as I would propose, we may be gambling on their good 
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8 
than they ani otherwise. ait be 

To put the matter concisely, I coe the srovledt - our satis- — 
factory relations with Russia as not merely connected with but as vir- — 
tually dominated by the problem of the atomic bomb. Except for the — 
problem of the control of that bomb, those relations, while vitally — 
important, might not be immediately pressing. The establishment of 
relations of mutual confidence between her and us could afford to 
await the slow progress of time. But with the discovery of the bomb, 
they became immediately emergent. Those relations may be perhaps 

irretrievably embittered by the way in which we approach the solution 

of the bomb with Russia. For if we fail to approach them now and — 

merely continue to negotiate with them, having this weapon rather os- _ 

tentatiously on our hip, their suspicions and their distrust of our pur- 

poses and motives will increase. It will inspire them to greater efforts 
in an all-out-effort to solve the problem. If the solution is achieved in 
that spirit, 1t is much less likely that we will ever get the kind of 
covenant we may desperately need in the future. This risk is, I believe, 
greater than the other, inasmuch as our objective must be to get the 
best kind of international bargain we can—one that has some chance 

of being kept and saving civilization not for five or for twenty years, 
but forever. 

The chief lesson I have learned in a long life is that the only way 
you can make a man trustworthy is to trust him; and the surest way to 
make him untrustworthy is to distrust him and show your distrust. 

If the atomic bomb were merely another though more devastating 
military weapon to be assimilated into our pattern of international re- 
lations, it would be one thing. We couid then follow the old custom of 
secrecy and nationalistic military superiority relying on international 
caution to prescribe the future use of the weapon as we did with gas. 

But I think the bomb instead constitutes merely a first step in a new 
control by man over the forces of nature too revolutionary and dan- 

'gerous to fit into the old concepts. I think it really caps the climax of 

the race between man’s growing technical power for destructiveness 

and his psychological power of self-control and group control—his 

moral power. If so, our method of approach to the Russians is a 

question of the most vital importance in the evolution of human prog- 
ress. 

Since the crux of the problem i is Russia, any contemplated action 

leading to the control of this weapon should be primarily directed to 

Russia. It is my judgment that the Soviet would be more apt to re- 

spond sincerely to a direct and forthright approach made by the 

United States on this subject than would be the case if the approach 

were made as a part of a general international scheme, or if the 
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or ear threats i in our peace Hessdeca. 

My idea of an approach to the Soviets would be a direct proposal 
after discussion with the British that we would be prepared in effect 
to enter an arrangement with the Russians, the general purpose of 

which would be to control and limit the use of the atomic bomb as an 
instrument of war and so far as possible to direct and encourage the 
development of atomic power for peaceful and humanitarian purposes. 
Such an approach might more specifically lead to the proposal that we 
would stop work on the further improvement in, or manufacture of, 

the bomb as a military weapon, provided the Russians and the British 
would agree to do likewise. It might also provide that we would be 
willing to impound what bombs we now have in the United States 
provided the Russians and the British would agree with us that in 
no event will they or we use a bomb as an instrument of war unless 
all three Governments agree to that use. We might also consider in- 

cluding in the arrangement a covenant with the U.K. and the Soviets 
providing for the exchange of benefits of future developments whereby 

atomic energy may be applied on a mutually satisfactory basis for 

commercial or humanitarian purposes. 
I would make such an approach just as soon as our immediate po- 

litical considerations make it appropriate. 
I emphasize perhaps beyond all other considerations the importance 

of taking this action with Russia as a proposal of the United States— 

backed by Great Britain but peculiarly the proposal of the United 

States. Action of any international group of nations, including many 

small nations who have not demonstrated their potential power or 

responsibility in this war would not, in my opinion, be taken seriously 
by the Soviets. The loose debates which would surround such pro- 
posal, if put before a conference of nations, would provoke but scant 
favor from the Soviet. As I say, I think this is the most important 

point in the program. 
After the nations which have won this war have agreed to it, there 

will be ample time to introduce France and China into the covenants 

and finally to incorporate the agreement into the scheme of the United 

Nations. The use of this bomb has been accepted by the world as the 
result of the initiative and productive capacity of the United States, 
and I think this factor is a most potent lever towards having our pro- 
posals accepted by the Soviets, whereas I am most skeptical of obtain- 

ing any tangible results by way of any international debate. I urge 

this method as the most realistic means of accomplishing this vitally 

important step in the history of the world. 

Henry L. STIMSON, 

Secretary of War 
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